



Remote Ischaemic Conditioning for Fatigue after Stroke (RICFAST), a pilot, single-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial.

Bethany Moyle

Supervisors:

Dr Ali Ali and Prof. Arshad Majid

April 2022

Submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

The University of Sheffield, UK Department of Neuroscience Sheffield Institute for Translational Neuroscience

ABSTRACT

Post-stroke fatigue (PSF) affects up to 75% of stoke survivors at some stage after stroke. The precise mechanisms that underlie PSF are still being unravelled but it may develop due to changes in cortical excitability, inflammation, and impaired cellular energetics. It negatively impacts neurological recovery, return to work and quality of life (QoL). There are currently no well evidenced treatments.

Remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC) is a novel treatment whereby brief and reversible episodes of ischaemia and reperfusion are applied to a limb. It may lead to alterations in inflammation, tissue perfusion and mitochondrial function, that theoretically counteract factors contributing to PSF.

The primary aim of this thesis was to investigate the safety, acceptability, and feasibility of RIC to treat PSF by undertaking a single-centre, single-blind, pilot, randomised, placebocontrolled trial.

Participants with PSF were randomised to RIC or sham control for 6 weeks and measures of fatigue, physical function, mood, and QoL were assessed at baseline, 6-weeks, 3-months, and 6-months. Mechanistic evaluation using cardiopulmonary exercise testing and ³¹Phosphorus-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS) of peripheral muscles was also undertaken.

RIC was safe, acceptable, and feasible for people with PSF. RIC appears to result in clinically meaningful improvements in fatigue that persisted beyond treatment cessation, independent to mood or functional state and was associated with increased walking distances. These changes may be associated with improvements in thresholds for efficient energy production (ventilatory anaerobic threshold). ³¹P-MRS suggested this may be driven by improvements in the energy producing capabilities of mitochondria (adenosine triphosphate content of muscle).

We have demonstrated that RIC is a promising treatment strategy for patients with PSF that is low cost and widely implementable if found to be effective. It warrants further definitive investigation in larger studies.

PUBLICATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS THESIS

Remote ischaemic conditioning for stroke: unanswered questions and future directions. *Stroke and Vascular Neurology.* Baig S, *Moyle B*, Nair K P S, Redgrave J, Majid A, Ali A. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33903181/</u>

Post-stroke fatigue - an evidence update. *Neurorehabiliation. (in press). Moyle B*, Baig S, Redgrave J, Majid A, Ali A.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all the people who have helped and supported me over the past four years. First and foremost, I would like to thank both of my supervisors for their encouragement and guidance. Thank you, Dr Ali, for believing in me and patiently guiding me through these years. Thank you for your positivity, kindness, and mentoring. I am incredibly fortunate to have had you as my supervisor for my master's degree and PhD and could not have done it without you! Thank you, Prof. Majid, for your enthusiasm and support throughout. I am grateful to Matilde Sassani and Tom Jenkins for teaching me the ³¹Phosphorus-magentic resonance (³¹P-MRS) protocol and to Julia Bigley for scanning research participants. I would like to thank Nik Kudiersky and Simon Nichols for their help with the cardiopulmonary exercise testing and Nikki Totton for her statistics input. I wish to thank all participants who kindly donated their time to take part in the study. I am thankful for my incredible family and friends, especially my Mum and Dad who have always been my biggest support. Lastly, thank you to my boyfriend Liam for being by my side and cheering me on every day.

DECLARATION

I, the author of this thesis, confirm that the work presented is my own. I am aware of and understand the University's Guidance on plagiarism and the use of unfair means (www.sheffield.ac.uk/ssid/unfair-means) and I confirm any information that has been obtained from other sources has been clearly stated in my thesis. This work has not been previously submitted to the University for an award.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	2
Publications associated with this thesis	
Acknowledgements	4
Declaration	5
List of figures	11
List of tables	14
List of abbreviations	16
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 Stroke	
1.2 Post-stroke fatigue	
1.3 Mechanisms of post-stroke fatigue	
1.3.1 Central fatigue	
1.3.2 Peripheral fatigue	23
1.3.2.1 Inflammation	23
1.3.2.2 Physical deconditioning	
1.3.2.3 Impaired cellular bioenergetics	
1.3.2.4 Differentiating central and peripheral causes of fatigue	27
1.4 Risk factors for post-stroke fatigue	
1.4.1 Sociodemographic factors	
1.4.2 Emotional disturbances	
1.4.3 Pre-stroke fatigue and comorbid disease	
1.4.4 Sleep disturbances	
1.4.5 Physical and cognitive disability	
1.5 Measuring post-stroke fatigue	
1.6 Current treatments for post-stroke fatigue	
1.6.1 Prevention of post-stroke fatigue	45
1.6.2 Pharmacological treatments	45
1.6.2.1 Antidepressants and mood stabilisers	45
1.6.2.2 Stimulants and neuroprotectants	46
1.6.2.3 Vitamin and Qi supplementation	47
1.6.3 Psychological treatments	
1.6.4 Physical treatments	

1.6.4.1 Exercise	48
1.6.4.2 Continuous Positive Airway Pressure	49
1.6.5 Electrical therapies	50
1.6.5.1 Electroacupuncture and cupping	50
1.6.6 Knowledge gaps	50
1.7 Remote ischaemic conditioning	51
1.8 Mechanisms of remote ischaemic conditioning	54
1.8.1 Conditioning stimulus	56
1.8.2 Neural mechanisms	57
1.8.3 Humoral mechanisms	57
1.8.4 Systemic response	60
1.8.5 Signal transduction at the target organ	61
1.8.5.1 Mitochondria	61
1.8.5.2 Vascular bed and changes in blood flow	64
1.9 Clinical applications of remote ischaemic conditioning	66
1.9.1. Hyper-acute and acute stroke	66
1.9.2 Secondary stroke prevention	67
1.10 Application of ischaemic preconditioning in physical performance	68
1.11 Rationale for the study	71
1.12 Study aims and hypotheses	73
Chapter 2: Feasibility and acceptability of remote ischaemic conditioning for p fatigue	ost-stroke 75
2.1 Rationale for pilot studies	75
2.2 Methodology	76
2.2.1 Ethics approval and funding	76
2.2.2 Design	76
2.2.3 Setting	76
2.2.4 Sample and recruitment process	76
2.2.5 Sample size	77
2.2.6 Inclusion criteria	77
2.2.7 Exclusion criteria	77
2.2.8 Eligibility screening and informed consent	78
2.2.9 Randomisation	79
2.2.10 Blinding	79

2.2.11 Withdrawal of participants
2.2.12 Duration of the study
2.2.13 Intervention protocol
2.2.13.1 Remote ischaemic conditioning
2.2.13.2 Sham protocol
2.2.14 Primary outcome measures
2.2.15 Secondary outcome measures
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Recruitment/Cohort
2.3.2 Participant flow
2.3.3 Primary outcome measures
2.4 Discussion
2.5 Strengths and limitations
2.6 Conclusion
Chapter 3: Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on post-stroke fatigue and walking distance
3.1. Introduction
3.2 Methodology
3.2.1 Patient completed clinical outcome measures
3.2.2 Six-minute walk test
3.3 Statistical analysis
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Exploratory analysis of patient completed outcome measures
3.4.2 Exploratory analysis of the six-minute walk test
3.5 Discussion
3.6 Limitations
3.7 Conclusion and future directions
Chapter 4: Cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) in post-stroke fatigue and the effects of remote ischaemic conditioning on CPET measures
4.1. Introduction
4.2 Aims and objectives
4.3 Hypotheses
4.4 Methodology158
4.4.1 Design

4.4.2 CPET outcome measures	
4.4.3 CPET protocol	
4.4.4 Statistical analysis	
4.5 Results	
4.6 Discussion	
4.7 Strengths and limitations	
4.8 Conclusion	
Chapter 5: Phosphorus 31-magnetic resonance spectroscopy to assess sibioenergetics in post-stroke fatigue	keletal muscle 197
5.1 Introduction	
5.1.1 Methods for measuring skeletal muscle mitochondrial function	
5.1.2 31-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy	
5.2 Aims and hypotheses	
5.3 Methodology	
5.3.1 Ethics	
5.3.2 Setting	
5.3.3 Sample	
5.3.4 Exclusion criteria	
5.3.5 Study protocol	
5.3.5.1 Clinical and muscle force data	
5.3.5.2 Magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy	
5.3.5.2.1 Hardware	
5.3.5.2.2 Sequencing	
5.3.5.2.3 Spectroscopic data processing	
5.3.5.2.4 Reported parameters	
5.3.6 Statistical analysis	
5.4. Results	
5.5 Discussion	
5.6 Limitations	
5.7 Conclusion and Future directions	
Chapter 6: Qualitative experiences of remote ischaemic conditioning for fatig	gue after stroke
6.1 Introduction	
6.3 Methods	

6.4 Results	241
6.5 Discussion	248
6.6 Strengths and limitations	251
Chapter 7: Remote ischaemic conditioning for fatigue after stroke: conclus directions	ions and future
7.1 Conclusion	253
7.2 Future directions	254
Appendices	256
References	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Proposed central (A) and peripheral (B) mechanisms of post-stroke fatigue30
Figure 2. Proposed mechanisms of remote ischaemic conditioning
Figure 3. Figure detailing the proposed signalling pathways recruited by RIC that converge on
the mitochondria to confer cardioprotection
Figure 4. Potential overlap in the mechanisms of post-stroke fatigue (PSF) and remote
ischaemic conditioning (RIC)72
Figure 5. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) diagram95
Figure 6. Six-minute walk test
Figure 7. Example of histograms showing data that is normally (A) and not normally (B) distributed
Figure 8. Example of a grouped scatter plot used to test whether there is a linear relationship
between the covariate (baseline FSS-7) and dependent variable (FSS-7 at 3-months),
Figure 9. Change in fatigue scores (ESS-7) in the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks (a) 3-
months (b) and 6-months (c)
Figure 10 Change in distance walked during the 6MWT (metres) in the treatment and sham
group at 6-weeks
Figure 11 Simple scatter of FSS-7 score by distance walked on the 6MWT at baseline (a) and
6-week follow-up (b)
Figure 12 Volume of oxygen uptake (VO_2) as a function of exhaled carbon dioxide (VO_2)
during an incremental exercise test (102) us a function of exhause carbon dioxide (1002)
Figure 13 Cardionulmonary exercise testing using the cycle ergometer 166
Figure 14 Relationship between VO _{brock} and distance walked during the six-minute walk test
(6MWT) at baseline $1000000000000000000000000000000000000$
Figure 15 Relationship between VO_{real} and fatigue severity (FSS-7) at baseline 171
Figure 16. Percentage change in neak oxygen consumption (VO_{2n-1}) in the treatment (red) and
sham (blue) group at 6-weeks 173
Figure 17 Relationship between ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and distance walked
during the six-minute walk test at baseline
Figure 18 Relationship between ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and fatigue severity
(FSS-7) at baseline
Figure 10 Percentage change in ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) in the treatment (red)
and sham (blue) group at 6-weeks
Figure 20 Relationship between VE/VCOs slope and distance walked during the six minute
right 20. Relationship between $\sqrt{E}/\sqrt{CO_2}$ slope and distance walked during the six-influte
Figure 21 Polotionship between VE/VCO_{2} slope and fatigue severity (ESS 7) at baseline 177
Figure 21. Relationship between VE/VCO_2 slope and fatigue sevenity (FSS-7) at baseline. 177
Figure 22. Percentage change in minute ventration/carbon dioxide production ($vE/vCO2$)
Figure 22. Deletionship between needs meningtons exchange ratio (DED) and distance wellsed
Figure 25. Relationship between peak respiratory exchange ratio (REK) and distance walked
Eigene 24. Deletionship between neels rearing to real fragments in the state of the
Figure 24. Kelationship between peak respiratory exchange ratio (KEK) and fatigue severity
(FSS-/) at baseline

Figure 25. Percentage change in peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) in the treatment (red) Figure 26. Quantitative Muscle Strength Assessment (QMA) and pulley system for measuring Figure 27. Example of a force-time curve for maximal isometric voluntary contraction of Figure 29. A representative muscle spectrum acquired from a stroke patient's tibialis anterior Figure 30. Baseline ATP in the tibialis anterior of the stroke affected (red) and non-affected Figure 31. Relationship between fatigue severity (FSS-7) scores and ATP in tibialis anterior Figure 32. Relationship between six-minute walk test distance and ATP in tibialis anterior on Figure 33. Relationship between MVIC and ATP in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke Figure 34. ATP in tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the Figure 35. ATP in tibialis anterior in the non-affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the Figure 36. Baseline phosphocreatine (PCr) in the tibialis anterior of the stroke affected (red) Figure 37. Relationship between fatigue severity (FSS-7) and PCr in tibialis anterior at baseline Figure 38. Relationship between six-minute walk test distance and PCr in tibialis anterior on Figure 39. Relationship between MVIC and PCr in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke Figure 40. Phosphocreatine (PCr) in tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb at baseline and Figure 41. Phosphocreatine (PCr) in tibialis anterior in the non-affected limb at baseline and at Figure 42. Baseline inorganic phosphate (Pi) in the tibialis anterior of the stroke affected (red) Figure 43. Relationship between fatigue severity (FSS-7) and Pi in tibialis anterior on the Figure 44. Relationship between six-minute walk test distance and Pi in tibialis anterior on the Figure 45. Relationship between MVIC and Pi in tibialis anterior at baseline on the participant's Figure 46. Inorganic phosphate (Pi) in tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb at baseline

nd
31
42

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Scales used to assess fatigue and the dimensions they measure
Table 2. Summary of randomised controlled trials investigating the efficacy of various
interventions for the prevention and treatment of post-stroke fatigue
Table 3. Proposed humoral mediators of remote ischaemic conditioning
Table 4. Studies on the effect of RIC on enhancing exercise performance and muscle strength
in healthy volunteers and athletes69
Table 5. Success criteria for primary outcome measures. 83
Table 6. List of secondary outcome measures and timepoint they were assessed
Table 7. Characteristics of study participants by treatment group and location
Table 8. Number of participants reporting adverse events related to the intervention in the
treatment and sham group and hospital and home RIC group
Table 9. Mean score on each section of the symptom diary in the treatment and sham group
and the hospital and home RIC group100
Table 10. Analysis of within group and between group differences in patient completed
outcome measures at 6-week follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA131
Table 11. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in scores in the patient completed
outcome measures from baseline to 6-weeks calculated using a one-way ANCOVA134
Table 12. Analysis of within group and between group differences in patient completed
outcome measures at 3-month follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA
Table 13. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in scores in the patient completed
outcome measures from baseline to 3-months calculated using a one-way ANCOVA136
Table 14. Analysis of within group and between group differences in patient completed
outcome measures at 6-month follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA137
Table 15. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in scores in the patient
completed outcome measures from baseline to 6-months calculating using a one-way
ANCOVA
Table 16. Analysis of within group and between group differences in 6MWT at 6-week follow-
up using one-way ANCOVA
Table 17. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in 6MWT scores from baseline
to 6-weeks calculated using a one-way ANCOVA140
Table 18. Absolute and relative contraindications for cardiopulmonary exercise testing165
Table 19. Criteria for maximal effort during cardiopulmonary exercise testing. 168
Table 20. Participant characteristics of participants who completed cardiopulmonary exercise
testing
Table 21. Analysis of within group and between group differences in VO_{2Peak} at 6-week follow-
up using a one-way ANCOVA172
Table 22. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in VO_{2Peak} from baseline to 6-
weeks
Table 23. Analysis of within group and between group differences in ventilatory anaerobic
threshold (VAT) and time to VAT at 6-week follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA175

Table 24. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in ventilatory anaerobic
threshold (VAT) and time to VAT from baseline to 6-weeks
Table 25. Analysis of within group and between group differences in the VE/VCO2 slope at 6-
weeks using a one-way ANCOVA
Table 26. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in VE/VCO2 slope from baseline
to 6-weeks
Table 27. Analysis of within group and between group differences in peak respiratory exchange
ratio (RER) at 6-weeks using a one-way ANCOVA
Table 28. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in peak respiratory exchange
ratio (RER) from baseline to 6-weeks
Table 29. Analysis of within group and between group differences in measures of
cardiopulmonary exercise test effort (heart rate, work rate, test duration and rate of perceived
exertion) at 6-weeks using a one-way ANCOVA183
Table 30. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in peak HR, peal WR, test
duration and peak RPE from baseline to 6-weeks
Table 31. Proposed signalling pathways initiated by RIC that may directly or indirectly act on
the mitochondria199
Table 32. Participant characteristics of participants who underwent ³¹ P-MRS
Table 33. Analysis of within group and between group differences in ATP measured in tibialis
anterior at rest using a one-way ANCOVA at 6-weeks
Table 34. Analysis of within group and between group differences in phosphocreatine
measured in tibialis anterior at rest using a one-way ANCOVA at 6-weeks
Table 35. Analysis of within group and between group differences in inorganic phosphate
measured in tibialis anterior at rest using a one-way ANCOVA at 6-weeks

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

31P-MRS: Phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy

6MWT: Six-minute walk test

Ach: Acetylcholine

ADL: Activities of daily living

ADP: Adenosine diphosphate

AE: Adverse event

ALS: Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

ANS: Autonomic nervous system

AP: Action potential

ATP: Adenosine triphosphate

BAIPC: Bilateral arm ischemic preconditioning

BOLD: Blood oxygen level dependant

BP: Blood pressure

Ca2+: Calcium ion

CABG : Coronary artery bypass surgery

CAF: Central activation failure

CAO: Coronary artery occlusion

CBF: Cerebral blood flow

CBT: Cognitive behavioural therapy

CCA: Common carotid artery

CFS: Chronic fatigue syndrome

Cho: Choline

CIS-f: Checklist individual strength - subscale fatigue

CO: Cognitive therapy

COGRAT: Cognitive therapy and graded activity training

CPAP: Continuous positive airway pressure

CPET: Cardiopulmonary exercise testing

CPP: Cerebral perfusion Pressure

Cr: Creatine

CRF: Cardiorespiratory fitness

CRIC: Chronic remote ischemic conditioning

CRP: C-reactive protein

CSVD: Cerebral small vessel disease

- CT: Computerised tomography
- ECT: Electron transport chain
- EMG Electromyography
- EMG: Electromyography
- eNOS: Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- **EPO:** Erythropoietin
- ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate
- FAO: Femoral artery occlusion
- FAS: Fatigue assessment scale
- FIS: Fatigue impact scale
- FMD: Flow-mediated dilation
- FSS: Fatigue severity scale
- HIF: Hypoxia inducible factor
- HR: Heart rate
- HSP70: Heat shock protein
- I/R: Ischemia/reperfusion
- IAS: Intracranial arterial stenosis
- ICA: Internal carotid artery
- ICP: Intracranial pressure
- IL-1: Interleukin-1
- IL-6: Interleukin-6
- IPC: Ischemic preconditioning
- ITT: Interpolation twitch technique
- LLEP: Lower limb extensor power
- LMN: Lower motor neurone
- MAO: Mesenteric artery occlusion
- MCA: Middle cerebral artery
- MCID: Minimal clinically important difference
- MFCV: Muscle fibre conduction velocity
- MFI-20: Multidimensional Fatigue inventory
- MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging
- MRS: Magnetic resonance spectroscopy
- MS: Multiple sclerosis

MVC: Maximal voluntary contraction

MVIC: Maximal voluntary isometric contraction

NAA: N-acetyl aspartate

NMJ: Neuromuscular junction

NMR: Nuclear magnetic resonance

NO: Nitric oxide

OCR: Oxygen consumption rates

OSA: Obstructive sleep apnoea

PCI: Percutaneous coronary intervention

PCr: Phosphocreatine

PCr: Phosphocreatine

PDE: Phosphodiesters

PET: Positron emission tomography

Pi: Inorganic phosphate

PMC: Primary motor cortex

PME: Phosphomonoesters

Ppm: Parts per million

PROMS: Patient reported outcome measures

PSD: Post-stroke depression

PSF: Post-stroke fatigue

RCT: Randomised controlled trial

RIC: Remote ischemic conditioning

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

SAE: Serious adverse event

SAH: Subarachnoid haemorrhage

SAH: Subarachnoid haemorrhage

SBP: Systolic blood pressure

SD: Standard deviation

SDF-1: Stromal cell-derived factor 1

SIAS: Symptomatic intracranial arterial stenosis

SLE: Systemic lupus erythematosus

SPECT: Single-photon emission computed tomography

TBI: Traumatic brain injury

TCD: Transcranial Doppler sonography

tDCS: Transcranial direct current stimulation TIA: Transient ischemic attack TMS: Transcranial magnetic stimulation TNF- α: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha TRAIL: TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand TTI: Time to systolic inflexion VA: Voluntary activation VAS: Visual analogue scale VCAM-1: Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 VCI: Vascular cognitive impairment VO₂ max: Maximal oxygen consumption VO₂peak: Peak oxygen consumption

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Stroke

Stroke is the second biggest cause of mortality worldwide and a leading cause of adult disability (Johnson et al., 2019, Gorelick, 2019). In 2015 the estimated cost of stroke in Europe alone was \in 45 billion in direct (diagnostic testing, treatment, care) and indirect (informal care costs, lost productivity) healthcare costs (European Heart Network, 2017). It is estimated that between 2015-2035 the number of strokes in the UK each year will increase by 60% and the number of stroke survivors will more than double (King et al., 2020). Increasing incidence (Feigin et al., 2014) and lower mortality rates after stroke (Lackland et al., 2014) mean there is an increasing population who are at risk of developing longer term complications after stroke, such as fatigue. Post-stroke fatigue (PSF) has recently received scientific attention as one of the most prevalent complications stroke survivors suffer, without well-established treatment pathways. It has been highlighted as a research priority by patients, carers and healthcare professionals (Rudberg et al., 2021, James Lind Alliance, 2021).

1.2 Post-stroke fatigue

Post-stroke fatigue (PSF) is a complex, multidimensional motor-perceptive, emotional and cognitive experience characterised by a subjective feeling of exhaustion, physical tiredness, lack of energy and weariness which persists even after rest (Aaronson et al., 1999, Staub and Bogousslavsky, 2001, De Groot et al., 2003). Fatigue can be classified as either physical (referring to motor activities) or mental (refers to the cognitive or perceptual functions) (Gruet et al., 2013). However, the psychophysical and multidimensional nature of PSF makes it difficult to define for purposes of quantification and comparison across individuals (De Doncker et al., 2018). Definitions of PSF are largely based on felt experience of stroke survivors, however, more mechanistic definitions have been proposed such as a 'feeling arising from difficulty in initiation of or sustaining voluntary effort' (Chaudhuri and Behan, 2004), or an 'amplified sense of normal (physiological) fatigue induced by changes in one or more variables regulating work output' (De Doncker et al., 2018, Kuppuswamy et al., 2015). Researchers have postulated differing entities and definitions of PSF based on whether it develops early (predominantly motor characteristics) or late (predominantly mental characteristics), however, the development of both phenotypes are not mutually exclusive (Annoni et al., 2008, Tseng et al., 2010). Although the concept of early (up to 3 months poststroke) and late (over three months post-stroke) onset fatigue has been described (Wu et al., 2015b, Kirchberger et al., 2022) there is little evidence to support the notion that these are two distinct entities. In longitudinal studies of PSF, early fatigue is often associated with late fatigue, thus the idea of early and late fatigue could be viewed as an evolving process. Although, it is plausible that different factors may contribute to the development of fatigue at different timepoints. For example, one study that investigated associations of fatigue at different timepoints after stroke found that infratentorial stroke was associated with fatigue at 2-months post-stroke but not at 18-months; however baseline anxiety and depression were associated with PSF at both timepoints (Snaphaan et al., 2011). In another study, the three strongest correlates of PSF at 6-months were initial stroke severity, depression and disability, whereas the strongest correlates at 1-year were anxiety, depression and language impairments (Radman et al., 2012). These findings suggest that the type of stroke someone has suffered may be a more important determinant of early onset fatigue, while psychological factors are important for both early and late fatigue. To explore whether early and late fatigue are distinct entities longitudinal studies of stroke patients with fatigue and biomarkers (e.g., inflammation, immune system activation, mitochondrial bioenergetics) (Klinedinst et al., 2019, Huang et al., 2022, Zhang et al., 2021) may help determine any changes that occur from early to late timeframes.

PSF is common, affecting 23-75% of stroke survivors (Nadarajah and Goh, 2015, Cumming et al., 2018, Alghamdi et al., 2021); half of whom report it as one of their worst symptoms (Van Der Werf et al., 2001). The estimated prevalence of fatigue after stroke is dependent on terminology (Falconer et al., 2010), with studies using rating scales yielding higher prevalence's than those which ask people if they are tired or fatigued (De Groot et al., 2003). Males and females also express fatigue differently which can influence prevalence estimates (Falconer et al., 2010). Despite this, 43% of stroke survivors report PSF as an unmet need (McKevitt et al., 2011). Symptoms of fatigue may begin at any time after stroke, with those developing symptoms early (months) at higher risk of remaining fatigued longer term (18-months) (Lerdal and Gay, 2013). Indeed, symptoms may continue for up to 6 years after stroke (Elf et al., 2016). Evidence suggests patients experiencing transient ischaemic attack (TIA) may also develop fatigue (Moran et al., 2014), however it is more common after stroke (Winward et al., 2009). Fatigue in the acute stage after stroke may be a protective response by the body to aid recovery and restoration (Choi-Kwon and Kim, 2011), which if persists, becomes pathological, with its aetiology multifaceted. PSF is associated with poorer general

health and greater levels of pain, anxiety, lower mental health and mortality (Glader et al., 2002, Mead et al., 2011). It is an independent predictor of increased dependency and institutionalised care and prevents many stroke survivors from returning to work (Lerdal and Gay, 2013, Glader et al., 2002, Andersen et al., 2012, Staub and Bogousslavsky, 2001). In addition, PSF prevents participation in rehabilitation and is associated with depression and poorer health-related quality of life (HRQoL) (Chen et al., 2015). One study found that 62% of patients with PSF did not suffer premorbid fatigue (Drummond et al., 2017). The fact fatigue is such a novel experience for many stroke survivors may explain why patients report poor knowledge about the condition and struggle to understand and adapt to its symptoms (White et al., 2012a). Understanding why PSF develops may be an important step in helping stroke survivors with symptom management.

1.3 Mechanisms of post-stroke fatigue

Fatigue is a prevalent symptom in many neurological (e.g., multiple sclerosis) and nonneurological (e.g., cancer) diseases (Nagaraj et al., 2013, Banipal et al., 2017). While the nature and time course of fatigue may vary across these populations (Schepers et al., 2006a, Spratt et al., 2012), the clinical similarities suggest that there may be common underlying mechanisms. A physiological classification can divide fatigue into central and peripheral entities depending on where in the body it develops (Figure 1) (Davis and Walsh, 2010). Central fatigue is thought to originate from the central nervous system (CNS) (brain, spinal cord) while peripheral fatigue originates from within the peripheral nerves and muscle fibres.

1.3.1 Central fatigue

Central fatigue may be related to neural interruptions in the basal ganglia, thalamus and frontal Cortex (Chaudhuri and Behan, 2004), key players in motor control, motivation and attention (De Doncker et al., 2018, Chaudhuri and Behan, 2000). Fatigue appears more prevalent when stroke affects subcortical regions of the brain (e.g., the cerebellum or basal ganglia) (De Doncker et al., 2018, Chaudhuri and Behan, 2000). Indeed, an MRI study of 334 stroke patients by Tang et al. (2010) found that people diagnosed with fatigue were significantly more likely to have infarcts in their basal ganglia than any other brain region (Tang et al., 2010). Studies also highlight independent links between stroke lesion burden (Glader et al., 2002), stroke severity (Winward et al., 2009), lesion laterality (Manes et al., 1999) and the development of

PSF, cumulatively supporting the notion that alterations in neurochemistry are an implicated mechanism of PSF. Studies using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) (a non-invasive form of brain stimulation) (Eldaief et al., 2013) have shown higher resting cortical motor thresholds among patients with PSF compared to stroke patients without fatigue. This suggests that patients with fatigue require higher levels of cortical stimulation to produce a motor response. Such patients also demonstrate greater levels of central activation failure (CAF) during motor tasks (e.g., isometric biceps hold), indicating sub-optimal recruitment of motor units during normal motor activation, which can lead to an increased perception of effort during tasks (Gruet et al., 2013). Thus, a deficit in corticomotor excitability appears to be important in central PSF. However, a study by Winward et al. (2009) found significantly higher levels of fatigue in patients at 6-months. This was independent of factors such as depression, anxiety, comorbidity or medications. This suggests that central factors may not be the only mechanisms behind the development of PSF.

1.3.2 Peripheral fatigue

The literature highlights factors such as inflammation, physical deconditioning and impaired peripheral cellular energetics as the main pathways manifesting peripheral fatigue (Figure 1) (Ponchel et al., 2015).

1.3.2.1 Inflammation

Evidence supports the role of inflammation in fatigue in various clinical populations including chronic fatigue syndrome (Montoya et al., 2017), cancer (Bower and Lamkin, 2012), and multiple sclerosis (MS) (Heesen et al., 2006). Fatigue is also a well-established symptom in immunological disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (van Steenbergen et al., 2015), and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Tarazi et al., 2019), and is also common after viral infections (Yamato and Kataoka, 2015). An extensive literature indicates that people with these conditions exhibit increased systemic production of pro-inflammatory markers, such as Creactive protein (CRP) tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), interleukin-6 (II-6), interleukin 1 (IL-1) and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) (Liu et al., 2012, Yang et al., 2019, Shrivastava et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2018). Pharmacological treatments aimed at inhibiting the action of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- α or IL-6 inhibitors) are effective in reducing fatigue in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus (Yount et al., 2007, Illei

et al., 2010, Wendling et al., 1993, Druce et al., 2015). Furthermore, injection of inflammatory mediators such as IL-6 induces fatigue in healthy populations (Papanicolaou et al., 1998, Späth-Schwalbe et al., 1998).

Enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine activity has been linked to the development of PSF (Ponchel et al., 2015). During the acute phase of stroke, pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- α , IL-1) are released into the cerebral ischaemic core and the peri-infarct area, activating microglia, neutrophils and macrophages (De Doncker et al., 2018, Barrington et al., 2017). Inflammatory cell activation within the brain is associated with the release of inflammatory cytokines in peripheral tissues (e.g., kidneys, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle) (Chiba and Umegaki, 2013, Shichita et al., 2012). For example, a study of 20 stroke patients by Hafer-Macko et al. (2005) found increased levels of TNF- α in paretic leg muscle biopsies compared to controls. Studies have found elevated levels of systemic inflammatory markers and mediators among patients with PSF including CRP (McKechnie et al., 2010), cortisol, and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) (Becker, 2016). Most studies exploring the relationship between inflammation and PSF have focused on the acute stage of stroke recovery (Wen et al., 2018). For example, Ormstad et al. (2011) found a significant positive correlation between acute serum levels of interleukin (IL)-1 β and the severity of PSF (measured using the Fatigue severity scale, FSS) at 6-months post-stroke. There is less information on whether PSF in the later stages of stroke recovery is also associated with increased pro-inflammatory activity in the peripheral circulation (Wu et al., 2015a, Becker, 2016). A cross-sectional study of 70 chronic stroke patients by Gyawali et al. (2020) explored the relationship between PSF (measured using the fatigue assessment scale, FAS) and the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and CRP. The investigators found a significant relationship between the level of fatigue reported on the FAS and serum levels of IL-6 and CRP. However, this relationship was no longer statistically significant once cardiovascular covariables were introduced into a linear regression model (Gyawali et al., 2020). The idea that elevated physiological concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines in the central and peripheral nervous system contribute to PSF has been described by researchers as 'inflammation-induced sickness behaviour' (Dantzer and Kelley, 2007).

1.3.2.2 Physical deconditioning

One hypothesis is that PSF might be triggered by reduced physical fitness early after stroke (Lewis et al., 2011). The term physical fitness encompasses cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), muscle power (rate of generation of force), and muscle strength (maximal force produced during a contraction) (Lewis et al., 2011). The effects of reduced physical fitness may lead to increased perception of effort and fatigue during physical activity (Billinger et al., 2014). CRF is the ability of the heart, lungs, and vascular systems to deliver oxygen to active muscles during physical activity and is usually expressed peak oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak}) in clinical populations including stroke (Saunders et al., 2020). VO_{2peak} is the highest value of oxygen (O₂) attained on an incremental exercise test (Chambers and Wisely, 2019). It is a valid measure of aerobic endurance and is typically assessed using cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) (Taylor et al., 2015). This will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 4. CRF confers endurance, which is the ability to perform physical activity for an extended period before experiencing fatigue (Saunders et al., 2020). Physical activity improves physical fitness, optimises vascular risk factors and is a key recommendation for patients after stroke (Sacco et al., 2006, Sharman et al., 2015). Inactivity after stroke is common (Rand et al., 2009, Bernhardt et al., 2004, English et al., 2014, Kunkel et al., 2015) and is associated with reduced aerobic fitness (Ivey et al., 2005), muscle strength (Gerrits et al., 2009, Horstman et al., 2008, Harris et al., 2001) and power (Saunders et al., 2008). Low CRF after stroke is associated with poor psychological health (Kunkel et al., 2015), loss of independence and decreased ability to perform activities of daily living (ADLs) (Shephard, 2009). CRF in people with stroke is 26-87% of that of healthy age-and gender-matched individuals (Smith et al., 2012). Deconditioning of muscles involves a reduction in muscle mass, increase in muscle fat content, a shift from slow-twitch to fast-twitch fatigable fibres, increased inflammatory mediator content of the muscle and a contraction of the capillary bed (Billinger et al., 2012a). Loss of muscle mass and reduced aerobic fitness is also associated with decreases in the content and function of mitochondria in older adults (Peterson et al., 2012, Johnson et al., 2012, Short et al., 2005, Lanza et al., 2008). Physical deconditioning and PSF are inter-related: people with fatigue tend to live more sedentary lives which results in a vicious cycle of further reductions in physical fitness and a subsequent worsening of fatigue (De Doncker et al., 2018, Lewis et al., 2011).

Biological consequences of reduced physical fitness after stroke are more severe in the paretic limbs (English et al., 2010). This was demonstrated in a cross-sectional study by Ryan et al.

(2002) who found that skeletal muscle atrophy and fat content (measured using dual x-ray absorptiometry and computerised tomography, CT) was higher in the paretic limbs of deconditioned chronic stroke patients (47 males, 13 females, >6 months post-stroke) compared to the non-affected limbs.

A cross-sectional study of 66 community-dwelling stroke patients by Lewis et al. (2011) investigated the relationship between PSF (measured using the vitality score of the 36-item Short-Form Health Survey version 2) and two indices of physical fitness; lower limb extensor power (LLEP) and walking economy (oxygen uptake during ambulation and measure of aerobic fitness, VO_{2peak}). The investigators found that increased fatigue was significantly associated with reduced LLEP in the unaffected leg (*R*= -0.38, *P*=0.003, n=58). No association was found between PSF and walking economy (*R*= -0.024, *P* = 0.86, n = 60) (Lewis et al., 2011). Furthermore, a systematic review found no significant associations between measures of physical activity or fitness and PSF (Duncan et al., 2012). However, it remains plausible that reduced physical activity and physical fitness can have a negative influence on fatigue after stroke. This will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 4.

Recently a study of 23 inpatients with subacute stroke by Oyake et al. (2021) demonstrated that PSF severity as measured using the fatigue severity score (FSS) was associated with longer *time constant* VO₂ kinetics (which reflects the ability of the body to adapt from rest to a new steady state of submaximal exercise) (Spearman's Rho = 0.530; P = 0.009), rather than VO_{2peak} (Spearman's Rho – 0.264; P=0.224). Thus, PSF may be related not only to perturbations in the respiratory and cardiovascular responses to activity but also to the steady state energy capabilities of tissues.

1.3.2.3 Impaired cellular bioenergetics

Impaired mitochondrial energy metabolism is associated with inflammation and fatigue in disease conditions like cancer (Chae et al., 2018), chronic fatigue syndrome (Morris and Maes, 2013), and frailty (Wawrzyniak et al., 2016) and could plausibly be implicated in the development of PSF. Klinedinst et al (2019) recently conducted a cross-sectional study of 20 stroke survivors whose platelet oxygen consumption rates (OCR) were measured at rest (a measure of the platelets ability to adjust to energy demands). They found that increased self-reported fatigue scores (measured using the Fatigue Assessment Scale) were associated with

increased OCR (increased resting OCR suggests the efficiency of energy production may be less – more oxygen required for the same energy requirement) and thus may be related to alterations in mitochondrial and cellular bioenergetics (Klinedinst et al., 2019).

1.3.2.4 Differentiating central and peripheral causes of fatigue

Recognised investigations to differentiate between central and peripheral causes of PSF are lacking. If we consider the concept of peripheral fatigue being caused by the accumulation of metabolites such as lactate, inorganic phosphate (Pi), hydrogen (H⁺) ions and reactive oxygen species (ROS), that cause the perception of fatigue (Wan et al., 2017, Sundberg and Fitts, 2019) and central fatigue being caused by central activation failure (CAF) (Kuppuswamy et al., 2015) then EMG biomarkers may vary in each condition. In CAF with enduring activity the primary driver of fatigue is a reduction in corticomotor excitability and in general this results in a gradual reduction in the number of motor units recruited in a muscular activity (Kuppuswamy et al., 2015). CAF can be quantified using the interpolation twitch technique (ITT) which is the gold standard to evaluate non-invasively the ability to maximally activate motor units (Shield and Zhou, 2004). The ITT involves percutaneous electrical stimulation of the muscle nerve during maximal voluntary contraction (MVC). The stimulation produces an increase in the force torque (i.e., superimposed twitch) as it recruits muscle fibres that were not recruited during the maximal effort. An increase in force elicited by the superimposed stimulation suggests a deficit in voluntary activation (VA) (i.e., the larger the superimposed twitch, the weaker the VA). A reduction in %VA due to exercise is considered central fatigue (Millet et al., 2012). Peripheral fatigue can be investigated by stimulating the muscle in a relaxed state before, during or after the fatiguing exercise. This is usually done by progressively increasing the intensity of the electrical stimulus until increasing the intensity does not increase the electrical or mechanical responses (i.e., optimal intensity) (Millet et al., 2012). Studies using surface EMG (SEMG) have shown that mean or median power spectrum frequencies decrease during sustained MVC (Kranz et al., 1985, Moritani et al., 1986). During maximal effort, a decrease in muscle fibre conduction velocity (MFCV) has often been reported which contributes to this decline of power frequency (Zwarts et al., 1987, Arendt-Nielsen and Mills, 1988). The decline in MFCV reflects the accumulation of metabolic by products during the fatiguing exercise (Brody et al., 1991, Masuda et al., 1999, Zwarts and Stegeman, 2003) and thus can be used as a measure of peripheral fatigue. A study by Schillings et al. (2003) investigated the contribution of central and peripheral factors of fatigue during a 2-min

sustained MVC of the biceps brachii in 20 healthy subjects. In this study, MFCV was determined using SEMG and peripheral fatigue was quantified by comparing force development following electrical stimulation on the motor endplate *before* and *after* the contraction. To measure force loss due to central factors, the investigators used superimposed electrical simulation *during* contraction. The investigators found voluntary force during the MVC decreased by 38% with peripheral factors contributing to 89% of this decline. This was indicated by a decline in MFCV during the first minute of contraction which then levelled off. The further decline in voluntary force (12%) could be attributed to an increase in CAF during the second half of the contraction (Schillings et al., 2003). These findings demonstrate the contribution of both central and peripheral fatigue in the decline of voluntary force. They also show how peripheral fatigue seems to dominate, but central factors become more prominent during longer sustained MVCs.

CENTRAL MECHANISMS OF POST-STROKE FATIGUE

POSSIBLE PREDISPOSING FACTORS



PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES



(A)



Figure 1. Proposed central (A) and peripheral (B) mechanisms of post-stroke fatigue. Figure made by author using Biorender (BioRender).

1.4 Risk factors for post-stroke fatigue

Studies have postulated numerous risk factors for PSF development including emotional disorders, pre-stroke fatigue, sleep disorders, comorbid disease and neurological disability (Schepers et al., 2006a, Ponchel et al., 2015).

1.4.1 Sociodemographic factors

Few studies have reported on demographic factors associated with PSF, including a higher prevalence in females that mirrors fatigue in the general population (Watt et al., 2000, Schepers et al., 2006a), but no clear relation with ethnicity, marital status or educational level (Ponchel et al., 2015). Several studies have however reported an association between PSF and older age (Glader et al., 2002, Schepers et al., 2006a, Feigin et al., 2012).

1.4.2 Emotional disturbances

Post-stroke depression (PSD) is experienced by at least one-third of stroke survivors (Hackett et al., 2005). In many patients, PSD co-exists with PSF (Wu et al., 2014) and is associated with greater fatigue severity and impact on daily living (Schepers et al., 2006a). There is evidence to suggest that both pre- and post-stroke depression independently predict development of PSF (Naess et al., 2012b, Duncan et al., 2015). Fatigue is also a manifestation of depression with many diagnostic tools listing it as a main diagnostic criteria (Demyttenaere et al., 2005). However, evidence supports the notion of PSF and PSD being two distinct clinical entities. First, PSF is more prevalent than PSD with studies in stroke outpatient settings estimating only 38-57% of patients with PSF also had PSD (Ingles et al., 1999, Van Der Werf et al., 2001) . Second, pharmacological studies have shown that antidepressant therapies (e.g., Fluoxetine) do not effectively prevent or treat PSF (Karaiskos et al., 2012, Choi-Kwon et al., 2007b). It is important that researchers control for the presence of depression to allow greater accuracy in prevalence estimates and enhance investigation of targeted treatments for PSF (Van De Port et al., 2007). Some studies have also found an association between anxiety and PSF, however anxiety has been less frequently assessed (Duncan et al., 2015).

Like PSD, apathy is a frequent occurring symptom after stroke affecting 30% of patients (van Dalen et al., 2013, Caeiro et al., 2013). Apathy is defined as a reduction in goal-directed activity in the cognitive, emotional, behavioural or social domains of a patient's life and may be difficult

to differentiate from PSF due to similarities in their behavioural manifestation (i.e., less energy) (Robert et al., 2018). Symptoms of apathy include loss of motivation, reduced levels of physical activity, difficulty in maintaining activity or conversation, and loss of interest in their health and wellbeing (Marin, 1990, Tay et al., 2021, Ho et al., 2021a, Tay et al., 2020). Post-stroke apathy is increasingly recognised as a consequence of neurobiological changes triggered by stroke. For example, apathy has been associated with damage to the frontal subcortical circuit of which the anterior cingulate is associated with goal directed behaviour (Levy and Dubois, 2006, Tekin and Cummings, 2002). It has also been associated with damage to the basal ganglia which also plays a role in goal directed behaviour (Levy and Dubois, 2006). Preliminary findings indicate that PSF and post-stroke apathy are not correlated and do not interact (Douven et al., 2017), although further work is needed to optimise ways to differentiate these two distinct entities.

1.4.3 Pre-stroke fatigue and comorbid disease

Though many patients report fatigue as a new symptom since their stroke, studies have found that pre-stroke fatigue is a significant predictor of PSF (Egerton et al., 2015). A study of 265 patients with first-ever ischaemic stroke found that pre-stroke fatigue (fatigue lasting longer than 3-months) significantly predicted early (< 2 week) PSF (Wang et al., 2014). Pre-stroke fatigue is also associated with longer term (18 months) PSF (Lerdal et al., 2012), as well as the clinical severity of PSF (Choi-Kwon et al., 2004). It appears this association may be even stronger than the effects of other contributing factors (depression, functional dependency) (Choi-Kwon et al., 2004). However, a limitation of these studies is that data on pre-stroke fatigue must be collected retrospectively, which introduces recall bias that may affect the accuracy of results (Althubaiti, 2016). Fatigue as a symptom also complicates many vascular conditions such as hypertension (Van Der Werf et al., 2001), diabetes (Naess et al., 2005), and ischaemic heart disease (Eijsden et al., 2012), which are common among patients suffering stroke. However, the contribution of these conditions to PSF is inconsistent and unclear. Medications often prescribed following stroke, including beta-blockers (McKelvie et al., 1991) and sedatives (Braley et al., 2015) are well known to cause fatigue but evidence on how they contribute to PSF is lacking.

1.4.4 Sleep disturbances

Approximately 50-70% of stroke survivors experience obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) (Tosun et al., 2008, Ifergane et al., 2016), a condition whereby the upper airway repeatedly narrows during sleep, interrupting one's progression through to the restful phase of sleep (Davis et al., 2013). Clinical symptoms of OSA include snoring, morning headaches, excessive daytime somnolence, lack of energy and fatigue (Chervin, 2000, Sharma and Culebras, 2016). OSA is a modifiable risk factor for stroke (Davis et al., 2013) and associated with vascular risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes, atrial fibrillation and heart failure (Davis et al., 2013, Lavie et al., 2000). Studies link the severity of OSA with death and dependency following stroke (Turkington et al., 2004). While the main mechanism of OSA related fatigue differs to that of PSF, the accompanying rise in systemic inflammation (Ifergane et al., 2016) and autonomic dysregulation (Sharma and Culebras, 2016, Nagata et al., 2008) may contribute to a central fatiguing effect. PSF has also been found to be associated with other sleep disorders such as insomnia and frequent wakening during the night (Wu et al., 2015b).

1.4.5 Physical and cognitive disability

Studies have suggested that fatigue is closely related to the degree of physical disability. Appelros et al. (2006) investigated the predictors of pain and fatigue in 253 patients with firstever stroke (Appelros, 2006). In this study, a total of 135 (53%) patients had fatigue and were examined at baseline and after 1-year and found PSF was significantly associated with greater disability (Modified Rankin Scale), more so than depression, sleep disturbances, stroke severity or cognitive state. Indeed, relating to cognition, a recent systematic review failed to find significant associations between PSF and selective attention, executive function, memory, language, and overall cognitive assessment scores (Ponchel et al., 2015). This may be confounded however by the reliability of self-reporting of fatigue in patients with cognitive impairment (Hilari et al., 2007, Engelter et al., 2006, Barrett, 2009).

1.5 Measuring post-stroke fatigue

Currently, fatigue is most commonly measured using patient-reported outcome measures (PROMS) which ask individuals if they are experiencing fatigue, sleepiness or tiredness (Gawron, 2016). None of the scales were developed specifically for fatigue after stroke however they have been validated in stroke populations (Choi-Kwon and Kim, 2011, Lerdal et al., 2009, Elbers et al., 2012, Mead et al., 2007). One of the most commonly used is the fatigue

severity scale (FSS), developed by Krupp et al. (1989) to measure fatigue in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and multiple sclerosis (MS), and has subsequently been used in other chronic conditions with high sensitivity and reliability (Learmonth et al., 2013, Whitehead, 2009). Other self-report scales used to measure fatigue are listed in Table 1. Interpretation of changes in PROM scores is of concern in studies evaluating the effects of interventions aimed at reducing fatigue (Boyce et al., 2014). Estimates of minimal clinically important differences (MCID), defined as the smallest change in a score that the patient would perceive as beneficial (Jaeschke et al., 1989), help with the evaluation and interpretation of PROM scores. Self-reported measures of fatigue provide a real understanding of the impact of fatigue on ones health status and well-being from the patient's perspective (Reeves et al., 2018). Most PROMs are reliable, reproducible, easy to complete, and allow for efficient data collection (Reeves et al., 2018, Reeve et al., 2013, Mead et al., 2007). They can also assess a broad array of fatigue domains (Gawron, 2016) (Table 1). However, self-reported measures of fatigue are subjective and can be influenced by the participant's mood or their desire to answer "correctly" (Gawron, 2016). The scale used to measure fatigue in this study will be discussed in detail in subsequent chapters. The scales included in *Table 1* were selected as they appear to be the most commonly used fatigue scales in the literature.

			Dimension	S			
Scale	Physical fatigue	Mental fatigue	General fatigue	Fatigue severity	Motivation	Physical activity	Impact on ADLs
Fatigue severity scale (FSS)	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	~
Multidimensiona l fatigue inventory (MFI- 20)	~	✓	✓		✓	✓	
Modified Fatigue Impact Scale (FIS)	✓	✓			✓		~
Checklist Individual Strength – subscale fatigue (CIS-f)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	✓	✓	
Fatigue Assessment Scale (Zedlitz et al.)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	
Visual Analogue Scale -fatigue (VAS-F)			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	
The Short Form (36) Health Survey (SF-36) – vitality component			\checkmark	~			
Profile of Mood States – Fatigue subscale (POMS-F)			✓	✓			

Table 1. Scales used to assess fatigue and the dimensions they measure.

1.6 Current treatments for post-stroke fatigue

Relatively little research focused on the prevention and treatment of PSF has been conducted, although interest in this area has increased over the last 10 years. Studies that have been undertaken have investigated a wide range of interventions, reflecting the etiological complexity of this condition. Such interventions include pharmacological, psychological, physical activity-based, and electrical treatments in the main and are summarised in *Table 2*. To formulate Table 2 the following databases were searched: PUBMED, MEDLINE, The Cochrane Library, and Web of Science. Subject heading and free text terms relating to stroke (e.g., ischaemic stroke, haemorrhagic stroke, subarachnoid haemorrhage), fatigue (lethargy, tiredness, exhaustion) were used to produce a search strategy for OVID MEDLINE, which was adjusted using Boolean operators for the other databases. Articles involving human study that were full text and English language were used in the critical analysis irrespective of which part of the stroke continuum they related to (e.g., acute phase, rehabilitation phase, longer term). References of included articles were also analysed for additional information sources. A second researcher reviewed the references and the accuracy of the table.
Author	Country	Design	Participants	Criteria	Fatigue scale	Type of intervention	Results/
			(intervention)				Comments
Prevention							
West et al. (2019)	Denmark	Quasi-RCT	90 (44)	Acute stroke	MFI-20	Naturalistic light	Significant reductions in
				patients admitted to		intervention using multi-	perceived fatigue at
				rehabilitation unit		coloured LED lights that	discharge from the
						vary irradiance depending	intervention unit.
						on time-of-day vs usual	
						rehabilitation lighting	
Dennis et al.	UK	Multicentre, double-	3,127 (1,564)	Acute stroke	SF-36 vitality	Fluoxetine 20mg orally	No significant reductions
(2019)		blind, placebo-		patients 2-15 days		once daily for 6 months vs	in vitality measures or the
		controlled RCT		after stroke onset		placebo	number of patients
							meeting fatigue criteria
Treatment							
<i>I</i>	Anti-depressants	and mood stabilisation					
Choi Kwon et al.	South Korea	Placebo controlled	83 (40)	Stroke patients	FSS & VAS-f	Fluoxetine (anti-depressant)	No difference in the
(2007a)		double-blind		attending outpatient		vs placebo	number of people with
		RCT		clinic with PSD,			fatigue and in fatigue
				PSEI or PSAP			severity between

Table 2. Summary of randomised controlled trials investigating the efficacy of various interventions for the prevention and treatment of post-stroke fatigue.

treatment and placebo

group at 3 and 6 months.

Karaiskos et al.	Greece	Open-label RCT	60 (20:20:20)	Diagnosis of first-	FSS	Duloxetine vs citalopram vs	PSF = secondary outcome
(2012)				ever stroke within		sertraline	Significant improvement
				the last 12 months			in depression and anxiety
							but not fatigue in all three
							treatment groups at 3
							months
Johansson et al.	Sweden	Placebo controlled	12 (12)	Stroke or TBI >12	MFS	Monoaminergic stabiliser (-	Significant improvement
(2012b)		double-blind		months earlier (but) -OSU6162 vs placebo	in MFS score at 4 weeks
		randomised cross-		no more than 10			
		over trial		years)			
				Subjects had			
				recovered from			
				neurological			
				symptoms but			
				suffered debilitating			
				mental fatigue for at			
				least one year			
Stimulants and neuroprotectants							

Bivard et al.	Australia	Double-blind,	36 (18)	\geq 3-months post-	MFI-20	Oral Modafinil 200mg daily	Significant improvements
(2017)		placebo- controlled,		stroke		for 6-weeks vs placebo	in MFI scores with
		crossover RCT		MFI score ≥ 60			Modafinil
Poulsen et al.	Denmark	Double-blind, placebo	41 (21)	Stroke within 14	MFI-20	Modafinil 400mg daily for	Modafinil did not result in
(2015)		controlled RCT		days		90 days (200mg daily of $>$	significant improvement
				$mRS \leq 3$		65 years) vs placebo	in MFI-20 but did
				MFI-20 \ge 20			improve FSS
Ogden et al.	New Zealand	Placebo controlled	31 (16)	$SAH \ge 3$ months	Self-reported	Tirilazad mesylate vs	PSF = secondary outcome
(1998b)		Double-blind RCT		prior	experience of fatigue	placebo	Significantly lower level
							of fatigue reported in
							treatment group compared
							to control at 10 days
	Vitamin and Qi s	upplementation					
Guo et al. (2012)	China	Placebo controlled	90 (30:30:30)	Ischaemic stroke	FSS	Traditional Chinese	No significant
		parallel RCT		with qi deficiency		medicine and rehabilitation	improvement in FSS
				syndrome		therapy vs usual care	score at 4 weeks.
Gurak et al.	Russia	Placebo controlled	30 (15)	Stroke or	MFI-20	Enerion (synthetic	Significant reduction in
(2005)		parallel RCT		myocardial		derivative of vitamin B1) vs	total MFI (16%, <i>P</i> =0.01)
				infarction		placebo	

Liu et al.	Taiwan	Double-blind RCT	64 (29)	Hemorrhagic- or	BFI	Oral Astragalus	Large reductions in
(2016)				infarction-type		Membranaceus 2.8g TDS	fatigue score extending to
				stroke \geq 3 months		for 28 days vs placebo	2 months follow up.
				prior			
				PSF (BFI≥4)			
	Psychological the	rapies					
Johansson et al.	Sweden	Placebo controlled	16 (12)	Stroke or TBI >12	MFS	Mindfulness-based stress	Significant improvement
(2012a)		cross-over RCT		months earlier		reduction vs usual care	in MFS score at 8 weeks
				Aged 30-65			
				Mental fatigue			
				(MFS>10)			
Nguyen at al.	Australia	Feasibility RCT	15 (9)	History of stroke	FSS	Cognitive behavioural	Significantly lower
(2017)				Aged 16-70 years		therapy (8 sessions)	fatigue and depression
				$FSS \ge 4$		alongside aerobic exercise	scores in the intervention
				Poor sleep		prescription vs usual care	group as well as improved
				(PSQI>5)			HRQoL
Clarke et al.	New Zealand	Single-blind, parallel	16 (9)	History of stroke	FSS	Fatigue management group	No significant benefit of
(2012)		RCT		FSS >3.9		(FMG) – 6 sessions, 60 min	FMG over general stroke
						weekly: education, sleep /	education in reducing
						relaxation, exercise /	fatigue.

						nutrition, mood vs general	
						stroke education	
	Exercise and othe	r physical therapies					
Zedlitz et al.	Netherlands	Single-blind RCT	83 (38)	Stroke > 4 months	CIS-f	CBT and graded activity	Improvement in PSF after
(2012)				before recruitment		training vs CBT alone	CBT. Improvement
				CIS-f≥40)			greater when combined
				Aged 18-70 years			with graded activity
				Able to walk			training (e.g. walking,
				independently			strength training)
Zhou et al.	China	Parallel	128 (64)		SSQOL-energy	Electro- acupuncture (EA)	Significant increase in
(2010)		RCT				combined with cupping vs	baseline SSQOL-energy
						medication (compound	score in both groups at 5
						aminobutyric acid vitamin	weeks. Improvement
						E, magnesium gluconate +	significantly greater in
						sertraline)	EA + cupping group
Brown et al.	USA	Double-blind	32 (15)	Ischaemic stroke	FSS	Continuous Positive airway	PSF = secondary outcome
(2013)		RCT		with evidence of		pressure (CPAP) vs usual	Slight improvement in
				OSA (eligible if		care	FSS score in active CPAP
				stroke within 7 days			treatment group compared

				of sleep apnoea			to sham CPAP at 3
				assessment)			months.
Aaronson et al.	Netherlands	Cross-over RCT	36 (20)	Stroke between 1-	CIS-20	Nocturnal CPAP (min 1 hr /	No significant
(2016)				16 weeks prior and		night) titrated to achieve	improvement in fatigue
				diagnosis of OSA		AHI < 5, for 4 weeks vs	scores or in neurological
						usual care	or functional recovery
1	Electrical therapie	S					
Zhou et al.	China	Parallel	128 (64)		SSQOL – energy	Electro-acupuncture (EA)	Significant increase in
(2010)		RCT				combined with cupping vs	baseline SSQOL-energy
						medication (compound	score in both groups at 5
						aminobutyric acid vitamin	weeks. Improvement
						E, magnesium gluconate +	significantly greater in
						sertraline)	EA + cupping group
De Doncker et al.	UK	Double blind	30 (20)	First-ever stroke >3	FSS	2 x 20-minute sessions of	Significant reduction in
(20210)		RCT		months prior		Anodal tDCS separated by	FSS at 1 week post
				$FSS-7 \ge 4$		10 minutes of rest vs sham	intervention in the tDCS
						stimulation	group but not at 4 weeks
Dong et al.	China	Double blind	60 (30)	Stroke > 3 months	FSS	20-minute sessions of	Significant reduction in
(2021)		RCT		prior and within 1		anodal tDCS 6 x a week for	FSS at 4 week follow up
				year			in the active group vs

	FSS >36	4 weeks alongside routine	sham group but not at 8				
	Aged 18-65 years	rehabilitation vs sham.	weeks follow up.				
Abbreviations: RCT = Randomised controlled trial; MFI-20 = Multidimensional fatigue inventory-20; SF-36 = The short-form 36 health survey; FSS = Fatigue severity scale; VAS-f =							
Visual analogue scale-fatigue; PSF = Post-stroke fatigue; MFS = Mental fatigue scale; SAH = Subarachnoid haemorrhage; BFI = Brief fatigue inventory; HRQoL = Health related							
quality of life; FMG = Fatigue management group; CIS-f = Checklist individual strength-subscale fatigue; CBT = Cognitive behavioural therapy; SSQoL – energy = Stroke specific							
quality of life scale – energy domain; EA = Electro-acupuncture; OSA = Obstructive sleep apnoea; CPAP = Continuous positive airway pressure; tDCS = Transcranial direct current							

stimulation.

1.6.1 Prevention of post-stroke fatigue

Natural and artificial light therapy has been utilized in various non-pharmacological treatments of psychological, emotional, and behavioural disorders to balance the circadian rhythm (internal biological process that regulates the sleep-wake cycle) (Shirani and St. Louis, 2009, Onega and Pierce, 2020). Blue light therapy has been shown to be effective in alleviating fatigue in patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI) (Sinclair et al., 2014, Connolly et al., 2021). Stroke patients admitted for rehabilitation are mostly indoors and not exposed to natural daytime light. One study has focused primarily on preventing fatigue after stroke using naturalistic lighting for an inpatient rehabilitation unit (West et al., 2019). In this study, 90 patients with acute stroke were randomised to either a rehabilitation unit using multi-coloured LED lights that vary irradiance according to the time of the day (n=44) or a one that used standard lighting throughout (n=46). Discharge fatigue scores (Multidimensional fatigue inventory, MFI-20) were significantly lower among those rehabilitated in the unit using naturalistic light compared to usual lighting (-20.6%, P=0.025), and sleep quality (Pittsburg Sleep Quality Index) appeared improved albeit not statistically (-13%, P=0.36).

Another study that focussed on the prevention of PSF was a study by Dennis et al. (2019) who conducted a large RCT evaluating early initiation (2-15 days after stroke onset) of fluoxetine (an antidepressant) 20 mg daily for 6 months on functional recovery after stroke (fluoxetine on functional outcomes after acute stroke, FOCUS trial). The investigators found no difference in the primary outcome of the modified Rankin Score (mRS) between the treatment and placebo groups. They also found no difference in fatigue (measured using the SF-36 vitality sub-component) between the two groups at 6-months.

1.6.2 Pharmacological treatments

1.6.2.1 Antidepressants and mood stabilisers

Affective disorders are commonly associated with PSF, and antidepressant therapy including fluoxetine, citalopram, sertraline and duloxetine have been studied in randomised controlled trials (RCTs) although none have demonstrated improved levels of fatigue over control groups (Karaiskos et al., 2012, Choi-Kwon et al., 2007b). In a double-blind, cross-over trial, Johansson

et al. (2012b) studied the effects of a monoaminergic stabiliser (-OSU6162), that acts primarily on dopaminergic pathways to stabilise mood, on patients with mental fatigue (measured using the Mental Fatigue Scale, MFS) after stroke (n=6) and traumatic brain injury (TBI) (n=6). In this study, half of the participants started on the active drug and the other half on the placebo for 4-weeks. At the end of the 4-weeks period, participants who started on the active substance were changed to placebo for an additional 4-weeks. The investigators found the molecule resulted in significant improvements in mental fatigue compared to placebo (35% reduction in MFS score after -OSU6162 compared to placebo, P=0.031), although the study suffered from a small sample size (n=12; 6 stroke patients) and high risk of bias as there was no control group.

1.6.2.2 Stimulants and neuroprotectants

Modafinil is a wakefulness-promoting agent that excites monoaminergic pathways, stimulating the release of dopamine, histamine, serotonin, norepinephrine and orexin in the brain (Gerrard and Malcolm, 2007). It exerts neuroprotective effects by increasing anti-oxidative processes and reducing free-radical formation (Xiao et al., 2004). Modafinil has been studied in 2 RCTs of patients with clinically significant PSF. The Modafinil in Debilitating Fatigue after Stroke (MIDAS) phase 2 trial randomised 36 patients at least 3 months post stroke to either Modafinil (200mg daily) or placebo for 6 weeks, and found significantly lower mean MFI-20 scores at end of treatment (-7.38, 95% CI, -21.76 to -2.99 P = <0.001) in the Modafinil group (Bivard et al., 2017) although this magnitude of change fell short of that considered clinically meaningful (Nordin et al., 2016).

Poulsen *et al.* (2015) similarly randomised 41 patients with PSF, only earlier (< 2 weeks post stroke), to a higher dose of Modafinil (400mg daily) or placebo for 90 days (Poulsen et al., 2015). At day 90, they failed to see a significant difference in the primary outcome of fatigue (MFI-20). However, the intervention group exhibited significantly reduced median scores on the FSS-9 compared to the placebo group (36 vs 49 points respectively, P=0.019). The intervention group also exhibited significantly reduced median scores on the FSS (FSS-7) compared to placebo (22 vs 37.5 points, P=0.042). Although this finding seems promising, the FSS was a secondary outcome measure, and the study was not powered to detect significant differences in the outcome measures.

Tirilazad mesylate is lipid soluble steroid hypothesised to help cell membrane stabilisation and free radical scavenging (Kassell et al., 1996). In a double-blind trial by Ogden *et al.*(1998a) patients were given either the active treatment (n=9) or vehicle (100 ml of sterile solution) (n=9) for 10 days after subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH). Debilitating fatigue was measured using an interview-like questionnaire (e.g., are you experiencing low energy, do you feel exhausted for hours to days after an activity, are you falling to sleep in unusual situations). Questions were answered with either a yes or no and the two groups were compared with Chi squared tests (χ^2). The proportion of patients with debilitating fatigue at 3-months was significantly lower in the Tirilazad mesylate group compared to placebo with all nine vehicle-treated patients reporting fatigue as a problem, compared to four patients in the drug-treated group ($\chi^2 - 6.92$, df = 1, P < 0.01). Participants in the treatment group also scored significantly better on the attention index (measures concentration, psychomotor speed, and sustained attention) compared to the vehicle-treated group ($\chi^2 = 5.56$, df = 1, P < 0.02). However, again the sample size was small, outcome measures crude, and the intervention was not specifically designed for PSF.

1.6.2.3 Vitamin and Qi supplementation

Vitamin deficiencies have been associated with PSF and its severity. In an observational study of first ever lacunar stroke, PSF severity was greatest among those with vitamin B12 deficiency (Huijts et al., 2012), postulating vitamin supplementation as a potential treatment. Gurak et al. (2005) reported lower MFI-20 scores in patients with PSF receiving Enerion, a synthetic derivative of vitamin B1, compared to control (-16%, P=0.01). Chinese herbal medicines that aim to supplement and tonify *Qi* (vital energy of your body) have long been used to treat conditions such as fatigue. A commonly used compound, *Astragalus Mebranaceous* is reported to contain flavonoids and polysaccharides that result in anti-oxidant and immunoregulatory effects (Ding et al., 2017). A RCT by Liu et al. (2016) reported significantly reduced fatigue (Brief Fatigue Index, BFI) in those allocated oral *astragalus* compared to placebo both at end of treatment (mean difference -8.03, *P*=0.01) and at 2-months follow up (mean difference – 9.47, *P*=0.05) (Liu et al., 2016). A subsequent systematic review and meta-analysis of Chinese herbal medicines for PSF reported significant benefits from treatment with various *Qi* supplements among 16 studies (Xu et al., 2019). However, all the studies of vitamin and Qi supplements suffer from inadequate sample size and methodological deficiencies (e.g., lack of

placebo and insufficient information on randomisation or blinding) that mean definitive efficacy data for such interventions is still required.

1.6.3 Psychological treatments

Psychological therapies have been effective in cancer related fatigue (Armes et al., 2007) and chronic fatigue syndrome (White et al., 2011) and is a promising therapy for PSF. A pilot RCT (n=15) of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), a talking therapy that aims to reduce symptoms of depression and anxiety disorders by changing the way you think and behave, demonstrated significant reductions in FSS-7 compared to usual care (mean difference -1.92; 95% CI -0.24 to -3.6) among 15 patients with PSF (Nguyen et al., 2019). Whether CBT affects fatigue directly or indirectly through its effects on mood and sleep is uncertain (Driessen and Hollon, 2010, Williams et al., 2013). Group cognitive therapy was also associated with reductions in PSF severity (Checklist Individual Strength - subscale fatigue, CIS-f) when delivered weekly for 12 weeks, however, reductions in PSF were greater when it was combined with graded physical activity (Zedlitz et al., 2012). Mindfulness-based stress reduction has also been shown to help reduce mental fatigue amongst patients with stroke and TBI (Johansson et al., 2012a), while a 6-week fatigue management program including education on sleep, relaxation, exercise, nutrition, and mood was no better than general stroke education at fatigue reduction (Clarke et al., 2012). Wu et al. (2017) have recently co-designed a psychological fatigue management manual that appears feasible, acceptable and effective for patients with PSF, but requires testing against a control group.

1.6.4 Physical treatments

1.6.4.1 Exercise

There are several mechanisms by which physical exercise may plausibly improve PSF. For example, studies have shown how exercise can increase cerebral blood flow (CBF) by activating the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) (Dishman et al., 2006). A study of 8 healthy volunteers by Williamson et al. (2003) found that central command during handgrip exercise independently increases regional CBF (measured using single-photon-emission computed tomography) in insular and anterior cingulated regions (Williamson et al., 2003). Ischaemia/reperfusion injury (I/R injury) to these brain areas have been associated with subjective feelings of impaired energy (Manes et al., 1999). In MS, fatigue development is associated with atrophy of frontal and posterior parietal cortices (Calabrese et al., 2010), while

in aging humans aerobic fitness reduces tissue loss in these brain regions (Colcombe et al., 2003). Exercise can ameliorate physical deconditioning through increasing muscle activation and recruitment, lengthening muscle contraction, enhancing insulin sensitivity and vascular morphology (Billinger et al., 2012a), ultimately leading to improved CRF, muscle strength and mobility (Pang et al., 2005b, Moore et al., 2010). Further, exercise can modulate neurotransmitter pathways involving dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin to enhance alertness and cognition (Lin and Kuo, 2013).

No RCTs have investigated the role of exercise alone in reducing fatigue, however the aforementioned study by Zedlitz *et al.* (2012) demonstrated greater reductions in fatigue severity when cognitive therapy was combined with graded exercise, compared to cognitive therapy alone. Studies evaluating the effects of exercise programs in stroke patients without fatigue have demonstrated improvements in the vitality subscale of the SF-36 (Kirk et al., 2014, Aidar et al., 2016), energy subscale of the stroke specific quality of life scale (SS-QOL) (Yoo and Yoo, 2011), as well as measures of sleep quality (Flansbjer et al., 2008). However, results are inconsistent with others reporting no significant changes in fatigue following exercise (Duncan et al., 2012). In addition, it is not clear whether exercise targets peripheral or central causes of fatigue. Overall, there is a paucity of trial evidence in this area that requires addressing with future study design.

1.6.4.2 Continuous Positive Airway Pressure

Sleep disorders, including OSA, commonly complicate PSF (Ho et al., 2021b, Lerdal et al., 2011). Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) therapy is a type of non-invasive ventilation (NIV) that delivers oxygenated air into the airways through a mask during sleep and is the gold standard treatment for OSA (Spicuzza et al., 2015). CPAP has been trialled in 2 RCTs of patients with fatigue and OSA diagnosed post stroke, but unfortunately was not found to improve fatigue scores compared to controls (Aaronson et al., 2016, Brown et al., 2013).

1.6.5 Electrical therapies

1.6.5.1 Electroacupuncture and cupping

Electroacupuncture is the delivery of small amounts of electric current through acupuncture needles inserted into specific parts of the body. It is thought to increase somatosensory stimulation from affected areas, potentially affecting cortical reorganisation and neuronal excitability, and has been widely used to treat neurological conditions in China (Liu et al., 2015). Zhou et al. (2010) demonstrated improved scores on the energy sub-domain of the SSQOL in patients with PSF randomised to 5 weeks of electroacupuncture and cupping to the lumbar spine (n=64) compared to vitamin supplementation and sertraline (n=64) (Zhou et al., 2010). Interest in electrical stimulation for neuroplastic motor recovery is growing (Meyers et al., 2018), and this may be an interesting avenue for future research.

1.6.5.2 Transcranial direct current stimulation

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a non-invasive brain stimulation method that can regulate cortical excitability and output. It is relatively low cost, easy to use and safe (Brunoni et al., 2012). A single dose of tDCS lasting a few minutes can have cortical excitatory effects that last hours with repeated doses incurring longer lasting effects (Nitsche et al., 2008). Studies involving tDCS of the prefrontal (motor) cortex have shown promise in fatigue states associated with MS (Saiote et al., 2014). De Doncker et al. (2021b) recently demonstrated that a single dose of tDCS (2 x 20 minute sessions separated by a 10 minute break) was associated with significantly greater reductions in FSS-7 amongst patients with PSF compared to sham control, at 1 week post intervention but not at 1 month (De Doncker et al., 2021b). Another study randomised 60 patients with PSF to either 4 weeks of daily tDCS (20 minutes per day, 6 x per week) delivered in hospital compared to sham stimulation and demonstrated safety and acceptability as well as greater reductions in FSS in the intervention group at 4 weeks but not at 8-week follow-up (Dong et al., 2021). Thus, tDCS appears to be safe and effective at reducing fatigue severity but may not result in long lasting changes.

1.6.6 Knowledge gaps

What is evident is that both clinicians and patients feel ill equipped to manage PSF, which is not a benign condition, and impacts negatively on clinical outcomes. There is still a great deal

we do not understand about PSF including the mechanism of development which may differ according to time point along the journey of the stroke survivor. This is a key factor that future research needs to address for more targeted and effective treatments to be developed. A greater understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms may also uncover biomarkers that may hopefully correlate with not only the diagnosis, but the clinical severity of PSF, enabling a more profiled approach to treatment and the ability to monitor responses to treatments.

We still do not have a clear understanding as to what causes PSF, whether central mechanisms lead to cognitive phenotypes, while peripheral mechanisms lead to distinct physical phenotypes, or whether a mixture of phenotypes are at play in many individuals with PSF. The interventional studies to date are small and vary in methodological quality but some have shown promise despite the significant variation in the types of treatments. An intervention that may benefit a multitude of mechanisms that may promote PSF may become an effective treatment for PSF, especially if it is safe, cheap and self-delivered.

1.7 Remote ischaemic conditioning

Remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC) is a strategy whereby brief, reversible episodes of ischaemia and reperfusion, typically via the cyclical application of a blood pressure (BP) cuff to a limb inflated to above systolic pressure (mmHg), confers systemic protection against ischaemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury in remote organs or tissues (Heusch et al., 2015, Ayodele and Koch, 2017). The term I/R injury refers to the harmful effects of both oxygen deprivation (ischaemia) and reoxygenation (reperfusion) when blood flow to a tissue is compromised, and then restored (Carden and Granger, 2000). Ischaemia triggers both local and systemic inflammatory responses such as increased mast cell and macrophage activation, increased platelet-leukocyte aggregation, and an upregulation of proinflammatory gene products (e.g., cytokines) (Eltzschig and Collard, 2004, Carden and Granger, 2000). Cellular effects of prolonged ischemia include altered membrane potentials, disrupted ion distribution (e.g. calcium, sodium), reduced adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis, cellular acidosis, cellular swelling and death (Eltzschig and Collard, 2004). While restoration of blood flow is necessary to prevent irreversible injury to an ischaemic tissue, reperfusion can exacerbate the cellular responses to ischemia and can cause both local and remote organ dysfunction (Carden and Granger, 2000, Abela and Homer-Vanniasinkham, 2003, Eltzschig and Collard, 2004). Reperfusion of ischaemic tissue leads to increased production of reactive oxygen species

(ROS) and alters mitochondrial calcium metabolism (Meng-Yu et al., 2018). This leads to mitochondrial calcium overload, further increase in ROS and oxidative stress (Meng-Yu et al., 2018). Oxidative stress promotes endothelial dysfunction leading to inflammation, platelet aggregation, loss of vasodilation and cardiovascular complications (Higashi et al., 2014).

The concept of 'ischaemic preconditioning' (IPC) as a protective phenomenon was first described by Murry et al. (1986) who found that four cycles of 5-minute (min) episodes of ischaemia by occlusion of the circumflex artery, separated by 5-min reperfusion, protected canine hearts from a subsequent prolonged 40-min circumflex artery occlusion. Myocardial infarct size was 75% lower in IPC treated animals compared to controls. These findings were extended when Przyklenk et al. (1993) found that brief episodes of circumflex artery occlusion using the same IPC protocol, also significantly reduced myocardium infarct size when canine hearts were subjected to a one-hour coronary artery occlusion of a different arterial territory (anterior descending artery) – remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC). Experimental studies later found that applying transient episodes of sub-lethal ischaemia and reperfusion to remote organs (e.g. small intestine, kidney) (Gho et al., 1996) or even a limb (Birnbaum et al., 1997, Oxman et al., 1997) also had a cardioprotective effect. There is a wealth of experimental animal data demonstrating clear cardioprotective benefits with RIC (You et al., 2019, Kerendi et al., 2005, Bromage et al., 2017). Studies show that the threshold for protection is greater in older animals (Boengler et al., 2009) and animals with comorbidities (e.g. diabetes, hypertension), with such animals requiring a more robust conditioning signal (Heusch et al., 2015). However, most preclinical, experimental studies use young, healthy animals who are free from any comorbidities (Ludman et al., 2010)The use of animal models has improved our understanding of RIC and the potential mechanisms underlying ischaemic conditioning (discussed in chapter 1.8), however the translation of results obtained for animals to humans has been limited. In laboratory experiments most variables are tightly controlled, and animals are treated according to a strict protocol. Furthermore, as mentioned previously animal models typically use young, healthy, genetically similar animals, however such homogeneity does not exist in the human population (Casals et al., 2011). To optimise preclinical research and improve the chances of translating animal findings to humans, multi-morbid animal models and larger models (e.g., nonhuman primates) that more adequately represent the human phenotype are needed (McCafferty et al., 2014) As well, in animal studies ischaemic preconditioning requires an intervention to be applied directly to the target organ (e.g., heart) which may not be feasible in clinical settings (Lim and Hausenloy, 2012a). This may explain why the translation of preclinical findings on the cardioprotective effect of RIC into the clinic has been largely disappointing (Ludman et al., 2010, Bosnjak and Ge, 2017). To ensure the proper reporting of experimental data and to limit bias in the conduct of preclinical studies, it is recommended to follow established guidelines such as CAMARADES (The Collaborative Approach to Meta-Analysis and Review of Animal Data from Experimental Studies) (Ma et al., 2020, Hirst et al., 2014, Macleod et al., 2004). However, several articles on preclinical studies have failed to mention details of studies such as blinding, allocation concealment and randomisation that may result in higher levels of unconscious bias (Hansen et al., 2021).

As well as protecting the heart, RIC can protect other vital organs such as the kidneys (Wever et al., 2011) liver (Tapuria et al., 2008), lungs (Xia et al., 2003) and brain (Candilio et al., 2013) against subsequent I/R injury. Jensen et al. (2011) found that hind limb RIC (4 x 5 min episodes of ischaemia) before temporarily suspending blood flow by hypothermic circulatory arrest, significantly reduced cerebral injury, neuronal damage and brain lactate levels in pigs. In another study, Kitagawa et al. (1990) looked at the effect of direct IPC on neuronal cell death in the hippocampus of the gerbil through brief episodes of common carotid artery (CCA) occlusion/reperfusion. The investigators found that 2 x 2 min episodes of bilateral CCA occlusion at one-day intervals two days before a lethal 5-min neuroischaemic insult resulted in a greater protective effect, with a significantly higher neuronal density in the CA1 region of the hippocampus (defined as the number of surviving pyramidal neurons per 1 mm length of the CA1 region) after conditioning compared with controls (188.5 \pm S.E.M 3.6 vs 12.9 \pm 2.2, respectively, P < 0.01). A single 2-min episode was associated with a lower level of cerebral protection, whereas 2 x 1 min episodes undertaken only 12-hours before did not provide neuroprotection. These findings suggest the duration and timing of RIC is critical to its effectiveness. Researchers call this the 'ischaemic tolerance phenomenon.' Kitagawa et al. (1990) said that ischaemic tolerance develops when ischaemic stress is sufficient to disrupt cellular metabolism and alter gene expression, but not enough to cause cell death. Using mice, Ren et al. (2008) tested whether different protocols of ipsilateral hind limb RIC by femoral artery occlusion (FAO) (Cossarizza et al., 2019) protected against focal cerebral ischaemia from a subsequent bilateral CCA occlusion (30-min) and permanent occlusion of the left distal middle cerebral artery (MCA) (Harrison et al.). RIC with 3 x 15 min FAO (and 15-min reperfusion) immediately before ischaemia significantly reduced infarct volumes from $47.5 \pm$ 7.6% (controls) to $9.8 \pm 8.6\%$, and to $24.7 \pm 7.3\%$ after 2 x 15 min FAO. However, RIC with only 2 x 5 min FAO offered no protection. These findings highlight the differing ischaemic tolerances of varying tissue types, with muscle, bone and skin cells of the limb having greater

ischaemic tolerance than neuronal cells in the brain. RIC activates at least two distinct timeframes of protection: the acute effect occurs immediately and lasts 2-hours (Ren et al., 2008), while the second window of protection (i.e. delayed protection) occurs 12-24 hours later, lasting up to 48-72 hours (Kuzuya et al., 1993).

1.8 Mechanisms of remote ischaemic conditioning

The mechanisms underlying RIC are not fully understood but are postulated to involve neural, humoral and systemic inflammatory pathways (Baig et al., 2021, Xia and Ji, 2019). The mechanisms underlying RIC can be considered as three interconnected events: (1) initial events taking place at the distal tissues (limbs) in response to the RIC stimulus (2) transmission of a protective signal to a target organ or tissue (neuronal, humoral, systemic mechanism) (Galán-Arriola et al., 2021) and (3) events occouring at the target organ or tissue which protects it from future I/R injury (Figure 2) (Hess et al., 2015, Lim and Hausenloy, 2012b).



Figure 2. Proposed mechanisms of remote ischaemic conditioning. Figure modified from Baig et al. (2021) using Biorender (<i>BioRender) (*author of this thesis is a co-author on the paper*).

1.8.1 Conditioning stimulus

Application of a conditioning stimulus (e.g., blood pressure cuff) stimulates the local release of autocoids (active biological substances producing physiological effects locally or through transport to other parts of the body) such as adenosine, bradykinin and opiods into the surrounding tissue (Liem et al., 2002, Schoemaker and van Heijningen, 2000, Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008). Experimental studies have found that pre-treating rats with Hoechst 140 (HOE-140), a bradykinin receptor antagonist, 8-(*p*-sulfophenyl)theophylline (8-SPT), an adenosine receptor antagonist or naloxone, an opiate receptor blocker, all abolish the cardioprotective effect of RIC (Schoemaker and van Heijningen, 2000, Liem et al., 2002, Shimizu et al., 2009). Uncertainty exists as to whether these molecules (collectively or individually) play a role in signal initiation or transmission, or if they have direct effects on target organs. Indeed, they may impart effects at a number of these steps (Heusch et al., 2015).

Another proposed mechanism of RIC involves the upregulation of hypoxia inducible factors (HIF) in response to hypoxia caused when the conditioning stimulus is applied to the limb (Chen et al., 2018). There are three types of HIFs (HIF-1, HIF-2 and HIF-3) which play a key role in regulating tissue oxygen homeostasis under hypoxic conditions by regulating the expression of key genes (e.g. the erythropoietin gene) (Xia and Ji, 2019). HIF binding to the erythropoietin (EPO) gene promotes erythropoiesis (process which produces red blood cells) increasing oxygen delivery to tissues (Haase, 2012, Jelkmann, 2011) and exerting neuroprotective effects (Xia and Ji, 2019). Support for the role of HIFs in the conditioning response comes from studies that have found increased levels of HIFs during RIC therapy (Yang et al., 2018, Cai et al., 2013, Albrecht et al., 2012). It is unclear how HIFs induced by RIC performed on a remote limb exerts protective effects on distal organs or tissues, since HIFs are transcriptional factors that cannot be excreted from cells (Xia and Ji, 2019). HIF-regulated gene expression must occur locally in the ischaemic limb where the conditioning stimulus was applied (Xia and Ji, 2019). Since the type of HIFs expressed in cells differ from cell to cell, it is presumed that the expression profiles of HIF-regulated genes differ depending on where the RIC stimulus is applied (e.g. limbs or kidney) (Xia and Ji, 2019). HIF-induced effects in the target organ (e.g., ischaemic brain tissue) are likely caused by HIF-regulated gene expression in the conditioned limb, rather than the direct effects of HIFs on the ischaemic brain tissue (Cai et al., 2013).

Another theory is that transient hypoxia in the limb when the conditioning stimulus is applied stimulates the release of extracellular vesicles (exosomes) by the hypoxic tissue cells which may act on the ischaemic target organ to reduce tissue damage (Giricz et al., 2014, Xiao et al., 2017). Exosomes play a neuroprotective role by transporting microRNAs, which are involved in gene expression, to ischaemic tissues (Zhang et al., 2018a, Zhao et al., 2019a).

1.8.2 Neural mechanisms

According to the neural hypothesis of RIC, the local release of adenosine and bradykinin in the remote organ or tissue stimulates nociceptive fibres which activates a neural pathway projecting to the target organ (Schoemaker and van Heijningen, 2000, Liem et al., 2002, Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008). The autonomic nervous system (ANS), spinal cord and somatosensory system are all believed to be involved in this protective signalling pathway (Heusch et al., 2015). Support for the role of the ANS in RIC comes from the finding that ganglionic blockades such as trimetaphan (Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005) and hexamethonium (Gho et al., 1996, Schoemaker and van Heijningen, 2000, Malhotra et al., 2011, Wei et al., 2012) block the cardioprotective effect of RIC. Further, studies have demonstrated that bilateral vagotomy, spinal cord dissection and limb denervation all block the protective effect of RIC if performed prior to conditioning (Basalay et al., 2012, Donato et al., 2013, Steensrud et al., 2010). Similarly, stimulation of the vagus nerve, either directly (Donato et al., 2013, Mastitskaya et al., 2012) or via transcutaneous means (Merlocco et al., 2014), has been found to mimic the cardioprotective effect of RIC. Interestingly, some studies have shown how RIC is only effective when it includes a period of reperfusion (Gho et al., 1996). This suggests that a neural pathway is activated during the reperfusion phase of RIC. Alternatively, it may mean that reperfusion is required for a humoral factor to be released to the circulation, needed in addition to the neurogenic pathway.

1.8.3 Humoral mechanisms

The humoral hypothesis of RIC postulates that blood-borne factors mediate RIC, conveying a protective signal from the remote organ or tissue to the target organ (Hess et al., 2015, Lim and Hausenloy, 2012b). Studies have shown that treating isolated, naïve hearts with coronary effluent obtained from conditioned hearts (Dickson et al., 1999) or dialysate from animals who have had limb RIC (Shimizu et al., 2009, Steensrud et al., 2010, Redington et al., 2012), protects the recipient heart from subsequent I/R injury. It is possible that the release of humoral

factors is induced by peripheral nerves (Redington et al., 2012). Support for this theory comes from a study by Jensen et al. (2012) who found that cardioprotection was lower in naïve hearts treated with dialysate from conditioned patients who had diabetic peripheral neuropathy, compared to naïve hearts treated with dialysate from diabetic patients with intact peripheral nerves. Furthermore, occlusion of venous outflow from a conditioned limb (femoral vein in a hind limb) also blocks the cardioprotective effect of RIC (Lim et al., 2010). Thus, during reperfusion of the remote organ or tissue conditioned, these protective humoral factors are 'washed away' towards the target organ (Gho et al., 1996, Weinbrenner et al., 2002, Lim and Hausenloy, 2012b). The exact nature and identity of these 'protective factors' is unclear but a number of putative agents have been proposed on the basis of experiments in cardiac injury models and are listed in *Table 3*.

Humoral mediators	Role
<i>Heat Shock Protein (HSP70)</i> (Dubey et al., 2015, Mashaghi et al., 2016)	 Improves protein integrity, prevents protein aggregation and regulates protein metabolism. Inhibits cellular apoptosis. Protects neurons from oxidative stress.
<i>Adenosine</i> (Kristiansen et al., 2005, Mubagwa et al., 1996b)	 Vasodilator. Activates ATP-sensitive K+ (K_{ATP}) channels → prevents excessive mitochondrial calcium ion (Ca²⁺) influx → preserves mitochondrial integrity + enables ATP synthesis. Regulates energy metabolism. Improves glucose metabolism.
Bradykinin (Sharma et al., 2015)	 Vasodilator. Activates number of pathways including protein kinase C (PKC) pathway (plays an important role in gene expression and cell proliferation). Activates K_{ATP} channels. Reduces oxidative stress, increases blood flow.
Nitrite/Nitric oxide (NO) (Förstermann and Münzel, 2006, Forstermann et al., 1994, Huang, 2003, Hess et al., 2015)	 Vasodilator. Increases blood flow. Protects mitochondria from oxidative stress. Inhibits endothelial cell activation and leukocyte adhesion. Inhibits platelet adhesion and aggregation. Prevents smooth muscle cell proliferation and thickening of arterial walls. Prevents atherosclerosis.
Stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) (Hess et al., 2015, Janowski, 2009)	 Chemokine activated by hypoxia. Involved in stem cell trafficking and cell proliferation. Neuromodulator.
<i>MicroRNA-144</i> (Li et al., 2014, Przyklenk, 2014)	 Regulates gene expression. Promotes cell proliferation. Inhibits apoptosis. Involved in cell differentiation. Induces autophagy signalling. Promotes pro-survival kinase signalling.
Endogenous opioids (Schultz et al., 1995, Randhawa and Jaggi, 2017, Aggarwal et al., 2019)	 E.g., endorphins, dynorphins and enkephalins. Interact with G-protein coupled opioid receptor system. Act on cardiac opioid receptors. Activates cardiac K_{ATP} channels. Modulates heart rate and vascular function.

Table 3.	Proposed	humoral	mediators	of	remote	isch	naemic	conditio	ning.
1 0000 0.	roposed	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	meannors	<i>vj</i>	remore	iber	<i>cicilii</i> c	conanto	TUTUS.

These factors may act directly on target organs or may influence the host's immune response and as such may also play a role in the systemic mechanisms of RIC. Although we have discussed the neural and humoral pathways of RIC as separate entities, researchers have shown how the two pathways are not mutually exclusive and together mediate RIC. For example, Steensrud et al. (2010) found that the cardioprotective effect observed when naïve rabbit hearts were perfused with dialysate from rabbits who had limb RIC was abolished when they dissected the rabbit's femoral nerves before conditioning. Similarly, a cardioprotective effect was observed when Redington et al. (2012) treated naïve hearts with plasma dialysate from rabbits who had direct femoral nerve stimulation without limb RIC. These findings suggest that protective humoral factors released in response to a RIC stimulus rely on intact neural pathways, and that such substances can be released into the bloodstream and mimic the effect of RIC through direct stimulation of peripheral nerves.

1.8.4 Systemic response

Animal studies have also shown how RIC suppresses the expression of genes involved in the intrinsic apoptosis pathway (Caspase 3 and Caspase 8) and also reduces the activation of TNFrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) death receptors, key mediators of apoptosis (Xu et al., 2017). Research using healthy human participants has shown how RIC can influence the host's immune and inflammatory response. Microanalyses of human DNA following limb RIC have found an upregulation of anti-inflammatory genes (e.g. HSP70 and Calpastatin) and the downregulation of pro-inflammatory genes (e.g. CD11b and TLR4) in human leukocytes (Konstantinov et al., 2004). Further, a study of 31 healthy volunteers by Kharbanda et al. (2001) found that RIC of the upper limb before a prolonged occlusion of the brachial artery prevented neutrophil activation as measured by neutrophil adhesion molecule expression and plateletneutrophil complexes. Reduced levels of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IFN- γ) have been found in animal studies of myocardial (Pilz et al., 2019, Zhang et al., 2018b) and cerebral infarction (Du et al., 2020). One way RIC inhibits proinflammatory cytokine release is via inhibition in nuclear factor kappa beta (NF-kB) activation (Shin et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2019b, Pearce et al., 2021), an important transcription factor in inflammatory disease. Together these findings suggest that RIC limits I/R injury and protects tissue function by modulating inflammatory cell recruitment, activation and cellular apoptosis.

1.8.5 Signal transduction at the target organ

Irrespective of the pathways through which the effects of RIC are transmitted, they ultimately lead to changes in the target organ that alter cellular bioenergetics and tissue perfusion for example. Such changes that may explain the effects of RIC on subsequent ischaemic injury or indeed physical performance (discussed in following sections).

1.8.5.1 Mitochondria

Mitochondria are fundamental for cellular metabolism and energy supply in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Sharma et al., 2009). They also play central roles in cell signalling, calcium homeostasis and the regulation of reactive oxygenation species (ROS) and apoptosis (Gouspillou and Hepple, 2016, Brookes et al., 2004). I/R injury impairs mitochondrial integrity, reduces mitochondrial cytochrome C oxidase (respiration enzyme) and reduces activity in the electron transport chain (ETC) (Paradies et al., 2004, Boengler et al., 2018, Murphy and Steenbergen, 2008). The ETC is composed of protein complexes (CI-CV) bound to the inner mitochondrial membrane and is the site of ATP production via oxidative phosphorylation (i.e., aerobic metabolism) (Zhao et al., 2019b), therefore disruptions in ETC activity can lead to reductions in ATP. It also causes increases in ROS production (Chen et al., 2008) and ultimately leads to cell death (Murphy and Steenbergen, 2008), and loss of muscle mass and function (Gouspillou and Hepple, 2016). ATP can also be produced in an oxygen-independent manner (i.e., anaerobically) via glycolysis (Bonora et al., 2012), however this process produces less ATP and results in the accumulation of lactate.

Studies have shown how most pathways triggered by RIC converge on the mitochondria and that these are essential for the protection afforded by ischaemic preconditioning. For example, humoral factors (e.g., bradykinin, adenosine, opioids) stimulate G-protein coupled receptors on the mitochondrial cell surface, which activates intracellular kinase signalling and the opening of ATP-dependant mitochondrial potassium (MitoK_{ATP}) channels (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008, Ong et al., 2015). MitoK_{ATP} channels of the inner mitochondrial membrane (Heusch, 2015), have been implicated as key mediators of the protective phenomenon (Yellon and Downey, 2003). MitoK_{ATP} channel activation plays a crucial role in the development of ischaemic tolerance by enhancing the antioxidative ability of the ischaemic organ/tissue during I/R injury (Wu et al., 2011b). Studies show that selective MitoK_{ATP} inhibition using pharmacological antagonists (e.g., 5-hydroxydecanoate or glibenclamide) abolishes the

cardioprotective effect of RIC (Moses et al., 2005, Pell et al., 1998, Konstantinov et al., 2005). The precise mechanism by which the opening of MitoK_{ATP} channels provide protection is unknown, however proposed mechanisms include: (1) enhanced mitochondrial respiration and reduced ROS production (Ferranti et al., 2003), (2) reduction in the rate of ATP hydrolysis thereby reducing ATP depletion rate (Dos Santos et al., 2002), (3) activation of pro-survival kinases (Yellon and Downey, 2003), and (4) decrease in calcium (Ca²⁺) uptake and inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opening (Costa et al., 2006, Ong et al., 2015, Carreira et al., 2005). It is not clear whether the mitoKATP channel exerts its effects in the preconditioned organ or limb vs the ischaemic target organ or tissue under investigation (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008). The mPTP is a non-specific channel of the mitochondrial inner membrane which mediates cell death in the setting of I/R injury by uncoupling oxidative phosphorylation (i.e., disruption of ATP production), which causes ATP depletion and mitochondrial swelling (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008). In animal models and clinical trials of acute myocardial I/R injury, preventing mPTP opening using cyclosporin A (an immunosuppressant) at the onset of reperfusion has been shown to reduce myocardial infarct size (Hausenloy et al., 2014, Chiari et al., 2014). The precise mechanism through which ischaemic preconditioning inhibits mPTP opening and exerts its protective effects is not clear. Postulated mechanisms include: (1) ischaemic preconditioning modulates mitochondrial Ca^{2+} , phosphate accumulation, intracellular pH changes and oxidative stress, factors which are known to influence mPTP opening (Halestrap and Richardson, 2014, Hausenloy et al., 2003), or (2) RIC activates a signalling pathway by modulating the same factors highlighted above, or by interacting with components of the mPTP (Hausenloy et al., 2003).

Experimental models demonstrate how ischaemic preconditioning provides protection by preventing I/R injury induced impairment of the mitochondrial ETC in cardiac and skeletal muscle (Thaveau et al., 2007, Mansour et al., 2012, Leung et al., 2014). Leung et al. (2014) found that treating naïve rabbit hearts with RIC effluent before a prolonged episode of I/R injury preserved mitochondrial membrane integrity (preserved complex I and III respiration) and reduced cytochrome C release. A study by Addison et al. (2003) investigated the mechanisms underlying the infarct sparing effect of RIC on skeletal muscles in pigs and found slower rates of ATP depletion in the RIC group compared to controls. Similarly, using a mouse model Thaveau et al. (2007) found that hind-limb RIC (3 x 10 min) before 5-hours of limb ischemia prevented I/R injury induced impairments in mitochondrial complexes I and II in rat skeletal muscle. A reduction in the rate of ATP depletion after RIC may also be caused by

reduced ATPase activity (enzyme that catalyses ATP hydrolysis) which reduces cellular demand in the organ or tissue (Vander Heide et al., 1996, Vuorinen et al., 1995).

A clinical study of 60 patients (30 RIC, 30 control) undergoing isolated CABG surgery by Slagsvold et al. (2014) evaluated the effect of a single dose of upper limb RIC (3 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg separated by 5-min reperfusion) on mitochondrial respiration compared to controls (blood pressure cuff remained deflated). Mitochondrial respiration was assessed in situ by obtaining right atrial biopsies before and after aortic cross-clamping. In the RIC group, maximal mitochondrial respiration was preserved throughout the surgical procedure, however it significantly reduced (-28%; P<0.05) in the control group after aortic clamping.

Proposed signalling pathways recruited by RIC that converge on the mitochondria to confer cardioprotection are shown in Figure 3. There is a lot pre-clinical and clinical evidence from cardiac populations supporting preservation of mitochondrial resilience and recovery after RIC (Ramachandra et al., 2020). However, could this help in peripheral muscles with peripheral fatigue? Details of the signalling pathways that may either directly or indirectly make the mitochondria more resilient to states of ischaemia or energy deficiency are provided in Chapter 5.



Figure 3. Figure detailing the proposed signalling pathways recruited by RIC that converge on the mitochondria to confer cardioprotection. Figure obtained from Ramachandra et al. (2020) published under terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivatives</u> <u>License (CC BY NC ND)</u>.

1.8.5.2 Vascular bed and changes in blood flow

Vascular nitric oxide is produced by endothelial cells in a reaction catalysed by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Vallance and Hingorani, 1999). I/R injury impairs endothelial regulation of eNOS and thus the ability to regulate microvascular perfusion (Yang et al., 2016). However, RIC appears to protect against endothelial I/R injury in patients (Manchurov et al., 2020), and healthy volunteers (Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005, Kharbanda et al., 2001), and these effects can be long lasting if RIC is repeated over several weeks (Jones et al., 2015). Manchurov et al. (2020) investigated the effect of RIC (4 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) on endothelial dysfunction when performed before primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) in 173 patients (86 treatment, 87 control) with ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction (STEMI) (underwent PCI within 24 hours of symptom onset). Endothelial function of the brachial artery was measured using the endothelium-dependent flow-mediated dilatation

test (FMD) (non-invasively measures endothelial response to occlusion-induced hyperemia using ultrasound) on the 2-7th day after hospital admission. In this study, the investigators found that the percentage of patients with endothelial dysfunction was significantly lower in patients who underwent RIC before PCI compared to controls (underwent PCI without previous RIC) (43.1% vs. 75.8% respectively, P=0.0001). The incidence of heart failure was also significantly lower in the RIC group compared to controls (1.5% (n=1) vs 9.7% (n=6); P=0.045). An earlier study by Loukogeorgakis et al. (2005) investigated in vivo the effect of upper limb RIC (3 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) on endothelial function of the brachial artery (measured using FMD) of the contralateral (non-dominant) arm in 16 healthy volunteers (12 males, 4 females). RIC was applied to the dominant arm immediately, 4-hours, 24-hours and 48-hours before 20min prolonged ischemia and reperfusion (IR) on the contralateral limb. The researchers continuously monitored blood flow velocity through the brachial artery using pulsed-wave doppler and FMD was assessed before the 20-min ischaemia and 20-min after reperfusion. In this study, the researchers found that the reduction in FMD observed after IR ($8.7 \pm 1.1\%$ before IR, $4.9 \pm 1.2\%$ after IR; P< 0.001), did not occur when IR was preceded by RIC (8.0 ± 0.8%) after IR; P = NS). The protective effect of RIC on endothelial function was not observed after 4-hours (4.9 \pm 1.1% after IR; P < 0.001), however it was observed after 24-hours (8.7 \pm 1.1% after IR; P = NS) and 48-hours (8.8 ± 1.4% after IR; P = NS). These findings demonstrate how RIC may provide protection against endothelial I/R injury and how there are two phases of protection: early (occurs immediately and lasts up to 4-hours) and late (activated at 24-hours and lasts at least 48-hours) (Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005).

RIC has been shown to improve coronary (Shimizu et al., 2007, Ma et al., 2006, Kono et al., 2014, Lau et al., 2018) and cerebral blood flow (CBF) (Kitagawa et al., 2018, Zhao and Nowak, 2006, Dawson et al., 1999) in experimental and clinical studies. A study by Khan et al. (2018) used a mouse model to show how chronic RIC for either 1 or 4 months after bilateral carotid artery stenosis (BCAS), significantly improved CBF and increased angiogenesis (formation of new blood vessels). It was also associated with improvement in cognitive outcomes (spatial and working memory assessed using the NOR test and Y-maze test, respectively). In a clinical study, Meng et al. (2012) demonstrated improved cerebral perfusion (single-photon emission computed tomography, SPECT) in 68 stroke patients treated with bilateral arm RIC (5 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) twice daily for 300 days. The release of vasoactive substances (NO, adenosine) in response to RIC may also enhance skeletal muscle perfusion (Andreas et al., 2011b, Jeffries et al., 2018a). In a randomised, cross-over trial Andreas et al. (2011b)

investigated whether lower limb RIC (3 x 5 min + 10 min reperfusion) 4 hours before 20-min ischaemia (cuff inflated around thigh to 200 mmHg for 20 mins) followed by interrupted reperfusion (i.e., stenosis) (reperfusion interrupted by deflating cuff to 30 mmHg below systolic BP) improved skeletal muscle oxidative metabolism in 23 healthy subjects. In this study, nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) imaging and spectroscopy was used to measure phosphocreatine (PCr) (involved in ATP production) and oxygen signals (blood oxygen leveldependant signals, BOLD). RIC administered 4-hours before ischaemia significantly increased the maximal PCr reperfusion signal after post-ischaemic stenosis compared to post-ischaemic stenosis alone (55 \pm 16 vs 46 \pm 15 respectively, P<0.05). RIC also mitigated the peak BOLD signal following post-ischaemic stenosis during reperfusion to $108 \pm 13\%$ of the baseline value (P = 0.029 vs. no RIC). These findings demonstrate how RIC may improve energy metabolism and oxygenated blood delivery to skeletal muscles during the post-ischaemic period. In another study of 20 healthy male volunteers (mean age = 26 years), Jeffries et al. (2018b) found that bilateral leg RIC (4 x 5 min) for 7-days increased oxidative capacity (assessed using nearinfrared spectroscopy during short bursts of arterial occlusion) of the leg skeletal muscle and also improved microvascular oxygenated blood flow. These findings suggest that RIC stimulates cellular processes to help aid skeletal muscle recovery after ischaemia. The positive effect of RIC on blood flow, mitochondrial function and energy metabolism makes it an attractive treatment option for vascular conditions (stroke, peripheral artery disease, and ischaemic heart disease), as well as a treatment to enhance muscle function and repair, particularly in deconditioned states.

1.9 Clinical applications of remote ischaemic conditioning

RIC has been used clinically in the context of coronary artery disease (Pei et al., 2014, Corcoran et al., 2018, Rahman et al., 2010, Shahvazian et al., 2017), cerebrovascular disease, (Koch et al., 2011, Meng et al., 2012) and peri-procedurally (e.g. surgery) (Cheung et al., 2006, Li et al., 2010), to mention just a few.

1.9.1. Hyper-acute and acute stroke

A small number of experimental and clinical studies have investigated the use of RIC in acute ischaemic stroke (Hougaard et al., 2014, Zhao et al., 2018a, Kitagawa et al., 2018). A study by Hougaard et al. (2014) assessed whether pre-hospital RIC is an effective adjunctive therapy to

intravenous alteplase (rtPA) in patients with acute ischaemic stroke. Patients with suspected ischaemic stroke (n=443) eligible for thrombolysis (symptom onset less than 4.5. hours prior to hospital admission) were randomised to receive either upper limb RIC (4 x 5 min episodes of cuff inflation to 25 mmHg above systolic blood pressure up to a maximum of 200 mmHg, n=247) or no RIC (controls, n=196) during transportation to hospital. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was performed to confirm stroke diagnosis before treatment with rtPA and at 1-month follow-up. A single dose RIC was safe and well tolerated. There was no difference in penumbral salvage (defined as mismatch between MRI perfusion and diffusion weighted imaging not progressing to infarct), final infarct size at 1-month, and clinical outcome measures (National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale, NIHSS) at 3-months, though the study was inadequately powered to detect significant differences in clinical outcomes. However, after adjustment for baseline severity of hypoperfusion, voxel wise analysis demonstrated that prehospital RIC significantly reduced tissue risk of infarction (likelihood ratio test P=0.0003). These findings give credence to the target organ effects previously discussed and suggest that pre-hospital RIC may have an early neuroprotective effect.

1.9.2 Secondary stroke prevention

Chronic RIC has been investigated in stroke populations particularly with respect to secondary prevention in patients with symptomatic intracranial arterial stenosis (SIAS) (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015a). Meng et al. (2012) found that 300 days of twice daily bilateral arm ischaemic preconditioning (BAIPC) (5 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) reduced the incidence of recurrent stroke from 26.7% (controls) to 7.9% (P<0.01). To assess whether BAIPC is safe and effective in the elderly population, the same investigators conducted another trial whereby patients aged 80-95 years with SIAS (n=58) were randomised to either receive 180 days of BAIPC (n=30) or sham (n=28). In this study, Meng et al. (2015a) found BAIPC significantly reduced plasma C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and leukocyte count (biomarkers of inflammation), as well as reducing plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and fibrinogen (biomarkers of coagulation) (all P < 0.01). Compared to controls the incidence of recurrent strokes (confirmed by magnetic resonance diffusion weighted imaging) was significantly lower in the BAIPC group (2 infractions and 7 TIAs in the BAIPC group vs 8 infarctions and 11 TIAs in the sham group at day 180, P < 0.05). Furthermore, compared to controls BAIPC had no adverse effects local skin integrity (no skin breakage, skin discoloration, edema or tenderness to palpation), heart rate or blood pressure. These findings show RIC is safe, non-invasive and effective in reducing stroke recurrence and plasma biomarkers of inflammation and coagulation in very elderly patients with SIAS. Chronic RIC may induce distinct adaptations that influence stroke recovery and recurrence (Doeppner et al., 2018, Khan et al., 2018).

1.10 Application of ischaemic preconditioning in physical performance

While the bulk of research has concentrated on the effects of ischaemic conditioning on subsequent ischemia, the benefits may extend beyond this.

1.10.1 Elite athletes and healthy volunteers

For example, studies in healthy volunteers and athletes have shown that ischaemic conditioning can enhance muscle strength and exercise performance. De Groot et al. (2009) tested whether a single dose of leg RIC improves maximal performance on a leg cycle ergometer in 15 welltrained cyclists. The investigators performed 3 x 5 min bilateral leg RIC (cuff inflated to 220 mmHg) just before the cycling test. Compared to controls, RIC resulted in a 1.6% increase in maximal power output (W) (P=0.05) and a 3% increase in maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}) (P=0.003), corresponding to an increase in muscle force and aerobic fitness. Such improvements (VO_{2max}) are comparable with those seen in athletes after 4 weeks of altitude training (Stray-Gundersen et al., 2001, Levine and Stray-Gundersen, 1997). In another study, Patterson et al. (2015) investigated whether a single dose of lower limb RIC (4 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 220 mm Hg) reduced the rate of muscle fatigue (measured using electromyography of the vastus lateralis muscle) during a repeated-sprint cycle test involving twelve 6-second (s) sprints, compared to sham (cuff inflation to 20 mmHg). Muscle fatigue was measured by calculating the change in median electromyography (EMG) frequency in the vastus medialis muscle across the twelve sprints. While leg conditioning did not reduce rates of muscle fatigue, it did induce a 2-4% increase in mean and peak power output in the first three sprints. This is comparable with the improvement in power output seen after the use of other ergogenic aids used during exercise such as analgesics (Foster et al., 2014). However, across a range of sports, RIC has been trialled with conflicting findings, results of which are summarised in Table 4.

Author	Sport type	RIC protocol	Findings
De Groot et al. (2009)	Cycling	Single dose of 3 x 5 min ischaemia (cuff inflated to 220mmHg) and 5 min reperfusion in both legs.	 1.6% increase in maximal power output (<i>P</i>=0.05). 3% increase in VO₂ max (<i>P</i>=0.003).
Patterson et al. (2015)	Cycling	Single dose of 4 x 5 min ischaemia (cuff inflated to 220mmHg) and 5 min reperfusion in both legs.	 2-4% increase in the mean and peak power output. No increase in VO₂ max. No improvement in fatigue.
Crisafulli et al. (2011)	Cycling	Single dose of 3 x 5 min ischaemia (cuff inflated to 50mmHg above systolic BP) and 5 min reperfusion in both legs.	 4% increase in maximal power output. Increase in total exercise time and max HR. No increase in VO₂ max.
Jean-St-Michel et al. (2011)	Swimming	Single dose of 4 x 5 min ischaemia (cuff inflated to 15mmHg above systolic BP) and 5 min reperfusion in both arms	 Mean improvement in maximal swim time (P=0.04). Improvement in swim time relative to personal best (P=0.02).
Lisbôa et al. (2017)	Swimming	Bilateral 4 x 5 min episode of ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion in both arms or legs (cuff inflated to 220mmHg for legs and 180mmHg for arms) 1, 2 or 8 hours before swim test.	 1% improvement in swim time at 2h (P=0.002). 1.2% improvement in swim time at 8h (P<0.001). No improvements at 1h.
Williams et al. (2018)	Swimming	Single episode of 4 x 5 min ischaemia (cuff inflated between 160 to 228 mmHg) and 5 min reperfusion in both thighs. 2 or 24 hours before swim test.	• No improvement in swimming performance at 2h or 24h.
Tocco et al.(2015)	Running	3 x 5 min ischaemia (cuff inflated to 50mmHg above systolic blood pressure, SBP) and 5 min reperfusion in both legs. 5 minutes before run test.	 No improvement in VO₂ max. No improvement in running speed.

Table 4. Studies on the effect of RIC on enhancing exercise performance and muscle strength in healthy volunteers and athletes.

Surkar et al.	Strength	Two weeks of repeated upper	• RIC group had
(2020)	training	limb RIC received over 8 visits (5 x 5 min 20 mmHg above systolic BP) combined with strength training or sham (10 mmHg below diastolic BP)	 significantly greater wrist extensor strength gains compared to the sham (9.38 ± 1.01 lbs versus (6.3 ± 1.08 lbs respectively, P = 0.035). RIC group had significantly greater % change in EMG amplitudes compared to sham (31.0% vs. 8.6% respectively, P = 0.023)
Tanaka et al.	Cycling	Repeated bilateral	No improvement in
(2021)		lower limb RIC for 2 weeks (6 days/weeks) (5 x 5 min cuff inflation to 220 mmHg)	 VO_{2peak} during ramped cycling test. No improvement in time to task failure on knee extensor MVC task.
Abbreviations: VO	2 max = Maxima	l oxygen consumption; EMG = Electr	omyography; MVC =

Although the relative improvements seen in some of these studies appear small, they are likely to be significant in this elite population where marginal gains are difficult to achieve. The relative improvements in a clinical population may be much greater. The inconsistencies seen across studies may be due to a number of methodological differences. Firstly, conditioning protocols differ in their timing (how long before a measured exercise activity), frequency of cycles, and which limb is conditioned (arm vs leg). Indeed, the limb conditioning preference may be important when considering the athletic discipline (e.g. swimming vs cycling) as the level of force contributed by different limbs can vary across different sport modalities (Deschodt et al., 1999). Further, the dose of ischaemia delivered may vary significantly between the arm and leg, and between protocols involving unilateral and bilateral conditioning. Secondly, variation in resting systolic blood pressure (SBP) and the volume of connective tissue surrounding vessels (Loenneke et al., 2012) may mean that the degree of true ischaemic conditioning varies from person to person with any cuff inflation pressure. While the standard inflation pressures used to deliver RIC range 200-250mmHg, improvements in physical

performances have been demonstrated with lower pressures (30 mmHg above SBP for arm, and 50 mmHg above SBP for leg) (Sharma et al., 2014).

1.10.2 Clinical populations

Relatively little attention has been paid to whether RIC improves strength and physical performance in clinical populations. A study by Hyngstrom et al. (2018) found that RIC significantly improved knee extensor muscle strength in the paretic leg of 10 patients with chronic stroke. In this study, patients performed isometric maximum voluntary contractions (MVCs) of the knee extensor using a Biodex dynamometer. Patients then underwent a single dose of RIC (5 x 5 min cuff inflation to 225 mmHg) on the paretic leg before repeating the MVCs. Nine out of 10 patients experienced a mean increase in MVC of 10.6 ± 8.5 newton metres (Nm) (P = 0.001), coupled with a $30.7 \pm 15\%$ increase in the magnitude of vastus *lateralis* muscle activation, measured with EMG. After sham RIC (cuff inflation pressure = 25 mmHg) treatment there was no difference in knee extensor MVC (mean difference post-sham RIC: 1.3 ± 2.9 Nm, P = 0.65). Later the same investigators examined whether RIC (5 x 5-min) in the paretic leg every 48-hours for 2-weeks, improves walking speed (assessed using the 10metre walking test) and knee extensor strength and fatigability in the paretic leg of 22 chronic stroke survivors (Durand et al., 2019). To measure muscle fatigability patients completed an endurance task on the Biodex dynamometer and had to maintain a target torque of 30% of the paretic leg knee extensor MVC (submaximal contraction). In this study, the researchers found that compared to sham (cuff inflation = 10 mmHg) participants who received repeated RIC maintained a submaximal isometric contraction for longer (397±203 seconds pre-sham vs. 355±195 seconds post-sham; P=0.46; 278±163 seconds pre-RIC vs. 496±313 seconds post-RIC, P=0.004). In addition, walking speed significantly increased in participants in the RIC treatment group (0.86±0.21 m/s pre-RIC vs. 1.04±0.22 m/s post-RIC; P<0.001) but not sham (0.92±0.47 51 m/s pre-RIC vs. 0.96±0.46 m/s post-RIC; P=0.25) (Durand et al., 2019). These findings demonstrate how both single and repeated doses of RIC can have beneficial effects on muscle strength and fatigue in people with stroke, and thus has the potential to be used as a novel therapy.

1.11 Rationale for the study

PSF affects over half of stroke survivors and is associated with poor neurological recovery and affects rehabilitation outcomes. Evidence suggests the cause of fatigue is multidimensional and

may result from impairments in mitochondrial function, high levels of central and peripheral inflammation after stroke and/or physical deconditioning. Although psychological therapies and neurostimulants are promising targets for PSF, evidence is limited by small sample sizes. In addition to small sample sizes, the existing therapies (drugs, psychological therapies, neurostimulation e.g., tDCS) may exhibit side effects or may not be readily available (e.g., tDCS needs a lab). Limb RIC is a simple, non-invasive, easy-to-use intervention with many potential mechanisms of action (neural, humoral, systemic) and end organ effects that may counteract mechanisms that promote the development of PSF (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Potential overlap in the mechanisms of post-stroke fatigue (PSF) and remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC). Figure created by author using Biorender (biorender.com).

For example, RIC may enhance mitochondrial reliance and help repair potential impairments in mitochondrial function associated with PSF (Hausenloy et al., 2003, Yellon and Downey, 2003, Hausenloy and Yellon, 2008, Slagsvold et al., 2014). RIC may downregulate proinflammatory mediators and upregulate anti-inflammatory mediators and thus reduce some of the high levels of inflammation seen in patients with PSF. Furthermore, RIC may enhance skeletal muscle perfusion (Jeffries et al., 2018a, Andreas et al., 2011b) and improve the effects
of physical deconditioning observed after stroke (low muscle mass and function, poor tissue perfusion), therefore potentially improve perceived fatigue. The versatile nature of RIC has triggered a high level of interest in the research world, and my project aimed to fill gaps in knowledge base and explored new clinical areas for use (e.g., post-stroke fatigue). Before a definitive study into whether RIC is efficacious for PSF we need to evaluate its safety and acceptability and assess compliance and feasibility of both researcher-delivered and self-delivered RIC.

1.12 Study aims and hypotheses

1.12.1 Aims

- 1. To assess whether it is safe for stroke patients to undergo chronic RIC for a period of 6-weeks by identifying any adverse events (AE) or serious adverse events (SAE) related to the intervention.
- To assess acceptability of, and compliance with, 6-weeks of researcher or self delivered RIC among stroke patients with fatigue by reviewing symptom diaries and monitoring diaries.
- To establish if it is feasible to undertake a randomised controlled trial (RCT) of RIC to reduce fatigue by assessing the number of eligible participants, monitoring recruitment and retention rates, and calculating the percentage of completed outcome measures.
- 4. To explore the effectiveness of RIC on symptoms of post-stroke fatigue.
- 5. To explore whether chronic RIC improves walking distances/speed.
- To explore whether PSF severity is associated with cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET) parameters (e.g., VO_{2Peak}, ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT), minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂) slope, and respiratory exchange ratio, RER).

 To explore whether it was feasible to undertake ³¹ Phosphorus Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS) to assess skeletal muscle metabolism in stroke patients with fatigue and investigate whether indices of mitochondrial oxidative capacity are related to the severity of PSF.

1.12.2 Hypotheses

- 1. RIC for a period of 6-weeks is safe, acceptable, and feasible in stroke patients with PSF.
- 2. RIC reduces fatigue severity (measured using the fatigue severity scale).
- RIC improves peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2Peak}), time to ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂) slope.
- 4. ATP in skeletal muscle measured using ³¹P-MRS is associated with post-stroke fatigue and physical function methods like six-minute walk test (6MWT) and maximal isometric voluntary contraction (MVIC).
- 5. There are differences between ATP, phosphocreatine and inorganic phosphate between stroke affected and non-affected legs.
- 6. RIC improves mitochondrial function and thus results in increased levels of tissue ATP, increased levels of phosphocreatine and reduced levels of inorganic phosphate.

CHAPTER 2. FEASIBILITY AND ACCEPTABILITY OF REMOTE ISCHAEMIC CONDITIONING FOR POST-STROKE FATIGUE

2.1 Rationale for pilot studies

The fundamental role of a pilot study is to analyse the feasibility of trial methods and procedures to be used in a larger scale study (Porta, 2014, Thabane et al., 2010). They are designed to examine the feasibility of recruitment, randomisation, retention and outcome assessment procedures (Leon et al., 2010). Pilot studies also address methods of randomisation, blinding and rates of treatment fidelity (extent to which a treatment was given as intended) and compliance (Sim, 2019). They can also be used to assess the safety of novel interventions and/or explore the application of an intervention (Thabane et al., 2010). Pilot studies play an important role in health and translational research in gathering preliminary support for the planning and justification of RCTs which are used to test the effectiveness of interventions (Lancaster et al., 2004). Pilot studies are essentially a small scale test of the methods and procedures to be used in a larger trial. Although pilot studies assess the feasibility of trial methods and procedures, they are not the same as feasibility studies and the terms 'pilot' and 'feasibility' are often misused. Feasibility studies are preliminary pieces of research done before a large trial to answer the question 'can this be done?' and whether researchers should proceed with it in the future. Although pilot studies ask the same question, they also have a specific design feature: in a pilot study a future study is conducted on a smaller scale (Eldridge et al., 2016). There is ample evidence from previous clinical trials that chronic RIC is feasible in clinical populations (stroke, heart failure) (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015b, Vanezis et al., 2018), therefore we assumed feasibility and went straight for the pilot study to test the trial procedures.

The main focus of this pilot study was to investigate the safety, acceptability and feasibility of a 6-week programme of RIC in stroke patients with PSF, along with an assessment of compliance with the intervention. We also explored a potential efficacy signal between RIC and several secondary outcome measures including fatigue, walking distance/speed, cardiopulmonary exercise testing parameters, and ³¹Phosphorus-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS) of the legs. The potential efficacy of RIC will be discussed in

following chapters. Consolidated standards for reporting trials (CONSORT) guidelines followed for this chapter can be found in the appendix (Appendix 1).

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 Ethics approval and funding

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Northwest - Preston Research Ethics Committee (Ref 18/NW/0401) (IRAS Project ID: 245385). All trial documentation including consent forms, participant invites, participant information sheets, template GP letters, symptom and monitoring diaries, interview guides and questionnaires, were submitted for approval. The research reported in this thesis was funded by the Ryder Briggs Trust, Sheffield Biomedical Research Centre (BRC), and Sheffield Teaching hospitals stroke research fund. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier NCT03794947.

2.2.2 Design

This study was a pilot, single-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial.

2.2.3 Setting

Baseline and follow-up assessments and RIC protocols were undertaken at the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC), Nether Edge Hospital, Sheffield, the Stroke Unit at Royal Hallamshire Hospital (RHH), or the Facility of Health and Wellbeing, Sheffield Hallam University (SHU). In exceptional circumstances (due to COVID-19 restrictions or working full-time), participants were given the option to self-administer the intervention independently at home.

2.2.4 Sample and recruitment process

Adults (aged > 18 years) who had experienced an ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke at least 6weeks prior and had symptoms of debilitating fatigue (Fatigue severity scale- $7 \ge 4$) were eligible to participate in the study. Participants were recruited from stroke follow-up clinics at RHH and ARC, between January 2019 and August 2021. Since March 2018, stroke patients attending their routine follow-up appointments at RHH were screened for fatigue using the FFS-7 as part as routine clinical practice (Appendix 2). If patients were happy to be contacted about the study in the future, they were asked to tick a 'yes' box at the bottom of the questionnaire. Patients who scored above the threshold for fatigue (mean FSS-7 \geq 4) and were willing to be contacted were sent an invitation letter (Appendix 3) and participant information sheet (PIS) (Appendix 4) in the post. An aphasia accessible PIS was also sent to participants with aphasia (Appendix 5). Individuals who were interested in participating in the study were asked to contact a member of the research team to arrange a mutually convenient time to have their first study visit. Stroke patients identified as having fatigue during their 6-month review at ARC (prospectively and retrospectively) were asked by members of the rehabilitation team if they are happy to be contacted about the study. Invitation letters and study information sheets were posted to those who gave their consent. One participant found out about the study online and reached out to the research team to express their interest.

2.2.5 Sample size

A sample size of at least 34 participants was chosen as we estimated a 30% drop out rate (nonconservative estimate) (National Research Council, 2010), and were aware that a minimum of 24 participants (12 in each arm) is considered the lowest number required to prove feasibility of an intervention and to get a reasonable spread of data (i.e., precision about the mean and variance) and to be confident with how representative the sample is of the population studied (Julious, 2005, Lancaster et al., 2004).

2.2.6 Inclusion criteria

- Adults (aged > 18 years) who have had an ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke at least 6 weeks prior.
- Symptoms of debilitating fatigue for at least 4 weeks.
- Fatigues severity score (FSS-7) \geq 4.

2.2.7 Exclusion criteria

Participants were unable to participate in the study if they met one or more of the following exclusion criteria:

- History or presence of significant peripheral vascular disease in the upper limbs.
- History or presence of complex neuropathic pains or peripheral neuropathy in the arms.
- Presence of lymphoedema in the arms.

- Presence of skin ulceration to the arms.
- Hospitalisation for cardiovascular or cerebrovascular disease within the last 4 weeks.
- Uncontrolled arrhythmia, hypertension, diabetes or angina.
- Third degree heart block or progressive heart failure.
- Acute aortic dissection, myocarditis, or pericarditis.
- Acute deep vein thrombosis, pulmonary embolism or pulmonary infection.
- Suspected or known dissecting aneurysm.
- Uncontrolled visual or vestibular disturbance.
- Systolic blood pressure (SBP) >180 mmHg
- Known or suspected cause of fatigue e.g., obstructive sleep apnoea (Epworth > 15), depression (PHQ-9 > 14).
- Modified Rankin Score > 4.
- Other neurological disorders that cause fatigue (e.g., Multiple Sclerosis, Parkinson's Disease, Myasthenia Gravis)

Exclusions were either aimed at maintaining the safety of the participants e.g., peripheral vascular disease, lymphoedema, skin ulceration, uncontrolled arrhythmia, or excluding those that may not respond to RIC e.g., peripheral neuropathy, high blood pressure; or exclude confounders e.g., mood, sleep apnoea.

2.2.8 Eligibility screening and informed consent

In line with the ethics approval the principal investigator (PI) checked interested participant's electronic health records to ensure they did not meet any obvious exclusion criteria. Participants then met with the researcher and were given the opportunity to ask any questions about the study and study procedures. If participants were happy to continue, they signed a consent form (Appendix 6). The researcher recorded the participant's medical history (stroke type, medications) and socio-demographic details (age, gender, ethnicity). Participants were informed that their General Practitioner (GP) would be notified via a letter (Appendix 7) about their participation in the study and of any concerns about their medical condition which arise as a result of their participation. The researcher then began the baseline data collection of clinical outcome measures (e.g., fatigue, mood) to ensure participants met eligibility criteria (e.g., FSS-7 \geq 4, PHQ-9 < 14) before continuing with other outcome measure assessments.

Participants were only enrolled onto the study if they had the capacity to give informed consent, assessed according to the Mental Capacity Act (2005) (Nicholson et al., 2008).

2.2.9 Randomisation

Participants were randomised in a 1:1 ratio, by an online block allocation system (Sealed Envelope Ltd, 2017) to receive either the RIC or sham intervention (details of intervention given below). Participants were stratified by their modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score according to dependency (mRS 0-2 and mRS 3-4). The mRS score was obtained during the baseline assessment. Randomisation was completed by the chief investigator after the participant's baseline assessment.

2.2.10 Blinding

This was a single-blinded study. Participants were blinded to treatment allocation at baseline and at follow-up. Participants were aware there was a chance they would be randomised to a 'dummy' intervention; however, care was taken to ensure the patient information sheet described the intervention as an inflation of the cuff, without mention of the pressures that would be expected. The researcher who performed the conditioning protocols was aware of treatment allocations, while a second researcher blind to treatment allocation completed the face to face follow up assessments. Baseline assessments were performed prior to randomisation.

2.2.11 Withdrawal of participants

Participants were advised that they could withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason and without this affecting their clinical care. Participants who withdrew from the study did not complete further questionnaires or assessments but with their consent, data already collected were used to determine feasibility criteria for the study.

2.2.12 Duration of the study

We recruited participants between January 2019 and August 2021 and followed them up for 6months.

2.2.13 Intervention protocol

2.2.13.1 Remote ischaemic conditioning

A manual sphygmomanometer (SECA®) was used to perform the conditioning protocol. The active RIC treatment group involved inflating a blood pressure cuff around the participant's arm to 200 mmHg for 5 minutes and then deflating for 5 minutes. This was repeated 4 times (one dose = 40 minutes), three times weekly for 6-weeks. Participants could choose whether RIC was delivered to their left or right arm (preferably not their stroke affected side). RIC was either delivered by the researcher at one of the research sites, or it was self-administered by the participant independently at home. The option of home delivery was only made available during the pandemic (details provided in Section 2..2.21 'Changes to Protocol'). Participants who opted for home delivery were trained on how to inflate the manual sphygmomanometer to the determined pressure via an individualised education session. They then underwent an assessment of their ability to independently apply and deliver the intervention according to predetermined criteria of competency (Appendix 8). Family members who accompanied participants on their study visits were also trained on how to deliver the conditioning protocol. An online education session was provided to carers who required it. Individuals who were able and willing to perform the intervention with competency were issued a manual sphygmomanometer and a digital timer to take home for 6-weeks. Transport was arranged for participants who required it to get to and from study visits. Alternatively, we reimbursed travel expenses or car parking charges that occurred through taking part in the study up to a maximum of £20 per visit.

2.2.13.2 Sham protocol

The sham protocol involved inflating a blood pressure cuff around the participant's upper arm (humerus) to 20 mmHg for 5 minutes and then deflating for 5 minutes. Again, this was repeated 4 times (total of 40 minutes), three times weekly for 6-weeks. This cuff pressure was chosen as the most common sham protocol used in prior RIC studies is between 10-30 mmHg (Lisbôa et al., 2017, Hyngstrom et al., 2018, England et al., 2017, Bailey et al., 2012, Walsh et al., 2016, Lindsay et al., 2017a, Zarbock et al., 2015). Inflating the cuff to 20 mmHg does not induce arterial occlusion but does give a 'pressure effect' (Groothuis et al., 2003). It was recognised that it may be difficult to ensure participant blinding due to the pressure difference with cuff

inflations between the RIC and sham protocol. The sham protocol was designed to make the same noises that the true RIC intervention made and for the same length of time.

2.2.14 Primary outcome measures

To evaluate the safety and acceptability of delivering a 6-week programme of RIC in patients with stroke who have debilitating fatigue, compliance with the intervention, and study feasibility the following outcome measures were assessed:

2.2.14.1 Safety

To assess safety, any adverse event (AE) or serious adverse event (SAE) either related or unrelated to the RIC protocol were recorded. A SAE is any event that results in death, is lifethreatening, requires hospitalisation or results in persistent or significant disability, or is a congenital anomaly or birth defect (Health Research Authority, 2021a). AEs or any unexpected symptoms were reported in a symptom diary (Appendix 9) given to each participant at the beginning of the study, which included free-text sections for participants to report any AEs or SAEs. AE report forms were completed for AEs and stored in the study site file. Symptom diaries were reviewed weekly at a research meeting with the research clinician. Participants who self-administered the intervention at home received weekly telephone calls to review any problems with intervention delivery, review AEs and intervention compliance, as well as ensure consent to continue the study. AEs were scrutinised to determine whether they were likely to be related to the intervention itself. The PI investigated any AEs in accordance with National Research Service guidelines (Health Research Authority, 2021b). Safety was defined as there being no SAE relating to RIC and less than 10 AEs in total across all participants. Safety was also assessed by review of blood counts at the end of the RIC treatment intervention (*Table 5*).

2.2.14.2 Acceptability

Acceptability was measured by asking participants to rate their experience of several expected side effects during the intervention sessions on a 5-point Likert scale (1 =none, 5 =extremely severe) using the symptom diaries provided. This included rating the level of discomfort, skin irritation/redness, pain, weakness after, and pins and needles. These expected side effects were explained to participants at the beginning of the study before they gave their informed consent.

Acceptability was defined as less than 1/3 of participants reporting moderate or greater discomfort (mean score ≥ 3 for overall discomfort) (*Table 5*). Eight participants in the active treatment group were also invited to participate in a semi-structured qualitative interview to allow a more in-depth exploration of the participant's expectations and experiences of the treatment. They were sequentially offered the opportunity to participate in the qualitative part of the study however this part of the study was optional. The interview took place either during the last scheduled study visit or at another mutually exclusive time between the participant and researcher. Details of how interviews transcripts were analysed are provided in Chapter 6.

2.2.14.3 Compliance

To measure compliance with the intervention the researcher recorded the number (%) of RIC/sham cycles successfully delivered each week (in-hospital RIC). Participants who self-administered the intervention independently at home (home-RIC) were given monitoring diaries to take home (Appendix 10). The monitoring diaries were used to record how many RIC cycles were completed each week, and whether any sessions were either missed (<18 sessions completed over 6-weeks) or incomplete (<40 min). Compliance was defined as more than 80% of the intended RIC cycles completed (*Table 5*).

2.2.14.4 Feasibility

Study feasibility was assessed by review of participant recruitment rates and retention rates, and number (%) of baseline and follow-up assessments completed. The total number of participants screened for eligibility and reasons for ineligibility was also examined. Study feasibility was defined as the ability to recruit 4 patients within the first 2 months, retention rates >80%, and completion of >80% of intended baseline and follow-up assessments (*Table 5*). Study feasibility was further evaluated using participant responses from qualitative interviews. The success criteria for safety, acceptability, compliance, and feasibility are shown in *Table 5*.

Aim/objective	Outcome measure	Success criteria
Safety	• Total number of AEs and SAEs	• No SAE directly related to RIC
	• Review of blood counts at the	• Less than 10 participants
	end of RIC intervention	experience any
		AE during the intervention
		period
Acceptability	• Mean score for overall	• Less than one third of patients
	discomfort on Likert Scale (0-	report moderate or greater
	5)	discomfort associated with RIC
	• Qualitative interview responses	
Compliance	• Number (%) of completed RIC	• More than 80% of the intended
	cycles	RIC cycles completed
Feasibility	• Recruitment rates	• Recruitment rates (4 patients
	Retention rates	recruited within the first 2
	• Number (%) of completed	months)
	baseline and follow-up	• Retention rates more than 80%
	outcome measures	• 80% of outcome measure
		assessments and follow up
		assessments completed

Table 5. Success criteria for primary outcome measures.

Abbreviations: AE = Adverse event; SAE = Serious adverse event.

2.2.15 Secondary outcome measures

All of the secondary outcome measures were assessed at baseline and at the end of the 6-week study period. Some were also assessed during the participant's 3-month and 6-month telephone follow-up. The secondary outcome measures and the timepoint they were assessed are shown in *Table 6*. More detail about each outcome measure and how they were assessed and analysed is provided in subsequent chapters.

Secondary outcome measure	When were they assessed?	What it involves
FSS-7	Baseline, 6w, 3m, and 6m	 Self-report 7-item questionnaire Measures severity of fatigue symptoms 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree i.e., better fatigue) to 2 (strongly agree i.e., worse fatigue) Completion time approximately 5 minutes
PHQ-9	Baseline, 6w, 3m, and 6m	 Self-report 9-item questionnaire Depression screening tool Scores range from 0 (no depression) to 27 (all symptoms occurring daily) Completion time approximately 5 minutes
GAD-7	Baseline, 6w, 3m, and 6m	 Self-report 7-item questionnaire Measures the severity of Generalised Anxiety Disorder (GAD) Scores range from 0 (no anxiety) to 21 (severe anxiety) Completion time approximately 2-3 minutes
EQ5D-5L	Baseline, 6w, 3m, and 6m	 Measures Health Related Quality of life (HRQoL) Five dimensions including mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression Rate from 1 (no problems) to 5 (severe problems) Completion time approximately 3 minutes
EQ-VAS	Baseline, 6w, 3m, and 6m	 Rate overall health on a scale of 0 (worst imaginable health) to 100 (best imaginable health). Completion time approximately 1 minute
mRS	Baseline, 6w, 3m, and 6m	 Interview-like process completed by researcher Measure of global disability Single-item rating scale ranging from 0 (no symptoms) to 6 (death) Single point change is clinically meaningful (Harrison et al., 2013). Completion time approximately 2 minutes
BI	Baseline and 6w	 10-item self-report questionnaire Total score of 0-100 (5-point increments)

Table 6. List of secondary outcome measures and timepoint they were assessed.

		Measure of independence on Activities of
		Daily Living (ADL)
		• Higher score = greater independence
		• Completion time approximately 2-5 minutes
MoCA	Baseline and 6w	• 30-point questionnaire
		Cognitive screening tool
		• Score < 25 out of 30 indicates mild or greater
		cognitive impairment
		• Completion time approximately 10 mins
6MWT	Baseline and 6w	Physical assessment
		Assesses functional exercise capacity
		• Measures distance walked in 6-minutes
СРЕТ	Baseline and 6w	Physical assessment
		• Global assessment of cardiovascular,
		metabolic and ventilatory responses to
		exercise
		• Conducted on a cycle ergometer
		• CPET derived variables include peak oxygen
		consumption (VO _{2Peak}), ventilatory anaerobic
		threshold (VAT)
		• Completion time approximately 40 minutes
		(average cycle time 8-10 minutes)
Blood samples	Baseline and 6w	• Blood samples taken at baseline and 6-weeks
		for safety evaluation of RIC
		Blood tests included full blood count, renal
		function, liver function, coagulation profile,
		and inflammatory markers
³¹ P-MRS	Baseline and 6w	• Measures tissue metabolism in vivo
		Assesses mitochondrial function by
		quantifying phosphorus containing
		metabolites involved in ATP synthesis and
		utilization (e.g., yATP, PCr, Pi,)
		• Scan time approximately 50 minutes (20
		minutes per leg plus preparation time)
		Included for mechanistic evaluation
Qualitative semi-	бw	• Conducted face-to-face or over the telephone
structured		Conducted using a topic-guide
interviews		Audio recorded and transcribed
		• Completion time approximately 10 minutes

*FSS-7 = Fatigue severity scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient health questionnaire; GAD-7 = General Anxiety Disorder questionnaire; EQ5D-5L = EuroQol- 5 Dimension; EQ-5D VAS = EQ-5D visual analogue scale; HRQoL = Health related quality of life; BI = Barthel Index of Activities of Daily Living; mRS = Modified Rankin Scale; MoCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment; 6MWT = six-minute walk test; CPET = Cardiopulmonary exercise testing; VO_{2Peak} = Peak oxygen consumption; VAT = ventilatory anaerobic threshold; ³¹P-MRS = ³¹Phosphorus-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy; PCr = Phosphocreatine; Pi = Inorganic phosphate; ADP = Adenosine diphosphate; 6w = six weeks; 3m = three months; 6m = six months.

2.2.16 Baseline data collection

For most participants, baseline data collection and assessments were divided into two visits. This was to make it more manageable for the participant considering the large number of outcome measures, and because some assessments needed to be carried out at different research sites. Visit one typically included eligibility screening, informed consent, self-reported clinical outcome measures (FSS-7, PHQ-9, GAD-7, EQ5D-5L, EQ5D-VAS, BI, MOCA), the 6MWT and blood sampling. The researcher recorded the participant's demographic details (age, sex, weight, height) and recorded their medical history (medications, medical conditions). Next, they checked the participant's vital signs (blood pressure, heart rate). Some participants also completed cardiopulmonary exercise testing in their first visit. This was dependant on where the first study visit took place. If visit one took place at Sheffield Hallam University, the site for cardiopulmonary exercise testing, then it was usually completed that same day. If the first study visit took place at RHH or ARC, then cardiopulmonary exercise testing was completed during a second visit (usually within one week of visit 1). Blood samples were taken to RHH for analysis. A total of eight participants were invited sequentially to undergo ³¹P-MRS (details provided in Chapter 5), however this was optional. If participants agreed to have ³¹P-MRS, an additional study visit was required. The sample size of eight for the sub-study was chosen due to resource limitations and was exploratory in nature. When all baseline assessments were complete, participants received a RIC demonstration to familiarise them with the procedure and intervention schedule and participants who opted for home-RIC were given their training session.

2.2.17 Follow-up data collection

At the end of the 6-week intervention period all baseline assessments were repeated. Followup assessments were completed as soon as possible after the 6-week intervention by a researcher blinded to treatment allocation. The researcher collected the symptom and monitoring diaries from participants so they could be analysed. At this point participants in the treatment group were invited to complete a qualitative semi-structured interview with the researcher (details provided in Chapter 6). Participants also completed telephone follow-up assessments at 3-months and 6-months.

2.2.18 Ethical considerations

Confidentiality

Participant information (socio-demographic, clinical, outcome measure assessment) were recorded on paper clinical research forms that were furnished with a unique ID number (e.g., RIC01). This was transferred to a password protected, encrypted laptop only accessible to the researcher entering data and performing statistical analyses. The participant's unique ID number was the only "identifier" linked to data collected. A separate enrolment log book linked these numbers to the participant's personally identifiable information and stored separate to the study data. In this way, the participants' data was "pseudo-anonymised" and no personally identifiable information was kept with the actual study data. The enrolment log and study data was stored in a locked office at the RHH. Interview topic guides and paper notes were also pseudo-anonymised and stored securely. All data was anonomysed and stored in line with the Data Protection Act 1998 (Mullock and Leigh-Pollitt, 2000).

Good clinical practice (GCP)

All members of the research team received good clinical practice (GCP) training and all study activities were conducted to the standards set out in the principles of GCP (Good clinical practice, 2020).

2.2.19 Statistical analysis of primary outcome measures

Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics for the treatment and sham group were reported and any differences between the two groups were highlighted. The main outcomes of the study were the descriptive statistics for safety, compliance, acceptability, and feasibility. This included:

- The number of AE and SAE reported.
- The mean rating of discomfort on the symptom diary.
- The number of complete or incomplete RIC/sham treatments each week.
- The total number of RIC/sham treatments received over the 6-week study period.
- The number of participants screened for eligibility.
- The number of eligible participants screened.
- The number of ineligible participants and reasons for ineligibility.

• The number of eligible participants recruited and randomised.

Details of how the secondary outcome measures were analysed are provided in subsequent chapters.

2.2.20 Patient and public involvement

In 2017 a local stroke and aphasia patient and public involvement (PPI) panel made up of 8 stroke survivors or carers was consulted about practical aspects of undertaking the study (e.g., how to approach eligible patients, how long after stroke to include patients, the feasibility of undertaking the required outcome measure assessments) as well as reviewing the associated documentation (e.g., consent forms, participant information sheets, invitation letters etc). They suggested spreading the outcome assessment measures over 2-3 visits to help with fatigue and suggested a practical way of trying to maintain treatment blinding in which participants were told that two cuff occlusion pressures were being tested but that they would not know which one they were allocated to. They suggested increasing the timeframe of eligibility to include patients suffering fatigue years after stroke. They also recommended outcome measure assessments were undertaken at the patient's optimal period of alertness. Often patients with PSF will know which part of the day they feel most energetic, and it should be these periods that are used for outcome measure assessments and that the research team should be flexible in accommodating for this. In January of 2020 we returned to the PPI panel (this consisting of 11 members) with a short presentation on the preliminary data obtained so far and presented the idea of self or caregiver delivered RIC for PSF (this was before a substantial amendment was submitted to include home-RIC in this study due to covid-19 restrictions). We were able to provide demonstrations of the self-delivered intervention and again received invaluable insights: they helped produce an easy access aphasia friendly intervention leaflet to aid adherence and fidelity and suggested having pre-set timers to aid self-delivery of the intervention.

2.2.21 Changes to protocol

After the trial began, some major changes were made to the study protocol. In June 2019 a substantial amendment was submitted and was approved in October 2019. All research activities were halted during this time. The changes made to the protocol included:

- The Facility of Health and Wellbeing at Sheffield Hallam University was added as a research site. This was due to practical difficulties with performing cardiopulmonary exercise testing at ARC. The lab at Sheffield Hallam University had appropriate staffing, insurance, and escalation policies to deliver this.
- The Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI) was replaced with the Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS-7). The FSS-7 is one of the most commonly used scale to assess fatigue and is validated in stroke populations (Choi-Kwon and Kim, 2011, Lerdal et al., 2009) It is also sensitive to detecting changes in fatigue and minimal clinically important differences (MCID) have been reported (Nordin et al., 2016, Rooney et al., 2019). We also found participants struggled to complete the MFI in clinics with their clinicians.
- The exclusion criteria were updated to include 'other neurological conditions that cause fatigue (e.g., Multiple Sclerosis, Parkinson's Disease, Myasthenia Gravis)'. We wanted to ensure we recruited participants whose fatigue was caused by their stroke and no other conditions.
- An upper limit for travel reimbursement was added (£20 per visit). This could be claimed via expenses or paid for pre-paid taxis.
- The PIS, study invite, and consent form were updated to reflect the changes to the protocol and to ensure participants had a good understanding of the trial before recruitment.

Due to COVID-19, in July 2020 a second substantial amendment was submitted (approved November 2020). The amendments included:

• Including the option for participants to self-administer the intervention independently at home in exceptional circumstances (patient works full-time, COVID-19 restrictions). The option of home delivery helped overcome potential difficulties with recruitment and in-hospital delivery of RIC because of covid-19. It also allowed us to explore whether it is feasible and acceptable for stroke patients with fatigue to deliver RIC independently at home for 6-weeks using a manual sphygmomanometer and whether it can help improve fatigue. This

information will help with the potential implementation of RIC into clinical practice in the future.

- The option of weekly home visits to deliver the intervention. Details of how a risk assessment was to be conducted before each home visit was added into the protocol. All home visits were to be subject to the University of Sheffield's risk assessment procedure. Although this change was approved the researcher did not complete any home visits. Again, this change was added to help overcome difficulties with recruitment as a result of covid-19.
- MRI perfusion of the brain and brain spectroscopy were replaced with ³¹Phosphorus-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy of the legs. We have undertaken a small pilot study on the acute effects of RIC on cerebral perfusion and cerebral metabolism using MRI. However, we did not find large signals of effect and believed we were more likely to detect changes in the peripheral muscle rather than centrally. We believe using ³¹Phosphorus-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy of the legs may help investigate mechanisms of action behind the effect of RIC on fatigue.
- Adding the option of telephone interviews if more convenient than face-to-face interview. Telephone interviews were audio recorded (hands free), transcribed and stored in the same way as interviews conducted face-to-face.
- Changes to the study documentation (PIS, patient invites, consent form, aphasia friendly PIS and study schedule) to reflect changes in the protocol. This included details of how participants would be trained on how to deliver the intervention independently at home and how they would have to meet pre-determined criteria of competency. The PIS also explained how participants who opted for home delivery would receive weekly telephone follow-ups to review any problems with intervention delivery, review adverse events and intervention compliance, as well as ensure consent to continue the study.
- We also increased the number of participants who would take part in a qualitative interview from 6 to 8.

- As a result of covid-19, protocol amendments and recruitment being slow, the study end date was extended to December 2021. The GANTT chart in the protocol was amended and all tasks were extended by 6 months to account for delays to the study.
- Overall, a 10-month period where recruitment was temporarily suspended occurred during the study period due to the pandemic and substantial amendments.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Recruitment/Cohort

In total, 103 people with significant fatigue after stroke were identified and approached. Of the 103 individuals approached, 24 participants were recruited into the study and 22 participants subsequently completed 6-week intervention. Of the 24 participants, 12 were randomised into the intervention group and 12 to the control. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the recruited participants are shown in *Table 7*. Participants ranged in age from 35 to 73 years. Participants in the sham group were slightly older with a mean difference between the two groups of 6.3 years. Two thirds of the participants were male (16 males, 8 females) split evenly between groups (8 men, 4 females in both groups). Time since stroke was similar between the groups (38.5 months vs 39.8 months in treatment and sham, respectively), however, the sham group contained a greater proportion of people who had suffered intracerebral haemorrhage (41.7% vs 8.3%). Participants in the treatment group were heavier with a mean difference between the two groups of 7.6kg. The proportion of participants who received in-hospital RIC or home-RIC was reasonably equal (13 versus 11 participants, respectively). In the hospital RIC group, 7 out of 13 participants received active RIC and 6 participants received the sham treatment. In the home-RIC group, 5 participants were in the treatment group and 6 participants were in the sham group.

2.3.2 Participant flow

Figure 5 shows CONSORT flowchart, showing the flow of participants through the trial. Figure 5 provides a breakdown of the number of participants approached, numbers recruited and retained and reasons for ineligibility. Reasons for ineligibility included diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), high depression or anxiety scores, and mild fatigue (FSS-7<4). There is incomplete data on the number of participants screened as some participants were referred by

word of mouth. The CONSORT diagram in Figure 5 also details the reasons for refusal to participate in the study, including perceived study burden, lack of interest in the study and shielding from covid-19. Out of the 24 participants recruited, two participants (8.3%) withdrew from the study for non-intervention related reasons and did not complete further questionnaires.

Characteristic	All	Treatment	Sham	In hospital RIC	Home RIC
n	24	12	12	13	11
Age, years (mean; SD)	58.6 (10.9)	55.5 (10.6)	61.8 (10.7)	59.0 (10.1)	58.2 (12.2)
Sex	16 M: 8 F	8 M : 4 F	8 M : 4 F	11 M : 2 F	5 M : 6 F
Height, cm (mean; SD)	172.8 (7.1)	174.3 (6.7)	171.3 (7.6)	172.1 (7.3)	173.6 (7.2)
Weight, kg (mean; SD)	86.3 (19.8)	90.0 (21.3)	82.4 (18.2)	90.2 (23.2)	82.1 (15.2)
BMI (mean; SD)	29.0 (7.7)	29.9 (8.5)	28.1 (6.9)	30.9 (9.8)	27.1 (4.0)
Ethnicity	Caucasian (83.3%) Black African (4.2%) Dutch (4.2%) Asian British (8.3%)	Caucasian (75.0%) Black African (8.3%) Dutch (8.3%) Asian British (8.3%)	Caucasian (91.7%) Asian British (8.3%)	Caucasian (76.9%) Black African (7.7%) Dutch (7.7%) Asian British (7.7%)	Caucasian (90.9%) Asian British (9.1%)
Stroke type (%)					
Ischaemic	70.8%	91.7%	58.3%	76.9%	72.7%
Haemorrhagic	29.2%	8.3%	41./%	23.1%	27.3%
Time since stroke, months (mean; SD)	39.1 (14.3)	38.5 (14.7)	39.8 (14.5)	41.7 (10.8)	36.1 (17.6)

Table 7. Characteristics of study participants by treatment group and location.

Comorbidities *n* (%)

Hypertension	10 (42)	3 (25)	7 (58)	7 (54)	3 (27)
Hyperlipidaemia	3 (13)	2 (17)	1 (8)	2 (15)	1 (9)
Diabetes	2 (8.)	1 (8.)	1 (8)	1 (8)	1 (9)
Stroke/TIA	4 (17)	2 (17)	2 (17)	3 (23)	1 (9)
IHD	1 (4)	1 (8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (9)
CCF	1 (4)	1 (8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (9)
AF	2 (8)	2 (17)	0 (0)	1 (8)	1 (9)
Depression	7 (29)	4 (33)	3 (25)	3 (23)	4 (36)
Medications <i>n</i> (%)					
Antiplatelet	13 (54)	6 (50)	7 (58)	8 (62)	5 (46)
Anticoagulant	6 (25)	6 (50)	0 (0)	2 (15)	4 (36)
Antihypertensive	6 (25)	2 (17)	4 (33)	4 (31)	2 (18)
Statin	13 (54)	6 (50)	7 (58)	8 (62)	5 (46)
Antidepressant	6 (25)	3 (25)	3 (25)	3 (23)	3 (27)
*mRS (median; IQR)	2.00 (1.25)	2.00 (1.00)	2.00 (2.00)	2.00 (1.75)	1.50 (1.25)
Independent (%) (score 0-2)	77.3	81.8	72.7	75.0	80.0
Dependent (%) (score 3-4)	22.7	18.2	27.3	25.0	20.0

RIC = Remote ischaemic conditioning; SD = Standard deviation; M = Male; F = Female; BMI = Body mass index; TIA = Transient ischaemic attack; IHD = Ischaemic heart disease; CCF = Congestive cardiac failure; AF = Atrial fibrillation; mRS = modified Rankin Scale. *mRS figures based on only the 22 participants who completed the 6-week intervention as it is used in later analysis.



Figure 5. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) diagram.

2.3.3 Primary outcome measures

2.3.3.1 Safety

Eight out of the 11 participants in the treatment group (73%) who completed the 6-week intervention reported AEs related to the intervention during the 6-week intervention period, including petechiae (microbleeds in the skin) (45%), headache (27%), dizziness (9%), swelling of the arm (9%), numbress of the arm (9%) and arm stiffness (9%) (Table 8). No participants in the sham group (0%) who completed the 6-week intervention experienced any AEs and no participants (0%) in the treatment or sham group experienced any SAE related to RIC/sham intervention. Out of all the AEs related to the intervention, 83% were experienced by participants in the hospital-RIC group (Table 8). Only two participants in the home-RIC group reported AEs related to intervention (1x petechiae, 1x headache) (Table 8). Two participants (both in the sham group) experienced AEs unrelated to the study intervention (musculoskeletal chest pain, hypoglycemia, dizziness) within 6-months of intervention cessation. Since less than 10 participants reported AEs (n=8) and no participants reported SAE directly related to the RIC protocol, the criteria for safety of RIC in stroke were met. Blood results were checked at baseline and at 6-weeks including full-blood count (FBC), renal function (urea and electrolytes, U&E) and liver functions (alanine aminotransferase, ALT) to ensure the intervention did not cause any unexpected abnormalities. One participant had a pre-existing abnormality in ALT at baseline, however this improved at follow-up, and one participant had incidentally found Gilberts syndrome which was communicated to the participant and their GP.

Table 8. Number of participants reporting adverse events related to the intervention in the treatment and sham group and hospital and home RIC group.

Adverse Event	Treatment	Sham	Hospital RIC	Home RIC
N	11	11	12	10
Petechiae n (%)	5 (45)	0 (0)	4 (33)	1 (10)
Headache n (%)	3 (27)	0 (0)	2 (17)	1 (10)
Dizziness <i>n</i> (%)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)	0 (0)
Swelling of arm <i>n</i> (%)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)	0 (0)
Numbness n (%)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)	0 (0)
Arm stiffness <i>n</i> (%)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)	0 (0)

*Table only includes data from the 22 participants who completed the 6-week intervention. There is a lack of data on safety or acceptability from the two participants who withdrew from the study.

2.3.3.2 Acceptability

The mean score for overall discomfort on the symptom diary (Appendix 9) for all 22 participants who completed the 6-week intervention was 1.7 (\pm 0.9), reflecting mild discomfort (*Table 9*). The mean score for overall discomfort in the treatment group was 2.3 (SD \pm 0.8), indicating mild-moderate discomfort. Only one participant in the treatment group (9.1%) reported moderate or greater discomfort associated with the RIC treatment (mean score = 4.5which reflects severe discomfort). The mean score for overall discomfort in the sham group was 1.0 (\pm 0.0) (reflecting no discomfort) and no participants in the sham group reported moderate or greater discomfort (Table 9). The mean score for all the side effects listed on the symptom diary for the treatment/sham and hospital/home intervention group are shown in Table 9. Score for overall discomfort was slightly higher in the home-RIC group compared to the hospital-RIC group (Table 9). This was also the case for skin irritation, redness, weakness after and pins and needles (Table 9). Since less than one third of participants reported moderate or greater discomfort associated with the RIC treatment the criteria for acceptability were met. Responses from qualitative interviews about what participants felt about the treatment are provided in Chapter 6, however indicated good acceptability altogether and a willingness to continue the treatment should it be found to be effective.

Table 9. Mean score on each section of the symptom diary in the treatment and sham group and the hospital and home RIC group.

Symptom	Overall mean (mean; ±SD)	RIC group (mean; SD)	Sham group (mean; SD)	Hospital RIC	Home RIC
N	22	11	11	12	10
Overall discomfort	1.7 (± 0.9)	2.3 (± 0.8)	1.0 (± 0.0)	1.5 (± 0.5)	1.8 (±1.2)
Skin irritation/redness	1.3 (± 0.5)	1.5 (± 0.6)	1.1 (± 0.3)	1.1 (± 0.2)	1.4 (± 0.7)
Pain	1.5 (± 0.8)	1.9 (± 1.0)	1.0 (± 0.0)	1.2 (± 0.4)	1.8 (± 1.1)
Weakness after	1.1 (± 0.3)	1.2 (± 0.4)	1.0 (± 0.0)	1.0 (± 0.1)	1.2 (± 0.4)
Pins and needles	1.7 (± 0.9)	2.4 (± 0.9)	1.1 (± 0.1)	1.5 (± 0.5)	2.0 (± 1.2)

*Table only includes data from the 22 participants who completed the 6-week intervention. There is a lack of data on safety or acceptability from the two participants who withdrew from the study.

2.3.3.3 Compliance

Out of the 24 participants recruited, 22 participants (91.7%) successfully completed the 6-week intervention, and 20 participants (83.3%) completed 100% of intended RIC/sham cycles (18 complete 40-minute sessions over the 6-week period). The two participants who either missed or had an incomplete session were both in the home-RIC group. As more than 80% of the intended RIC/sham cycles were completed, the criteria for compliance were met. Participants were told they could have the treatment any time of day, any day of the week, as long as they had three complete 40-minute sessions each week. Having this flexibility made it easier for participants to comply.

2.3.3.4 Feasibility

In total, 4 participants were recruited within the first 2 months. Out of the 24 participants recruited, all 24 participants (100%) completed baseline assessments. Two of the 24 participants withdrew from the study, leaving 22 participants (91.7%) who completed follow-up assessments at 6-weeks. The overall retention rate for the study was high (91.7%), despite challenges with recruitment due to covid-19. Twenty-one participants (87.5%) completed 100% of patient completed clinical outcome measures (FSS-7, PHQ-9, GAD-7, MRS, BI, EQ5D-5L, EQ-VAS and MOCA) at baseline and at 6-week follow-up. One participant could not complete the MOCA questionnaire due to aphasia.

In total, 17 participants (70.8%) completed cardiopulmonary exercise testing at baseline and at 6-week follow-up, and 19 participants (79.2%) completed a 6MWT at baseline and at 6-weeks. Reasons for non-completion of baseline or follow-up tests include withdrawal from the study, stroke impairments (spasticity, weakness), illness on the day of testing (breathlessness, cough), lack of access to research sites whilst protocol amendments were approved and covid-19 restrictions (discussed in chapter 4).

Eight out of an intended 8 participants (100%) underwent ³¹P-MRS at baseline, however due to one participant withdrawing from the study, seven participants (87.5%) underwent ³¹P-MRS at 6-weeks. Eight out of an intended 8 participants (100%) in the treatment group completed qualitative interviews.

Twenty out of 22 participants (90.9%) who completed the 6-week RIC/sham intervention completed telephone follow-ups at 3 months and 6-months. There were good completion rates for all baseline and follow-up outcome measures (>80%). Taking all of this into consideration, the criteria for study feasibility (4 participants recruited within the first 2 months, retention rate >80% and 80% of all outcome measure assessments and follow-up assessments completed) were met (*Table 5*).

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Safety and acceptability

Overall, RIC appeared to be safe and tolerable. The most common AEs related to the intervention experienced by participants in the active treatment group were skin petechiae and headache, similar findings to several previous studies (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015a, Koch et al., 2011, Zhao et al., 2017, Mohammad Seyedsaadat et al., 2020). Less common AEs included dizziness, swelling of the arm, numbness of the arm and arm stiffness. Other side effects reported which were included in the symptom diary and highlighted as possible side effects, included skin irritation/redness and pins and needles, both of which were rated mild. Only one participant in the treatment group reported moderate or greater discomfort associated with the intervention, thus meeting the criteria for safety of less than one third of participants reporting moderate or greater discomfort. None of the participants requested the intervention to be stopped due to discomfort or AEs.

The proportion of RIC-related AEs was higher in the hospital RIC group compared to the home RIC group. This might be because in the hospital RIC group the researcher delivering the intervention was very vigilant and thorough when reporting AEs, whereas participants in the home RIC either did not want to make a 'fuss' or forgot to report the AE in the symptom diary. Although, the average scores on the symptom diary for overall discomfort, skin irritation, weakness, and pins and needles, were higher in the home RIC compared to the hospital RIC group. However, as highlighted in the results section one participant reported severe discomfort associated with the RIC intervention and this participant was in the home RIC group. Therefore, we believe they brought the average scores up in the home RIC group.

One participant in the RIC group said they thought the first dose of RIC was the most uncomfortable describing it as a 'shock' in their qualitative interview (see chapter 6). Most participants felt the treatment got easier over time, however the participant who reported moderate or greater discomfort did not feel as though it got easier. Despite this they completed all intended RIC cycles. They also described the treatment as 'not so painful but uncomfortable' in their qualitative interview (see chapter 6). Development of skin petechiae was more noticeable when the BP cuff was inflated over bare skin and could be ameliorated when applied over a thin sweater or long sleeve top without impairing the ability to facilitate RIC.

Exclusion criteria utilized in this study were aimed at either safeguarding participants and enhancing the likelihood of RIC efficacy and have been commonly used in many other RIC trials (Hougaard et al., 2014, Lavi et al., 2014, Hausenloy et al., 2019, Gonzalez et al., 2014, Hansen et al., 2019). Similarly, peripheral vascular disease or venous thromboembolism are consistent exclusion criterion used in previous studies RIC in stroke (Koch et al., 2011, Gonzalez et al., 2014). Although the intervention appears to be risky at face value (including tissue ischaemia), previous studies of RIC in stroke have not reported increased risk of vascular complications. For example, no studies have reported increased risks of venous thrombosis after the RIC treatment in stroke (Baig et al., 2021). Furthermore, a study conducted by Hansen et al. (2019) of 36 type 2 diabetic mellitus patients (mean age 70.7 years) which investigated repeated home-based upper limb RIC (4 x 5 min cycles of ischaemia followed by 5-min reperfusion for 12 weeks) in patients with known lower limb peripheral vascular disease (80% had peripheral symmetrical neuropathy) concluded the treatment was safe and feasible in this population. Treatment adherence was extremely good with compliance rates of 92.1% in the active treatment group and 82.1% in the sham group. Only three AEs related to the RIC intervention were reported were transient skin petechiae distal to cuff placement. However, the treatment was not found to be efficacious with no effect on tissue oxygenation (no change in transcutaneous tissue oxygen tension, TcPO₂), vascular (no change in aortic pulse wave velocity, PWV, or toe-brachial index), or neuronal function (measured using the electrochemical skin conduction test) in the lower extremities observed after RIC. Therefore, while these findings should provide some reassurance to researchers and clinicians in terms of the safety of including patients with peripheral vascular disease in clinical trials of RIC, peripheral neuropathy is associated with diabetes may be associated with reduced conditioning effects (Heusch et al., 2015, Hansen et al., 2019). We chose to exclude participants with a resting systolic blood pressure (SBP) >180 mmHg. This was to ensure inflating the cuff to 200

mmHg was sufficient to produce ischaemia in the limb receiving the conditioning stimulus. If the pressure is insufficient to cause ischaemia, then we are not truly assessing the safety and tolerability of the treatment. Some studies in the literature have instead inflated the BP cuff 20-50 mmHg above SBP instead of the standard 200 mmHg (Lavi et al., 2014, England et al., 2016, Gonzalez et al., 2014, Koch et al., 2011, England et al., 2019, Hougaard et al., 2014). However, the downside of this method is that the participant's blood pressure may vary between cycles affecting the standardisation of the protocol.

Clinical trials of limb RIC in stroke have demonstrated it is safe in patients with AIS, subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) and following reperfusion therapies such as carotid endarterectomy and mechanical thrombectomy (Gasparovic et al., 2019, Hougaard et al., 2014, Zhao et al., 2017, Che et al., 2019, Zhao et al., 2018a, Koch et al., 2011, Gonzalez et al., 2014, Mohammad Seyedsaadat et al., 2019, England et al., 2017), although treatment durations are generally short (<7 days). Zhao et al. (2018a) explored the safety and feasibility of unilateral upper limb RIC (4 x 5 min cycles of ischaemia to 200 mmHg) in patients with AIS with suspected large-vessel occlusion. Conditioning was performed before and immediately after recanalization (intravenous thrombolysis, IVT) of the occluded artery, and once daily for the subsequent 7 days. No SAEs related the RIC treatment occurred and only one participant reported skin petechiae. No participants had to discontinue the RIC treatment because it interfered with routine clinical managements and overall completion rates were good. Although some subjects failed to complete all intended cycles before recanalization due to lack of time between hospital admission and the patient receiving IVT. These findings are consistent with a recent study by An et al. (2020) who also investigated the safety of RIC in patients with AIS receiving IVT. In this study patients received bilateral RIC (5 x 5 min upper limb ischaemia to 180 mmHg separated by 3-min reperfusion) twice daily until discharge (average hospital stay 11.2 days). The control group underwent no inflations or deflations of the BP cuff. An et al. (2020) found that all patients in the RIC group (n=34 in the treatment and sham group), except for two (one was uncomfortable with the pressure, and another developed skin redness), received complete RIC sessions twice daily until discharge (maximum 14 days). This demonstrates how repeated RIC is well tolerated in these patients. There was however no significant difference in mortality rates at 3 months of treatment between the RIC and control group in this study (1 of 32 RIC patients vs 3 of 34 controls, P = 0.614).

Meng et al. (2012) investigated the effects of long-term home or hospital bilateral arm RIC (BAIPC) for 300 days (Meng et al., 2012) and found it was extremely well tolerated by all patients in both groups (no patients aborted the treatment early due to discomfort). Furthermore, no participants experienced local skin or vessel lesions and no patients died or had other vascular events during the study period. This is the longest duration of successful RIC therapy. A later study by the same investigators found BAIPC for 180 days in octo-and nonagenarians was safe with 83.3% of patients in the active treatment group completing the 180-day intervention without overt discomfort and 16.7% reporting mild discomfort but tolerated the treatment. AEs included transient skin petechiae (3/30 patients in the active treatment group) with no other tissue or neurovascular injury observed (Meng et al., 2015a). These findings demonstrate how long-term RIC is also safe in very elderly patients with stroke.

In our study, there is a chance that inflating the blood pressure cuff to 200 mmHg was not sufficient to induce ischaemia in every participant in the active treatment group, especially considering a couple of participants in the treatment group were overweight (mean weight in the treatment group = 90.0kg versus 82.4kg in the sham group). Many people with stroke have high blood pressure (Dawes, 2013) or atherosclerotic vessels (Hoshino et al., 2017), which may also require a higher pressure to induce ischaemia in the limb being conditioned. Going forward, if a larger trial investigating RIC for PSF is carried out, one way to ensure vascular occlusion may be to use a Doppler probe (or an equivalent technique), however this would be cumbersome and add complexity to the intervention. Excluding participants with a SBP > 180 mm Hg was done to ensure, as much as possible, that 200 mmHg was a sufficient pressure. However, unless we objectively measure this we will not know for certain whether ischaemia has been induced in the preconditioned limb.

2.4.2 Adherence

Overall, adherence with the intervention was very good with 91.7% of recruited participants completing the 6-week intervention and 83.3% completing all intended RIC/sham cycles. Compliance was slightly better in participants who received in-hospital RIC. One of the two participants who withdrew from the study, and the two participants who either missed a full day treatment or had an incomplete session, self-administered the intervention at home. One possible reason why compliance was better in the hospital-RIC group is that once participants

booked their weekly treatment sessions, they felt committed to turn up to their appointment. As well, for most participants we arranged transport to and from the hospital which made it easier for participants to attend their sessions. The researcher also sent weekly reminders to participants about their appointments and gave them the option to reschedule sessions if needed. One participant in the home-RIC group relied on family members or community carers (who received a virtual training session) to help deliver the treatment (attach the cuff, stop/start the timer), however sometimes carers did not have the time, or they did not join the virtual training session so were either unaware of the study or of the study procedures. Compliance was therefore lower in participants who relied on family or carers to help them administer the conditioning.

There is a lack of data on compliance in trials of chronic RIC in stroke, therefore it is difficult to know for certain whether stroke patients are able to carry out RIC consistently over weeks or months (Baig et al., 2021). For example, in the study by Meng et al. (2012) only 38 out of 51 patients (74.5%) randomised to receive twice daily bilateral arm RIC (5 x 5 min episodes of ischaemia to 200 mm Hg followed by 5-min reperfusion) successfully completed the study. A retrospective study by Zhao et al. (2021) investigated factors that influenced compliance in a study of 91 ischaemic stroke patients who received repeated bilateral upper limb RIC (5 x 5 min cycles) twice daily for 1-year. Out of 91 patients who completed the study, 56 had good compliance (defined as \geq 80% RIC treatments completed). Factors that independently influenced patient compliance included physiological discomfort (comfort ratings higher in people with poor compliance) and the number of follow-up visits (number of follow-up visits was positively correlated with compliance). Longitudinal trials using larger samples of participants will help inform clinicians and researchers on likely compliance rates.

Overall, completion of the weekly monitoring diaries to record compliance with the intervention was very good in the home-RIC group. It is difficult to know for certain how accurate the logs are and whether participants were truthful in their answers, however after working with these participants for several weeks we believe it is likely they answered truthfully. Self-reported adherence methods (e.g., logbooks) is the most widely used method for assessing adherence to medication or device usage in clinical care and research. Advantages of self-report adherence methods include low-cost, ease of implementation and minimal patient burden (Stirratt et al., 2015). They can provide useful information on adherence determinants (e.g., understanding of medication regime or device application) and reasons for nonadherence

(Stirratt et al., 2015). However, there are questions about their validity and precision. If they are not completed correctly, they could lead to under- or overestimations of adherence rates (Stirratt et al., 2015, Farmer, 1999). The most difficult aspect of the intervention faced by participants in the home-RIC group was remembering to turn the timer on or remembering how many cycles they had completed. There is a chance that these participants sometimes either did not complete a full 5-min cycle or did not complete the correct number of cycles. This may have implications for the accuracy of the monitoring logs and compliance estimates. Nevertheless, adherence in the home-RIC group was very good demonstrating the feasibility of home-delivered RIC. In our study, the researcher kept a record of whether the participants in the hospital-RIC group had to reschedule or cancel any sessions. Two participants had to cancel a couple of sessions due to illness or family commitments. They either had an extra session the following week or had additional session added onto to the end of the 6-weeks. As long as they had a total of 18-sessions they met the criteria for compliance.

Home or carer delivered RIC has been shown to be safe and feasible in prior studies of RIC in stroke (Meng et al., 2012, Kate et al., 2019). In the study by Kate et al. (2019) they investigated the safety and feasibility of six cycles of self-or caregiver delivered bilateral upper limb RIC (inflated to 20mmHg above systolic BP to a maximum of 200 mmHg) compared to the popular four cycles in patients with AIS (n=30 in the six-cycles group; n=27 in the four-cycles group). The treatment began within 48-hours of symptom onset and participants were given a manual aneroid BP machine to take home and asked to perform RIC twice daily for 12-weeks. In terms of safety, no patients developed SAEs related to the treatment and only three (5.2%) developed petechial rash. In terms of feasibility, a total of 18 (66%) patients in the four-cycles group completed \geq 50% sessions in 12-weeks, and 21 (69.7%) patients in the six-cycles group completed \geq 50% sessions. Two thirds of patients completed at least 60 treatment sessions in 6-weeks in both groups. The main reason for discontinuation of the intervention was duration of the therapy. Other reasons included: treatment associated anxiety, pain during the intervention, petechial rash, rehospitalisation, and death. The investigators concluded that bilateral upper limb self-or caregiver delivered manual RIC was feasible and safe in both groups of patients with AIS, however it may be more feasible for a shorter duration (6-weeks) (Kate et al., 2019).

If home-RIC was an option at the beginning of the study, it is likely that recruitment rates would have been higher. Several people approached refused to take part in the study because of work commitments or perceived study burden. If they had the option to self-administer the intervention at home, they may have been more open to taking part in the study. For example, one participant in the home-RIC group said in their qualitative interview (see chapter 6) that they do not think they would have been able to manage coming into the hospital each week for treatment and were happy they could do it at home. Participants in the hospital-RIC/sham group were either retired, unable to work, or had an understanding employer who allowed them to start work later on the days they had an appointment. Regular visits to the hospital each week allowed a relationship to build between the participant and researcher, which was important for participant engagement. This personalised one-to-one care seemed to be valued by participants who enjoyed the time away from home and having someone to talk to. Participants in the home-RIC/sham group had less face-to-face contact with the researcher which some participants may have preferred. However, the option of home-RIC allowed participants to deliver the intervention at home over holiday periods which was important for recruitment.

Automated RIC devices (autoRIC CellAegis devices) are available and have been used in several of the large-scale trials (Gorog et al., 2021, Meng et al., 2012, Zhao et al., 2018a, Hansen et al., 2019). The electric devices automatically inflate the cuff (to 200 mmHg) and control the duration and number of RIC cycles (Belaoussoff et al., 2017). They also have a compliance monitoring system embedded in the cuff which monitors the number of cycles completed (Hansen et al., 2019). The most common way of inducing RIC, with a manual sphygmomanometer and a timer, is time-consuming and there are some concerns about its safety (e.g., leaving the cuff inflated in an obtunded or anesthetised patient) (Belaoussoff et al., 2017). Its delivery requires 40-45 minutes of a practitioner's time and is quite burdensome for participants. Automated devices offer a time saving solution and will make the clinical implementation of RIC more straightforward (Belaoussoff et al., 2017). However, automated devices are costly, and usually employ single use cuffs that are not yet validated for long term use (i.e., using the same cuff for inflation for a period of 30 days for example). The use of an automated RIC device in trials of repeated self-or caregiver RIC may help improve compliance rates. This is because the researcher will be able to monitor the number of cycles the participant completes each week using the wireless monitor unit connected to the monitoring system in the cuff and participants may feel a pressure to comply with a conditioning protocol if they know compliance will be checked electronically.
2.4.3 Feasibility

2.4.3.1 Recruitment and retention

Overall, the study methods were feasible in terms of recruitment, randomisation, baseline assessments and follow-up assessments and the recruitment criteria were met (four participants within the first two months). Recruitment total was not as good as one anticipated due to delays getting ethical approval, covid-19 restrictions, and substantial protocol amendments (see section 2.2.21 'Changes to protocol' and the covid impact form). However, despite these challenges we recruited appropriately and completion rate for baseline and follow-up assessments was >80% for most outcome measures.

At 3-month and 6-month follow up, the participant retention rate was 83.3%. We also recruited four participants within the first two months, fulfilling the criteria for feasibility. Due to covid-19, the recruitment period needed to be extended and one participant withdrew from the study because they classified as clinically vulnerable (asthma) and needed to shield from covid-19. Although recruitment was difficult, there was good adherence to the planned intervention in those participants who did receive the RIC/sham intervention, with a high level of detail provided in the qualitive interviews (discussed in chapter 6). While face-to-face assessments (baseline and 6-week follow-up) were largely successful, it was difficult to obtain telephone follow-up data from every participant. Two participants in the treatment group were either noncontactable or had severe aphasia which made telephone conversations difficult. Nevertheless, the retention rate at 3-month and 6-month follow-up was 90.9%. There is a lack of data on the number of participants screened as some participants were referred by word of mouth. The main reason for non-participation included ineligibility due to obstructive sleep apnoea, severe depression, mild fatigue, and old age, as well as perceived study burden. Although old age was not listed in the exclusion criteria, participants were excluded if the researchers felt they would be unable to complete the outcome measures (e.g., cardiopulmonary exercise test). We also did not want to invite particularly elderly individuals to participate during the pandemic due to risks associated with covid-19.

2.4.3.2. Outcome measures

We were able to assess the different outcome measures (patient-completed clinical outcome measures, 6MWT, CPET, ³¹P-MRS, qualitative interviews) to determine which would be the

most suitable for a larger definitive RCT. The questionnaires were relatively easy to complete face-to-face as well as over the telephone for the 3m and 6m follow-ups. The questionnaires were explained to the participants before they completed them. Some participants preferred to complete the questionnaires by themselves, other asked for help reading the questions. For participants with aphasia, the researcher went through each question carefully to ensure participants understood the question and were happy with their response. It was sometimes useful to have a spare piece of paper for participants with aphasia to write down their thoughts and to help the researcher communicate with the participants was lost to follow-up and we believe that their aphasia was a barrier to participation in the telephone follow-up calls while face to face visits were restricted during the pandemic. Self-report measures of fatigue, mood and QoL provide a real understanding of how the participant is feeling from their own perspective. However, they can be influenced by confounding factors such as mood, age, and education level (Chang et al., 2019). More detail about the individual self-report measures including their strengths and limitations will be provided in Chapter 3.

At the beginning of the study, activity watches were given to all participants to record step counts during the study and the global physical activity questionnaire (QPAQ) was included as a secondary outcome measure. However, there were challenges with both. A couple of participants requested for the activity watch to be placed on their stroke-affected side so they could operate and attach the watch with their non-affected hand. However, limited movement on their stroke-affected side meant the watch did not always record their steps. Other problems with the activity watches included: participants forgetting to charge the watch battery, participants forgetting to wear the watch (particularly at weekends), and technical difficulties. Regarding the GPAQ, which assesses levels of physical activity at work, for travel, and for leisure (Bull et al., 2009, Cleland et al., 2014), most of the questions were either not relevant to our participants or were difficult to answer. Many of our participants were retired or had limited mobility and the questionnaire requires a lot of calculation (summing up commuting, leisure activities, sedentary behaviour) which participants tended to guess. As a result of these challenges we made the decision to remove the GPAQ and activity watches from the list of secondary outcome measures.

Regarding cardiopulmonary exercise testing, the main barrier was access to the exercise lab at Sheffield Hallam University. On several occasions research activities at the site were halted due to protocol amendments, covid-19 restrictions, and risk-assessment updates. This meant two participants were unable to have their follow-up CPET and were therefore excluded from the analyses. Covid-19 restrictions meant staff numbers were limited which meant we were restricted to the days and times we could book the exercise lab. Overall, participants who completed CPET managed very well. A couple of participants required help getting onto the bike but were okay once they were positioned correctly. The researchers had to put a resistance band around the knee of one participant and pull it outwards to stop it hitting off the bike when cycling. This participant had to terminate the test early and was excluded from analyses. More details about cardiopulmonary exercise testing will be provided in Chapter 4.

Blood samples were not always easy to obtain. Some participants either had small or deep veins or were not adequately hydrated (although advised to arrive to their appointments in an euhydrated state). Other problems included finding a suitable clinical space to take the blood samples.

The 6MWT is a simple and reliable measure of functional exercise capacity in stroke (Dunn et al., 2015, Kosak and Smith, 2005), however lack of space at RHH meant that sometimes the 6MWT west was completed on a 9-metre corridor at Sheffield Hallam University. The more frequent need to turn around on a shorter corridor may have negatively impacted the total distance walked in participants who were more impaired as they tended to struggle with this part of the test. A cross-sectional study of 26 chronic stroke patients investigated the effect of turning directions (turning to stroke affected side and unaffected side) and different walkway distances (10, 20 and 30-m) on distance walked on the 6MWT (Ng et al., 2011). Walkway length had a significant effect on distance covered (e.g., 30m walkway distance 265.47±94.16 m vs 10m walkway distance 227.32±79.07 m, P<0.001), whereas turning direction did not significantly affect distance walked. These findings demonstrate how using a 9m walkway in our study may have significantly shortened the distance walked. However, a 10m course is commonly administered by physiotherapists in primary care where space is limited and is a valid test (Beekman et al., 2014). Another factor which may have impacted participant performance on the 6MWT is the need to wear a face covering during the pandemic. One participant expressed difficulty regulating their breathing during the test and requested to remove their facemask. This may have slowed down their walking pace and reduced overall distance walked during the test. Participants were permitted to use their walking aid. Results from the 6MWT will be discussed in chapter 3.

Regarding the qualitative interviews, a high level of detail about individual experiences with the treatment were provided. Before Covid-19, interviews were conducted face-to-face. They were conducted using a topic guide and only took approximately 10-minutes to complete (details provided in chapter 6). The interviews were friendly and informal, and participants were very happy to participate. In June 2020, a substantial amendment was submitted which included the option for interviews to be conducted over the telephone. Telephone interviews were also easy to complete.

Despite the pandemic we were able to recruit all intended eight participants into the ³¹MRI phosphorous spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS) sub study. Overall, participants coped well with the protocol including measurement of their maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) of their tibialis anterior (stroke affected and non-affected leg) and dynamic protocol in the MRI scanner (details provided in Chapter 5).

2.5 Strengths and limitations

This pilot study has several strengths. We now have a good idea which outcome measures were easy to collect (e.g., self-report measures, qualitative interviews, ³¹P-MRS) and which outcome measures were more difficult to complete (GPAQ, activity monitors). We also have a better understanding of what would be feasible to perform in a larger trial.

There was frequent review of participants by the researcher, so we are confident we did not miss any AEs or SAEs. We are also confident that there was no cross-over of interventions (e.g., participants in the sham group inflating the cuff to a higher pressure than prescribed). The symptom diaries were all completed, and AEs reported match other studies looking at the safety of RIC (Meng et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015a, Koch et al., 2011, Zhao et al., 2017, Mohammad Seyedsaadat et al., 2020). Another strength is the high adherence rates in the hospital and home-RIC group.

With regards to recruitment, we met the recruitment criteria which was recruit 4 participants within the first two months. However, this may be because we had a dedicated PhD student working on the study. If we had staff from multiple research sites working with stroke research nurses on recruitment the results may have been different. A limitation is that we did not keep

an accurate screening log of all the participants that had fatigue that were approached or whether they were eligible or not eligible. However, we tried to keep the inclusion and exclusion criteria such that it was as inclusive as possible excluding only patients who it might be unsafe or ineffective to perform RIC on and who could realistically perform study activities.

Although the plan was for the researcher undertaking face-to-face follow-up assessments to be blinded to the treatment allocation, this was not always possible due to covid-19 restrictions and its impact on recruitment and follow-up. Approximately two thirds of participants had blinded assessment. We proved that blinded follow-up assessment was possible before the pandemic, however we wanted to expose participants to least number of researchers possible to reduce their risk of covid-19 infection.

We did not ask people whether they thought they were in the treatment or sham group therefore we do not know if blinding was successful. However, in other studies that have investigated whether people can identify whether they are treated with intervention or sham conditions they have not been able to identify (England et al., 2019).

Furthermore, inadvertently there was a greater number of participants who had suffered intracerebral haemorrhage in the sham group compared to the treatment group (41.7% vs 8.3%). This may be due to the fact that stroke type was not factored into randomization. However, we are not aware of any supporting literature or data to show that patients that have intracerebral haemorrhage have higher levels of fatigue after stroke than those who have ischaemic stroke (Ingles et al., 1999, Lynch et al., 2007, Eijsden et al., 2012, Duncan et al., 2015, Miller et al., 2013, Schepers et al., 2006a, Kutlubaev et al., 2013).

2.6 Conclusion

In summary, repeated RIC for 6-weeks is safe and acceptable in stroke patients with debilitating fatigue. Only one participant in the treatment group reported moderate or greater discomfort associated with the RIC intervention, no SAEs related to the treatment were reported, and all AEs were mild and transient. There was excellent treatment adherence in the hospital and home-RIC/sham group and high completion rates for all secondary outcome measures at baseline and follow-up despite covid-19 related challenges. Furthermore, despite recruitment challenges during the pandemic we recruited >70% of the intended number of participants and

met all recruitment success criteria. Outcome measures that were unsuccessful include activity monitors and GPAQ. There were a number of challenges with cardiopulmonary exercise testing including access to the exercise lab. Some participants also struggled to get on the bike due to stroke-specific impairments. Therefore, cardiopulmonary exercise testing using bicycle ergometry may be unfeasible in a larger trial. Alternative methods to objectively assesses CRF should be considered (discussed in chapter 4). Successful outcome measures included patient completed clinical outcome measures and ³¹P-MRS. Although there were a few challenges with the 6MWT including the availability of an adequately sized corridor due to covid-19 restrictions in hospitals (discussed in chapter 3), it is a simple and reliable measure of exercise tolerance that could be feasibly utilized in future trials.

CHAPTER 3. EFFECT OF REMOTE ISCHAEMIC CONDITONING ON POST-STROKE FATIGUE AND WALKING DISTANCE

3.1. Introduction

The objective of this chapter was to explore the correlation between fatigue (FFS) and physical function (6MWT), investigate potential differences in these outcome measures between groups (RIC vs sham) and to find estimates of effect sizes for both treatment arms. We evaluated the results and appropriateness of each outcome measure to determine what measures would be suitable for use in a larger efficacy RCT. Other patient reported outcome measures (e.g., PHQ-9, GAD-7, EQ5D-5L) were included to examine whether any potential effects or associations are confounded by mood and QoL. This small pilot study was not powered to detect any differences in outcomes as this was not the purpose but rather to explore the application of RIC for fatigue and exercise tolerance after stroke and examine trial feasibility.

As discussed in Chapter one, PSF is among the most prevalent symptoms after stroke (Skånér et al., 2007) and is a common cause of concern for patients, caregivers, and healthcare professionals (Hinkle et al., 2017, Acciarresi et al., 2014). PSF limits participation in exercise (Choi-Kwon et al., 2004) and rehabilitation (Lerdal and Gay, 2013) and has a significant negative impact on QoL (Chen et al., 2015, Glader et al., 2002, Naess et al., 2012a). PSF may have central (e.g., corticomotor excitability deficit) and /or peripheral (inflammation, physical deconditioning, impaired cellular energetics) origins (De Doncker et al., 2018, Paciaroni and Acciarresi, 2019). While several interventional studies have been conducted and have added to our current knowledge of PSF (Aali et al., 2020), such studies have been small and thus far none have led to changes in clinical practice. RIC may represent a simple, low-cost, and safe procedure for reducing fatigue symptoms after stroke.

Since the discovery of RIC as a protective phenomenon over 30 years ago (Murry et al., 1986), the bulk of research has focused primarily on the clinical utility of RIC to protect against subsequent ischaemia in the context of cerebrovascular disease (Meng et al., 2015a, Meng et al., 2012), myocardial infarction (Ma et al., 2006, Gorog et al., 2021), and during perioperative periods (Candilio et al., 2015, Li et al., 2010). While the mechanisms underlying these effects are not completely understood, limb RIC has been shown to improve metabolic efficiency by

preserving mitochondrial respiration and attenuating ATP depletion (Thaveau et al., 2007, Mansour et al., 2012, Slagsvold et al., 2014) and reducing lactate production (Jensen et al., 2011, Bailey et al., 2012) during prolonged ischaemia. In addition, RIC has been shown to improve CBF (Meng et al., 2015a, Meng et al., 2012) and increase blood flow and oxygen delivery to skeletal muscles (Andreas et al., 2011b) by preserving endothelial function (Contractor et al., 2016, Manchurov et al., 2020, Kharbanda et al., 2001) and inducing arterial vasodilation (Kimura et al., 2007) during ischaemic stress. Based on these findings, limb RIC has gained interest as a novel therapy to improve muscle strength and exercise capacity in healthy individuals (De Groot et al., 2009, Patterson et al., 2015) and clinical populations (Hyngstrom et al., 2018, Durand et al., 2019). Considering the overlap between some of the mechanisms underlying RIC and PSF, it seems plausible to suggest RIC may help improve fatigue by reducing the mechanisms that promote it.

Hyngstrom et al. (2018) found a significant increase in maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) and in the magnitude of vastus lateralis muscle activation (measured using EMG) in the paretic leg of stroke patients after a single dose of RIC to the ipsilateral leg (5 x 5 min cuff inflation to 225 mmHg). Repeated RIC was associated with significant improvements in walking speed (10-metre walking test) and paretic muscle knee extensor strength and fatigability in chronic stroke survivors (patients in the RIC group maintained submaximal isometric contraction significantly longer compared to the sham group) (discussed in chapter one) (Durand et al., 2019).

The effect of RIC on muscle function and exercise tolerance has also been investigated in other neurological conditions, such as multiple sclerosis (MS) (Chotiyarnwong et al., 2020). A clinical study by Chotiyarnwong et al. (2020) investigated the effect of a single dose of RIC (3 x 5 min cuff inflations to 30 mmHg above systolic BP separated by 5-min reperfusion) or sham (cuff inflated to 30 mm Hg below diastolic BP) on distance walked (% improvement) in the 6MWT in 75 patients with MS. Secondary outcomes included gait speed (distance walked 6MWT, meters/time walked, seconds), the Borg rate of perceived exertion (RPE) scale, tolerability of RIC (Numerical rating scale of 0-10), and adverse events. The investigators found that despite a slightly higher discomfort rating in the RIC group (median rating (IQR) = 4 (3-6) vs 1 (0-2.5)), no SAEs occurred due to RIC and it was associated with a statistically significant improvement in the distance walked during the 6MWT (5.7% versus 1.9% in sham, P=0.012). These findings demonstrate how a single dose of RIC has the potential to increase

exercise tolerance in people with MS, another condition where fatigue is prevalent. These improvements may be even greater with repeated doses of conditioning. This was explored in our study.

A study of 17 healthy males by Crisafulli et al. (2011) found that bilateral lower limb RIC (3 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 50 mmHg above SBP) before an incremental maximal cycle test significantly increased total exercise time (~40 sec), total work and increased maximal power output by 4%. One explanation for these findings was lowered sensitivity to fatigue signals after RIC which allowed the participants to exercise longer (Crisafulli et al., 2011). This is based on the theory that exercise capacity is regulated by a central "complex intelligent system", which terminates exercise whilst maintaining skeletal muscle recruitment reserve (Noakes, 2012) and metabolic homeostasis (St Clair Gibson and Noakes, 2004, Tucker et al., 2006). This system explains why exercise can be terminated because of fatigue. According to this model, the CNS regulates exercise via the detection of peripheral fatigue (via cortical projection of muscle afferents) and alterations in intramuscular metabolic milieu. This leads to the inhibition of central neural output to the working muscle and limits the development of peripheral fatigue to an individuals critical threshold (Amann et al., 2006). Therefore, a certain level of muscular-functional reserve is preserved, which can be recruited if the inhibitory influence of muscle afferents (sensory neurons) is reduced (Amann et al., 2006). Crisafulli et al. (2011) suggested that RIC before the exercise test may have increased this threshold, at which the "intelligent system" ends the exercise test, by desensitizing afferent groups. This in turn increased neural drive and the number of motor units recruited (De Oliveira Cruz et al., 2015), leading to an increase in force output. Increased neural drive after RIC has been suggested in another recent study in healthy volunteers by Surkar et al. (2020) who found that 8 sessions of upper limb RIC (5 x 5 min cuff inflations to 20 mmHg above resting SBP) combined with strength training of the contralateral arm (using a wall mounted pulley system with stackable weights), led to significantly greater improvements in wrist extensor muscle strength (measured using the one repetition maximum test, 1RM) in the RIC group (9.38 ± 1.01 lbs) compared to the sham group (6.3 ± 1.08 lbs, P=0.035). The researchers hypothesized that the strength gains may partially be the result of neural adaptations to strength training, with a significantly greater percentage change in EMG amplitude observed in the wrist extensor muscle in the RIC group compared to sham (P=0.023). These findings are in line with the study of chronic stroke patients by Hyngstrom et al. (2018).

Several studies of healthy volunteers and athletes have reported improvements in muscle strength after RIC (Patterson et al., 2015, Crisafulli et al., 2011, De Groot et al., 2009) which may help reduce symptoms of PSF by improving skeletal muscle fatigue resistance (Sundstrup et al., 2016), thus improving exercise capacity. A study of 13 healthy men by Barbosa et al. (2015b) investigated the effect of a single dose of lower limb RIC on both legs (3 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) on muscle fatigue (calculated as the rate of contraction and relaxation, Δ Force/ Δ Time) and time to task failure (TTF) during a handgrip exercise. Compared to controls (cuff inflated to 10 mm Hg), RIC significantly reduced the slowing of contraction and relaxation (i.e., delayed the development of fatigue) throughout the handgrip exercise (P < 0.05 vs control) and increased TTF by 11.2% (95% confidence interval: 0.7–21.7%, P<0.05 vs control). These findings demonstrate how RIC can reduce the fatigability of the forearm muscles after leg RIC, supporting the systemic effects of conditioning.

Not all the studies of RIC on physical function have been positive (Williams et al., 2021, Tocco et al., 2015, Marocolo et al., 2015, Tanaka et al., 2021) and the overall effect is still ambiguous. This may be due to a number of factors (e.g., RIC protocol, participant population), but the data available suggests a potential beneficial effect in stroke patients thus far, and warrants investigation as a potential therapy for PSF.

3.2 Methodology

Details of recruitment, randomisation, intervention protocols, inclusion/exclusion criteria, and baseline and follow-up assessments are detailed in Chapter 2. We included a selection of secondary outcome measures in an attempt to measure fatigue and potential confounders for fatigue as well as physical function. All researchers undertaking assessments were trained in their application prior to study initiation.

3.2.1 Patient completed clinical outcome measures

3.2.1.1 Fatigue severity scale

The fatigue severity scale (FSS) is a 9-item self-report questionnaire used to measure the severity of fatigue symptoms, primarily focusing on the motor aspects of fatigue and its impact on the individual's daily function (Krupp et al., 1989). Each item is scored on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) (Rosti-Otajärvi et al., 2017).

Participants are asked to circle the number which best fits each statement based on how accurately it reflects their fatigue within the last week (Krupp et al., 1989). A shorter 7-item version (FSS-7) removes the first and second questions that focus on a cause (exercise) and a consequence (motivation) of fatigue and has been shown to have better psychometric properties and is more sensitive to detecting changes in fatigue over time (Lerdal et al., 2005, Lerdal and Kottorp, 2011). It is also one of the most common fatigue scores used in fatigue studies in stroke. For this reason, the FSS-7 was used in this study. The mean score of the seven items is used as the FSS-7 score. The cut-off score for debilitating fatigue is ≥ 4 (Tang et al., 2010, Lerdal et al., 2011), as less than 5% of healthy controls obtain this score or lower, compared to 60-90% of fatigued individuals (Krupp et al., 1989, Schwartz et al., 1993). The FSS is a reliable tool that has been validated in stroke populations (Choi-Kwon and Kim, 2011, Lerdal et al., 2009). The MCID (an index of responsiveness) for global changes in the FSS range from 0.45-1.2 points (Pouchot et al., 2008, Nordin et al., 2016, Rooney et al., 2019). In this study, the FSS-7 was completed at baseline, 6-weeks, 3-months, and 6-months.

3.2.1.2 The patient health questionnaire 9

The patient health questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) is a self-administered, 9-item depression screening tool that assesses the 9 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) depression symptom criteria (Appendix 11) (Williams et al., 2005). The PHQ-9 is a validated post-stroke depression screening tool (de Man-van Ginkel et al., 2012, Williams et al., 2005, Gilbody et al., 2007, Karamchandani et al., 2015), and has been reported to have a high sensitivity (Meader et al., 2014). The questionnaire collects information on how often the subject has been bothered by different depressive symptoms over the last two weeks including absence of pleasure/interest, feeling down/hopeless, problems sleeping, fatigue, changes in eating habits, feeling bad about oneself, trouble concentrating and thoughts of self-harm (Kroenke et al., 2001, Strong et al., 2021). Scores on the PHQ-9 range from 0 (no depression) to 27 (all symptoms occurring daily) (Kroenke et al., 2001), with a score of ≥ 15 usually indicating major depression (Kroenke et al., 2001) and was used as an exclusion criteria in this study (participants excluded if PHQ-9 >14). It is a rapid and effective tool that has been recommended for use in stroke due to its simplicity and strong psychometric properties (Miller et al., 2010, Williams et al., 2005). The MCID in the PHQ-9 has been reported as 5 points in older primary care patients (Lowe et al., 2004). In this study, the PHQ-9 was administered at baseline, 6-weeks, 3-months, and 6-months.

3.2.1.3 The General Anxiety Disorder Assessment-7

The General Anxiety Disorder Assessment (GAD-7) is a 7-item, self-report questionnaire designed to measure or assess the severity of generalised anxiety disorder (GAD) (Appendix 12) (Spitzer et al., 2006). It asks subjects how often, in the last 2-weeks, they have been bothered by the following symptoms: feeling nervous, anxious or on edge, not being able to stop or control worrying, worrying too much about different things, having trouble relaxing, being so restless that it is hard to sit still, becoming easily annoyed or irritable and feeling afraid as if something awful might happen (Spitzer et al., 2006). Patients are asked to select one of the following response options: 'not at all', 'several days', 'more than half the days' or 'nearly every day' which are scored as 0, 1, 2, and 3, respectively. GAD-7 scores range from 0-21, with the cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe levels of anxiety being 5, 10 and 15, respectively. A cut-off score of ≥ 10 has been used to identify patients with clinical anxiety (Kellett et al., 2014, Bai et al., 2021). The GAD-7 has been validated for use in primary care (Sapra et al., 2020, Ruiz et al., 2011) and has been used in stroke studies to measure the impact of stroke on daily life (Kellett et al., 2014). It is a brief (2-3 minute completion time) and easy to administer scale with good internal consistency and test-retest reliability (Eccles et al., 2017, Spitzer et al., 2006). It also has good construct (degree to which the instrument is measuring the construct it claims to measure, e.g., anxiety) and convergent (how closely the scale is related to other measures of the same construct) validity (Löwe et al., 2008) and is sensitive to change (Kertz et al., 2012, Eccles et al., 2017). The estimated MCID of the total GAD-7 score is 4 points (Toussaint et al., 2020). In this study, the GAD-7 was administered at baseline, 6-weeks, 3-months and 6-months.

3.2.1.4 The European Quality of Life -5 Dimensions and Visual Analogue Scale

The European Quality of Life -5 Dimensions (EQ5D-5L) is a widely used instrument that is used to measure health status and QoL (Devlin and Brooks, 2017) (Appendix 13). The questionnaire is translated in several languages and has shown validity and reliability in stroke populations (Pinto et al., 2011, Hunger et al., 2012). The EQ5D-5L consists of 5 dimensions: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. Each dimension has one question with 5 levels ranging from 'no problems' (level 1) to 'severe problems' (level 5) (Herdman et al., 2011). Responses to the five dimensions can be converted to a single utility

score (EQ-Index score) using preference-based (typically country specific) weights (Devlin et al., 2017). Utility weights range between 0 (death) and 1 (full health) (Devlin et al., 2017). These values are derived from population studies using hypothetical EQ5D health profiles to find out the importance of different health states to different people (Stolk et al., 2019). A study that sampled members of the English general public found that problems with pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression carried the greatest weight (Devlin et al., 2017). The EQ5D-5L questionnaire also includes a Visual Analogue Scale (EQ-VAS), by which participants can rate their overall health on a scale of 0 (worst imaginable health) to 100 (best imaginable health). The instrument has been shown to have excellent psychometric properties and can be applied to a broad range of populations and settings (Feng et al., 2021). A study by Chen et al. (2016) of 65 stroke patients undergoing rehabilitation estimated the MCID of the EQ5D-5L and EQ-VAS as 0.10 and 8.61-10.82, respectively. The researchers also found that the EQ-index score was more responsive to change in HRQoL than the EQ-VAS (Chen et al., 2016). The EQ5D-5L and EQ-VAS was administered at baseline, 6-weeks, 3-months and 6-months.

3.2.1.5 Modified Rankin Scale

The Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) is a single item rating scale used to measure global disability post-stroke (Appendix 14) (Wilson et al., 2002, Dewilde et al., 2017). It is an ordinal scale ranging from 0 (no symptoms) to 6 (death) designed to categorise level of functional independence with reference to level of independence pre-stroke (Zeltzer, 2008). A score of 0-3 on the mRS indicates mild-moderate disability, and a score of 4-5 suggests severe disability (Zeltzer, 2008). It is the most widely used functional outcome measure in stroke trials (Dijkland et al., 2018, Broderick et al., 2017, Quinn et al., 2009, Nobels-Janssen et al., 2021). The mRS only takes around five minutes to complete and is a valid and reliable measure of post-stroke recovery (Saver, 2011). Studies have identified a single-point change on the mRS as clinically meaningful (Harrison et al., 2013, Askew et al., 2020). Smaller changes are likely to be clinically meaningful, so some studies introduced ordinal shift of mRS (Saver and Gornbein, 2009, Ganesh et al., 2020, Ganesh et al., 2018). However, our study applied the mRS and randomisation was stratified by baseline mRS scores. The mRS completed at baseline, 6-weeks, 3-months, and 6-months.

3.2.1.6 Barthel Index

The Barthel Index (BI) is a 10-item scale used to measure a subject's level of independence with activities of daily living (ADLs) (Harrison et al., 2013) (Appendix 15). The 10 items with a total score of 0-100 (5-point increments) include: feeding, bathing, grooming, dressing, bowel control, bladder control, toilet use, bed-chair transfer, walking on level surfaces and travelling up and down stairs (Sha et al., 2021). A higher score on the BI indicates greater independence (Harrison et al., 2013). The BI is the second most commonly used functional outcome measure in stroke trials after the mRS (Quinn et al., 2009, Quinn et al., 2011). It is a valid prognostic tool and a reliable predictor of recovery and the duration of rehabilitation required following stroke (Cohen and Marino, 2000, Duffy et al., 2013). Statistical modelling has suggested a BI score of 95/100 is the optimal descriptor of an excellent outcome in an acute stroke trial, while a score of 75/100 or lower is the best cut-off point for defining a poor trial outcome (Uyttenboogaart et al., 2005). The BI was completed at baseline and at the 6-week follow-up.

3.2.1.7 The Montreal Cognitive Assessment

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is a brief, 30-point cognitive screening tool sensitive in detecting cognitive impairment in acute stroke (Dong et al., 2010, Blackburn et al., 2013) and stroke rehabilitation (Pendlebury et al., 2010) (Appendix 16). It can be performed in <10 minutes and assesses several cognitive domains including: visuospatial skills, executive functions, short-term memory, attention, language, concentration, calculation and orientation (Chiti and Pantoni, 2014). It was originally designed to identify cognitive deterioration in dementia (Nasreddine et al., 2005), however it has since been proven to be a valid and clinically feasible cognitive screening tool in several illnesses, including stroke (Burton and Tyson, 2015). The optimal cut-off point for detecting mild or greater cognitive impairment in mild stroke patients is <25 points out of 30 (Jaywant et al., 2019). The MCID of the MOCA in stroke has been estimated to be between 1.22 and 2.15 points (Wu et al., 2019). The MoCA was completed at baseline and 6-week follow-up.

3.2.2 Six-minute walk test

The six-minute walk test (6MWT) is a common clinical instrument for assessing functional exercise capacity in patients with cardiopulmonary conditions (Miyamoto et al., 2000, Cahalin et al., 1996, Casanova et al., 2011), as well as patients with stroke (Kosak and Smith, 2005, Dunn et al., 2015). It is a safe and easy test in which the distance an individual can walk within 6-minutes is measured (Hamidzadeh and Zeltzer, 2011, Lipkin et al., 1986). It requires a stopwatch and a flat corridor at least 30-metres in length (Figure 6). Participants are advised to wear comfortable footwear and are encouraged to use their usual walking aid (e.g., stick, walker) and to set their own pace during the test (Crapo et al., 2002). The primary outcome measure of the 6MWT is distance walked, calculated by the clinician or researcher as the total number of lengths plus the excess distance walked measured with a measuring tape or trundle wheel (Salvi et al., 2020). The 6MWT is a valid and reliable measure of functional exercise capacity in stroke populations (Eng et al., 2004, Fulk et al., 2008, Patterson et al., 2007). A study by Fulk and He. (2018) estimated the MCID of the 6MWT is pople with stroke to be between 44 metres and 71 metres (Fulk and He, 2018). The 6MWT was completed at baseline and at 6-week follow-up.



Figure 6. Six-minute walk test. Figure created by author using Biorender (biorender.com).

For all study measures attempts were made to minimize variation in the order in which assessments were undertaken (questionnaire-based assessments completed before the 6MWT) as it was possible that this may affect performance in the assessments due to fatigue. Further, the time of day that assessments were completed e.g., morning or afternoon, were matched for baseline and 6 week follow up as much as feasibly possible.

3.3 Statistical analysis

All data was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 26 and GraphPad Prism (version 9). An exploration of any potential differences between the treatment and sham groups in relation to the patient reported outcome measures and 6MWT was completed using a one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). The participant's baseline score and mRS score were included as covariates for all outcome measures. As mentioned previously, randomisation was stratified by mRS. It was therefore necessary to account for baseline mRS scores in the trial analysis (Parzen et al., 1998, Kahan and Morris, 2012). Baseline scores of the measures were included to account for any random variation between the groups on the measure at the beginning of the study which may have continued to follow-up timepoints. For the analysis of the FSS-7, the participant's PHQ-9 score was included as an additional covariate. As discussed in chapter one, PSF and depression often co-exist (Wu et al., 2014). We controlled for baseline depression scores to allow greater accuracy in fatigue analysis. The ANCOVA model was also used to calculate the adjusted within group mean differences in outcome measures. All assumptions for ANCOVA were tested and satisfied before completion of the analysis. Outcome measures that did not meet these assumptions were reported accordingly (median and interquartile range, IQR) and analysed using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U Test to test for differences between the groups. As these analyses were exploratory, the findings for both tests were reported. The assumptions for ANCOVA include:

• *Normality* – assumptions of normality for all outcome measures were assessed visually using histograms and quantile-quantile plots (Q-Q plots). These were reviewed by 2 researchers and a third when clarity on distribution was not clear. Figure 7 shows an example of a histogram that shows normality and one that shows non-normality (negative skew).



Figure 7. Example of histograms showing data that is normally (A) and not normally (B) distributed.

- *Homogeneity of variances* the variance of the residuals must be equal for both groups of the independent variable (IV). This assumption was tested using Levene's test of equality of variances. This assumption was met if the p-value was >0.05.
- *Outliers* there must be no significant outliers in any group of the independent variable (IV).
- *Linearity* there must be a linear relationship between the covariate (e.g., FSS-7 score at baseline) and the dependant variable (DV) (e.g., FSS-7 score at 6-weeks), for each level of the IV (treatment, sham). To test this assumption, we created a grouped scatter plot and added a line of best fit for each group (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Example of a grouped scatter plot used to test whether there is a linear relationship between the covariate (baseline FSS-7) and dependent variable (FSS-7 at 3-months).

• *Homogeneity of regression slopes* – there must be no interaction between the covariates and the IV (treatment, sham). This assumption was tested graphically by inspecting the scatterplots obtained when testing the linearity assumption above. The assumption was met if the two regression lines (corresponding to the two groups) were parallel, i.e., similar in their slopes.

(Johnson, 1993, Elashoff, 1969)

The 95% confidence intervals (CI) of the adjusted mean differences and standardised effect sizes were calculated to evaluate any relationships present. Effect sizes from the ANCOVA analyses were calculated by converting partial Eta squared (η_p^2) to Cohen's *d* (Cohen, 1977). Partial Eta squared was converted to the more popular Cohen's d using the formula $d = 2\sqrt{\eta_p^2}/(1 - \eta_p^2)$ (Cohen, 1977). Cohen's d was also calculated from the Mann-Whitney U tests (Lenhard and Lenhard, 2016). These were calculated to provide a standardised metric for the effect shown which can be compared across measures and tests. A commonly used interpretation of Cohen d's effect size is to refer to the effect size as small (*d*≤0.2), medium (*d*=0.21-0.79) or large (*d*≥0.8) (Cohen, 1977). Pearson r correlation analysis was performed to explore correlations between outcome measures. Pearson r correlation varies between -1 (perfect negative correlation) and 1 (perfect positive correlation) (Liu et al.,

2019). A correlation of 0.1-0.3, 0.3-0.5 and 0.5-1.0 represent small, moderate and strong correlations respectively (Cohen, 1977).

Statistician input to the study was present throughout the development of the protocol all the way to analysis and write up. Analyses were planned prior to study commencement as part of the study protocol development. The original statistician inputting time into the study suggested non-parametric testing and assessments due to the anticipated low numbers of recruited participants that was expected. Due to factors outside of the control of the research team the statistician inputting into the study changed. Once we had the final number of participants recruited advice on using parametric and non-paramedic statistical tests depending on the normality of the data distribution was chosen under the supervision of a different statistician in the same department.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Exploratory analysis of patient completed outcome measures

Exploratory analysis was performed on the secondary patient completed outcome measures at 6-weeks, 3-months, and 6-months. All ANCOVA assumptions were tested before completion of the analysis. At 6-weeks, the PHQ-9 and GAD-7 sufficiently met the assumptions for parametric testing. However, the FSS-7 and mRS did not meet the assumption of homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test (P = .024 and P = .002 respectively) and the BI, EQ5D-5L, EQ-VAS and MOCA were not normally distributed. Outcome measures that were not normally distributed were also analysed using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test and scores are reported with medians and IQRs instead of means and SDs. As these analyses are exploratory, we reported the findings of the parametric and non-parametric tests alongside each other for completeness (see *Table 10*). The adjusted and unadjusted mean change in scores from baseline to 6-weeks are shown in Table 11. At 3-months, the FSS-7, PHQ-9 and EQ-VAS sufficiently met the assumptions for parametric testing, the results of which are in *Table 12*. However, the mRS, GAD-7 and EQ5D-5L were not normally distributed so were also analysed using a Mann Whitney U test (Table 12). The adjusted and unadjusted mean changes from baseline to 3 months are shown in Table 13. At 6-months, the FSS-7, PHQ-9 and EQ-VAS sufficiently met the assumptions for parametric testing and were analysed using an ANCOVA, while GAD-7, EQ5D-5L and mRS did not and underwent analysis using a Mann-Whitney U

test, *Table 14*. The adjusted and unadjusted mean change in scores from baseline to 6-months are reported in *Table 15*.

3.4.1.1 Fatigue

At 6-weeks, the median difference in FSS-7 score between the treatment and sham group was not statistically significant (median difference -1.29, P= 0.27) (*Table 10*). Scores for fatigue (FSS-7) appeared to improve in both groups over the course of the study (Figure 9). However, participants in the treatment group appeared to experience greater reductions in median FSS-7 scores at 6-weeks (-2.57, IQR 2.71) compared to sham (-1.00, IQR 2.02) (*Table 11*). These potential beneficial reductions in FSS-7 appeared to persist at 3-month (RIC adjusted change - 2.10, 95% CI -2.98 to -1.22 vs Sham -1.05, 95% CI -1.84 to - 0.26) (*Table 13*) and 6-month (RIC adjusted change -2.34, 95% CI -3.16 to -1.52 vs Sham -1.48, 95% CI -2.22 to - 0.74) follow-up (*Table 15*). Standardised treatment effect sizes at 6-week, 3 month and 6 month follow up were 0.51, 0.41 and 0.33 respectively (*Tables 10, 12, 14*). Differences in FSS-7 between groups at 3- and 6-month follow-up were also not statistically significant (*Tables 12 and 14*), however all appeared to be clinically relevant in magnitude when considering the MCID for FSS-7 (0.45 to 1.2) (Nordin et al., 2016, Rooney et al., 2019).



Figure 9. Change in fatigue scores (FSS-7) in the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks (a), 3-months (b) and 6-months (c).

3.4.1.2 Quality of life

Outcomes from the quality-of-life assessment were variable. Overall, there did not appear to be any consistent effects of treatment on EQ5D-5L utility scores, which generally deteriorated insignificantly (and at magnitudes that were insignificant) across all time points (*Tables 10-15*). On the contrary, EQ-VAS scores generally improved at all time points and across both groups, with the only real difference between groups appearing at 6 months follow up where the improvement in EQ-VAS amongst the RIC group appeared greater than the Sham group (adjusted improvement 10.68 95% CI -0.14 to 21.50 vs 3.08 95% CI -6.70 to 12.86 respectively). However, the between group difference at 6-months was not statistically significant (adjusted group difference 7.59 95% CI -7.06 to 22.25, P= 0.29) (*Table 14*).

3.4.1.3 Functional independence and activities of daily living

Of the 22 participants who completed the study, 17 (77.3%) were independent (mRS 0-2) and 5 (22.7%) were dependent (mRS 3-4) at baseline. At 6-week, 3-month and 6-month follow-up there did not appear to be any apparent meaningful differences in mRS or BI score between the two groups (*Tables 10-15*).

3.4.1.4 Mood

For mood, there does not appear to be a treatment effect i.e., no differences between the two groups either clinically from the adjusted differences or statistically (*Tables 10-15*). However, both measures for depression and anxiety (PHQ-9 and GAD-7) do appear to improve over the course of follow-up in both groups (*Tables 11, 13 and 15*). There appears to be a greater improvement in adjusted PHQ-9 scores in the sham group compared to the treatment group at 6-weeks (sham adjusted change -2.19, 95% CI -4.48 to 0.09 vs RIC adjusted change -1.81, 95% CI -4.09 to 0.48) and 3-months (sham adjusted change -4.86, 95% CI -7.23 to -2.49 vs RIC adjusted change -2.84, 95% CI -5.46 to -0.21), however this effect disappears at 6-months (RIC adjusted change -3.58, 95% CI -5.86 to -1.30 vs sham adjusted change -2.16, 95% CI -4.23 to -0.10) (*Tables 11, 13 and 15*). There were no real trends in change in GAD-7 between groups across time points (*Tables 11, 13 and 15*).

3.4.1.5 Cognition

For the MoCA at 6-weeks, there was a medium effect size from the non-parametric testing (effect size 0.51) (*Table 10*). However, the median difference between the treatment and sham group was not statistically significant (median difference 2.00, P= 0.28) (*Table 10*). When looking at the change in MoCA scores from baseline to 6-weeks, there was a slightly greater improvement in the treatment group, (1.00, IQR 1.50) compared to sham (0.00, IQR 3.00) (*Table 11*), however this difference appears neither clinically nor statistically important.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6-week follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6-week follow-up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference at 6 weeks between treatment and sham group (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
FSS-7	5.65	4.70	5.71	3.95	-0.71	0.27	0.15
	(0.67)	(1.22)	(0.95)	(1.86)	(-2.01 to 0.60)		
FSS_7							
(Median, IOR) *	5 71	4 86	6.00	3 57	-1 29 ¹	0.27	0.51
(,)	(0.86)	(2.43)	(1.57)	(2.71)		0.27	0.01
PHQ-9	9.91	7.45	8.09	6.55	0.39	0.81	0.02
	(5.74)	(6.04)	(4.68)	(3.75)	(-2.88 to 3.65)		
GAD-7	8.36	6.73	6.45	5.18	-0.42	0.70	0.06
	(7.50)	(5.55)	(6.59)	(4.02)	(-2.62 to 1.79)		
MRS	2.09	2.09	1.82	1.64	-0.19 (-0.45 to 0.08)	0.16	0.22
	(1.14)	(1.14)	(0.98)	(1.03)	,		
MRS	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.00	0.44	0.36
(Median, IQR) *	(2.00)	(2.00)	(1.00)	(1.00)			
EQ5D-5L	0.81	0.80	0.84	0.79	-0.05 (-0.14 to 0.04)	0.26	0.45
	(0.20)	(0.23)	(0.19)	(0.27)			
EQ5D-5L (Median; IQR)*	0.89 (0.11)	0.89 (0.09)	0.94 (0.30)	0.94 (0.34)	0.05^{1}	0.48	0.33
EQ-VAS	60.00	67.91	62.27	68.36	-2.09 (-15.23 to	0.74	0.02
	(18.84)	(16.80)	(19.54)	(20.43)	11.05)		
EQ-VAS (Median, IQR) *	70.00 (35.00)	75.00 (20.00)	70.00 (35.00)	75.00 (30.00)	0.00 ¹	0.70	0.18

Table 10. Analysis of within group and between group differences in patient completed outcome measures at 6-week follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA.

BI	87.73	88.64	93.64	93.64	-0.88 (-4.46 to 2.71)	0.61	0.03
	(24.73)	(23.57)	(13.62)	(16.29)			
BI (Median,	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	0.00^{1}	0.85	0.09
IQR) *	(10.00)	(10.00)	(5.00)	(5.00)			
	. ,	× ,	· · ·	· · ·			
MoCA	25.18	25.82	25.60	26.90	0.46 (-1.37 to 2.29)	0.60	0.03
	(3.74)	(4.51)	(4.45)	(4.18)			
	25.00	27.00	27.00	20.00	2.00^{1}	0.28	0.51
Marar	25.00	27.00	27.00	29.00	2.00	0.28	0.51
MoCA (Median,	(7.00)	(4.00)	(7.75)	(5.25)			
IQR) *							

RIC = Remote Ischaemic Conditioning; SD = Standard deviation; IQR = Interquartile range; FSS-7 = Fatigue Severity Scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7 = General Anxiety Disorder-7; MRS = Modified Rankin Scale; EQ5D = EuroQol-5 Dimension; EQ-5D VAS = EuroQol-5 Dimension Visual Analogue Scale; BI = Barthel Index; MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment. A One-way ANCOVA was conducted. *Mann-Whitney U- test was applied in comparisons. ¹Unadjusted median change included.

	Sham group	Sham group	RIC Group	RIC group
Outcome measure	Mean change from baseline to 6-weeks (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	Mean change from baseline to 6-weeks (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change (95% CI)
FSS-7	-0.95 (-1.61 to -0.29)	-1.00 (-1.90 to -0.11)	-1.77 (-2.80 to -0.73)	-1.71 (-2.61 to -
				0.81)
FSS-7 median				
change (IQR) [#]	-1.00 (2.02)	NA	-2.57 (2.71)	NA
PHQ-9	-2.45 (-5.46 to 0.56)	-2.19 (-4.48 to 0.09)	-1.55 (-3.38 to 0.29)	-1.81 (-4.09 to
				0.48)
GAD-7	-1.64 (-4.08 to 0.81)	-1.25 (-2.79 to 0.30)	-1.27 (3.68 to 1.13)	-1.66 (-3.21 to -
				0.12)
mRS	0.00 (0.00 to 00.00)	0.00 (-0.18 to 0.19)	-0.18 (-0.45 to 0.09)	-0.18 (-0.37 to
				0.00)
mRS (median				
change, IQR) [#]	0.00 (0.00)	NA	0.00 (0.00)	NA
EQ5D-5L	-0.02 (-0.07 to 0.03)	-0.01 (-0.08 to 0.05)	-0.06 (-0.14 to 0.03)	-0.06 (-0.13 to
				0.00)
EQ5D-5L				
(median change,				
IQR) [#]	0.00 (0.07)	NA	-0.04 (0.26)	NA
EQ-VAS	7.91 (-1.33 to 17.15)	8.05 (-1.21 to 17.30)	6.09 (-6.69 to 18.87)	5.96 (-3.30 to
				15.21)
EQ-VAS (median				
change, IQR)#				
	2.00 (20.00)	NA	0.00 (25.00)	NA
BI	1.00 (-1.26 to 3.26)	0.95 (-1.79 to 3.69)	0.00 (-3.00 to 3.00)	0.05 (-2.57 to
				2.66)
BI (median				
change, IQR) [#]	0.00 (0.00)	NA	0.00 (0.00)	NA
MoCA	0.64 (-1.07 to 2.34)	0.73 (-0.52 to 1.99)	1.30 (0.29 to 2.31)	1.19 (-0.12 to
				2.51)
MoCA (median				
change, IQR) [#]	0.00 (3.00)	NA	1.00 (1.50)	NA

Table 11. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in scores in the patient completed outcome measures from baseline to 6-weeks calculated using a one-way ANCOVA.

RIC = Remote Ischaemic Conditioning; FSS-7 = Fatigue Severity Scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7 = Generalised Anxiety Disorder-7; mRS = Modified Rankin Scale; EQ5D-5L = EuroQol-5 Dimension; EQ-VAS = EuroQol-5 Dimension Visual Analogue Scale; BI = Barthel Index; MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment. All outcome measures were adjusted for baseline score and mRS. FSS-7 was also adjusted for baseline PHQ-9 score as discussed in section 3.3 of methodology. [#]Median change included as they did not meet normality assumptions.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 3m follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 3m follow- up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
FSS-7	5.65 (0.67)	4.61 (1.28)	5.71 (0.95)	3.78 (1.35)	-1.05 (-2.26 to 0.16)	0.08	0.41
PHQ-9	9.91 (5.74)	4.91 (3.05)	8.09 (4.68)	6.56 (5.43)	2.02 (-1.53 to 5.57)	0.25	0.18
GAD-7	8.36 (7.50)	5.73 (5.14)	6.45 (6.59)	5.11 (4.48)	0.04 (-2.56 to 2.65)	0.97	0.00
GAD (Median, IQR) *	9.00 (15.00)	8.00 (9.00)	3.00 (10.00)	5.00 (5.50)	-3.00 ²	0.77	0.14
mRS	2.09 (1.14)	2.09 (1.14)	1.82 (0.98)	1.89 (1.05)	0.00 (0.00 to 0.00)	NA ³	0.00
mRS (Median, IQR)	2.00 (2.00)	2.00 (2.00)	2.00 (1.00)	2.00 (1.50)	NA	0.71	0.17
EQ5D-5L	0.81 (0.20)	0.77 (0.17)	0.84 (0.19)	0.78 (0.26)	0.01 (-0.11 to 0.13)	0.85	0.00
EQ5D-5L (Median, IQR) *	0.89 (0.11)	0.81 (0.34)	0.94 (0.30)	0.83 (0.44)	0.02^{2}	0.55	0.29
EQ-VAS	60.00 (18.84)	56.50 (18.11)	62.27 (19.54)	66.22 (22.33)	2.09 (-11.05 to 15.23)	0.74	0.13

Table 12. Analysis of within group and between group differences in patient completed outcome measures at 3-month follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA.

RIC=Remote ischaemic conditioning; FSS-7 = Fatigue Severity Scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7 = Generalised Anxiety Disorder-7; mRS = modified Rankin Scale; EQ5D-5L = EuroQol-5 Dimension; EQ-VAS = EuroQol-5-dimension Visual Analogue Scale. A One-way ANCOVA was conducted. *A Mann-Whitney U test was applied in comparisons. ²Unadjusted median change included. ³No P-value was available from the mRS ANCOVA. We believe this is due to lack of variability in the outcome measure.

	Sham group	Sham group	RIC Group	RIC group
Outcome measure	Mean change (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	Mean change (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change (95% CI)
FSS-7	-1.04 (-1.77 to -	-1.05 (-1.84 to -0.26)	-2.11 (-2.99 to -1.24)	-2.10 (-2.98 to -1.22)
	0.31)			
PHQ-9	-5.00 (-8.49 to -	-4.86 (-7.23 to -2.49)	-2.67 (-5.16 to -0.18)	-2.84 (-5.46 to -0.21)
	1.51)			
GAD-7	-2.64 (-5.92 to 0.64)	-2.57 (-4.31 to -0.83)	-2.44 (-4.97 to 0.08)	-2.53 (-4.45 to -0.60)
GAD7				
(median	-1.00 (6.00)	NA	-2.00 (5.50)	NA
change,				
IQR)#				
mRS	0.00 (0.00 to 0.00)	0.00 (0.00 to 0.00)	0.00(0.00 to 0.00)	0.00 (0.00 to 0.00)
hints	0.00 (0.00 10 0.00)			0.00 (0.00 to 0.00)
mRS				
(median	0.00 (0.00)	NA	0.00 (0.00)	NA
change.				
IOR)#				
EO5D-5L	-0.04 (-0.12 to 0.04)	-0.05 (-0.12 to 0.03)	-0.04 (-0.12 to 0.05)	-0.03 (-0.12 to 0.05)
C ¹	,	,	(,	(,
EO5D-5L				
(median	-0.02 (0.08)	NA	-0.08 (0.15)	NA
change.	(****)			
IOR)#				
EO-VAS	0.00 (-21.03 to	0.49 (-17.51 to 18.47)	2.33 (-17.02 to 21.69)	1.74 (-18.17 to 21, 65)
	21.03)			

Table 13. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in scores in the patient completed outcome measures from baseline to 3-months calculated using a one-way ANCOVA.

RIC = Remote Ischaemic Conditioning; FSS-7 = Fatigue Severity Scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7 = Generalised Anxiety Disorder-7; mRS = Modified Rankin Scale; EQ5D-5L = EuroQol-5 Dimension; EQ-VAS = EuroQol-5 Dimension Visual Analogue Scale. All outcome measures were adjusted for baseline score and mRS. FSS-7 was also adjusted for baseline PHQ-9 score as discussed in section 3.3 of methodology. [#]Median change included as they did not meet normality assumptions.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6m follow- up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6m follow- up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
FSS-7	5.65 (0.67)	4.23 (0.89)	5.71 (0.95)	3.48 (1.61)	-0.86 (-1.99 to 0.27)	0.12	0.33
PHQ-9	9.91 (5.74)	7.64 (4.63)	8.09 (4.68)	5.78 (4.47)	-1.42 (-4.50 to 1.67)	0.35	0.12
GAD-7	8.36 (7.50)	4.55 (4.12)	6.45 (6.59)	3.78 (4.44)	-0.46 (-3.93 to 3.02)	0.79	0.01
GAD-7 (Median, IQR) *	9.00 (15.00)	4.00 (9.00)	3.00 (10.00)	2.00 (3.50)	-2.004	0.82	0.12
mRS	2.09 (1.14)	2.27 (1.10)	1.82 (0.98)	1.67 (1.11)	-0.42 (-0.82 to -0.01)	0.05 ^{#5}	0.49
mRS (Median, IQR) *	2.00 (2.00)	2.00 (2.00)	2.00 (1.00)	1.00 (1.50)	-1.004	0.20	0.62
EQ5D-5L	0.81 (0.20)	0.77 (0.25)	0.84 (0.19)	0.82 (0.23)	0.04 (-0.09 to 0.17)	0.54	0.05
EQ5D-5L (Median, IQR) *	0.89 (0.11)	0.92 (0.38)	0.94 (0.30)	0.88 (0.38)	-0.04 ⁴	0.55	0.29
EQ-VAS	60.00 (18.84)	61.36 (21.80)	62.27 (19.54)	71.67 (15.41)	7.59 (-7.06 to 22.25)	0.29	0.15

Table 14. Analysis of within group and between group differences in patient completed outcome measures at 6-month follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA

* RIC = Remote Ischaemic Conditioning; FSS-7 = Fatigue Severity Scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7 = General Anxiety Disorder-7; MRS = Modified Rankin Scale; EQ5D-5L = EuroQol-5 Dimension; EQ-VAS = EuroQol-5 Dimension Visual Analogue Scale.

A One-way ANCOVA was conducted. *Mann-Whitney U- test was applied in comparisons. #Significant at the 0.05 significance level. ⁴Unadjusted median change included. ⁵Even though this looks significant it is not normally distributed so we have taken the non-parametric analysis as the true value i.e., not statistically different.

	Sham group	Sham group	RIC Group	RIC group	
Outcome measure	Mean change (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	Mean change (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	
FSS-7	-1.42 (-2.04 to -	-1.48 (-2.22 to -0.74)	-2.41 (-3.40 to -1.43)	-2.34 (-3.16 to -1.52)	
	0.79)				
PHQ-9	-2.27 (-5.04 to	-2.16 (-4.23 to -0.10)	-3.44 (-5.41 to -1.48)	-3.58 (-5.86 to -1.30)	
	0.50)				
GAD-7	-3.82 (-7.15 to -	-3.60 (-5.92 to -1.27)	-3.78 (-8.90 to 1.35)	-4.05 (-6.62 to -1.48)	
	0.49)				
GAD-7					
(median,	-2.00 (9.00)	NA	-1.00 (9.00)	NA	
IQR)#					
mRS	0.18 (-0.09 to 0.45)	0.19 (-0.06 to 0.44)	-0.13 (-0.42 to 0.17)	-0.13 (-0.43 to 0.16)	
mRS					
median					
change	0.00 (0.00)	NA	0.00 (0.00)	NA	
(IQR)					
EQ5D-5L	-0.04 (-0.15 to	-0.04 (-0.13 to 0.05)	0.00 (-0.06 to 0.07)	-0.00 (-0.10 to 0.10)	
	0.06)				
EQ5D-5L					
median					
change	0.00 (0.09)	NA	-0.01 (0.08)	NA	
(IQR)					
EQ-VAS	1.36 (-18.05 to	3.08 (-6.70 to 12.86)	12.78 (2.23 to 23.32)	10.68 (-0.14 to 21.50)	
	20.78)				

Table 15. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in scores in the patient completed outcome measures from baseline to 6-months calculating using a one-way ANCOVA

* RIC = Remote Ischaemic Conditioning; FSS-7 = Fatigue Severity Scale-7; PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7 = Generalised Anxiety Disorder-7; mRS = Modified Rankin Scale; EQ5D-5L = EuroQol-5 Dimension; EQ-VAS = EuroQol-5 Dimension Visual Analogue Scale.

3.4.2 Exploratory analysis of the six-minute walk test

Out of the 22 participants who completed the 6-week intervention 19 participants (86.4%) (10 treatment, 9 sham) completed the 6MWT at baseline and at 6-week follow-up. The 6MWT data sufficiently met assumptions for analysis using ANCOVA. For the 6MWT at 6-weeks, there appears to be a small to medium beneficial effect size (effect size 0.42) in favour of the RIC group albeit this is not statistically significant (*Table 16*, Figure 10). The adjusted parametric analysis suggested a between group difference of 43.81 m (95% CI = -5.96 to 93.57, P= 0.08) (*Table 16*). Pearson r correlation analysis shows fatigue severity (FSS-7) is negatively correlated with distance walked during the 6MWT at baseline (R = -0.23, P= 0.32) and at 6-weeks (R = -0.22, P = 0.37) but this was not statistically significant (Figure 11).



Figure 10. Change in distance walked during the 6MWT (metres) in the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks.

Table 16. Analysis of within group and between group differences in 6MWT at 6-week follow-up using one-way ANCOVA

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6w follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6-w follow-up	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
6MWT (meters)	300.65 (177.45)	290.41 (171.28)	348.46 (142.75)	375.48 (139.48)	43.81 (-5.96 to 93.57)	0.08	0.42

A One-way ANCOVA was conducted.

Table 17. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in 6MWT scores from baseline to 6weeks calculated using a one-way ANCOVA.

	Sham group	Sham group	RIC group	RIC group			
Outcome	Mean change (95%	Adjusted mean change	Mean change (95% CI)	Adjusted mean change			
measure	CI)	(95% CI)		(95% CI)			
6MWT (meters)	-13.10 (-62.70 to	-15.04 (-50.95 to 20.86)	27.02 (-0.18 to 54.21)	28.76 (-5.28 to 62.80)			
	36.50)						
6MWT - Six-minute walk test RIC - remote ischaemic conditioning							

6MWT = Six-minute walk test, RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning.



Figure 11. Simple scatter of FSS-7 score by distance walked on the 6MWT at baseline (a) and 6-week follow-up (b)

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Fatigue

The data suggests an improvement in fatigue across all timepoints following the 6-week intervention. This improvement appears to be meaningful as it is of a similar magnitude to the MCID reported in previous studies (Nordin et al., 2016, Rooney et al., 2019, Pouchot et al., 2008). However, one needs to recognise that these effect signals are not statistically powered and thus one cannot say for certain that RIC results in improvements in FSS. Despite this, at first glance, the improvement in fatigue scores does not appear to be due to bias because of unbalanced changes in mRS or BI, or because of changes in mood since there was no apparent or statistically significant difference in these scores between the two groups at any timepoint. The improvement in FSS-7 scores does seem to mirror improvements in walking distances and speed evidenced in the changes in 6MWT at 6-weeks. One may have expected that differences in baseline function (mRS) to account for differences in walking distance and speed at follow up however the median mRS at baseline in both groups appeared similar (2.0) and the final changes in 6MWT between both groups also adjusted for differences in baseline mRS individually.

Interestingly and importantly improvements in fatigue scores appeared to persist beyond termination of the intervention when measured at 3 months and 6 months follow-up. This suggests that if RIC is causing biological changes to tissues, blood flow, immune function or metabolism, it may doing so by 'switching on' mechanisms that lead to biological effects beyond the triggering response (the RIC itself). Such effects may hypothetically be those such as switching on particular genes that encode cellular responses to mitochondria or immune cells, or for example altering the metabolic activity of the mitochondria that last for the lifespan of the mitochondria (mitochondrial DNA and protein half-life is approximately 8-30 days depending on the cell type e.g., skeletal muscle cells, epithelial cells, neurons) (Kowald et al., 2014, Henriksson and Reitman, 2022, Hickson and Rosenkoetter, 1981, Korr et al., 1998).

Measuring changes to gene profiles (metabolic and immune), markers of mitochondrial function and immune function alongside our clinical measures would help investigate these hypotheses. Alternatively, it may provide a short-lived change to physical fatigue and function that then makes it easier for patients with PSF to then increase physical activity. Measuring step counts or measures of other measures of physical activity would help understand if there

was an upward inflection of such markers immediately after the RIC intervention ended that persisted at follow up. We attempted to undertake such measures in this study but found the practicalities of such measures difficult to perform reliably. Persistent improvements in fatigue at 3 and 6 months did not appear to be due to disproportionate improvements in mood or cognition. In fact, the magnitude of fatigue improvement appeared to increase at 3 months follow-up despite a trend towards better depression scores in the sham group.

The FSS is a sensitive tool for detecting changes in fatigue. A study by Valko et al. (2008) sought to validate the FSS by administering the questionnaire 454 healthy subjects and to people diagnosed with disorders commonly associated with fatigue such as MS (n=188), stroke (n=235) and sleep disorders (n=429). They found the FSS had high internal consistency (Cronbach $\alpha = 0.93$) and high test-retest reliability. The authors also highlighted how healthy subjects scored significantly lower than patients (*P*<0.01). From this, Valko et al. (2008) concluded that the FSS can effectively differentiate healthy individuals from patients and is therefore a sensitive measure of fatigue. Taking this point further, Flachenecker et al. (2002) found significant differences between FSS scores of MS patients with and without fatigue (*P*<0.0001), demonstrating its effectiveness in discriminating between people with and without fatigue. However, scores may be influenced by external factors (e.g., pain, social stressors) and the participant's opinion on what the words mean and their ability to understand the questions and to follow instructions (Finsterer and Mahjoub, 2014, Lenaert et al., 2018, Gawron, 2016).

3.5.2 Six-minute walk test

The 6MWT is a valid measure of walking capacity and balance in stroke (Kosak and Smith, 2005, Dunn et al., 2015, Regan et al., 2020, Fulk et al., 2008). Our data suggests an improvement in distance walked during the 6MWT in the treatment group compared to the sham, in the realm of that considered clinically meaningful, reflected by improved walking distances in the treatment group but a reduction in the sham at 6-weeks. A minimum improvement of 44 meters is considered MCID in stroke (Fulk and He, 2018), in MS it ranges from 9.1 and 21.6 meters (Chotiyarnwong et al., 2020) and in adults with pathology (e.g., chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, lung cancer) it ranges between 14.0 and 30.5 meters

(Bohannon and Crouch, 2017) which suggests the between group difference of 43.81 meters in our study (*Table 16*) could be clinically meaningful. The MCID for 6MWT in stroke patients may depend on baseline gait speed. If gait speed in patients is >0.40 m/s then the MCID is 71m (Fulk and He, 2018, Cheng et al., 2020). In the study on the effect of RIC on walking distances in people with MS baseline gait speed was ~0.8m/s (Chotiyarnwong et al., 2020), thus the change may be just below that thought to be clinically meaningful. Indeed, the finding itself is still interesting and encouraging to see and it fits with the changes in fatigue. As previously mentioned, due to space limitations the 6MWT was sometimes administered on a 9m corridor. This may have negatively impacted distance covered during the test and underestimated the change in distance between the treatment and sham arms (Ng et al., 2011), however shorter walkway distances are more feasible to implement than the 30-m walkway in research and hospital settings (Cheng et al., 2020). Also, we made sure the lengths participants walked were the same at baseline and at follow-up, so it was the 'change' that really mattered.

Fatigue scores were inversely correlated with walking distances. It may be that improvements in 6MWT were due to slightly higher functional levels in the RIC group compared to sham, however there were no differences in baseline median mRS between the two. The improvements in the 6MWT at 6-weeks may well be due to changes in fatigue scores, mediated by mechanisms such as improved blood flow (Jeffries et al., 2018a, Meng et al., 2012, Andreas et al., 2011b), reduced inflammation (Meng et al., 2015a, Konstantinov et al., 2004), or improved mitochondrial energy metabolism (Slagsvold et al., 2014), observed after RIC. Further, qualitative feedback from participants in the treatment group (discussed in chapter 6) included improved sleep, improved concentration, and reduced breathlessness after the RIC treatment. These factors may have contributed to the improvement in distance walked in the 6MWT. As mentioned previously, a study in people with MS found significant improvements in distance walked after a single episode of RIC (Chotiyarnwong et al., 2020). Participants randomized to a single cycle of RIC exhibited greater improvements in 6MWT compared to sham (13.5m vs 6.6m respectively). In our study, the difference within the two groups in our study is much greater (RIC group 28.76m vs sham -15.04m) (Table 17). This may be due to repeated RIC treatments. However, it may also be due to methodological limitations in our study limiting the performance in the sham group. Standardisation of the 6MWT protocol was not always possible due to COVID-19 restrictions and researcher availability, and participant convenience, thus meaning the test was not always completed at the same times of the day and at the same location which may introduce some bias and variation. Skeletal muscle circadian
rhythms, blood pressure, body temperature, energy metabolism, hormone levels, mood, and motivation all vary depending on the time of day and affect physical activity performance (Mirizio et al., 2020, Postolache et al., 2020). Several studies have reported that physical activity performance peaks in the early afternoon as a result of synchronization between metabolic, physiological and psychological rhythms (Bellastella et al., 2019, Sabzevari Rad et al., 2020, Ayala et al., 2021). This should be considered in future studies.

3.5.3 Functional independence and activities of daily living

There did not appear to be any meaningful changes in functional score, either measured with the mRS or BI between groups at any timepoint. This is not particularly surprising. While on the one hand improvements in fatigue may theoretically encourage improvements in functional activities, the mRS is a blunt instrument that in its simplest form may not be sensitive enough to detect subtle changes to people's activities. The change in one's function would need to be of significant magnitude for a change of score to be detected. The BI concentrates on the assistance one needs with differing daily activities. Most of the participants in this study were largely independent at baseline, thus improvements in fatigue were unlikely to alter scores based on this i.e. it has a ceiling effect (Sarker et al., 2012), the phenomenon by which a score does not change from maximum despite clinical change (Schepers et al., 2006b). Both scores do not capture well any changes in cognitive resilience or social activity participation that one may expect could improve with lower levels of fatigue. Another validated measure of ADLs in the stroke population is the Nottingham Extended ADL (NEADL) scale (Gladman et al., 1993). The NEADL includes questions about 21 activities within four categories including mobility, kitchen activities, domestic activities and leisure activities (Gladman et al., 1993). Unlike the BI which simply asks participants what they have the capability to do, the NEADL asks participants what they have actually done in the last few weeks (Harrison et al., 2013). It is a responsive scale of ADLs in the stroke population (Wu et al., 2011a), and is less susceptible to ceiling effects (Sarker et al., 2012). The NEADL may be a more appropriate test of ADLs in future trials.

3.5.4 Mood

There were no apparent meaningful differences in mood scores (for depression nor anxiety) between the two groups at either time point of the study. Overall, small improvements in

depression and anxiety symptom scores occurred in both groups, below levels that are considered clinically meaningful (Toussaint et al., 2020, Lowe et al., 2004). One reason for the slight improvement in mood could be participation in the study itself. Many individuals experience social isolation and loneliness after stroke (Yang et al., 2021, Liu et al., 2021). Indeed, one theme that emerged from the qualitative interviews was that participants enjoyed the social aspect of the study (e.g., talking with the researchers). Emotional disturbances such as depression and anxiety are common after stroke and negatively influence functional outcomes and QoL (Kim, 2016). However, for many stroke survivors' depression symptoms improve over time (Towfighi et al., 2017, Duncan et al., 2005). A study by Zhang et al. (2012) examined the incidence of post-stroke depression (diagnosed according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders) at different time points within 1-year post-stroke. The incidence of post-stroke depression was highest in the acute phase and at 3-months (8.4% and 11.3%, respectively), but reduced to 5.2% at 1-year (Zhang et al., 2012). Therefore, the improvement in mood could be the result of the natural time course of depression and anxiety post-stroke.

3.5.5 Cognition

Cognitive screening with the MoCA did not demonstrate any evident treatment effect on cognition at 6-weeks. While scores in the RIC group were marginally better than the sham group the effect size was small, and it was not statistically significant. Cerebral small vessel disease (CSVD) is the most common, progressive vascular disease that affects small veins, arterioles and capillaries supplying the white matter and deep brain structures (Chojdak-Łukasiewicz et al., 2021). It is responsible for 15-25% of all ischaemic strokes (Petty et al., 2000) and is a leading cause of vascular cognitive impairment (VCI) after stroke (Zanon Zotin et al., 2021). Studies have examined the protective effect of RIC in patients with CSVD and have shown promising results (Mi et al., 2016). A study by Wang et al. (2017) examined the effects of chronic bilateral upper limb RIC (5 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) twice daily for 1-year in patients with cerebral SVD and mild cognitive impairment (MCI). Compared to baseline, there was a significant reduction in the volume of white matter hyperintensities (WMH) (characteristic of pathological alterations in cerebral small vessels) in the RIC group at 1-year (9.10 \pm 7.42 versus 6.46 \pm 6.05 cm³; P=0.020) measured using brain MRI. However, there was no significant difference in WMH volume in the sham group (8.99±6.81 versus 8.07 ± 6.56 cm³; P=0.085). When the two groups were compared, the volume of WMH change in the RIC group was significantly reduced compared to sham at 1-year (-2.632 versus -0.935 cm³; *P*=0.049). Cognitive function was assessed using the Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE) and MoCA. Although no significant difference in the overall scores on these cognitive tests were observed, significant improvements on visuospatial and executive function favouring the RIC group were reported after individual item analysis (mean change = 0.639 for the RIC group and 0.191 for the sham group (intervention-placebo difference: 0.449 points; 95% confidence interval, 0.036–0.933; P=0.048) (Wang et al., 2017). These findings demonstrate how long-term repeated RIC may benefit patients with cerebral SVD by reducing the volume of WMH and slowing cognitive decline. A study of 86 patients presenting with first ever AIS by Xiaofang et al. (2019) investigated the effects of upper limb RIC (5 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) for 6-months on cognitive impairment. Compared to controls (standard treatment), patients in the RIC group had significantly higher MoCA scores compared to controls (25.02 \pm 1.97 vs 23.82 \pm 2.61, P=0.018) at 6-months. Further analysis revealed significantly higher scores on the "attention" domain in the RIC group compared to controls $(5.31 \pm 0.91 \text{ vs } 4.62 \pm 0.41, P = 0.031)$, as well as the "visuospatial and executive functioning' domain (4.23 \pm 0.73 vs 3.63 \pm 1.01, P= 0.023). These findings were coupled with improvements in CBF (measured using transcranial doppler at the MCA) and endothelial function (indicated by reduced ICAM-1 and endothelin-1, ET-1 in serum) in the RIC group compared to controls (Xiaofang et al., 2019). We did not see much difference in MoCA scores between the two groups in this study. This may be because the time period between the baseline and follow-up MOCA test was too short (6-weeks), or the dose and duration of RIC was not sufficient to see changes in cognitive function. If RIC had influenced the cognitive domain of fatigue, then we may have anticipated that attention and concentration may have improved (Boksem et al., 2005, Faber et al., 2012, Johansson and Rönnbäck, 2012). Therefore, a more in-depth investigation of these aspects of fatigue may be warranted. It may be that the MoCA is not sensitive enough to detect changes in attention. An alternative test that looks at attention tasks (e.g., auditory or visual reaction time task) may be better (De Doncker et al., 2021a, Cumming et al., 2012).

3.5.6 Quality of life

One may hypothesise improvements in QoL if levels of fatigue and walking distance improve with RIC, however no obvious and consistent between group differences in EQ-5D-5L scores were observed in this study. While EQ5D-5L scores trended in a deteriorating manner, the VAS appeared to improve in both groups. It may be that the EQ5D-5L is not a sensitive enough

tool to observe improvements in fatigue. Problems with pain and anxiety/depression carry the greatest weight on the EQ-5D-5L questionnaire (Devlin et al., 2017) which may have clouded any improvements in fatigue. Deteriorations in this score were not of a magnitude that was clinically meaningful (Chen et al., 2016). Another popular self- QoL measure is the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) (Ware and Gandek, 1998). The SF-36 includes 8 domains of global health status including: (1) physical functioning, (2) physical role limitations, (3) pain, (4) general health, (5) <u>energy/vitality</u>, (6) social functioning, (7) emotional problems, and (8) mental health (Lins and Carvalho, 2016). The SF-36 is a valid and reliable HRQoL tool that has been tested in a variety of populations including stroke (Hobart et al., 2002, Anderson et al., 1996, Cameron et al., 2021). A study by Unalan et al. (2008) administered the SF-36 to 70 stroke patients six months post-stroke to examine the effect of stroke on QoL. In this study, the researchers found that general health and vitality were the most common domains on the SF-36 that deteriorated QoL (Unalan et al., 2008). These findings suggest the SF-36 could be a more sensitive tool for measuring QoL in stroke patients with PSF in future studies.

3.5.7 Potential mechanisms of effect

A potential mechanism driving the reduction in fatigue is preserved mitochondrial respiration, reduced ROS production, and reduced ATP depletion in the brain (Lv et al., 2020), heart (An et al., 2017, Leung et al., 2014) and skeletal muscle (Addison et al., 2003) observed after RIC. As discussed in Chapter one, a postulated mechanism underlying the development of fatigue after stroke is physical deconditioning (i.e., physical and/or cognitive decline in function) due to inactivity (Billinger et al., 2014). Skeletal muscle deconditioning after stroke is associated with increased muscle weakness, reduced muscle mass (atrophy), hypertrophy of slow-twitch muscle fibres, and atrophy of fast-twitch muscle fibres (section 1.3.2.2 Chapter 1) (English et al., 2010, Sions et al., 2012). Individuals may also experience profound cardiovascular deconditioning after stroke (reduced cardiac output, exercise intolerance) (Ivey et al., 2005), associated with loss of muscle strength and reduced peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2peak}) (Macko et al., 2005, Pang et al., 2005b). Inactivity and ageing are associated with a decline in mitochondrial content (e.g., succinate dehydrogenase enzyme) and reduced muscle oxidative capacity in all types of skeletal muscle fibres (St-Jean-Pelletier et al., 2017, Marzetti et al., 2013). The number and volume density of mitochondria in skeletal muscle are important to sustain steady-level muscle work (Chance et al., 1985). A study by Distefano et al. (2018) of 39 healthy volunteers (young active, older active, older sedentary) found lower ATP synthesis

capacity in the older sedentary group (measured using ³¹Phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy) following muscle contraction (isometric contractions of the quadriceps) and concluded this was likely due to reduced electron transport system (ETS) respiratory capacity (assessed ex vivo in muscle biopsy specimens) (Distefano et al., 2018). These findings suggest that reduced physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness after stroke (i.e., physical deconditioning) are likely associated with reductions in mitochondrial energetics in skeletal muscle (St-Jean-Pelletier et al., 2017), which may contribute to the development of PSF. However, studies have demonstrated how RIC can protect skeletal muscle mitochondrial function (Mansour et al., 2012). Using an experimental mouse model, Mansour et al. (2012) found that hind limb RIC (3 x 10 min ischaemia separated by 10 min-reperfusion) followed by 3 hours of ischaemia by aortic cross-clamping, protected rat skeletal muscle (gastrocnemius muscle) mitochondrial function by restoring mitochondrial maximal oxidative capacity (e.g., by improving mitochondrial respiratory chain function and reducing the proapoptotic Bax gene) after I/R injury (Mansour et al., 2012). This likely enhanced skeletal muscle ATP production, potentially explaining the beneficial effects of RIC on exercise performance (Lisbôa et al., 2017, Jean-St-Michel et al., 2011), including muscle force (Patterson et al., 2015, Hyngstrom et al., 2018) and endurance (Tanaka et al., 2016, Kido et al., 2015). These findings suggest inhibition of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway plays a key role in enhanced muscle survival and function after RIC (Hatoko et al., 2002, Gao et al., 2017). This has also been demonstrated in the brain (Lv et al., 2020). Using a mouse model of MCA occlusion, Lv et al. (2020) found that bilateral RIC (3 x 3 min cycles of ischaemia separated by 5-min reperfusion) performed using aneurysm clips to occlude the femoral arteries, exerted significant neuroprotective effects. These effects included reduced neurological impairment after cerebral I/R injury (measured using the modified neurological severity score, mNSS), increased glucose metabolism, reduced infarct size (measured using PET/CT), suppressed apoptosis and reduced nuclear translocation of apoptosis-inducing factor (AIS) and endonuclease G (EndoG) (mitochondrial enzyme involved in apoptosis) from mitochondria, and improved mitochondrial-derived vesicle (MDV) formation. As mentioned in Chapter one, a clinical study by Slagsvold et al. (2014) found that a single dose of upper limb RIC (3 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) before undergoing CABG surgery preserved mitochondrial respiration. These findings suggest that RIC may help improve some of the effects of physical deconditioning on mitochondria after stroke and improve fatigue.

Another potential mechanism driving the reduction in fatigue is the effect of RIC on the vasculature (Nyquist and Georgakis, 2019, Maxwell et al., 2019). Single doses of RIC have been shown to protect conduit vessels (large arteries that transport blood to the systemic circulation, e.g., brachial and radial artery) from endothelial I/R injury in healthy volunteers (Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005, Kharbanda et al., 2001) and clinical populations (Manchurov et al., 2020). Clinical studies have also looked at the effects of repeated RIC on endothelial function and have shown promising results (Jones et al., 2014, Luca et al., 2013). For example, Jones et al. (2014) looked at the effect of repeated unilateral upper limb RIC (4 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 220 mmHg) for 7 days on brachial artery endothelial function (measured using flow-mediated dilation, FMD) in 13 healthy male volunteers. In this study, FMD (measured at baseline, post-RIC [day8] and 8 days after treatment [day 15]) significantly increased (the brachial artery vasodilated) after repeated RIC and remained significantly elevated 8 days post-intervention in the preconditioned arm (5.0 \pm 2.2%, 6.1 \pm 2.2% and 6.6 \pm 2.3%) and contralateral arm (i.e., control arm) (5.4 \pm 2.2%, 6.0 \pm 2.2.% and 7.5 \pm 2.2%, P= 0.03). In this study, the investigators also assessed bilateral forearm microcirculation (cutaneous vascular conductance, CVC) and found that CVC significantly increased (indicative of improved skin microcirculation) by 0.03±0.03 mV/mm Hg during the 7-day RIC treatment period (P=0.001) (Jones et al., 2014). Increased levels of endothelial progenitor cells (key players in regeneration of endothelial lining and maintenance of vascular integrity) observed after ischaemic conditioning (Kimura et al., 2007) may facilitate increased endothelial function after RIC. Several experimental and clinical studies have demonstrated increased blood flow to the central (Meng et al., 2012, Kitagawa et al., 2018, Khan et al., 2018, Qin et al., 2020) and peripheral (Andreas et al., 2011b, Jeffries et al., 2018a) nervous system after RIC. This is likely mediated by improved endothelial function and vasoactive active substances (NO, adenosine) released into the circulation in response to the conditioning stimulus (Rassaf et al., 2014). Adequate supply of blood to skeletal muscles is essential as it provides oxygen and nutrients required for aerobic ATP synthesis and muscle contraction (Wan et al., 2017). It is also important for the removal of lactate (fatigue-inducing metabolite) from the blood and active muscles and is associated with improved perception of recovery (reduced pain/discomfort) after exercise (Sañudo et al., 2020). Physical deconditioning after stroke is associated with diminished peripheral blood flow dynamics (Ivey et al., 2005), with significantly greater reductions in blood flow and tissue mass observed in the stroke affected limb (Ivey et al., 2004). Low blood flow and muscle oxygenation leads to a reduction in muscle force (i.e., muscle fatigue), decreased coordination, increased perceived exertion (perceived effort of a task) and

altered EMG signals (Rashedi and Nussbaum, 2015). Blood flow is also important for fatigue recovery after exercise (Martin et al., 2006). A study by Broxterman et al. (2015) examined the effect of blood flow occlusion (blood pressure cuff inflated ≥275 mmHg) during hand grip exercises in six healthy male subjects and demonstrated quicker physical and neuromuscular (EMG) markers of fatigue in conditions of reduced limb perfusion. These findings demonstrate how reductions in oxygen delivery during and after exercise play a key role in the development of central and peripheral fatigue. As mentioned in previous chapters, Meng et al. (2012) found significantly improved CBF (measured using SPECT) after bilateral upper limb RIC (5 x 5 min cycles) for 300 days in stroke patients with intracranial arterial stenosis. Furthermore, Jeffries et al. (2018a) found significantly improved local muscle oxidative capacity (measured using near-infrared spectroscopy placed on the gastrocnemius medialis muscle) and microcirculation (assessed during recovery from submaximal isometric plantar flexion exercises at 40 and 60% of MVC) after bilateral lower limb RIC (4 x 5 min cuff inflation to 220 mmHg) compared to sham (cuff inflated to 20 mmHg). In their study, Jeffries et al. (2018a) found that after 7 consecutive days of RIC, resting muscle oxygen consumption (mVO₂) reduced by 16.4% (indicating reduced oxygen demand at rest) (pre $0.39 \pm 0.16\%$ s⁻¹ vs. post $0.33 \pm 0.14\%$ s⁻¹; P <0.05). After 72 hours (late phase of protection), mVO_2 recovery rate was increased by 13% (rate constant pre 2.89 \pm 0.47 min⁻¹ vs. post 3.32 \pm 0.69 min⁻¹; P < 0.05) with no change in the sham group. The findings demonstrate how repeated episodes of RIC enhance microvascular muscle blood flow and reoxygenation in the muscle after exercise. These findings are in line with enhanced vascular and mitochondrial function after repeated RIC (Jones et al., 2014, Kimura et al., 2007, Epps et al., 2016).

Inflammation has been linked to fatigue in various clinical populations. For example, a study of 15 MS patients by Heesen et al. (2006) found significantly higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF α : 478.9 v 228.2 pg/ml, *P*= 0.01) in MS patients with fatigue (measured using the fatigue severity scale). A cross-sectional study of 70 chronic stroke patients by Gyawali et al. (2020) explored the relationship between PSF (measured using the fatigue assessment scale, FAS) and the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and C-reactive protein (CRP). The investigators found a significant relationship between the level of fatigue reported on the FAS and serum levels of IL-6 and CRP (measured using ELISA assay kits). Although this relationship was no longer statistically significant once cardiovascular covariables were introduced into a linear regression model (Gyawali et al., 2020). Improvements in fatigue observed in our study may be caused by downregulation of systemic inflammatory processes

and enhanced antioxidant activity observed after RIC (Pearce et al., 2021). Experimental studies of RIC have shown how RIC is associated with reduced inflammatory cell infiltration (macrophages, neutrophils) and oxidative stress in the context of myocardial infarction (Wei et al., 2011), and stroke (Wei et al., 2012, Meng et al., 2015a). The downregulation of proinflammatory gene expression has also been shown in human leukocytes after RIC (Konstantinov et al., 2004) (section 1.8.4 Chapter 1).

3.6 Limitations

Although this study provides a potential simple, non-invasive intervention to improve fatigue symptoms after stroke, the study has several limitations. Firstly, the study was a single-center pilot study which was not powered to detect significant differences in fatigue between the RIC and sham group. Secondly, most of the stroke survivors recruited were largely independent with daily activities, thus the generalizability to those more impaired following strokes is questionable. Although every effort was made to ensure participants were not aware of treatment allocation, it is possible that some of the control participants guessed that they were in the sham group, introducing bias from poor blinding. We did not ask participants whether they thought they were in the treatment or sham group which is something we should consider in future larger trials. When participants were asked what they expected the treatment to be like during their qualitative interview (discussed in chapter 6) they said they expected it feel like getting a blood pressure check. Therefore, they could have compared the two feelings. They could have also done their own research about the treatment. For example, one participant in the home-RIC group expressed disappointment when they were told to inflate the cuff to 20 mmHg, suggesting they had done their own research before the trial started. However, previous studies have found that most participants do not know they are in the control group despite the low cuff inflation pressures (Vanezis et al., 2018). For example, England et al. (2019) found that 56 out of 60 participants (93%) did not know whether they were in the treatment or sham group. However, despite this, we attempted to counteract this by using a second assessor blinded to treatment allocation as much as feasibly possible and included outcome measures that would be difficult for participants to control e.g., cardiopulmonary exercise testing and ³¹P-MRS (discussed in following chapters).

The study may suffer from 'small-study effects' which is a term for the phenomenon that smaller studies often report larger treatment effects than larger studies (Schwab et al., 2021).

Some reasons why smaller studies have larger effect sizes include: confirmation bias, selection bias in treatment groups, reporting bias, outcome switching, clinical heterogeneity between participants and chance (Schwarzer, 2015, Schwab et al., 2021). Although every effort was made to avoid these issues, due to the covid-19 pandemic we chose not to approach people who were elderly and clinically vulnerable. Participants in our sample were therefore younger, fitter and more independent. We were also unable to blind the researcher who delivered the RIC intervention, potentially introducing bias. The same researcher also completed some of the follow-up assessments at 6 weeks, 3 months and 6 months due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions.

It is difficult to know for certain how effectively the home-RIC group completed RIC. For example, we may have underestimated the effect if the cuff was not inflated tight enough. There is also the chance that participants in the home-sham group read about the treatment and decided to do it properly, which again would dampen down any treatment effects. However, this was not borne out of the qualitive interviews which is reassuring.

Outcome measures that aimed to measure physical activity (activity watches, GPAQ) were not practical thus we lack data on how this treatment may impact day to day levels of activity. Finally, follow-up data beyond 6-months is yet unavailable but will be collected and presented later.

3.7 Conclusion and future directions

RIC appears to help reduce fatigue and improve walking distances in people with stroke. However, the study is small and exploratory. Outcome measure for a larger trial could be made optimal by, for example, using NEADL for assessment of ADLs and SF-36 to measure QoL. Determination of sample size and characteristics for a definitive multi-centre study is required. An evaluation of potential mechanisms of effect is also needed as this will help to consolidate the creditability of the intervention itself, as well as help identify useful biomarkers of effect and potentially improve patient selection as well as enhance our understanding of the treatment in people with PSF.

CHAPTER 4. CARDIOPULMONARY EXERCISE TESTING (CPET) IN POST-STROKE FATIGUE AND THE EFFECTS OF REMOTE ISCHAEMIC CONDITIONING ON CPET MEASURES

4.1. Introduction

The aim of this chapter was to explore whether PSF severity is related to cardiopulmonary function by objectively measuring peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2peak}), ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂) slope during a symptom-limited graded maximal exercise test – *cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET)*. We also wanted to explore whether RIC affected these measures and potentially reveal clues as to potential mechanisms underlying any effect of RIC on PSF.

We discussed in previous chapters how physical deconditioning and reduced CRF (Billinger et al., 2012a, Lewis et al., 2011), and skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction (Klinedinst et al., 2019) may contribute to the development of PSF. We also briefly mentioned how CRF is usually assessed by measuring a person's oxygen consumption at peak exercise (VO_{2peak}) (van de Port et al., 2015). Factors associated with lower VO_{2peak} in stroke include hypertension, low level of physical activity, increasing age, female sex, smoking and being overweight (Boss et al., 2017). Consequences of low CRF include reduced ability to perform ADLs (e.g., walking, dressing, bathing), loss of independence, activity intolerance, *fatigue*, and reduced mood and QoL (Gordon et al., 2004, McCain et al., 2019, Saunders et al., 2020). Low CRF is also associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Kennedy et al., 2018), stroke (Kurl et al., 2003, Prestgaard et al., 2018), and mortality (Blair et al., 1995, Clausen et al., 2018, Mandsager et al., 2018). Pathophysiological mechanisms of insufficient exercise and low CRF include reduced insulin sensitivity in muscle (Alibegovic et al., 2009), endothelial dysfunction (Bowden Davies et al., 2021), muscle atrophy (Trappe et al., 2007), reduced skeletal muscle mitochondrial function and oxidative capacity (Kenny et al., 2017).

As discussed in previous chapters, studies have demonstrated the beneficial effects of RIC on exercise performance including muscle strength and endurance (De Oliveira Cruz et al., 2015, Cheng et al., 2021, De Groot et al., 2009). The exact mechanisms are not fully understood but may involve the same factors that protect organs from I/R injury (e.g., improved organ

perfusion, reduced inflammation, reduced mitochondrial dysfunction) (Slagsvold et al., 2014, Meng et al., 2012, Jeffries et al., 2018a, Konstantinov et al., 2004).

Barbosa et al. (2015a) found that a single dose of bilateral lower limb RIC (3 x 5 min cycles of cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) reduced the slowing of contraction and relaxation (i.e., delayed fatigue onset) and increased time to task failure during a handgrip exercise in healthy volunteers. In this study the investigators found that RIC increased forearm deoxygenation (measured using near-infrared spectroscopy, NIRS) during peak exercise. This was also demonstrated in a study of eleven divers by Kjeld et al. (2014) who found that forearm RIC (4 x 5 min episodes of cuff inflation 40 mmHg above SBP) reduced forearm oxygen saturation (measured using NIRS) from 65% \pm 7% to 19% \pm 7% (mean \pm SD; P < 0.001). They also found that RIC improved a static breath hold by $\sim 17\%$ and increased the distance covered during underwater swimming by ~8% (Kjeld et al., 2014). These findings suggest RIC can increase oxygen extraction from the muscle during peak exercise or ischaemia and can prepare the body for physical activity (DeLorey et al., 2003). Kido et al. (2015) compared deoxygenation of the vastus lateralis muscle (measured using NIRS) at equal timepoints during submaximal cycling exercise in 15 healthy male subjects and found that RIC (3 x 5 min bilateral leg occlusion at >300 mmHg) speeds up deoxygenation at the onset of exercise, so alters the kinetics rather than the magnitude of deoxygenation (Kido et al., 2015). Accelerated oxygen extraction may result from mitochondrial activation in skeletal muscle after RIC. Thus, delayed fatigue development in the study by Barbosa et al. (2015a) could be a result of improved metabolic efficiency and may involve humoral factors described in chapter one (*Table 3*) (Shimizu et al., 2009, Steensrud et al., 2010, Mubagwa et al., 1996a, Hess et al., 2015).

It may also be related to the influence of RIC on cardiorespiratory parameters. For example, De Oliveira Cruz et al. (2015) found that bilateral lower limb RIC (4 x 5 min cuff inflation to 220 mmHg) resulted in a 2.9% increase in VO_{2peak} during an incremental cycling test in trained cyclists compared to controls (cuff only inflated to 20 mmHg). It is believed this was achieved through an increase amplitude of the slow component of VO_2 kinetics driven by additional motor unit recruitment towards the end of the exercise test (De Oliveira Cruz et al., 2015).

Numerous other studies have demonstrated how RIC improves oxygen uptake kinetics and VO_{2peak} in healthy volunteers and athletes (Wiggins et al., 2018, Paradis-Deschênes et al., 2020, De Groot et al., 2009, Lindsay et al., 2017b). RIC has also been shown to improve ventilatory

anaerobic thresholds, the threshold from which respiration and energy production switches from aerobic to anaerobic pathways (Mezzani, 2017c, Wasserman and McIlroy, 1964). Indeed, improvement in the participant's anaerobic capacity, defined as the maximal amount of ATP resynthesized via anaerobic metabolism during short-duration maximal intensity exercise (Green and Dawson, 1993), and reduced lactate accumulation (Bailey et al., 2012), have been suggested as potential mechanisms underlying the effects of RIC on sports performance (Crisafulli et al., 2011). However, some studies have found no benefits on anaerobic performance after RIC and have suggested RIC may have greater benefit on aerobic performance (e.g., VO_{2peak}) (Lalonde and Curnier, 2015). Other aerobic capacity variables include respiratory exchange ratio (RER), ventilation and heart rate (HR) (Taylor et al., 2015) which will be discussed in following sections.

4.1.1 Measuring CRF in stroke

Measuring CRF in people with stroke can be challenging due to muscle weakness, spasticity, deficits in balance and gait, and fatigue (Michael et al., 2005, Balaban and Tok, 2014, MacKay-Lyons and Makrides, 2002). The current method of measuring CRF in the stroke population is cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) which involves a graded maximal exercise test on a recumbent stepper, treadmill, or cycle ergometer (Macko et al., 2001, Billinger et al., 2008, Stoller et al., 2014, van de Port et al., 2015, Wittink et al., 2017). CPET is a physiological investigation that provides a global assessment of cardiovascular, metabolic and ventilatory responses to exercise (Taylor et al., 2015). It is a powerful diagnostic and prognostic tool that offers clinicians and researchers a wealth of information beyond that obtainable from field walking tests commonly used to evaluate exercise capacity, such as the 6MWT or incremental shuttle walk test (ISWT) (Holland et al., 2014). CPET joins ventilatory flow measurements and respired gas analysis (oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide production) to routine physiological and performance parameters measured during incremental exercise testing (e.g., work rate, heart rate, blood pressure) (Mezzani, 2017b). CPET generates information (e.g., VO_{2peak}, VAT) that is useful for the assessment of disease severity, functional capacity and all-cause mortality (Stevens et al., 2018). CPET to measure CRF has been utilized in several studies in people with acute (Chen et al., 2010, Tang et al., 2006) and chronic (Billinger et al., 2012b) stroke. However, the studies are heterogenous in terms of protocols used (bicycle, treadmill), stroke severity, and duration and are therefore difficult to compare (Smith et al., 2012, van de Port et al., 2015). CPET is most commonly conducted on a cycle ergometer and is a safe test, even in populations with underlying high-risk cardiac diagnoses; including

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), heart failure, pulmonary hypertension, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and aortic stenosis (Skalski et al., 2012). CPET using bicycle ergometry is also safe in people early after stroke (Yates et al., 2004, Johnson et al., 2020), and can be used to determine risk of CVD and to prescribe exercise programmes in stroke rehabilitation (Mustafa and Aytür, 2021).

A few studies have looked at the association between PSF and VO_{2peak} (Michael et al., 2006, Tseng et al., 2010, Duncan et al., 2012) however none have reported any significant associations. Given what we know about physical deconditioning after stroke we cannot rule out the possibility of an association between CRF and PSF (Billinger et al., 2014, Lewis et al., 2011, De Doncker et al., 2018). One study of stroke inpatients on a subacute rehabilitation ward looked at the association between PSF severity (FSS) and several cardiorespiratory variables including VO_{2peak} (measured at peak exercise) and VO₂ at the ventilatory threshold, respiratory exchange ratio (RER) and oxygen uptake efficiency slope (OUES) (Oyake et al., 2021). The investigators found no significant associations between FSS score and these cardiorespiratory variables but did however find that fatigue severity was significantly correlated with longer time constant VO₂ (oxygen consumption) at the onset of a submaximal exercise test (rho = 0.530; P = 0.009). These findings suggest PSF severity is associated with delayed increases in VO₂ at the onset of exercise, but not with VO₂ at peak exercise. It may be that PSF is associated with other measures of CRF such as VAT or VE/VCO₂ slope that is independent of exercise intensity and patient effort (Belardinelli et al., 1995, Mezzani et al., 2009) and may be a more appropriate measure of CRF in individuals with reduced exercise capacity such as people with stroke (Boyne et al., 2017a). There is lack of data on the association between PSF and ventilatory efficiency (VE/VCO2 slope) or VAT, so we wanted to explore this. CPET measures may also help explain any effect that RIC has on PSF.

4.2 Aims and objectives

 To undertake CPET using a bicycle ergometer in patients with debilitating PSF to measure cardiorespiratory parameters including peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2Peak}), ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT), minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂) slope, and respiratory exchange ratio (RER).

- 2. To assess whether PSF severity is associated with CPET parameters.
- 3. Investigate whether the effects of RIC can be explained in part by changes in CPET parameters.

4.3 Hypotheses

- 1. PSF severity is associated with VO_{2peak}, VAT, VE/VCO₂ slope and RER.
- 2. RIC increases VO_{2Peak} and VAT, and lowers VE/VCO2 and RER, changes that reflect improved CRF.

4.4 Methodology

4.4.1 Design

To investigate these hypotheses CPET was undertaken at baseline and at 6-weeks following the RIC/sham intervention. CPET-derived variables include: peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2Peak}) , ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT), minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂) slope, and respiratory exchange ratio (RER) (Chambers and Wisely, 2019).

4.4.2 CPET outcome measures

4.4.2.1 Peak oxygen consumption

Peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2Peak}) is a metabolic rate defined as the highest oxygen uptake (VO₂) attained on an incremental exercise test. It reflects the body's maximal capacity to generate energy through aerobic metabolism and is normally reported in absolute terms (litres/min) or indexed to body mass (ml/kg/min) (Nichols et al., 2015, Levett et al., 2018). VO_{2Peak} may not be the maximum VO₂ achievable for that individual (VO_{2max}), however VO_{2max} is usually only achieved by young, physically fit individuals (Chambers and Wisely, 2019). Elderly individuals who are physically deconditioned and/or have comorbidities such as arthritis rarely reach their maximum, therefore $\underline{VO_{2Peak}}$ is a more appropriate measure of exercise capacity in clinical populations (Chambers and Wisely, 2019). During incremental exercise, VO₂ increases linearly in proportion to work rate (Chambers and Wisely, 2019). A

persons VO_{2Peak} is considered 'abnormally low' if it is <75% of their predicted VO_{2max} (Nichols et al., 2015). It is important to evaluate whether a participant has given maximal effort during a test (discussed below), as low VO_{2Peak} may be due to poor participant effort (Nichols et al., 2015). A cardiovascular limitation caused by reduced cardiac output, arterial oxygen content or muscle oxygen extraction may also explain why a subject has an abnormally low VO_{2Peak} (Nichols et al., 2015). Other factors that may influence VO_{2Peak} include age, sex, disease severity, muscle mass, deconditioning, test familiarity and protocol design (Nichols et al., 2015, Balady et al., 2010a). A mean VO_{2Peak} of 14.6 mL/kg/min has been reported in reviews of CRF in stroke (Boyne et al., 2017b). VO_{2peak} in people with stroke is 26-87% of that of healthy age-and gender-matched individuals (Smith et al., 2012). The MCID in VO_{2peak} has been reported to be between +2.0 and 2.5 ml/kg/min in patients with stroke (Brazzelli et al., 2011, Marsden et al., 2013) and heart failure (Edelmann et al., 2011, Mueller et al., 2021).

4.4.2.2 Ventilatory anaerobic threshold

During incremental exercise, VO₂ and expired carbon dioxide (VCO₂) increase linearly until oxidative metabolism can no longer sustain the required workload (Nichols et al., 2015). At this point, anaerobic metabolism is activated leading to an increase in blood lactate concentration and progressive metabolic acidosis (Mezzani, 2017a). During an incremental exercise test the ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) is defined as the VO₂ above which pulmonary ventilation (VE) increases disproportionately relative to increase in VO₂ and lactate first begins to increase systematically (Wasserman and McIlroy, 1964). The VAT is also known as the 'lactate threshold' (Ghosh, 2004, Walsh and Banister, 1988) and is a useful measure of submaximal, sustainable exercise capacity and is reported in ml/kg/min (Levett et al., 2018). Lactic acid is buffered by intra- and extracellular bicarbonate, generating further CO₂ that is ventilated to maintain PH balance (Nichols et al., 2015, Levett et al., 2018). VCO₂ response (Figure 12) (Levett et al., 2018, Nichols et al., 2015).



Figure 12. Volume of oxygen uptake (VO₂) as a function of exhaled carbon dioxide (VCO₂) during an incremental exercise test. The point in time where VCO₂ increases disproportionally compared to VO₂ is the ventilatory anaerobic threshold. This has been identified using the V-slope method (red lines).

This inflection point has been labelled VAT (also known as VT1) and it occurs in most healthy subjects and patients between 40-60% of VO_{2Peak} (Wasserman, 2012). A ventilatory anaerobic threshold <40% of VO_{2Peak} is commonly observed in people with cardiac disease or those with significant physical deconditioning (Mezzani et al., 2009). The most widely used method of determining the ventilatory anaerobic threshold is the V-slope method (Beaver et al., 2016, Wasserman, 2012) which is achieved by plotting VO₂ as a function of VCO₂ (Nichols et al., 2015) (Figure 12). It requires visual determination and is therefore a subjective measurement which should be assessed in a blinded manner (Nishijima et al., 2019). It involves drawing a line of best fit through the plots from the beginning of exercise to the point at which the linear relationship between VCO₂ and VO₂ is lost. A second line of best fit is then drawn from the end of the exercise test through to the deflection point (Nichols et al., 2015). The point at which these two lines cross is the ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) (Nichols et al., 2015).

4.4.2.3 VE/VCO₂ slope

The minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂) slope is an index of ventilatory efficiency and quantifies the ventilatory rate required to eliminate 1 litre of CO₂ (Nichols et al., 2015, Levett et al., 2018). The threshold for a normal VE/VCO₂ relationship is <30, without

adjustment for age and sex (Balady et al., 2010a). The VE/VCO₂ slope will steepen when excess ventilation caused by hyperactive peripheral chemoreceptors or increased ratio of physiological dead space over tidal volume (V_D/V_T) (i.e., wasted ventilation) causes the partial pressure of arterial carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) to drop (Mezzani, 2017a, Nichols et al., 2015). Another postulated mechanism of increased VE/VCO₂ is skeletal muscle ergoflex overactivation in patients with chronic heart failure (Kaczmarek et al., 2004, Wensel et al., 2004). Other postulated mechanisms of increased VE/VCO₂ slope (i.e., reduced ventilatory efficiency) include pulmonary vasoconstriction, reduced oxidative metabolism and increased anaerobic glycolysis (Prado et al., 2016). A higher-than-normal VE/VCO₂ slope is commonly observed in patients with respiratory or cardiac disease, and increasing values associated with progression of disease severity and age (Wasserman, 2012, Shen et al., 2015, Sullivan et al., 1988, Johnson and Robert, 2000). For example, VE/VCO₂ values >60 can be seen in patients with advanced pulmonary hypertension (Arena et al., 2010). Derivation of the VE/VCO₂ slope appears to be uninfluenced by exercise type (Maeder et al., 2008) or aggressiveness of the CPET protocol (Agostoni et al., 2005), and the relationship demonstrates high test-retest reliability (Barron et al., 2014, Bensimhon et al., 2008). Exercise training (Guazzi et al., 2004), cardiac resynchronisation therapy (Malfatto et al., 2005), and heart transplantation (Carter et al., 2006), are all treatments that have been shown to effectively lower VE/VCO₂ slope.

4.4.2.4 Respiratory exchange ratio

Respiratory exchange ratio (RER) is the ratio between VCO₂ and VO₂ (CO₂ production/O₂ uptake) (Mezzani, 2017a). As discussed, during increasing exercise intensity bicarbonate buffering of lactic acid results in increased CO₂ production, which increases the RER numerator at a faster rate than the denominator (Mezzani, 2017a). Therefore, a RER higher than 1.00 is indicative of significant anaerobic glycolysis above VT1 and implies significant exercise-induced body stress (Mezzani, 2017a). However, a peak RER lower than 1.00 reflects submaximal cardiovascular effort (Mezzani, 2017a). A peak RER > 1.10 along with a peak HR within 10 beats min ⁻¹ can be used to support the assessment of VO2_{peak} in the absence of a plateau in the VO₂ response (Howley et al., 1995). This physiological response to exercise is consistent across healthy individuals and clinical populations, making peak RER an objective measure of maximal effort attainment in cardiopulmonary exercise testing. It helps researchers obtain a reliable and clinically meaningful assessment of an individual's peak aerobic capacity.

4.4.2.5 Work rate

CPET usually evaluates CRF by means of a personalised ramp exercise protocol (Agostoni et al., 2005). Ramp protocols using a cycle ergometer start the participant on zero or low resistance and increase the work rate (WR) evenly every minute (Myers and Bellin, 2000). In clinical settings, a popular ramp protocol is 10-watts per min (10-w/min) which increases the WR by 1 watt (w) every 6 seconds (Albouaini et al., 2007, Mezzani, 2017b). Ramp protocols can be individualised depending on the sample population, patient capabilities and purpose of the test (Myers and Bellin, 2000). Ramp protocol workloads should be calculated on the subject's estimated exercise capacity, in order to elicit volitional exhaustion (participant's expressed inability to continue exercising) within 8-12 min (regardless of baseline fitness level) (Fletcher et al., 2013).

4.4.2.6 The Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion

The Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) (Appendix 18) is a scale used to quantify the subjective feeling of exercise intensity and fatigue during an exercise test (Noble, 1982, Borg, 1982). It measures an individual's self-rated physical exertion with scores ranging from 6 (no exertion) to 20 (maximum exertion) (Compagnat et al., 2018). The Borg RPE provides a measure of how hard someone feels their body is working during exercise based on the physical sensations that the person experiences, such as sweating, increased heart rate, increased breathing rate and muscle fatigue (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). People with stroke can accurately rate the RPE scale, regardless of the severity of their motor impairments (Hampton et al., 2014, Sage et al., 2013, Wallace et al., 2010). It is well-studied in both healthy subjects and cardiac patients and correlates with an individual's heart rate and VO₂, therefore is a reliable indicator of how hard someone is working (Whaley et al., 1997b). An RPE >17 is suggestive of maximal exercise and values >15 to 16 suggest that the first ventilatory anaerobic threshold has been surpassed (Balady et al., 2010a).

4.4.3 CPET protocol

Participants were advised to attend the specialised exercise laboratory (Collegiate Hall, Sheffield Hallam University) in a euhydrated state, having not taken part in strenuous exercise within the previous 24 hours. Participants were also asked to avoid caffeine and alcohol on the day of testing. The exercise lab room temperature was identical at baseline and follow-up (20-22°C). Any contraindications to maximal exercise testing were established using the guidelines of Taylor, Nichols and Ingle et al (2015) before referral of the participant (Table 18). Absence of any contraindications for exercise testing were reconfirmed at the CPET appointment by the test administrator (lab technician), by querying the past medical history, and any current symptoms with the participant. Medication history was taken to identify drugs that may interfere with the exercise response (e.g., Beta blockers) (Myers et al., 2009). The researcher measured the participant's height and weight, and their resting blood pressure was measured using an automated blood pressure machine (OMRON M2). Resting arterial oxygen saturation (SPO₂) and resting heart rate (HR) was measured using an SPO₂ oxygen saturation monitor. The lab technician input the participant's gender, age, weight and height into the CPET computer software package (MetaSoft® Studio). Based on this information the software calculated predicted normal values for that individual (Chambers et al. 2019). The researcher then compared the predicted values with work achieved at the end of the test. It allows the researcher to know if the participant achieved a maximal effort. To collect respiratory data a facemask (Hans Rudolph 7450 V2 series reusable mask) was attached around the participant's mouth and nose and secured with V2 headgear and strap locking clips (see Figure 13). The mask includes a valve and a system of tubing which feeds breath-by-breath data to a metabolic gas analyser (Cortex Metalyser 3B). Due to the nature of CPET including increased levels of ventilation it was classed as high-risk for infection and cross contamination during the covid-19 pandemic (Association for respiratory technology and physiology, 2022). Strict guidelines and risk assessments were followed to ensure participant safety and to enable recruitment to continue (Appendix 17). CPET consists of four main stages: rest phase (3 min), unloaded exercise (3 min), ramp phase (8-10 min), and recovery (~5 min) (Glaab and Taube, 2022).

Absolute contraindication	Relative contraindication
Acute myocardial infarction (3–5 Days)	Left main coronary stenosis or its equivalent
	Moderate stenotic valvular heart disease
Unstable Angina	Severe untreated arterial hypertension at rest (>200 mm Hg systolic, >120 mm Hg diastolic)
Uncontrolled arrhythmias causing symptoms or haemodynamic compromise	Uncontrolled arrhythmias causing symptoms or haemodynamic compromise
Syncope	Tachyarrhythmias or bradyarrhythmias
Active endocarditis	High-degree atrioventricular block
Acute myocarditis or pericarditis	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy
Symptomatic severe aortic stenosis	Significant pulmonary hypertension
Uncontrolled heart failure	Advanced or complicated pregnancy
Acute pulmonary embolus or pulmonary infarction	Electrolyte abnormalities
Thrombosis of lower extremities	Orthopaedic impairment that compromises exercise performance
Suspected dissecting aneurysm	
Uncontrolled asthma	
Pulmonary oedema	
Ambient desaturation at rest <85%	
Respiratory failure	
Acute non-cardiopulmonary disorder that may affect exercise performance or be aggravated by exercise	
Mental impairment leading to inability to cooperate	
Source: Taylor et al. (2015)	

Table 18. Absolute and relative contraindications for cardiopulmonary exercise testing



Figure 13. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing using the cycle ergometer. Picture taken by the author of this thesis. Permission obtained from the participant to use this image.

Rest phase

Before the participant was asked to begin cycling there was a 3-minute rest phase. Resting breath-by-breath metabolic gas-exchange data was collected whilst the participant was seated on a static exercise bike. The participant's heart rate was continuously monitored throughout the CPET using a Polar Heart rate monitor (chest strap).

Unloaded exercise

The unloaded exercise phase involved 3 minutes of resistance-free pedalling. This was to allow participants, particularly those who were functionally limited, to familiarise themselves with pedalling (Levett et al., 2018). It also allowed the participant's HR, BP, VO₂, VCO₂, and VE to stabilise before the ramp phase (Levett et al., 2018). The participant was encouraged to adopt a comfortable pedalling cadence, between 55 and 65 revolutions per minute (rpm).

Ramp phase

The participant progresses into the ramp phase without receiving any cues from the researcher. The workload increased at 10 w per minute until the participant reached volitional exhaustion or until they experienced any of the following symptoms:

- Palpitations
- Dizziness or faintness
- Symptoms of myocardial ischaemia
- Sudden pallor
- Mental confusion
- Signs of respiratory failure
- Loss of coordination

(American Thoracic society, 2003)

The test was also stopped if the participant was unable to maintain the cadence or if the research technician noticed there was a plateau of O_2 uptake despite increases in workload. Regardless of baseline fitness level, the aim of the ramp protocol is to elicit volitional exhaustion after 8-12 minutes (Taylor et al., 2015). Breath-by-breath expired gases were monitored continuously and VO₂ were averaged over 15 seconds. VO_{2peak} was calculated from the highest consecutive 15-second period of expired gas fractions (Martin-Rincon and Calbet, 2020, Schwaiblmair et

al., 2012, Maxwell et al., 2021). A RPE on the 6-20 Borg scale (Appendix 18) was recorded at each minute throughout the test, and at the end of peak exercise capacity. Every minute the scale was held in front of the participant, and they were asked to point to the number they felt best reflected the way they were feeling. If participants were unable to do this, the researcher pointed at the numbers and asked participants to nod when they were happy.

Recovery

Participants were asked to conduct a cool down on the bike until they felt recovered (~5 mins). The load was removed and the participant was encouraged to pedal to prevent venous pooling in the legs (Levett et al., 2018). Participants were monitored and were not permitted to leave the testing facility until their BP and HR had returned to near baseline values. The study visit was approximately 1-hour. The CPET was considered a peak test if the participant achieved two of the following criteria outlined in *Table 19*. (Nichols et al., 2015).

Table 19. Criteria for maximal effort during cardiopulmonary exercise testing.

Maxin	nal effort criteria
٠	A plateau in VO ₂ (or failure to increase by 150 mLmin ⁻¹) with increased workload.

- Failure of HR to increase with further increases in exercise intensity (achieving ≥85% of age-predicted maximal HR is an indicator of patient effort).
- RER (VCO₂/VO₂) at peak exercise >1.10
- An RPE >17 on the 6–20 scale.

*VO_{2 =} oxygen consumption; HR = heart rate; RER = respiratory exchange ratio; RPE = rate of perceived exertion.

4.4.4 Statistical analysis

All data was analyzed using SPSS Statistics version 26 and GraphPad Prism (version 9). Pearson r correlation analysis was performed to explore correlations between CPET parameters and fatigue severity (FSS-7) and 6MWT. An exploration of any potential differences between the treatment and sham groups in relation to the CPET outcomes was completed using a one-way ANCOVA. Like with the patient completed clinical outcome measures (see section 3.3 *Statistical analysis*), the participant's baseline scores and mRS were included as co-variates for all CPET outcome measures. The same ANCOVA model was used to calculate the adjusted within group mean change in outcome measures using the same covariates as above. All assumptions for ANCOVA (see section 3.1.2.2 *Statistical analysis*) were tested and satisfied before completion of the analysis. CPET outcome measures that did not meet these assumptions were also analysed using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U Test and reported accordingly (median and IQR). As these analyses were exploratory, the findings for both tests were reported for completeness. The 95% confidence intervals (CI) of the adjusted mean differences and standardised effect sizes were calculated to evaluate any relationships present. Details of how effect sizes were calculated are provided in section 3.3 *Statistical analysis*.

4.5 Results

In total, out of the 22 participants who completed the 6-week RIC/sham intervention, 17 participants (77.3%) (9 treatment, 8 sham) completed cardiopulmonary exercise testing at baseline and at 6-week follow-up. Demographic and clinical characteristics are summarised in *Table 20*. Some participants were unable to complete a baseline or follow-up CPET (or both) due to stroke-related impairments (spasticity, weakness) (n=2) which meant they were unable to get on the bike, illness on the day of testing (breathlessness, cough) (n=2), and protocol amendments which restricted access to research sites (n=1).

Characteristic	All	Treatment	Sham
n	17	9	8
Age, years (mean; SD)	60.3 (10.8)	57.8 (9.8)	63.1 (11.7)
Sex	12 M: 5 F	6 M: 3 F	6 M: 2 F
Height, cm (mean; SD)	173.7 (7.5)	174.6 (7.4)	172.6 (7.9)
Weight, kg (mean; SD)			
Pre-intervention	88.3 (19.7)	90.9 (23.2)	85.3 (16.1)
Post-intervention	88.3 (18.9)	91.5 (21.4)	85.2 (16.9)
BMI (mean; SD)			
Pre-intervention	29.6 (8.3)	30.2 (9.6)	28.9 (7.1)
Post-intervention	29.7 (8.0)	30.4 (9.0)	28.9 (7.5)

Table 20. Participant characteristics of participants who completed cardiopulmonary exercise testing.

Exploratory analysis was performed on the CPET outcome measures at 6-weeks. All ANCOVA assumptions were tested before completion of the analysis. At 6-weeks, all CPET outcome measures except peak RPE sufficiently met the assumptions for parametric testing. Peak RPE data was also analysed using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test and scores are reported with medians and IQRs instead of means and SDs. As these analyses are exploratory, we reported the findings of the parametric and non-parametric test alongside each other for completeness.

4.5.1 VO_{2Peak}

Pearson's correlation demonstrated a strong significant positive correlation between VO_{2peak} and 6MWT (R=0.66, P=0.01) and a small but statistically insignificant negative correlation between VO_{2peak} and FSS-7 (R=-0.28, P=0.28) (Figures 14 and 15). The adjusted mean difference in VO_{2peak} between the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks was not statistically significant (-0.24 95% CI -4.05 to 3.58, P= 0.90) (*Table 21*). VO_{2peak} seemed to improve slightly in both groups at 6-weeks (RIC adjusted change 0.48 ml/kg/min CI -2.11 to 3.07 vs

sham 0.71 ml/kg/min -2.04 to 3.46) with no effect of RIC over sham (*Table 22*, Figure 16). The overall small improvements in VO_{2peak} were not of a magnitude that is considered clinically meaningful (Brazzelli et al., 2011, Marsden et al., 2013).



Figure 14. Relationship between VO_{2peak} and distance walked during the six-minute walk test (6MWT) at baseline.



Figure 15. Relationship between VO_{2peak} and fatigue severity (FSS-7) at baseline.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6-week follow-up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
VO _{2Peak} (ml/kg/mi n)	21.44 (8.05)	21.88 (8.97)	22.16 (5.79)	22.88 (6.92)	-0.24 (-4.05 to 3.58)	0.90	0.06

Table 21. Analysis of within group and between group differences in VO_{2Peak} at 6-week follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA.

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; VO_{2Peak} = peak oxygen consumption.

Table 22. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in VO_{2Peak} from baseline to 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham group	Sham group	RIC group	RIC group
	Mean change	Adjusted mean	Mean change (95%	Adjusted mean
	(95% CI)	change (95% CI)	CI)	change (95% CI)
VO _{2Peak} (ml/kg/min)	0.44 (-1.97 to 2.85)	0.71 (-2.04 to 3.46)	0.72 (-2.38 to 3.83)	0.48 (-2.11 to 3.07)

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; VO_{2Peak} = peak oxygen consumption.



Figure 16. Percentage change in peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2peak}) in the treatment (red) and sham (blue) group at 6-weeks.

4.5.2 VAT and Time to VAT

In a similar manner to VO_{2peak}, VAT was also positively correlated with 6MWT albeit less strongly (moderate strength) than VO_{2peak} (R= 0.26, *P*=0.32) (Figure 17) and negatively correlated with FSS-7 (R= -0.23, *P*= 0.39) (Figure 18). At 6 weeks, the adjusted between group difference in VAT between the two groups was not statistically significant (-0.14 mL/O₂/kg⁻¹min⁻¹, 95% CI -2.31 to 2.02, *P*= 0.89) (*Table 23*). The VAT increased in the RIC group (0.21 mL/O2/Kg/min, 95% CI -1.36 to 1.79) while it fell in the sham group (-0.08, 95% CI -1.75 to 1.59) (*Table 24*, Figure 19). The time taken to reach the VAT increased in both groups by 26.08 and 35.91 seconds in the RIC and sham groups respectively (Table 24). However, the adjusted between group difference in time to VAT at 6-weeks was not statistically significant (-19.08 seconds, 95% CI -141.93 to 103.77, *P*= 0.74) (*Table 23*).



Figure 17. Relationship between ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and distance walked during the six-minute walk test at baseline.



Figure 18. Relationship between ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and fatigue severity (FSS-7) at baseline.

Table 23. Analysis of within group and between group differences in ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and time to VAT at 6-week follow-up using a one-way ANCOVA.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
VAT (mL/O ₂ /k g ⁻¹ min ⁻¹)	10.53 (2.23)	10.29 (1.96)	10.27 (1.23)	10.26 (2.61)	-0.14 (-2.31 to 2.02)	0.89	0.09
Time to VAT (sec)	170.38 (103.02)	192.63 (124.52)	176.67 (93.47)	182.22 (100.10)	-19.08 (-141.93 to 103.77)	0.74	0.19
*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; VAT = ventilatory anaerobic threshold.							

Table 24. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) and time to VAT from baseline to 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham group Mean change (95% CI)	Sham group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)			
VAT	-0.24 (-2.19 to	-0.08 (-1.75 to	0.36 (-1.15 to	0.21 (-1.36 to 1.79)			
(mL/O ₂ /kg ⁻¹ min ⁻ ¹)	1.71)	1.59)	1.86)				
Time to VAT (s)	34.50 (-69.67	35.91 (-62.34 to	27.33 (-83.02 to	26.08 (-66.43 to			
	138.67)	134.15)	137.69)	118.60)			
*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; VAT = ventilatory anaerobic threshold.							



Figure 19. Percentage change in ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) in the treatment (red) and sham (blue) group at 6-weeks.

4.5.3 VE/VCO₂

The VE/VCO₂ slope did not appear to be correlated with 6MWT (R = 0.01, P= 0.98) (Figure 20) however displayed a small but non-significant positive correlation with fatigue severity (R= 0.28, P=0.27) (Figure 21). The adjusted between group difference in VE/VCO₂ slope between the two groups at 6-weeks was not statistically significant (-2.79, 95% CI -5.90 to 0.32, P= 0.08) (*Table 25*). However, participants in the RIC group experienced a trend towards a reduced VE/VCO₂ slope (adjusted mean change -1.00, 95% CI -3.09 to 1.09) while there was an increased trend in the sham group (adjusted mean change 1.91, 95% CI -0.31 to 4.13) suggesting an improvement in ventilatory efficiency in the RIC group (*Table 26*, Figure 22).



Figure 20. Relationship between VE/VCO_2 slope and distance walked during the six-minute walk test at baseline.



Figure 21. Relationship between VE/VCO₂ slope and fatigue severity (FSS-7) at baseline.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
VE/VCO 2	33.86 (3.37)	35.98 (4.49)	34.61 (5.34)	33.36 (5.00)	-2.79 (-5.90 to 0.32)	0.08	1.07

Table 25. Analysis of within group and between group differences in the VE/VCO2 slope at 6-weeks using a one-way ANCOVA.

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; VE/VCO2 slope = minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production.

Table 26. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in VE/VCO2 slope from baseline to 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham group Mean change (95% CI)	Sham group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)
VE/VCO2	2.20 (-0.65 to 5.05)	1.91 (-0.31 to 4.13)	-1.26 (-3.31 to 0.80)	-1.00 (-3.09 to 1.09)

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; VE/VCO2 slope = minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production.



Figure 22. Percentage change in minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO2) slope in the treatment (red) and sham (blue) group at 6-weeks.

4.5.4 Peak RER

The RER at peak VO₂ looked to exhibit a small negative correlation with 6MWT (R= -0.23, P= 0.41) (Figure 23) and small positive correlation with fatigue severity (R= 0.12, P=0.66) (Figure 24), both correlations were not statistically significant. The adjusted between group difference between the two groups at 6-weeks was not statistically significant (-0.01, 95% CI -0.07 to 0.06, P= 0.86) (*Table 27*). There were no real discernable differences when comparing the adjusted mean changes between both groups at 6-weeks (RIC adjusted change -0.01, 95% CI -0.06 to 0.04 vs sham -0.00, 95% CI -0.05 to 0.05) (*Table 28*, Figure 25). At baseline, only 2 participants (13%) reached an RER >1.10, demonstrating these participants achieved maximal effort. At 6-weeks, five participants (31%) reached an RER >1.10, indicating more participants applied maximal effort at 6-week follow-up.



Figure 23. Relationship between peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) and distance walked during the six-minute walk test at baseline.



Figure 24. Relationship between peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) and fatigue severity (FSS-7) at baseline.
Table 27. Analysis of within group and between group differences in peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) at 6-weeks using a one-way ANCOVA.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group at 6- weeks (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
Peak RER	1.06 (0.06)	1.05 (0.07)	1.06 (0.05)	1.05 (0.06)	-0.01 (-0.07 to 0.06)	0.86	0.11

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; SD = standard deviation; Peak RER = peak respiratory exchange ratio.

Table 28. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) from baseline to 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham group Mean change (95% CI)	Sham group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)
Peak RER	-0.01 (-0.06 to	-0.00 (-0.05 to 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.06 to 0.05)	-0.01 (-0.06 to 0.04)
	0.05)			

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; CI = confidence interval; Peak RER = peak respiratory exchange ratio.



Figure 25. Percentage change in peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) in the treatment (red) and sham (blue) group at 6-weeks.

4.5.5 Test effort

The adjusted between group difference in HR, WR, and test duration between the two groups at 6-weeks was not statistically significant (*Table 29*). However, HR, WR, and test duration data suggest that the sham group have increased the effort put into the CPET test at 6-week follow-up with increased HR (sham adjusted change 5.71 bpm CI -6.64 to 18.05 vs RIC -4.93 CI -20.64 to 10.78) WR (sham adjusted change 2.13 w CI -7.43 to 11.69 vs RIC -1.78 w CI - 10.78 to 7.21) and test duration (sham adjusted change 36.34 s CI -21.65 to 94.33 vs RIC - 23.75 s CI -78.32 to 30.83) compared to the RIC group (*Table 30*). Despite this we have not seen a great increase in VO_{2peak} in the sham compared to the RIC group (*Tables 20 and 21*). This may be due to changes in efficiency of ventilation and energy production (*Tables 23-26*). The perceived effort inputted by both groups appears to be equal however (RPE) (*Table 29*). At baseline, 11 out of 17 (64.7%) participants (6 treatment, 5 sham) met the criteria at 6-weeks (*Table 19*).

Table 29. Analysis of within group and between group differences in measures of cardiopulmonary exercise test effort (heart rate, work rate, test duration and rate of perceived exertion) at 6-weeks using a one-way ANCOVA.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean, SD)	Sham 6- week follow-up (mean, SD)	RIC baseline (mean, SD)	RIC 6-week follow-up (mean, SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group at 6-weeks (95% CI)	P-value	Effect size
Peak HR (beats/mi n)	138.00 (41.39)	145.63 (31.53)	150.20 (21.89)	144.00 (16.45)	-10.64 (-30.87 to 9.60)	0.27	0.79
Peak WR (w)	128.88 (62.51)	132.75 (52.76)	151.56 (48.63)	148.22 (41.64)	-3.92 (-17.22 to 9.39)	0.54	0.35
Test duration (sec)	657.25 (374.63)	693.50 (310.81)	797.78 (288.52)	765.22 (262.11)	-48.96 (-136.68 to 38.77)	0.25	0.67
Peak RPE	18.86 (1.07)	18.57 (1.90)	18.78 (1.39)	19.25 (0.71)	0.38 (-0.96 to 1.73)	0.54	0.38
Peak RPE (median, IQR)*	19.00 (2.00)	19.00 (3.00)	19.00 (2.00)	19.00 (1.00)	0.006	0.78	0.15

*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; SD = standard deviation; CI = confidence interval; HR = heart rate; WR = work rate; RPE = rate of perceived exertion; IQR = interquartile range. ⁶Unadjusted median difference included.

Table 30. Adjusted and unadjusted within group mean change in peak HR, peal WR, test duration and peak RPE from baseline to 6-weeks

Outcome measure	Sham group Mean change (95% CI)	Sham group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Mean change (95% CI)	RIC group Adjusted mean change (95% CI)	
Peak HR	7.63 (-9.69 to	5.71 (-6.64 to	-8.00 (-24.50 to	-4.93 (-20.64 to	
(beats/min)	24.94)	18.05)	8.50)	10.78)	
Peak WR (w)	3.88 (-7.13 to 14.88)	2.13 (-7.43 to 11.69)	-3.33 (-16.94 to 10.27)	-1.78 (-10.78 to 7.21)	
Test duration	46.25 (-13.81	36.34 (-21.65 to	-32.56 (-118.07 to	-23.75 (-78.32 to	
(sec)	to 106.31)	94.33)	52.96)	30.83)	
Peak RPE	-0.29 (-1.95 to	-0.01 (-0.97 to	0.63 (-0.37 to	0.38 (-0.52 to 1.28)	
	1.38)	0.96)	1.62)		
Peak RPE median					
change	0.00 (0.00)	NA	0.50 (1.00)	NA	
(median; IQR)					
*RIC = remote ischaemic conditioning; SD = standard deviation; CI = confidence interval; HR =					
heart rates WD	model DDE	mate of memorized and	antion IOD interes	autila nomen	

heart rate; WR = work rate; RPE = rate of perceived exertion; IQR = interquartile range.

4.6 Discussion

The data produced from this study are invaluable in documenting CPET outcome measures in patients with PSF as well as allowing insights into how RIC may be affecting individuals with fatigue.

4.6.1 Associations between CPET parameters and fatigue severity

In line with previous studies, we did not find a statistically significant association between fatigue severity (FSS-7) and VO_{2peak} (Oyake et al., 2021, Duncan et al., 2012, Tseng et al., 2010, Michael et al., 2006). Although associations between fatigue severity and other CPET parameters were weak and statistically insignificant, the correlations were consistent and theoretically plausible. Lower VO_{2peak} and fitness was associated with higher levels of fatigue (Figure 15) thus suggesting that poor CRF is associated with PSF (Billinger et al., 2014, Lewis et al., 2011, De Doncker et al., 2018).

Duncan et al. (2012) performed a systematic review of observational studies that have reported the association between PSF and cardiorespiratory variables (e.g., VO_{2peak}). Only three studies fulfilled the inclusion criteria and no significant associations between PSF, and any measures of physical fitness were found. One study that met the inclusion criteria was a study by Michael et al. (2006) who investigated the relationship between fatigue (measured using the fatigue severity scale paired with a visual analogue scale) and economy of gait, VO_{2peak} (measured by open circuit spirometry during a graded treadmill test) and ambulatory activity (steps per 24h) in 53 chronic stroke patients. The investigators found no significant differences between fatigued and non-fatigued groups on all three outcome measures. Later the same investigators investigated the association between fatigue severity (fatigue severity scale) and daily step count, economy of gait and VO_{2peak} in 79 chronic stroke patients. Again, no significant associations between fatigue and all measures of physical activity/fitness were found (Michael and Macko, 2007). A larger study by Shaughnessy et al. (2006) found no association between PSF and self-reported exercise behaviour in 312 stroke patients (mean months since stroke 60.2 months). However, these studies were small (Michael et al., 2006, Michael and Macko, 2007) or only measured fatigue by only asking a single question 'does fatigue influence daily activities' which required participants to rate on a 5-point Likert scale (Shaughnessy et al., 2006).

Oyake et al. (2021) found that fatigue severity (measured using the FSS) was associated with *time constant* VO₂ kinetics (reflects the ability of the body to adapt from rest to a new steady state of submaximal exercise) but not VO_{2peak} in patients with subacute stroke (Oyake et al., 2021). The investigators highlighted how compared to VO_{2peak}, time constant VO₂ has been shown to be more sensitive to changes in levels of physical activity (Phillips et al., 1995, Hamasaki et al., 2018, Fukuoka et al., 2002) and time constant VO₂ at the onset if submaximal exercise has also been shown to provide objective information on CRF in people with stroke (Tomczak et al., 2008, Manns et al., 2010). Considering PSF is associated with low levels of physical activity after stroke (Thilarajah et al., 2018) it may be more appropriate to assess the relationship between PSF and cardiorespiratory variables that can be measured at submaximal exercise intensities (e.g., VAT, VE/VCO₂ slope).

We found that lower VATs appeared to be associated with greater levels of fatigue – lower VAT may mean earlier switch to anaerobic production of energy and earlier build-up of acids e.g., lactic acid and earlier and greater development of fatigue during physical activity (Ghosh, 2004). Greater VE/VCO₂ slope and RER are associated with disease and lower levels of fitness (Shen et al., 2015, Nakade et al., 2018) and were both positively correlated with fatigue severity although these associations were small. An individual's VAT may be a more specific measure of aerobic capacity post-stroke than VO_{2peak}. A study of 59 chronic stroke patients by Boyne et al. (2017a) investigated the influence of motor function (comfortable gait speed [CGS], lower extremity Fugl-Meyer [LEFM]) on aerobic capacity measures including VO_{2peak} and VAT. The investigators found that the inter-rater reliability of VAT was high (inter-class correlation: 0.93, 95% CI: 0.89 to 0.96) and that VAT was less distorted by post-stroke motor function than VO_{2peak} (Boyne et al., 2017a). These results suggest VAT which can be obtained at submaximal exercise may provide a more specific assessment of CRF in the stroke population.

The mean VO_{2peak} in the treatment and sham group in our study is higher than several studies investigating CRF in stroke (Mustafa and Aytür, 2021, Eng et al., 2004, Chen et al., 2010, Yates et al., 2004, Teixeira da Cunha Filho et al., 2001, Han et al., 2021), demonstrating higher fitness levels in our patient sample. Reviews on studies investigating CRF in stroke have found that VO_{2peak} ranged from 8 to 22 mL/kg/min (Smith et al., 2012). This is 26% to 87% of normative values (Smith et al., 2012), and indicates how aerobic deconditioning after stroke is a primary cause of disability that severely limits performance of ADLs (Billinger 2012; Ivey et al. 2005; Billinger 2014). A limitation of assessing maximal exercise responses in stroke is that untrained patients with stroke often do not reach the limits of their cardiopulmonary system during CPET. This was demonstrated in a study by Marzolini et al. (2012) whereby 98 chronic stroke patients underwent CPET at baseline and after 6 months of exercise training (90-min exercise classes involving aerobic and resistance training once per week). At baseline, only 68.4% of CPETs provided sufficient information (subject either reached VO2_{max}, VAT or a clinically relevant abnormality occurred) for the researchers to develop a safe and effective exercise prescription. However, this was increased to 84.7% after 6-months of exercise training (Marzolini et al., 2012). Higher mean VO_{2peak} in our study may be related to time since stroke and the fact that all participants were in the chronic stage of recovery (11 months to 5-years post-stroke). A study of 63 patients with chronic stroke (average post-stroke interval 5.5 ± 4.9 years) by Pang et al. (2005a) found that mean VO_{2peak} measured using a cycle ergometer was 22 ± 4.8 ml/kg/min which is similar to that observed our study. In studies of patients in the subacute phase after stroke, VO_{2peak} values range between 12 and 18 mL/kg/min, which is lower than 60% of healthy age-and gender-matched individuals (MacKay-Lyons and Makrides, 2002, Baert et al., 2012, Chen et al., 2010). A study by Boss et al. (2017) of patients with recent minor ischaemic stroke or TIA supports the relationship between VO_{2peak} and stroke severity. In their study, mean VO_{2peak} was 22 mL/kg/min (SD=6) (Boss et al., 2017). Although this is poor compared to healthy controls (Smith et al., 2012, Aspenes et al., 2011), it demonstrates how VO_{2peak} is higher in people with mild stroke and better neurological function. Similar VO_{2peak} in our study to Boss et al. (2017) suggests mild stroke severity in our participant sample, which is reflected by almost 80% of participants scoring as independent (score 0-2) on the mRS at baseline.

4.6.2 Associations between CPET parameters AND 6MWT

 VO_{2peak} was significantly and strongly correlated with 6MWT, a reliable marker of physical function in stroke (Kosak and Smith, 2005, Dunn et al., 2015, Fulk et al., 2008). This association has been well documented previously (Kelly et al., 2003, Dunn et al., 2019, Patterson et al., 2007, Carvalho et al., 2008) and suggest VO_{2peak} may be a valid biomarker for physical fitness after stroke. A study by Dunn et al. (2019) explored whether the 6MWT or incremental shuttle walk test (SWT) (participant asked to walk up and down a 10 metre course at different speeds until exhaustion) are appropriate indicators of CRF in patients with stroke.

Twenty-three stroke patients within one-year post-stroke performed a graded exercise test on a cycle ergometer, the 6MWT, and SWT and VO_{2peak} and peak HR were recorded. A portable open-circuit spirometry system was used to collect breath-by-breath data and measure VO_{2peak} throughout the three exercise tests. The researchers found no significant differences in mean VO_{2peak} among the three exercise tests (min-max: 17.08-18.09 mL kg⁻¹min⁻¹, *P*>0.05). However, peak HR was significantly lower during the 6MWT. There was a strong relationship between VO_{2peak} and performance measures within each test (cycle ergometer VO_{2peak} and workload: r = 0.77, 6MWT VO_{2peak} and 6MWT distance: r=0.73, SWT VO_{2peak} and shuttles: r= 0.73). Although our study did not measure VO_{2peak} during the 6MWT, there was an association between CPET VO_{2peak} and distance walked during the 6MWT. These findings suggest the 6MWT and the SWT may be clinically useful as proxy measures of CRF when CPET using a cycle or treadmill ergometer is not possible. VAT was also positively correlated with waking distances, both associations reflect increased functional abilities in those with increased levels of fitness. Fitting this theme, the RER was inversely associated with 6MWT. However, there was no apparent association between 6MWT and VE/CO₂ slope.

4.6.3 Effect of RIC on CPET parameters

4.6.3.1 VO_{2peak}

 VO_{2peak} improved insignificantly in both groups suggesting a small increase in CRF, however this was not a clinically meaningful difference (Brazzelli et al., 2011, Marsden et al., 2013). We may not have seen an improvement in VO_{2peak} in the treatment group compared to the sham group because effort level may not have been as good as the sham group at 6-week follow-up suggested by a reduction in peak WR, HR and test duration in the treatment group (*Tables 29 and 30*). Although this was not supported when we compared the number of participants meeting test effort criteria as laid out by Nichols et al. (2015) (*Table 19*) (8 participants in the treatment group met the criteria for maximal effort at 6-weeks vs 5 participants in the sham). Thus, it may be related to the fact participants in our study were relatively fit which is why studies on the effects of RIC on CRF and exercise performance in healthy volunteers and athletes are so mixed (Caru et al., 2019) (*Table 4*). Mean pre- and post- intervention weight was higher in the treatment group compared to the sham group (*Table 20*). Studies have shown how increased weight is associated with lower VO_{2peak} (Horwich et al., 2009, Vargas et al., 2018). Despite this, mean VO_{2peak} was higher in the treatment group compared to the sham at baseline (22.16 mL/kg/min vs 21.44 mL/kg/min, respectively) and at 6-weeks (22.88 mL/kg/min vs 21.88 mL/kg/min). Participants in the treatment group could also exercise for longer compared to the sham group at baseline (test duration 797.78s vs 657.25s, respectively) and at 6-weeks (test duration 765.22s vs 693.50s) (*Table 29*). These findings demonstrate greater overall fitness and ability to tolerate higher exercise intensity in the treatment group compared to the sham at both time points.

A study of 19 individuals with CVD by Maxwell et al. (2021) investigated the effects of either repeated upper limb RIC for 8-weeks (4 x 5 min cuff inflation to 220 mmHg) or 8-weeks of RIC and exercise (three 50-min exercise sessions per week for 8-weeks on a cycle ergometer). Cardiorespiratory fitness (VO_{2peak}) was measured using a treadmill ergometer at baseline and at 8-weeks. The investigators found that there was a greater improvement in VO_{2peak} in the RIC + exercise group compared to RIC alone (0.1ml/kg/min (-1.0, 1.4) vs 2.8ml/kg/min (1.7, 3.9)), however this did not reach statistical significance. Thus, it may be that to produce a marked effect on VO_{2peak} one would need to pair RIC with CRF training.

There are several reasons why we may not be seeing significant differences. Firstly, the study is small and not powered to detect significant differences in the outcome measures. Secondly, the dose of RIC may not be high enough. In the study by Maxwell et al. (2021) the cuff was inflated to a higher pressure (220 mmHg) and for a longer period of time (8-weeks). Furthermore, VO_{2peak} may not be the most appropriate measure of CRF in patients with stroke as it requires maximal effort which may be difficult for some stroke survivors to achieve as we have seen in our study.

4.6.3.2 Ventilatory anaerobic threshold

The data shows a trend towards increased VAT in the RIC group compared to a reduced VAT in the sham group. Although the change was small, an increase in VAT indicates that the exercise intensity a participant can sustain without producing lactic acid increases (Wasserman et al., 1973). Lactate is produced by active muscles and is the end-product of anaerobic metabolism and is a determinant of exercise intensity (Pennington, 2015). The VAT reflects

the point lactate production by active muscles exceeds the ability of tissues to remove it from the blood and it cannot be volitionally influenced by the participant (Pennington, 2015). The VAT is independent of patient motivation and can be determined from submaximal exercise testing (Ghosh, 2004, Arena et al., 2007b). Many activities of daily living (ADLs) are performed below or near the VAT. Therefore, although improvements in VO_{2peak} may be important for post-stroke prognostic outcome (Swank et al., 2012, Ehlken et al., 2016, Vanhees et al., 1995), it may be more clinically relevant to delay lactate accumulation (Marcinik et al., 1991, Boyne et al., 2017a).

The trend towards an improvement in VAT observed in the treatment group compared to the sham may be the result of improved skeletal muscle oxidative metabolism (Andreas et al., 2011a) and increased skeletal muscle blood flow (Jeffries et al., 2018a) observed after RIC. Andreas et al. (2011a) found that a single dose of RIC administered to the lower limb (3 x 5 min) before 20-min ischaemia significantly improved maximal phosphocreatine (serves as a skeletal muscle energy store) and blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) signals during reperfusion (discussed in section 1.8.5.2). Similarly, Jeffries et al. (2018a) found that repeated doses of RIC for 7 days increased skeletal muscle oxidative capacity (measured using near infrared spectroscopy) and improved microvascular oxygenated blood flow to the lower limbs. Improved mitochondrial resilience to states of ischaemia or energy deficiency after RIC may also play a role in these effects (Ramachandra et al., 2020, Slagsvold et al., 2014) (discussed in Chapter 5).

Studies show how exercise training can increase the ventilatory anaerobic threshold. For example, Denis et al. (1982) found that 40 weeks of endurance training (bicycle ergometer exercise 1 hour per day three times weekly) in five healthy subjects significantly increased their ventilatory anaerobic threshold by 10%. VAT determination is not always possible (Balady et al., 2010a) particularly in people with heart failure (Myers et al., 2010) or subjects with periodic breathing patterns (Kaczmarek et al., 2019). Preclinical studies that have compared RIC and exercise in rat models of stroke have shown how RIC is equally, or superiorly effective in inducing neuroprotection in rats compared to exercise (Geng et al., 2021). Long-term RIC has been shown to mimic the effects of exercise and they may share common underlying mechanisms including: enhanced antioxidant activity, increased adenosine triphosphatesensitive potassium (K_{ATP}) channels function, increased heat-shock proteins (HSP), production of autocoids (e.g., opioids, adenosine, bradykinin) and modulation of immune and

inflammatory responses (Zhao et al., 2018b). Long-term RIC may enrich the modes of exercise and benefit unhealthy individuals with severe diseases and those who are unable to exercise because of disabilities or history of cardiac or pulmonary diseases (Thompson et al., 2007). Compared to regular exercise, RIC is safer and more convenient and can be applied safely in the elderly without the concern of serious adverse events or injury (Meng et al., 2015a). Furthermore, RIC can be incorporated regularly into an individual's lifestyle and would free up additional time for work or leisure activities. As discussed previously, RIC can be applied safely in acute stroke patients where it can play protective roles immediately (Hougaard et al., 2014). This may include preventing PSF if found to be effective. Another potential commonality through which RIC is likened to exercise may be an increase in the ventilatory anaerobic threshold by improving efficiency of energy production (Denis et al., 1982, Gaskill et al., 2001) which we see a trend towards in this study. However, larger studies will need to be conducted to confirm whether this is a true effect.

4.6.3.3 VE/VCO2 slope

The data shows a slight reduction in the VE/VCO₂ slope in the treatment group and an increase in the sham group at 6-weeks. The reduction in the VE/VCO₂ in the treatment group suggests a trend towards improved fitness levels and ventilatory efficiency in the treatment group compared to the sham (Lewis et al., 2008, Meyer et al., 1996). The response of V'_E relative to V'CO₂ during incremental exercise reflects an individual's ventilatory efficiency (Forster and Pan, 1988) and has prognostic value in several disease states (Arena et al., 2007c, Baba et al., 1996, Tang et al., 2017, Shen et al., 2015). Elevation of the VE/VCO₂ slope is common in cardiac and respiratory diseases and indicates decreased PaCO₂ set point (partial pressure of carbon dioxide in arterial blood) and/or increased dead space (inhaled air that does not take part in gas exchange) (Sun et al., 2001, Arena et al., 2010, Weatherald et al., 2021). It is well established that exercise training in cardiac patients improves VE/VCO2 slope by 6-23% (Fu and Wang, 2011, Gademan et al., 2008, Tomita et al., 2003, Arena et al., 2007a, Prado et al., 2016). For example, Gademan et al. (2008) found that exercise training improved the VE/VCO₂ slope by 14% (VE/VCO₂ slope pre-exercise, 35.8 ± 3.9 vs post-training 31.0 ± 6.1 units) in patients with chronic heart failure. Similarly, Meyer et al. (1996) found that 3-weeks of exercise training in patients with severe chronic heart failure had a 14.6% decrease in their VE/VCO2 slope demonstrating an improvement in ventilatory efficiency. Postulated mechanisms for

reduced ventilatory efficiency include reduced oxidative metabolism, increased anaerobic glycolysis and pulmonary vasoconstriction (Prado et al., 2016). The slight improvement in VE/VCO₂ slope in the treatment group compared to the sham may be the result of the vasodilatory effects of humoral mediators released in response to the conditioning stimulus (e.g., adenosine, bradykinin) (Liem et al., 2002, Sharma et al., 2015), increased tissue perfusion (Jeffries et al., 2018a, Meng et al., 2012) and preserved mitochondrial respiration (Slagsvold et al., 2014) after RIC. However, the study is small and needs to be repeated in larger populations of PSF. A study by Kim et al. (2019a) investigated the effects of upper limb RIC (4 x 5 min cuff inflation to 200 mmHg) or control (cuff inflated to 20 mmHg) on pulmonary arterial pressure and gas exchange during hypoxic (12.5% O₂) exercise (exercise protocol performed on supine bicycle ergometer) in 16 healthy adults. The investigators found a significant improvement in ventilatory efficiency (VE/VCO2), pulmonary arterial systolic pressure and mean pulmonary arterial pressure, after RIC.

The research and clinical focus has mostly been on the measurement of VO_{2peak} to assess CRF in clinical populations. However, VO_{2peak} relies heavily on maximal effort and motivation from the participant and does not capture all the characteristics associated with CRF (Ross et al., 2016). Unlike VO_{2peak} , the VE/VCO₂ slope (like the ventilatory anaerobic threshold) is independent of patient effort and can be derived from submaximal exercise (Belardinelli et al., 1995, Balady et al., 2010b). The VE/VCO₂ slope has been shown to be superior to the VO_{2peak} in several studies (Arena et al., 2004, Kleber et al., 2000, Chua et al., 1997). It more accurately quantifies the efficacy of pharmacological, surgical and lifestyle interventions (Balady et al., 2010a, Ross et al., 2016). This could be why we found a trend towards beneficial changes in VAT and VE/VCO₂ but not VO_{2peak} in the treatment group.

4.7 Strengths and limitations

Due to the heterogeneity of studies in terms of protocol used (e.g., treadmill, bicycle), stroke severity and duration, there is no consensus on the protocol that should be utilized for optimal VO_{2peak} measurement in people with stroke (Wittink et al., 2017, van de Port et al., 2015). Although bicycle ergometer CPET has been preferred in subacute and acute hemiplegic patients (Yates et al., 2004, Kelly et al., 2003, Tang et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2010), some studies suggest CPET using a treadmill rather than a cycle ergometer may be more appropriate and leads to greater VO_{2peak} measurement. For example, a study by Mustafa and Aytür et al. (2021)

compared CPET using a treadmill (CPET_{tread}) and cycle (CPET_{bic}) ergometer in 38 patients with stroke and 22 healthy controls. In stroke patients, mean VO_{2peak} measured by CPET_{tread} was significantly higher than that measured by CPET_{bic} (14.5 \pm 3.7 ml/kg/min vs 12.6 \pm 2.9 ml/kg/min respectively, *P*<0.001). This was also observed in healthy volunteers (23.5 \pm 4.2 ml/kg/min in CPET_{tread} vs 16.7 \pm 4.0 ml/kg/min in CPET_{bic}, *P*<0.001). The investigators also analysed VO_{2peak} at the VAT and found it was significantly lower in CPET_{bic} compared to CPET_{tread} in the stroke population (9.6 \pm 2.2 ml/kg/min vs 11.6 \pm 2.9 ml/kg/min, respectively, *P*<0.000). A study of chronic stroke patients by Eng et al. (2004) found that the VO_{2peak} measured by cycle ergometer was higher than VO_{2peak} measured by treadmill (14.0 ml/kg/min vs 13.3 ml/kg/min, respectively), however the findings of two tests were not statistically compared so the investigators did not comment on which protocol would be the most suitable in stroke. Intensity of the treadmill test was increased more rapidly in study by Eng et al. (2004) compared to Mustafa and Aytür et al. (2021) (treadmill slope increased to 6% at the end of the first minute compared to the end of the sixth minute, respectively) which may have resulted in early fatigue and lower VO_{2peak} in the study by Eng et al. (2004).

Walking is a natural activity and more familiar than cycling (Albouaini et al., 2007). Local muscle fatigue during cycling may result in participants reaching VAT earlier and lower VO_{2peak} in people with stroke and those not accustomed to cycling (Mustafa and Aytür, 2021). However, the cycle ergometer is usually safer, cheaper, less noisy and occupies less space than a treadmill (Fletcher et al., 2013, Mezzani, 2017c). Cycling also eliminates gravity and is possible in a supine position (Dillon et al., 2020). Therefore, although VO_{2peak} values may be higher using a treadmill, cycle ergometry is more appropriate and accessible to determine VO_{2peak} in clinical and research settings.

A limitation of the cycle ergometer is discomfort of the bike. In our study, some participants thought the seat was uncomfortable and struggled to hold both handles due to stroke-specific muscle weakness on one side. This made it difficult for participants who were more physically impaired to balance themselves on the bike. Another limitation is fatigue of the quadriceps muscles which can cause premature termination of the test before reaching a true VO_{2peak} (Fletcher et al., 2013). Most participants in our study terminated the test early due to leg fatigue/loss of performance. Other reasons for test termination included breathlessness, issues with hemiparesis, and spasticity. The participant who stopped the test due to spasticity was excluded from analyses due to very premature test termination making the test invalid. Reasons

for test termination is in line with previous studies that have used CPET in people with stroke (Koseoglu et al., 2006, Tang et al., 2013). Participants with severe weakness found it difficult to maintain a consistent peddling cadence, particularly further along the test when the resistance was high. However, the researcher and technician used all available methods to help facilitate completion of the tests (e.g., mild verbal encouragement) and the test effort data shows that this worked well.

The VAT was determined by two individuals experienced in CPET and was checked by the study chief investigator and PhD researcher. Having two or three experienced, independent observers to perform the VAT calculation will increase confidence in VAT values (Balady et al., 2010a). Issues with inter- and intraobserver variability aside, determination of VAT by respiratory measurements and the V-slope method is safe, objective and accurate method to assess aerobic capacity (Matsumura et al., 1983).

One limitation of this study relates to the use of a facemask to collect respiratory parameters. Although an effort was made to ensure the facemask was tightly fitted around the participant's face, there is a chance of gas leakage from the side of the mask particularly at high exercise intensities (Radtke et al., 2019). This can lead to inaccurate respiratory measurements and dead space $(V_{\rm D})$ (ventilated air that does not participate in gas exchange) (Radtke et al., 2019). The gold standard for measuring respiratory data in CPET is a bite-block mouthpiece combined with a nose clip (Radtke et al., 2019). However, the mouthpiece/nose-clip combination can be uncomfortable as it makes swallowing difficult, irritates the throat and causes dry-mouth (Bell et al., 2012) which can lead to altered breathing patterns during CPET (Amis et al., 1999). Other criticisms of the mouthpiece include jaw pain, sensation of choking and embarrassment due to saliva dripping from mouth (Radtke et al., 2019). In our study, a few participants thought the facemask was uncomfortable/suffocating and felt it hindered their performance. The facemask also made it difficult for participants who were more impaired to communicate their RPE score during the test. Participants were advised not to talk whilst wearing the mask and were asked to point at the RPE sheet every minute. This was difficult for participants who needed to balance themselves on the bike using one hand. However, the facemask allows swallowing as well as oral and nasal breathing (Kelly and Dawes, 2013) and is associated with higher peak power attainment during CPET in healthy volunteers (Bell et al., 2012). It is important that the participant is as comfortable as possible so they can exercise for longer without needing to end the test prematurely. This will allow VO_{2peak} to be accurately assessed. A survey of 34 patients with chronic lung disease who had experience of using both a facemask and a mouthpiece during CPET found that 10 participants preferred a facemask, 12 preferred the mouthpiece and 12 had no preference (Radtke et al., 2019). These findings demonstrate how CPET using both pieces of equipment are acceptable. In a future, definite trial giving participants the option of either a facemask or mouthpiece and explaining the advantages and disadvantages of each might improve performance (i.e., more likely to reach maximal exertion) and accuracy of respiratory measurements (Radtke et al., 2019, Baran et al., 2001).

Another limitation of the study relates to the accuracy of the Polar chest strap HR monitor. On a few occasions during the exercise test the monitor failed to detect a HR and the strap had to be readjusted. For two participants, baseline HR data was unavailable. HR data is important for the assessment of maximal effort (Nichols et al., 2015) (*Table 19*). HR data was unavailable for one of the participants who we concluded did not meet the criteria for maximal effort at baseline. If we had their HR data, they might have met these criteria. However, in this instance it was difficult to know.

Inability to always ensure standardisation of the time-of-day participants had their baseline and follow-up CPETs was another limitation. An effort was made to arrange follow-up tests for a similar time to baseline CPETs. However, due to availability of the exercise lab and covid-19 restrictions this was not always possible. Studies have shown how RER is significantly influenced by diurnal factors (Decato et al., 2018).

4.8 Conclusion

VO_{2peak}, VAT, VE/VCO₂ slope and RER did not demonstrate statistically significant correlations with PSF but appear to be promising biomarkers. Despite data to suggest the effort imparted during the follow up test in the RIC group was marginally less, we still found trends towards slightly improved VO_{2peak} levels in both groups, but disproportionate improvements in VAT and VE/VCO₂ slopes in the RIC group. This could suggest that improvements in ventilation efficiency and how long tissues can respire aerobically during exercise are due to RIC, potentially due to effects exerted at a cellular level, in the mitochondria, or potentially

due to improved tissue (muscle) perfusion. Further investigation to validate such biomarkers and evaluate mechanisms involved in RIC and in PSF are warranted.

CHAPTER 5. PHOSPHORUS 31-MAGNETIC RESONANCE SPECTROSCOPY TO ASSESS SKELETAL MUSCLE BIOENERGETICS IN POST-STROKE FATIGUE

5.1 Introduction

The experiments reported in this chapter aimed to explore potential mechanisms underlying the effect of RIC on fatigue by non-invasively measuring phosphate metabolites involved in bioenergetics in the skeletal muscle of stroke patients using Phosphorous-31 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS). Our collaborators in Sheffield have recently developed a protocol that successfully investigated lower limb bioenergetics using ³¹P-MRS in patients with motor neurone disease (MND) (Sassani et al., 2020). Our study employed this spectroscopic protocol and is the first of its kind to use ³¹P-MRS *in vivo* to investigate indices of mitochondrial oxidative capacity in stroke patients with debilitating fatigue.

In previous chapters, we have shown that RIC may alleviate fatigue severity in patients with PSF. This is independent of confounding factors (such as mood, cognition, or function) and seems to be associated with improvements in walking distance/speed. While cardiopulmonary exercise testing did not demonstrate this to be due to clear beneficial trends in CRF (no change to VO_{2peak}), the ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT) seemed to increase suggesting tissues and cells in the body can create energy by aerobic mechanisms for longer in the treatment group compared to the sham. These findings were purely exploratory, but are plausible as they may be consistent with those beneficial mechanisms postulated to be activated by RIC.

We elaborated on the effects of RIC on mitochondrial function in other populations preclinically (Wu et al., 2011b, Konstantinov et al., 2005, Moses et al., 2005, Leung et al., 2014, Mansour et al., 2012, Thaveau et al., 2007) and clinically (Slagsvold et al., 2014) in previous chapters. Evidence comes primarily from experimental models and conclusive data *in vivo* in patients is lacking. As mentioned in Chapter one, it has been proposed that fatigue following stroke may occur because of an imbalance between energy production and demand during exertion and underlying alterations in bioenergetics (Klinedinst et al 2019). Alterations

in the way cellular energy is created in response to RIC may help us understand why it may be a useful treatment in PSF and may also help explain why some studies have found improvements in exercise performance, muscle strength and fatigability after RIC (Durand et al., 2019, Barbosa et al., 2015a, De Groot et al., 2009, Jean-St-Michel et al., 2011, Hyngstrom et al., 2018).

ATP is comprised of adenosine (consists of adenine attached to a ribose sugar) bound to three phosphate groups (alpha, beta and gamma) held together by phosphoanhydride bonds that, when broken, can release free energy. The products of such bond breaking (i.e., hydrolysis reaction) are inorganic phosphate (Pi) and adenosine diphosphate (ADP). ATP is the main energy currency of the cell and its concentration is regulated to meet energy demand. In skeletal muscle, ATP synthesis is associated with the creatine kinase reaction, which requires phosphocreatine (PCr), acting as a store to quickly allow synthesis of ATP at times of rapidly increasing energy demand (e.g., during muscle contraction). Hence, it is important that PCr is rapidly resynthesized after physical activity (Hargreaves and Spriet, 2020). Increased PCr availability and appropriate ATP synthesis is important for exercise performance (Hargreaves and Spriet, 2020). During skeletal muscle contraction PCr and glycogen are broken down and there are marked increases in Pi, ADP and lactate which have been associated with skeletal muscle fatigue at various steps within the excitation-contraction pathway (Allen et al., 2008).

ATP can be produced aerobically (via mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation) or anaerobically (exclusively via glycolysis) (Horscroft and Murray, 2014). Anaerobic glycolysis is less efficient and generates fewer ATP molecules per unit of substrate, in addition, it generates lactate which contributes to fatigue. Aerobic metabolism is required during endurance activities from running and cycling to walking for long periods (Hargreaves and Spriet, 2020).

The effects of RIC are thought to converge on the mitochondria and initiate a number of signalling pathways that may either directly or indirectly make the mitochondria more resilient to states of ischaemia or energy deficiency. Those most widely described in the literature are highlighted in *Table 31*.

Signalling pathway	Function of the pathway		
Survival activating factor enhancement (SAFE)	• Pro-survival metabolic pathway activated by tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) (pro-inflammatory		
pathway	mediator that also has protective properties).		
	• SAFE pathway involves the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) in		
	mitochondria.		
	• STAT3 is a transcription factor and antioxidant defence protein which modulates apoptosis,		
	inflammation and reduces oxidative stress.		
	• STAT3 mitigates production of ROS from complex 1 of the mitochondrial membrane.		
	• STAT3 also targets the inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opening.		
	Opening of mPTP mediates cell death via dissipation of the mitochondrial membrane potential,		
	mitochondrial swelling and increased ROS production. Thus, inhibition of mPTP opening after RIC		
	promotes mitochondrial survival (discussed in Chapter one).		
Reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathway	Pro-survival pathway recruited during reperfusion.		
	• Involves the recruitment of pro-survival kinases (e.g., PI3K/Akt and Erk1/2) and exerts anti-apoptotic		
	protective effects.		
	• Protects against ischaemia/reperfusion injury via inhibition of mPTP opening.		
PINK/Parkin mitophagy pathway	• During ischaemic stress, Parkin (amino acid) translocates to damaged mitochondria in a PINK1		
	(mitochondrial protein) dependant manner.		
	• Parkin binds to damaged mitochondria to induce mitophagy.		
	• Mitophagy is the selective degradation and removal of damaged mitochondria by autophagy. This is		
	important for mitochondrial quality control and to maintain cellular homeostasis.		
	• Mitophagy reduces production of ROS and leaves behind healthy mitochondria better equipped to resist		
	ischaemic stress.		

Table 31. Proposed signalling pathways initiated by RIC that may directly or indirectly act on the mitochondria.

Uncoupling proteins (UCP)	• Proteins that "short circuit" oxidative phosphorylation i.e., dissipate the proton gradient and reduce
	ATP synthesis.
	• Upregulation and downregulation of UCP after RIC may have protective effects.
	• Upregulation (<i>mild</i> mitochondrial uncoupling): reduces mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS
	production (antioxidant defences). Note: severe uncoupling can lead to energy deficits.
	• Downregulation (mitochondrial coupling): increases membrane potential, efficiency of substrate
	utilization and ATP synthesis.
Nitric oxide (NO)-cGMP/PKG pathway	• NO activates cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) which binds to and activates protein kinase G
	(PKG) (protein kinase that phosphorylates several biologically important targets and is implicated in
	the regulation of platelet function, cell division and smooth muscle relaxation).
	• The nitric oxide (NO)-cGMP/PKG pathway mediates vasodilation of smooth muscle cells, lowers blood
	pressure and has a cardioprotective effect.
	• PKG activation also induces opening of $mitoK_{ATP}$ channels in the inner mitochondrial membrane which
	leads to inhibition of mPTP. This plays a role in the development of ischaemic tolerance by enhancing
	mitochondrial respiration, reducing ROS production, modulating Ca2+ production, and reducing ATP
	hydrolysis rate thus reducing ATP depletion during ischaemia.
Source: (Hadebe et al., 2018, Huang et al., 2011, Hausenle	by et al., 2005, Park et al., 2018, Thompson et al., 2014, Heusch et al., 2010) Abbreviations: STAT3 =
Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription, SA	AFE = Survival activating factor enhancement pathway; ROS = reactive oxygen species, mPTP =

mitochondrial permeability transition pore, phosphatidylino-sitol 4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase (PI3K), UCP = Uncoupling proteins

5.1.1 Methods for measuring skeletal muscle mitochondrial function

Both in vivo (research done within a whole, living organism, e.g., a human) and in vitro (research performed outside a living organism, e.g., cells) methodologies exist for the assessment of mitochondrial bioenergetic function in skeletal muscle. An example of an in vitro method includes using a luminometer (bioluminescent approach) to measure light emission in isolated mitochondria from samples of human muscle to quantify maximal rates of ATP production (Wibom and Hultman, 1990, Lanza and Nair, 2009). An example of another *in vitro* method is high-resolution respirometry (polarographic approach) to measure oxygen consumption and ATP synthesis in small skeletal muscle needle biopsies (Lanza and Nair, 2009, Djafarzadeh and Jakob, 2017). In vitro analyses of isolated mitochondria provide an insight into the mechanisms of the organelles. However, they involve measuring the activity of mitochondria in artificial environments (e.g., in solution) and only look at small tissue samples (Harper et al., 2021). In addition, muscle biopsies can be invasive and require local anaesthesia (Bourgeois and Tarnopolsky, 2004, Debigare et al., 2003, Maltais et al., 1996). Other limitations include accessibility of muscle biopsy and the requirement of careful and extensive sample preparation to avoid damaging the sample (Acin-Perez et al., 2021). These limitations make these methods challenging and unfeasible on a large scale.

A technique used to measure mitochondrial function non-invasively *in vivo* includes nearinfrared spectroscopy (NIRS) which measures mitochondrial respiratory capacity and corresponds to the high-resolution respirometry in skeletal muscle biopsies (Ryan et al., 2014). NIRS monitors tissue oxygenation by utilizing the oxygen-dependant absorption of nearinfrared light by oxy- and deoxy-heme groups (i.e., haemoglobin, myoglobin, and mitochondrial cytochrome C) (Jöbsis, 1977, Lanza and Nair, 2010). NIRS assesses mitochondrial respiratory capacity by measuring the recovery kinetics of muscle oxygen consumption (mVO₂) (Ryan et al., 2012, Ryan et al., 2013). However, a limitation of NIRS is the difficulty differentiating multiple heme-containing metabolites (Boushel et al., 2001, Lai et al., 2009).

5.1.2 31-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

An in vivo technique that indirectly measures mitochondrial function is Phosphorus-31 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS). ³¹P-MRS is a non-invasive technique used to assess tissue metabolism (Liu et al., 2017). It can detect phosphorus containing metabolites involved in ATP synthesis and utilization (Liu et al., 2017), and is the modality of choice to assess mitochondrial function in humans (Chance et al., 1981, Ernst et al., 1993, Liu et al., 2017). ³¹P-MRS has been used to assess skeletal muscle energetics in healthy (Edwards et al., 2012) and clinical populations (e.g., motor neurone disease) (Sassani et al., 2020) and has been found to be reproducible (i.e., the ability of different researchers to obtain the same results from an experiment using ³¹P-MRS) (Layec et al., 2009, McCully et al., 2009). It allows quantification of ATP, phosphocreatine (PCr), adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and inorganic phosphate (Pi) (Klemm et al., 1998). ³¹P-MRS has been used evaluate phosphate metabolism in brain and muscle in clinical populations during rest and exercise (Sassani et al., 2020), and offers a unique window into tissue metabolism. We chose to focus on ATP, PCr and Pi because these are the most commonly investigated metabolites amongst studies of clinical populations (e.g., MND, Parkinson's disease) (Sassani et al., 2020, Penn et al., 1995, Hattingen et al., 2009) as well as being the most representative of bioenergetic status of a tissue.

5.2 Aims and hypotheses

Aims

- Explore whether it was feasible to undertake the ³¹P-MRS protocol developed in Sheffield in stroke patients with fatigue.
- 2. Investigate whether indices of mitochondrial oxidative capacity are related to the severity of PSF and physical measures such as 6MWT and maximal isometric voluntary contraction (MIVC) of the anterior tibialis muscle.
- 3. Investigate whether RIC can alter cellular energetics through its potential effect on mitochondrial function.

Hypotheses

1. Undertaking ³¹P-MRS in patients with PSF is feasible.

- ATP in skeletal muscle measured using ³¹P-MRS is associated with severity of PSF, 6MWT and MVIC.
- 3. RIC improves mitochondrial function and thus results in increased levels of tissue ATP, increased levels of phosphocreatine and reduced levels of inorganic phosphate compared to sham on longitudinal assessments.

5.3 Methodology

5.3.1 Ethics

Ethical approval for this sub-study was granted on 04/09/2020 (Northwest – Preston REC 18/NW/0401).

5.3.2 Setting

All experiments took place at the Royal Hallamshire hospital, Sheffield and the University of Sheffield Academic Department of Radiology, Royal Hallamshire hospital.

5.3.3 Sample

Eight participants were invited to undergo the ³¹P-MRS sub-study. They were invited to return after 6 weeks to assess longitudinal changes.

5.3.4 Exclusion criteria

In addition to the exclusion criteria listed and discussed in Chapter two, exclusion criteria for all subjects were:

- Pregnancy
- Respiratory failure impairing ability to lie flat
- MRI contraindications, e.g., cardiac pacemaker or other non-magnetic resonance compatible device such as a metallic foreign body or electronic implant or intracranial aneurysm clips (Appendix 20 and 21).

5.3.5 Study protocol

5.3.5.1 Clinical and muscle force data

Informed consent and demographic and clinical data were obtained during the participant's first study visit. ³¹P-MRS was the final step in baseline data collection and was completed on a different day to clinical outcome measures, 6MWT and CPET. On the day of the scan, participants first completed an MRI safety questionnaire and request form (Appendix 19 and 20) to ensure they had no contraindications for MRI scanning.

Next, the participant's maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) of their tibialis anterior (stroke side and non-affected side) was measured using a fixed myometry (Quantitative Muscle Strength Assessment – QMA, Aeverl Medical, Gainessville, GA) and pulley system designed by researchers in Sheffield (Figure 26) (Sassani et al., 2020).



Figure 26. Quantitative Muscle Strength Assessment (QMA) and pulley system for measuring maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC). Figure created by author of this thesis using Biorender (<u>BioRender</u>).

Participants were asked to dorsi-flex their ankle using their maximal strength against resistance for 5-seconds. This was repeated three times and the best of the three was taken as the participant's MVIC (kg). This was then repeated for the opposite leg. Muscle force measurements were conducted in a room at the Royal Hallamshire hospital separate to the MRI scanner due to the magnetic nature of the equipment used. The QMA system produces a forcetime curve (Figure 27) which clearly shows a ''ramp time'' of approximately one second. This is the time it took for the muscle to initiate contraction from zero to maximal force. Therefore, the participant's MVIC was calculated from the average of the last four seconds of all three trials for consistency.



Figure 27. Example of a force-time curve for maximal isometric voluntary contraction of tibialis anterior

5.3.5.2 Magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy

5.3.5.2.1 Hardware

For muscle acquisitions, scans were conducted at 3 Telsa (3T) (Philips Ingenia, Philips Healthcare) using a transmit-receive ³¹P surface coil (Philips Ingenia, Philips Healthcare).

5.3.5.2.2 Sequencing

Spectra were acquired from the proximal portion of the left and right ankle dorsiflexors encompassing tibialis anterior. The tibialis anterior was chosen because analysis of this muscle has been successful in prior studies of ³¹P-MRS (Sassani et al., 2020) and is sensitive to T₂ weighted signal changes (Jenkins et al., 2018). The MR radiographer placed the top of the coil 2cm below the tibial tuberosity (Figure 28). Positioning of the surface coil was performed by the same radiographer for all subjects and was cross-checked to ensure consistency. This was important as oxidative capacity differs between proximal and distal portions of tibialis anterior (Boss et al., 2018). A pulse-acquire sequence was applied at rest (see figure 27 for a representative muscle spectrum acquired at rest). Muscle spectroscopy acquisition time for each leg was approximately 20 min (~40 min total).



Figure 28. Anatomical localisation of tibialis anterior. Copyright permissions obtained and available upon request.

5.3.5.2.3 Spectroscopic data processing

Spectroscopic data processing and was conducted by Dr Matilde Sassani who was blinded to participant status, whilst muscle force measurements, statistical analysis and interpretation of the results was conducted by the author of this thesis. All participants were assigned a study ID number and all data was anonymised at acquisition. Spectroscopic analysis protocol has been published (Sassani et al., 2020), briefly, spectroscopic data processing involved manual phasing and frequency shifting. Signal was then fitted using the AMARES algorithm (available with jMRUI, <u>http://www.jmrui.eu</u>) (Vanhamme et al., 1997, Naressi et al., 2001, Stefan et al., 2009). Resonances were fitted for muscle as shown in Figure 29. Amplitudes were corrected for T_1 relaxation using published values (Meyerspeer et al., 2003, Bogner et al., 2009).

5.3.5.2.4 Reported parameters

For the purpose of this study, we chose to focus on ATP (quantified spectroscopically as the γ phosphate of ATP), phosphocreatine (PCr) and inorganic phosphate (Pi). Spectroscopic results were correlated with fatigue severity (FSS-7) and measures of physical function such as the 6MWT and MVIC.

ATP – ATP is the main energy currency of the cell and the sole fuel for muscle contraction. ATP is required for activity of key enzymes involved in myofilament cross-bridge cycling (myosin ATPase) (the process whereby skeletal muscle filaments actin and myosin which form the contractile apparatus of skeletal muscle attach to one another), sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium handling (Ca^{2+} ATPase), and membrane excitability (Na^+/K^+ ATPase). Continual supply of ATP is crucial for cellular processes and survival and to maintain normal contractile function.

Phosphocreatine – PCr is found predominantly in skeletal muscle and in brain. It acts as an energy buffer via its ability to regenerate ATP by transferring a high-energy phosphate to ADP. In skeletal muscle, PCr serves as an energy store and is depleted during exercise (Hargreaves and Spriet, 2020). PCr depletion is associated with reduced energy availability and PCr resynthesis relies on the continued production of ATP. Thus, reduced levels of PCr in skeletal muscle may be indicative of impaired mitochondrial metabolism and reduced rates of oxidative ATP synthesis (Kemp et al., 2007).

Inorganic Phosphate – Pi is a by-product of ATP hydrolysis (process by which ATP is broken down to release energy). Pi increases substantially during skeletal muscle fatigue and is associated with reduced force generation (Allen and Trajanovska, 2012). Pi interferes with cross-bridge performance and reduces calcium (Ca^{2+}) release during fatigue (vital for muscle contraction) (Allen and Trajanovska, 2012). Increased Pi in skeletal muscle may be indicative of impaired mitochondrial function.



Figure 29. A representative muscle spectrum acquired from a stroke patient's tibialis anterior (stroke affected side) at rest. (A) illustrates a spectral fitting: in red is the original spectrum and in purple is the estimated spectrum. Resolved peaks are (from left to right): inorganic phosphate (Pi), phosphocreatine (PCr), and gamma resonance of adenosine triphosphate (γ ATP). In (B) individual resonances are depicted: 1 = Pi, 3 = PCr, and $5 = \gamma$ phosphate of ATP.

5.3.6 Statistical analysis

All data was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 26) and GraphPad Prism (version 9). Sample size was small; hence analyses were exploratory. Analysis of the 3 spectroscopic parameters were mainly descriptive however, an exploration of any potential differences between the treatment and sham groups in relation to spectroscopic parameters was completed using a one-way ANCOVA. Like with other outcome measures in previous chapters (clinical, 6MWT, CPET) the participant's baseline scores and mRS were included as co-variates for all spectroscopic parameters. All assumptions for ANCOVA (see Chapter 3 section 3.3 *Statistical analysis)* were tested and satisfied before completion of the analysis. Spectroscopic parameters that did not meet these assumptions were also analysed and reported using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U Test and were reported accordingly (median and interquartile range, IQR). Spectroscopic parameters were correlated with clinical and physical parameters including fatigue (FSS-7), MVIC and 6MWT. Correlations between variables were explored using a Pearson r correlational analysis and simple scatter plots.

5.4. Results

A total of 7 participants who completed the 6-week intervention (3 treatment, 4 sham) underwent ³¹P-MRS at baseline and at 6-week follow-up. Demographic and clinical characteristics are summarized in *Table 32*. An additional eighth participant had a baseline MRI scan, however they withdrew from the study and did not have a follow-up scan. All data analyzed and included in the tables are from the 7 participants that had a baseline and follow-up MRI. Participants in the treatment and sham group were similar with respect to time since stroke. Participants in the treatment group were heavier with a mean difference of 21.73 kg, however this difference was not statistically significant (*P*=0.11). MVIC on the non-affected limb was similar between the two groups, however participants in the sham group were slightly stronger on their stroke affected side compared to the treatment group (MVIC 7.2kg vs 6.4kg, respectively) but this difference is not statistically significant (*P*=0.40).

Assumptions for a one-way ANCOVA on data for ATP, PCr and Pi on the stroke affected side were sufficiently met for parametric testing. For the non-affected limb, PCr and Pi sufficiently met the assumptions for parametric testing, however ATP was not normally distributed. Therefore, ATP in the non-affected limb was also analysed using a non-parametric Mannwhitney U test. Due to the exploratory nature of the study, we reported the findings of both tests for completeness.

Characteristic	All	Treatment	Sham
n	7	3	4
Age, years (mean; SD)	63.4 (5.9)	59.3 (2.9)	66.5 (5.9)
Sex	4 M: 3 F	1 M: 2 F	3 M: 1 F
Height, cm (mean; SD)	176.7 (6.1)	178.7 (6.0)	175.3 (6.6)
Weight, kg (mean; SD)	86.2 (16.3)	98.6 (11.4)	76.9 (13.2)
BMI (mean; SD)	27.5 (4.3)	30.9 (2.5)	24.9 (3.6)
Time since stroke (months) (mean; SD)	33.6 (19.6)	33.3 (19.7)	33.75 (22.7)
Stroke type (%)			
Ischaemic	85.7%	100.0%	75.0%
Haemorrhagic	14.3%	0.0%	25.0%
MVIC, kg (mean; SD)			
Stroke side	6.8 (3.2)	$6.4(1.8)^7$	$7.2 (4.3)^7$
Non-affected side	10.7 (2.0)	10.5 (2.8)	10.8 (1.6)

Table 32. Participant characteristics of participants who underwent ³¹P-MRS.

^{*31}P-MRS = ³¹Phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy; SD =standard deviation; BMI = Body mass index, MVC = Maximal voluntary isometric contraction. ⁷Mann-whitney U test applied and difference in MVIC between the two groups on the stroke affected side is not statistically significant (P=0.40).

Resting spectroscopic parameters

ATP

ATP content of the tibialis anterior in all participants appeared greater in the non-affected limb compared to the stroke affected limb (Figure 30). Scatter plots suggested that ATP was correlated negatively with fatigue severity (FSS-7, Figure 31), and positively with walking distances (6MWT, Figure 32) and muscle strength (MVIC, Figure 33) with strengths of correlation stronger on the affected limb compared to the non-affected side.

Data from the affected stroke leg showed that all 4 participants in the sham group experienced reductions in ATP content of the anterior tibialis at 6 weeks follow-up while all 3 participants in the RIC group experienced increases in ATP content (Figure 34). The adjusted between group difference of 0.01 (95% CI 0.01 to 0.02) was statistically significant (P=0.004) (*Table 33*).

A similar effect was observed in the non-affected limb with an increase in ATP content at 6weeks in the RIC group, but a reduction in the sham (Figure 35). However, this difference was not statistically significant (median difference 0.01, P=0.63) (*Table 33*). Due to poor quality data acquisition in one participant's non-affected limb in the RIC group their data was discarded (Figure 35).



Figure 30. Baseline ATP in the tibialis anterior of the stroke affected (red) and non-affected (blue) leg at rest.



Figure 31. Relationship between fatigue severity (FSS-7) scores and ATP in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and (b) nonaffected side at baseline, at rest.



Figure 32. Relationship between six-minute walk test distance and ATP in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and (b) nonaffected side at baseline, at rest.



Figure 33. Relationship between MVIC and ATP in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and non-affected side (b) at baseline, at rest.


Figure 34. ATP in tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the RIC and sham groups, at rest.



Figure 35. ATP in tibialis anterior in the non-affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the RIC and sham groups, at rest.

Table 33. Analysis of within group and between group differences in ATP measured in tibialis anterior at rest using a one-way ANCOVA at 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean; SD)	Sham 6w (mean; SD)	RIC baseline (mean; SD)	RIC 6w (mean; SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group (CI) (mean; SD)	P-value	Effect size
Stroke affected side ATP	0.11 (0.00)	0.10 (0.01)	0.10 (0.01)	0.11 (0.01)	0.01 (0.01 to 0.02)	0.004#	9.23
Non-affected side ATP	0.12 (0.02)	0.11 (0.02)	0.10 (0.01)	0.11 (0.01)	0.01 (-0.01 to 0.12)	0.72	0.17
ATP (median;IQR)*	0.12 (0.03)	0.10 (0.04)	0.12 ()	0.11 () ⁸	0.01 ⁹	0.63	0.56

ATP = adenosine triphosphate; IQR = interquartile range. *Mann-Whitney U applied. [#]Significant at the 0.05 significance level.⁸IQR not available because sample size too small to calculate. ⁹Unadjusted median difference provided.

Phosphocreatine

Baseline PCr was slightly higher in the stroke affected limb compared to the non-affected leg (Figure 36). Phosphocreatine did not consistently correlate with either fatigue severity (FFS-7, Figure 37), walking distances / speed (6MWT, Figure 38) or anterior tibialis muscle strength (MVIC, Figure 39).

Similarly, there were inconsistent changes in PCr in response to RIC. In the stroke affected limb, there appeared to be a trend toward a reduction in PCr in the tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb in both groups at 6-weeks (Figure 40). However, this difference between the two groups was not statistically significant (adjusted between group difference = 0.04, 95% CI - 0.06 to 0.14, P= 0.29) (*Table 34*). In contrast, PCr levels in the non-affected limb appeared to increase very marginally at 6 weeks albeit non-significantly (Figure 41).



Figure 36. Baseline phosphocreatine (PCr) in the tibialis anterior of the stroke affected (red) and non-affected (blue) leg at rest.



Figure 37. Relationship between fatigue severity (FSS-7) and PCr in tibialis anterior at baseline on the participant's stroke side (a) and nonaffected side (b), at rest.



Figure 38. Relationship between six-minute walk test distance and PCr in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and (b) nonaffected side at baseline, at rest.



Figure 39. Relationship between MVIC and PCr in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and (b) non-affected side at baseline, at rest.



Figure 40. Phosphocreatine (PCr) in tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the RIC and sham groups, at rest.



Figure 41. Phosphocreatine (PCr) in tibialis anterior in the non-affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the RIC and sham groups, at rest.

Table 34. Analysis of within group and between group differences in phosphocreatine measured in tibialis anterior at rest using a one-way ANCOVA at 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean; SD)	Sham 6w (mean; SD)	RIC baseline (mean; SD)	RIC 6w (mean; SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group (CI) (mean; SD)	P- value	Effect size
Stroke side							
Phosphocreatine	0.58 (0.02)	0.57 (0.02)	0.60 (0.01)	0.59 (0.02)	0.04 (-0.06 to 0.14)	0.29	0.88
Non-affected side							
Phosphocreatine	0.59 (0.01)	0.59 (0.01)	0.58 (0.04)	0.60 (0.01)	0.02 (-0.01 to 0.05)	0.15	1.69

Phosphocreatine is expressed as a proportion of total phosphorus.

Inorganic phosphate

Inorganic phosphate levels were higher in the stroke affected limbs compared to healthy limbs (Figure 42). At baseline there were positive correlations between FFS-7 and Pi, more strongly in the non-affected limb (Figure 43). Pi was inversely correlated with walking distances (6MWT, Figure 44) and muscle strength (MVIC, Figure 45).

There were no discernable differences in the effects of RIC on Pi compared to sham in either the stroke affected side (adjusted between group difference -0.00, 95% CI -0.02 to 0.01, P = 0.51, Figure 46), nor the unaffected limb (adjusted between group difference 0.01, 95% CI - 0.02 to 0.03, P = 0.58, Figure 47) (*Table 35*).



Figure 42. Baseline inorganic phosphate (Pi) in the tibialis anterior of the stroke affected (red) and non-affected (blue) leg at rest.



Figure 43. Relationship between fatigue severity (FSS-7) and Pi in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and (b) non-affected side at baseline, at rest.



Figure 44. Relationship between six-minute walk test distance and Pi in tibialis anterior on the participant's stroke side (a) and (b) nonaffected side at baseline, at rest.



Figure 45. Relationship between MVIC and Pi in tibialis anterior at baseline on the participant's stroke side (a) and non-affected side (b), at rest.



Figure 46. Inorganic phosphate (Pi) in tibialis anterior in the stroke affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the RIC and sham groups, at rest.



Figure 47. Inorganic phosphate (Pi) in tibialis anterior in the non-affected limb at baseline and at 6-weeks in the RIC and sham groups, at rest.

Table 35. Analysis of within group and between group differences in inorganic phosphate measured in tibialis anterior at rest using a one-way ANCOVA at 6-weeks.

Outcome measure	Sham baseline (mean; SD)	Sham 6w (mean; SD)	RIC baseline (mean; SD)	RIC 6w (mean; SD)	Adjusted mean difference between the treatment and sham group (CI) (mean; SD)	P- value	Effect size
Stroke side							
Inorganic	0.07 (0.02)	0.07	0.07	0.06	-0.00 (-0.02 to	0.51	0.34
phosphate		(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.02)	0.01)		
Non-affected	side						
Inorganic	0.06 (0.01)	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.01 (-0.02 to	0.58	0.24
phosphate	0.00 (0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	0.03)	0.00	
Inorganic phosphate is expressed as a proportion of total phosphorus.							

5.5 Discussion

ATP

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study to investigate muscle cellular bioenergetics in patients with PSF using this advanced modality ³¹P-MRS. Despite the small sample size, results were biologically plausible, providing initial evidence for altered bioenergetics in PSF and some amelioration by RIC. The results showed an association between the amount of ATP at rest in skeletal muscle of the affected lower limb in stroke and fatigue severity, walking distance/speed and MVIC strength. These findings suggest ATP is a potentially good biomarker for fatigue and physical function in stroke. Interestingly, although there appeared to be an association between ATP in the non-affected limb and fatigue severity, there was no association between ATP in the non-affected limb and walking distance/speed or MVIC. This may be related to the difference in mitochondrial function between healthy (i.e., non-affected limb) and diseased (stroke affected limb) tissues. This is consistent with anecdotal clinical observations as patients frequently report their abilities and endurance generally being limited by the weak leg rather than the function of the unaffected leg. Lower ATP levels have been implicated also in other pathologies. Muscle biopsy studies have found lower levels of skeletal muscle ATP concentrations in clinical populations affected by systemic diseases (e.g., sepsis, intensive care patients) compared to controls (Puthucheary et al., 2018). Another study employed this exact ³¹P-MRS protocol to compare ATP in patients who had MND to healthy controls. Perhaps surprisingly, no between-group differences in ATP were found in MND. This may indicate that different pathophysiological mechanisms are taking place: in stroke there are upper motor neurone lesions which result in downstream disuse atrophy (and a possible consequent reduction in ATP), whereas denervation atrophy is the main mechanism taking place in MND, resulting in a different bioenergetic fingerprint (namely, elevated inorganic phosphate) (Sassani et al., 2020). If this is the case, then, in stroke, increased and improved levels of ATP might mean that mitochondrial function at the cellular level has improved by an intervention, e.g., by RIC.

Our results demonstrate how resting ATP in the tibialis anterior muscle of the stroke affected limb appeared to increase in every participant following RIC while levels fell in every participant in the sham group at 6-weeks. There also appeared to be an effect in the non-affected limb, however this was not statistically significant. Remote ischaemic conditioning might improve the function and efficiency of mitochondria via several pathways (*Table 31*)

(Hausenloy et al., 2005, Slagsvold et al., 2014, Thompson et al., 2014), and this may be why we are seeing the changes in our outcome measures. Skeletal muscle ATP concentration as well as ADP and Pi (which together form ATP), is essential for optimal functioning of the cell (Baker et al., 2010). Reductions in skeletal muscle ATP is associated with rapid fatigue development (i.e., reduction in the ability of muscle to produce power or force) (Bigland-Ritchie and Woods, 1984, Søgaard et al., 2006). Improved levels of ATP in the skeletal muscle in the treatment group at 6-weeks might be related to increased mitochondrial efficiency and metabolism and adaptations in mitochondrial function after RIC (Thaveau et al., 2007, Mansour et al., 2012). It may also reflect an improvement in the mitochondria's ability to regenerate ATP via mitochondrial respiration (Leung et al., 2014, Thaveau et al., 2007). Our findings of increased skeletal muscle ATP after conditioning are also consistent with studies that have found increases in skeletal muscle oxidative capacity after RIC (Andreas et al., 2011a, Jeffries et al., 2018a) (discussed in section 1.8.5.2).

The question then remains why we have seen significant changes in the stroke affected side as compared to the non-affected leg. One hypothesis that might explain this is that the effects of ischaemic conditioning may be greater in mitochondria that are abnormal as compared to mitochondria that are functioning at a more optimal level. Mitochondria from muscle tissue and cells in a leg that is functioning well (receiving nervous innervation, is active and receives adequate blood supply) such as a non-stroke affected leg, may already be working at a relatively normal and physiologic level. Mitochondria in tissues in a leg that is affected by stroke that is deconditioned, denervated and receives a reduced blood flow (Ivey et al., 2010) may be working at a suboptimal level and perhaps are much more susceptible to ischaemia or states of fatigue because of reduced resilience. This could contribute to why the patients who have stroke experience greater amounts of fatigue but if conditioning helps improve mitochondrial function, then it may do disproportionately in mitochondria that are abnormal or 'worse off' as opposed to mitochondria that function well.

Another fact that helps support this hypothesis comes from studies that examine the effects of conditioning on physical function in healthy populations or athletes (Incognito et al., 2017) compared to clinical populations (Hyngstrom et al., 2018). Systematic reviews and metaanalyses looking at the effects of RIC on performance in several healthy and athletic populations show mixed results (Marocolo et al., 2019, Caru et al., 2019), with many studies not demonstrating beneficial effects from RIC. Conditioning such populations who invariably have 'healthy' mitochondria may have led to the self-selection of participants who may not respond to RIC. In contrast, studies that evaluate the effect of conditioning on muscle contraction and fatigability in stroke (Durand et al., 2019, Hyngstrom et al., 2018), MS (Chotiyarnwong et al., 2020) and cardiac patients (Hausenloy et al., 2015, Pryds et al., 2017, Chen et al., 2017) often demonstrate beneficial effects on outcomes such as muscle contraction, fatigue scores, and walking distances. These clinical populations are likely to have tissues with less 'healthy' mitochondria more susceptible to the effects of RIC.

Phosphocreatine

Prior studies that have evaluated ³¹P-MRS in clinical populations (e.g., MND, diabetes mellitus) (Sassani et al., 2020, Ripley et al., 2018, Wu et al., 2012) have demonstrated lower levels of phosphocreatine in muscle or brain tissue compared to healthy controls. Studies have shown that lower levels of resting phosphocreatine correlate with lower rates of oxidative ATP synthesis (Kemp et al., 2007). Re-synthesis of phosphocreatine is dependent on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and is a measure of oxidative capacity (Meyerspeer et al., 2020). In patients with stroke and fatigue one might hypothesise that tissue levels of phosphocreatine in the tibialis anterior would be lower than in healthy controls. Despite this we did not find this relationship between the stroke affected and non-affected legs, nor did we see a treatment response in PCr following RIC. This could just be because the magnitude of differences are too low to be detected in our small sample size, or it may be that this metabolite is not an outcome measure that reflects changes in muscle function or fatigue in patients with PSF. Indeed correlations between PCr and fatigue severity, 6MWT and MVIC were weak at best in our group of patients. Thus, the role of phosphocreatine as a biomarker in PSF and the effect of RIC is still yet to be elucidated.

Inorganic Phosphate

Some studies have shown that higher levels of inorganic phosphate in muscle tissue may be associated with reduced efficiency of cellular energetics or impaired mitochondrial function (Lodi et al., 1994, Martinelli et al., 2000, Sassani et al., 2020). Increased levels of Pi are associated with reduced muscle force and fatigue and suggest mitochondria are under stress (Westerblad et al., 2002, Pathare et al., 2005). We found that inorganic phosphate levels were slightly higher in the stroke affected side (i.e., weaker muscle) compared to the non-affected limb although our sample size was small (Figure 42). This is in line with prior studies that have found higher levels of skeletal muscle inorganic phosphate in clinical populations compared to

healthy controls inversely correlating with MVIC (Sassani et al., 2020, Zochodne et al., 1988). In our study, values of baseline inorganic phosphate in the tibialis anterior of the non-affected limb was similar to that found in healthy subjects (Sassani et al., 2020). Elevated inorganic phosphate in the stroke affected muscle suggests dysfunctional bioenergetic homeostasis and peripheral mitochondrial dysfunction in the diseased muscle. It may also indicate impaired mitochondrial responses to increased energy demand and inefficient ATP regenerative capacity of mitochondria (Nicholls and Ferguson, 2013). Inorganic phosphate is a product of ATP hydrolysis (Hargreaves and Spriet, 2020), therefore in times of increased energy demand inorganic phosphate levels increase.

Our data did not support a clear effect of RIC on Pi in either the affected nor unaffected limb, however increasing Pi was associated, albeit weakly, with increasing fatigue severity and more strongly with 6MWT and MVIC, suggesting that inorganic phosphate is associated with muscle function. This finding is in line with the study in MND which found that higher inorganic phosphate in the tibialis anterior was associated with reduced walking speed (R = 0.77, CI = 0.46 to 0.91, P < 0.001) and greater weakness on MVIC (R = -0.57, CI = -0.81 to -0.15, P = 0.012) (Sassani et al., 2020). Thus, inorganic phosphate may be an important biomarker for physical function in stroke and warrants further investigation.

5.6 Limitations

The main limitation of this study is the very small sample size. Replication of our preliminary findings in a larger powered trial is necessary to determine whether the findings are truly reflective of biological processes. In addition, ³¹P-MRS in muscle can provide dynamic data, helpful to characterise further the bioenergetics of the tissue. In the future, analysis of such dynamic data might help shedding light on ATP, PCr and Pi response to muscle contraction in PSF. In this study, there are technical limitations related to muscle ³¹P-MRS being a non-invasive technique that necessitates a surface coil with inherently limited depth sensitivity (Menon et al., 2021). Also, there may have been variability related to coil placement which may have increased the variance and perhaps reduced accuracy of data acquisition; nonetheless, all care was taken for the acquisition to take place in a standardised manner, including placement of coil being cross-checked by both the radiographer and Author of this thesis. Another drawback of ³¹P-MRS limiting its use in clinical practice is the high cost, requirement

for a specialised coil that is not routinely available on most clinical MRI scanners and lack of fully automated and standardised analysis pathways.

5.7 Conclusion and Future directions

To our knowledge, this is the first study that has utilized ³¹P-MRS to measure skeletal muscle metabolism in stroke patients with fatigue. It is also the first study we are aware of to correlate skeletal muscle spectroscopic parameters with measures of fatigue and physical function such as walking distances and MVIC in stroke. This is important as it might help encourage the development of this technique as a biomarker for physical function or fatigue in stroke. This study provides a first demonstration of the potential of skeletal muscle ATP as a biomarker for fatigue and physical function and sheds light on how the effects of RIC may occur. The disproportionate differences in effect of RIC on affected and non-affected stroke muscle groups may also help explain why studies in clinical populations have shown more promise for RIC compared to studies in healthy individuals or elite athletes. Our findings are preliminary and warrant further investigation. To test the validity of our findings this study needs to be repeated on a larger scale. We also plan to investigate the dynamic recovery of ATP following a protocol of isometric muscle contraction while acquiring ³¹P-MRS data.

CHAPTER 6. QUALITATIVE EXPERIENCES OF REMOTE ISCHAEMIC CONDITIONING FOR FATIGUE AFTER STROKE

6.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter was to explore individual expectations and experiences of the RIC intervention by conducting semi-structured qualitative interviews. Although studies evaluating chronic use of RIC have been conducted (Meng et al., 2015a, Meng et al., 2012, Shahvazian et al., 2017, Hansen et al., 2019, Durand et al., 2019, Vanezis et al., 2018, Kono et al., 2014, Chen et al., 2017, Kate et al., 2019) and have reported good adherence rates generally (Hansen et al., 2019, Meng et al., 2012, Chen et al., 2017) such adherence rates can vary considerably and may depend on the duration and frequency of the intervention, and the pressure protocols used. Interestingly there is a significant lack of data exploring how people feel about using what is sometimes viewed as a 'counter-intuitive' treatment. If a treatment like RIC is found to be effective for conditions like PSF, then it is imperative to identify common issues people face using it in order to optimise treatment utility moving forward. Further, prior studies investigating RIC on vascular outcome measures (Manchurov et al., 2020, Jones et al., 2015, Loukogeorgakis et al., 2005, Meng et al., 2012, Jeffries et al., 2018a, Kimura et al., 2007) or measures of muscle function (Hyngstrom et al., 2018, Durand et al., 2019) lack a qualitative component that details how any effects of RIC translate into everyday life for individuals. As such, we wanted to investigate what participants felt about the treatment (e.g., whether they thought it was uncomfortable, the duration and frequency of delivery) as well as whether participants felt as though they responded to the treatment (e.g., did they feel less tired) and if they would be prepared to have the treatment in the future. We also investigated the facilitators and barriers to adherence with the intervention and explored what it was like for participants who self-administered the intervention at home.

6.2 Aim and objectives

Aim: To investigate individual participant experiences with repeated RIC to treat fatigue after stroke.

Objective: To undertake and analyse semi-structured interviews with stroke patients with debilitating fatigue who had received RIC three times weekly for 6 weeks.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Sample

Eight participants in the active treatment group were sequentially offered the opportunity to participate in a semi-structured interview with the researcher.

6.3.2 Procedure

Informed consent was obtained at the beginning of the study (Appendix 6). Semi-structured qualitative interviews were conducted face-to-face or over the telephone (depending on covid-19 restrictions) using a topic guide (Appendix 21). The interview took place either during the last scheduled study visit or at another mutually exclusive time between the participant and researcher. Interviews were audio recorded using an Olympus Digital Voice Recorder VN-731PC and later transcribed verbatim. Participants were unaware of treatment allocation at the time of the interview to maintain treatment blinding at 3- and 6-month follow-up.

6.3.3 Confidentiality

Interview recordings and files containing the transcriptions of the interviews were stored on a password protected and encrypted laptop only accessible to the research team. Interview transcripts were anonymised and labelled with the participant's study ID. A printed copy of the interview transcripts was stored in the study site file, which is stored securely at the Royal Hallamshire hospital, Sheffield. Face-to-face interviews were conducted in a private room with only the participant and the interviewing researcher present and participants consented to the interview being audio recorded. Telephone interviews were also recorded (hands-free) using an Olympus Digital Voice Recorder VN-731PC and were transcribed and safely stored the same way as described above.

6.3.4 Analysis

Interview transcripts were analysed using thematic analysis following the six-phase process outlined in Braun and Clarke. (2006). These six phases are: (1) data familiarisation (includes

transcription of verbal data, repeated reading and note taking), (2) generating initial codes (identifying data that is interesting and meaningful), (3) search for themes (codes you have generated are grouped into overarching themes and subthemes), (4) review themes (refinement of themes), (5) defining and naming themes, (6) produce the report. We took a theoretical approach to thematic analysis (i.e., the analysis was driven by our interest in the research topic) (Braun and Clarke, 2006) and asked questions about the specific known issues we had information about relating to the treatment. The result of this process is a thematic map (see Figure 48). A second researcher reviewed the coded data and agreed the plausibility of the emerging themes. Recruitment of participants was intended to continue until it was felt that content saturation was reached.

6.4 Results

A total of eight participants in the active treatment group (4 male, 4 female) participated in semi-structured qualitative interview. Four of the participants had received in-hospital RIC and 4 participants had received home-RIC. The five main themes that emerged from thematic analysis were (1) participant expectations of the treatment, (2) positive treatment responses, (3) treatment side effects (4) facilitators and barriers to compliance with the intervention, and (5) willingness to have the treatment in the future. These themes and subthemes are depicted in Figure 48.



Participant expectations

The first theme that emerged concerned participant expectations of the treatment. Subthemes included: (1) expected treatment benefits and (2) anticipation of discomfort. When asked what they expected the treatment to be like three participants said they thought it might help them to feel better and to improve their fatigue. This is likely the result of the information provided in the patient information sheet (Appendix 4). To our knowledge, only one participant who was in the home-sham group had read about the treatment before the study as they expressed disappointment when they were told what pressure they had to inflate the blood pressure cuff to.

RIC01: 'I went hoping it would make me better and help. I was better for a while and think it did help.' (Female age 62).

RIC05: *'I just thought you were going to try and help improve my fatigue'* (Male age 47).

RIC23: *'I thought it might help me out so that's why I went for the study.'* (Male age 56).

Participants expected it to be uncomfortable as they were familiar with the feeling of getting a blood pressure check. However, they had no other concerns and were intrigued to know if the treatment would work (although participants were aware when they consented to the study there was a chance they would be randomised to a 'dummy' treatment). They trusted the researchers would not ask them to do something that would cause them harm. The simple nature of the intervention and the fact it did not involve taking a drug was reassuring for participants.

RIC01: '*I* knew what it was like to get your blood pressure checked but I didn't find it too uncomfortable.' (Female age 62).

RIC25: 'Although I thought the level of it (referring to the pressure), I knew it would be uncomfortable, but I wasn't worried about it because you wouldn't be asking me to do something that is dangerous.' (Female age 61). **RIC18:** 'I wasn't worried about it because it didn't involve taking anything if you see what I mean. If it involved taking a drug, I would have been a bit more worried about it. The fact it was fairly straight forward it didn't strike me as being a difficult thing to ask of me really.' (Female age 69).

Positive treatment responses

Overall, most participants felt as though they responded positively to the treatment. Most participants felt as though symptoms related to their fatigue improved, both from a physical perspective and from a cognitive one.

RIC01: 'I felt less tired. I think I did benefit from it. I felt less of a need to sleep in the day.' (Female age 62).

RIC02: 'I'm not as tired and I feel better within myself. I'm in a good place... I feel like I can do more such as playing golf and going to the gym. I am concentrating better too.' (Male age 44).

RIC18: 'Yes I did very much so. When I came to do the re-test (6-week follow-up), the cycling and things, I felt a lot better. I felt more energetic.' (Female age 69).

RIC25: '*I*'m able to do more. I'm less tired, less breathless and I'm not sleeping in the day as often as I was at the start.' (Female age 61).

Interestingly, one participant said after they finished the treatment, they thought their fatigue went back to what it was like before the study.

RIC01: 'Since discontinuing slowly over time my fatigue has got worse but my arthritis is getting worse so it could be that... after the treatment my fatigue went back to what it was like before the study started.'

Participants also reported increased level of physical activity, improved sleep and better mental health.

RIC02: '*I*'m not sure if it was a placebo though. I have started to sleep better since.' (Male age 44).

RIC22: '*The past few days I've walked a lot further than I have done in ages.*' (Female age 61).

RIC23: 'It made me feel a lot better in the mind because I thought it was doing me good. It made me feel better within myself.' (Male age 56).

However, one participant did not feel as though the treatment helped them in any way.

RIC16: 'I don't think it helped at all. Especially the last few days, well you can probably tell with my voice how weak I am. That is the first thing that starts going when I am fatigued.' (Male age 73).

Treatment side effects

Overall, participants tolerated the treatment very well. Participants expressed experiencing mild symptoms including slight swelling of the arm where the cuff had been inflated and pins and needles. One participant who received in-hospital RIC experienced dizziness one day after receiving the treatment, however they explained how they did not have any breakfast that morning which may have been a contributing factor.

RIC01: 'A little bit of swelling but it wasn't problematic.' (Female age 62)

RIC02: 'That one day where I experienced some dizziness, but I had no other side effects... there was an element of discomfort, but it wasn't that bad' (Male age 44).

RIC16: 'Just a slight tingling in the arm at times but when the pressure pad (cuff) was taken off it was not a problem, ' (Male age 73).

One participant in the hospital-RIC group thought the treatment was a shock at first (referring to the pressure) but thought it got easier over time (based on feedback and experience with the participant over the 6-weeks).

RIC02: 'It was a shock at first, I didn't expect it.' (Male age 44).

Facilitators to and barriers of compliance with the intervention

Overall participants felt it was acceptable to receive the treatment three times per week. One participant said the study was more time consuming than they anticipated but this was not a problem for them.

RIC02: 'Three times a week was manageable.' (Male age 44).

RIC16: 'It was okay. It fit into my lifestyle alright no problem.' (Male age 73).

RIC18: '*It was probably more time consuming than I thought it would be, but it wasn't a problem.*' (Female age 69).

However, one participant highlighted how it was manageable because they were able to selfadminister the intervention at home. They thought some people would have struggled if they had to travel to the hospital three times a week to receive the treatment.

RIC25: 'It was manageable. I just think it was easier to be able to do it at home and I think a lot of people would have found it difficult to be travelling if they had needed to travel in each time.' (Female age 61).

Although this may have been the case for some people, this was not a complaint expressed by participants in our study. Most of the participants who received in-hospital RIC were either out of work or retired, and free transport was available for all participants who required it. One participant in the treatment condition worked full-time but had an understanding employer who allowed them the time off work to participate in the study.

RIC02: 'Yes because work was very good and lenient.' (Male age 44).

Parking was difficult at the Royal Hallamshire hospital due to limited car parking space and participants were also required to pay for parking (although this was reimbursed) unless they had a disability badge. However, at Sheffield Hallam University and at the Assessment and Rehabilitation centre (ARC) there was free parking.

RIC01: 'It was a lot easier coming to ARC than the Royal Hallamshire hospital. It was easier to park, and I found it easier getting in and out of the car.' (Female age 62).

A couple of participants in the home-RIC group reported having issues with the timer. One participant said they sometimes forgot to turn the time on, the other participant said their wife operated the timer.

RIC18: '*The only thing I did do a couple of times is forget to switch the timer on then think oh bother now what do I do?*' (Female age 69).

RIC23: *'Not really. I would have struggled doing the timing and that, but my wife did it. '* (Male age 56)

One participant started the intervention in hospital but had to stop when covid-19 restrictions were introduced. When restrictions were lifted, and recruitment recommenced this participant was happy to re-start the intervention, but this time was trained on how to self-administer the intervention at home. Therefore, they had experience of in-hospital and home-RIC. They thought having it in hospital first made it easier for them to do it themselves at home.

RIC18: 'I think doing it at home (the treatment) on top of never having done it would have been quite difficult but actually having had the ARC experience it was very straight forward really. I could do it whilst watching the television. It wasn't a big deal really. (Female age 69).

A key facilitator expressed by one participant in the hospital-RIC group was the social aspect of the study.

RIC01: 'It was sociable which is good if you are isolated. It was nice to see and chat to people.' (Female age 62)

Willingness to have the treatment in the future

All eight participants said they would be prepared to have the treatment again in the future if it was shown to be effective.

RIC02: 'Yes, the only issue was the time away from work.' (Male age 44).

RIC16: 'Coming to ARC was no concern for me anyway but if there was a home treatment, I would certainly do that no problem'. (Male age 73).

RIC22: '*Yes. If it is proved that it does help, then yeah.*' (Female age 61).

RIC23: 'Yes, I would yeah. If I'm thinking it's going to help me I would yeah.' (Male age 56)

6.5 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore participant experiences of independently using RIC. Studies have used qualitive feedback to explore reasons for discontinuation of selfor care delivered RIC (Kate et al., 2019), however we are unaware of any studies that have performed a more in-depth exploration of participant experiences of RIC using semi-structured qualitive interviews.

Overall, the interview responses demonstrate that participants thought the RIC treatment was acceptable. Participants only reported experiencing mild symptoms/discomfort using the treatment that did not deter them from completing the study or considering ongoing future use if found to be effective for PSF. One way to mitigate the level of discomfort would be to utilise a different pressure protocol for RIC e.g., 30 mmHg above systolic pressure. This might be more tolerable but risks uncertainty about delivering true RIC as the participant's blood

pressure might increase during the procedure. Given that the side effects were mild it might be okay to continue with the current pressure protocol.

Participants had positive expectations of the intervention before starting the study. This is not uncommon and may have been due to the delivery of information about the study prior to or following recruitment and may have contributed to a placebo effect for the intervention and the sham group together. Improvement in fatigue were seen in both groups (RIC and sham) that may have mimicked the natural time course of PSF, however, while we believe the disproportionate treatment effect in the RIC group to be due to physiological effects of RIC, we cannot discount the effect that this positive expectation had on the outcome measures seen in the study.

It is evident that most participants interviewed felt as though the treatment benefitted them in some way. For example, participants reported feeling less tired with less daytime somnolence, improved night-time sleep and improved mood and physical activity. Importantly participants noted improvements in concentration demonstrating it effects more 'central' symptoms of fatigue rather than solely benefitting more 'peripheral' symptoms. These reports help link improvements in clinical outcome measures (FSS, 6MWT etc) to meaningful changes in the everyday lives of people with PSF. Of course, we cannot exclude the potential beneficial effect of participating in the study itself on these positive changes. The QoL measures (e.g., EQ5D-5L) did not change much over the course of the six-week intervention. This may be because the participants were already fairly highly functioning at the beginning of the study. However, even clinically modest improvements in mood or functioning can have substantial meaning to patients. From the interview responses it seems participants did feel as though they felt better after the treatment and that they were finding day to day activities easier (e.g., walking, going to the gym) which is reassuring.

Key facilitators to adherence expressed by participants in the hospital-RIC group was free parking at the research sites and having an understanding employer. They also enjoyed the sociability aspect of the study. Free transport arranged by the researcher was another key facilitator to participation in the study. At the beginning of the study participants were expected to pay for their transport and claim the money back. However, due to the frequency of study visits (three times weekly for 6-weeks) understandably people could not afford it. We were able to get a contract with a local taxi company which allowed the researcher to pre-book transport. The introduction of home-RIC during the pandemic also facilitated recruitment and adherence. Although participants in the home-RIC expressed having trouble with the timer and required help from family members. These findings suggest that an ideal intervention would be one that is self-delivered at home. Home-delivered RIC is convenient, people can do it while watching the TV and it negates the barriers associated with centre delivered treatment. The timers were an issue thus development of an automated RIC machine with pre-set protocols will enhance ease of treatment delivery. It is really reassuring that all participants interviewed said they would be willing to have the treatment in the future if it was shown to be beneficial.

Studies looking at the qualitative aspect of conditioning is lacking. The study by Kate et al. (2019) discussed previously found that reasons for discontinuation of RIC therapy (33% of patients discontinued the study) included the length of the treatment (repeated two twice daily for 12-weeks), development of petechial rash, pain during the intervention, illness of caregiver and treatment associated anxiety. Two participants withdrew because either they found an alternative therapy or they felt better (Kate et al., 2019). A few qualitative studies have been conducted of stroke survivors' experience with PSF (Flinn and Stube, 2010, Barbour and Mead, 2012, Kirkevold et al., 2012, White et al., 2012b, Worthington et al., 2017). However, data is lacking on what it actually feels like when fatigue improves from a patient perspective. We cannot say whether people realistically knew whether they were in the treatment or control arm. However, we tried in the trial design to help avoid lack of blinding. For example, although participants were aware they would be randomised to "treatment" or "dummy treatment", they were just told there would be a difference in the pressure the cuff is inflated to. Also, study visits were arranged so that participants could not meet each other or discuss the study. In the hospital-RIC group, the researcher delivering the treatment avoided showing the participant the pressure to which they were inflating the cuff. However, participants in the home-RIC group had to perform the intervention themselves at home and were taught to inflate the cuff until they reached the coloured sticker on the Sphygmomanometer dial that was clearly over the 200-mmHg mark. Therefore, there is a greater chance of them being able to look up details of the intervention and expected pressures online. Prior studies that have used RIC in patients with stroke have shown that the sham is feasible and that most participants are unaware of treatment allocation. This was demonstrated in a study by England et al. (2019) of 60 stroke patients (31 RIC, 29 sham) who found that when asked which intervention participants thought they received, 93% did not know, 4% answered incorrectly and 4% were correct. However, the RIC protocol used in their study was slightly different (cuff inflated to 20 mmHg above SBP

rather than 200 mmHg for everyone) and was delivered using an automated RIC machine. It might be that going forward we can look at using a slightly different approach. This might make the treatment more tolerable for patients long-term, for example, an elderly patient with fatigue who has low blood pressure (e.g., 120 mmHg SBP) would not need to inflate the cuff to 200 mmHg. It would just make the intervention more intolerable for no added reason. A protocol of 20-30 mmHg above SBP might be more appropriate for those patients.

Results from our qualitative interviews will help optimise RIC treatment delivery in a larger definitive trial and will help in the planning of a full-scale RCT to test the efficacy of RIC for fatigue after stroke. For example, in a larger trial we can offer additional training on how to use the stopwatches and ensure they are as easy to operate. Using an automated device that automatically inflates/deflates the cuff rather than a manual device would prevent issues with timers and would be less effort for participants. In future trials we can try and use research sites with free accessible parking and ensure measures are in place before the study starts to be able to pre-book transport.

6.6 Strengths and limitations

A limitation of this study is that we only obtained responses from participants in the active treatment condition and did not interview participants in the sham group. It would have been good to explore whether there was a placebo effect in the sham group. This is because we wanted to explore the safety and acceptability of the intervention. The topic guides also focused a lot on acceptability (e.g., did you find the treatment uncomfortable? Did you have any problems?) and whether participants felt as though they 'responded to the treatment'. It is likely that we did not reach 'data saturation' (point during data collection where no new information is being obtained) (Saunders et al., 2017, Guest et al., 2020) due to the effects of the pandemic on trial recruitment, and future trials should also focus on obtaining participant views to help supplement the existing qualitative data on RIC experience. Despite this we were able to obtain interviews from an even split of participants who received hospital or home RIC and were therefore able to gain an insight into the experience of both types of treatment delivery. There was also an even split between the number of males and females interviewed. Participants were not aware of treatment allocation when they were interviewed to avoid this

impacting their responses to the interview questions and to maintain blinding at 3- and 6-month telephone follow-ups.

Thematic analysis is flexible and provides a rich and detailed account of research data (Nowell et al., 2017). It is quick to learn, does not require detailed prior knowledge of qualitative methods, and is useful for summarizing key features of large data sets (Nowell et al., 2017). However, this flexibility can lead to lack of coherence and inconsistencies when developing themes. Furthermore, thematic analysis relies heavily on the interpretation of the researcher conducting the analysis (Nowell et al., 2017, Kiger and Varpio, 2020). In our study a second researcher reviewed the data and agreed the plausibility of the identified themes. Both researchers also had experience of conducting thematic analysis previously.

6.7 Conclusion

In conclusion, the interview responses highlighted that most participants felt like RIC improved their life in some way, whether that was improved energy levels, mood, sleep, concentration or level of activity. The responses from these interviews show that improvements in fatigue can have a big impact on someone's day to day life. Centre based delivery of RIC was acceptable but home-based delivery may offer a way to circumnavigate a number of identified barriers to treatment utility going forward. This study helps fill a gap in our knowledge about participant experiences of RIC including home-delivered RIC.
CHAPTER 7. REMOTE ISCHAEMIC CONDITIONING FOR FATIGUE AFTER STROKE: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

7.1 Conclusion

RIC is a relatively novel treatment that may be helpful for PSF because of the mechanisms of action (improved mitochondrial function, improved tissue perfusion, reduced oxidative stress) and how they might counteract the mechanisms of development of PSF (impaired mitochondrial energetics, inflammation, physical deconditioning).

In chapter two we undertook the first known pilot, randomised, placebo-controlled trial evaluating whether 6-weeks of researcher-or-home delivered RIC three times weekly is safe and tolerable to undertake in stroke patients with debilitating fatigue. The results of our study showed 6-weeks of RIC was safe and acceptable in these patients and patients were able to be recruited into a RCT like this.

A pilot RCT aims to help identify if there are any treatment signals that come from the intervention. In Chapter three we analysed some secondary outcome measures that were primarily aimed at identifying this. We used one of the most commonly used fatigue scales in neurological disease and stroke and found that RIC delivered three times per week delivered at home or at the center seemed to result in a trend towards a benefit in fatigue scores that were mirrored by an improvement in their walking distances and walking speeds. This appeared to be independent of any changes in cognition or mood that might confound these findings. While it is important to know this is a very small study and that the limitations of such studies might make us question the validity of these results.

On a physiological basis one of the things we wanted to understand is whether there were physiological outcome measures that may help us understand why such an effect on fatigue severity occurred amongst these individuals in the treatment arm. In chapter four, we describe one of the mechanistic evaluations that utilized cardiopulmonary exercise testing to try and help understand any potential treatment effect. We found that out of the cardiopulmonary outcome measures VO_{2peak} is the most strongly correlated with fatigue and 6MWT and the correlation between VO_{2peak} and 6MWT was statistically significant. While no obvious effect

of RIC was observed on VO_{2peak} , there were mild trends towards increased VAT and reduced VE/VCO₂ slope which may support a move towards improved CRF and efficiency of energy production in the treatment group.

In chapter five, we describe the results of an exploratory study using a technique that looks to evaluate cellular energetics at tissue level. The results suggest that ATP seems to be well correlated with fatigue and measures of physical function (6MWT, MVIC) and represents a promising biomarker for PSF that requires further investigation. Also, when we look at the intervention effects RIC seems to result in improved levels of ATP in the tissue, potentially reflecting improved capacity for energy generation. As a consequence of this it potentially sheds light on the mechanism through which RIC has an effect on peripheral energy utilization and development of fatigue. RIC might improve the way the mitochondria create energy within the muscle. If energy production mechanisms are more efficient and there is less tissue lactic acid production, then we might hypothesize there is less of a need to ventilate more CO₂ which is why the VE/VCO₂ slope reduces. It might also help explain why the VAT increases i.e., aerobic ATP generating potential of tissues and muscles increases, more prominently in the stroke affected side, before it has to switch into a less efficient anaerobic method. The overall result might be that people are able to walk further and do more before experiencing fatigue.

The qualitative discussion in Chapter 6 demonstrates how these changes people experience lead to meaningful changes in their day-to-day life. In this chapter we acquired a greater understanding of what facilitated treatment completion (e.g., home-RIC, parking assistance) and what might make compliance difficult for people (e.g., issues with timer in the home-RIC group). Thus, we have a clearer understanding of how to optimize the treatment for future delivery in a larger trial and potentially in clinical practice.

7.2 Future directions

On the basis of the results of this study we conclude there is sufficient evidence to warrant a larger definitive research study looking at the efficacy of RIC for PSF. We have a better understanding of how to try and optimize the treatment for successful delivery and we understand which clinical outcome measures would be useful and practical to measure in a full-scale study. Further, we glean information as to which biomarkers may be helpful in understanding more about the mechanism through which any effects of RIC occur.

Appendices

Section/Topic	ltem No	Checklist item
	1a	Identification as a pilot or feasibility randomised trial in the title
	1b	Structured summary of pilot trial design, methods, results, and conclusions (for specific guidance see CONSORT abstract extension for pilot trials)
Background and objectives	2a	Scientific background and explanation of rationale for future definitive trial, and reasons for randomised pilot trial
	2b	Specific objectives or research questions for pilot trial
Trial design	3a	Description of pilot trial design (such as parallel, factorial) including allocation ratio
-	3b	Important changes to methods after pilot trial commencement (such as eligibility criteria), with reasons
Participants	4a	Eligibility criteria for participants
	4b	Settings and locations where the data were collected
	4c	How participants were identified and consented
Interventions	5	The interventions for each group with sufficient details to allow replication, including how and when they were actually administered
Outcomes	6a	Completely defined prespecified assessments or measurements to address each pilot trial objective specified in 2b, including how and when they were assessed
	6b	Any changes to pilot trial assessments or measurements after the pilot trial commenced, with reasons
	6c	If applicable, prespecified criteria used to judge whether, or how, to proceed with future definitive trial
Sample size	7a	Rationale for numbers in the pilot trial
	7b	When applicable, explanation of any interim analyses and stopping guidelines
Randomisation:		

Sequence	8a	Method used to generate the random allocation sequence
generation	8b	Type of randomisation(s); details of any restriction (such as blocking and block size)
Allocation	9	Mechanism used to implement the random allocation sequence (such as sequentially numbered
concealment		containers), describing any steps taken to conceal the sequence until interventions were assigned
mechanism		
Implementation	10	Who generated the random allocation sequence, who enrolled participants, and who assigned participants
		to interventions
Blinding	11a	If done, who was blinded after assignment to interventions (for example, participants, care providers, those
		assessing outcomes) and how
	11b	If relevant, description of the similarity of interventions
Statistical methods	12	Methods used to address each pilot trial objective whether qualitative or quantitative
Participant flow (a	13a	For each group, the numbers of participants who were approached and/or assessed for eligibility, randomly
diagram is strongly		assigned, received intended treatment, and were assessed for each objective
recommended)	13b	For each group, losses and exclusions after randomisation, together with reasons
Recruitment	14a	Dates defining the periods of recruitment and follow-up
	14b	Why the pilot trial ended or was stopped
Baseline data	15	A table showing baseline demographic and clinical characteristics for each group
Numbers analysed	16	For each objective, number of participants (denominator) included in each analysis. If relevant, these numbers
		should be by randomised group
Outcomes and	17	For each objective, results including expressions of uncertainty (such as 95% confidence interval) for any
estimation		estimates. If relevant, these results should be by randomised group
Ancillary analyses	18	Results of any other analyses performed that could be used to inform the future definitive trial
Harms	19	All important harms or unintended effects in each group (for specific guidance see CONSORT for harms)
	19a	If relevant, other important unintended consequences
Limitations	20	Pilot trial limitations, addressing sources of potential bias and remaining uncertainty about feasibility
Generalisability	21	Generalisability (applicability) of pilot trial methods and findings to future definitive trial and other studies
Interpretation	22	Interpretation consistent with pilot trial objectives and findings, balancing potential benefits and harms, and
		considering other relevant evidence

	22a	lications for progression from pilot to future definitive trial, including any proposed amendments				
Other information						
Registration	23	Registration number for pilot trial and name of trial registry				
Protocol	24	Where the pilot trial protocol can be accessed, if available				
Funding	25	Sources of funding and other support (such as supply of drugs), role of funders				
	26	Ethical approval or approval by research review committee, confirmed with reference number				

Appendix 2

FATIGUE SEVERITY SCALE (FSS)

Date _____

Name _____

Please circle the number between 1 and 7 which you feel best fits the following statements. This refers to your usual way of life within the last week. 1 indicates "strongly disagree" and 7 indicates "strongly agree."

Read and circle a number.	Strongly		y Disagree \rightarrow		Strongly Agree		ee
1 My motivation is lower when I am fatigued	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
			_			-	
2. Exercise brings on my fatigue.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3. I am easily fatigued.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4. Fatigue interferes with my physical functioning.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5. Fatigue causes frequent problems for me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6. My fatigue prevents sustained physical functioning.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7. Fatigue interferes with carrying out certain duties and responsibilities.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8. Fatigue is among my most disabling symptoms.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9. Fatigue interferes with my work, family, or social life.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Are you happy to be contacted in the future about future research studies? Yes/No

Appendix 3

Department of Geriatrics and Stroke Medicine

Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry & Health

Dr Ali Ali Consultant Physician Department of Geriatrics and Stroke Medicine Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Glossop Rd Sheffield S10 2JF United Kingdom

Dear

Telephone: +44 (0) 1142713789 Fax: +44 (0) 114 Email: ali.ali@sth.nhs.uk

I am writing to you to invite you on behalf of the Stroke Research team at the Sheffield Teaching Hospitals to consider taking part in a study that

will be investigating whether applying a blood pressure cuff around your arm for short periods of time **(Remote Ischemic Conditioning)** is acceptable to patients after stroke, helps reduce feelings of fatigue, and improves physical performance. This study is funded and organised by the Ryder Briggs Neuroscience Research Fund, Sheffield Biomedical Research Centre and the Department of Neuroscience, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals.

Fatigue can affect up to 75% of individuals after stroke and can have severely negative impacts on rehabilitation and quality of life. Effective treatments are scarce and thus research looking at ways to treat fatigue are urgently needed. This study will look to see if Remote Ischemic Conditioning (RIC) can be undertaken **3 times a week for a period of 6 weeks** and whether it can help improve fatigue and physical performances in people who suffer stroke. To do this we aim to recruit patients who have had a stroke and suffer with fatigue.

What will be involved?

Patients that wish to be involved in the study will be asked to attend the Royal Hallamshire Hospital or the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) at Nether Edge Hospital to complete a consent form to participate in the study. During this visit you will also have a fitness test (we will see how far you can walk in 6-minutes) and will be asked to complete a series of questionnaires regarding your fatigue, mood, memory and quality of life. The researcher (PhD researcher from the University of Sheffield) will also take a blood sample and a heart tracing (ECG) for research purposes. You may be selected to have a specialised MRI scan of the legs, however this will be optional and you can opt out of this if you wish.

At a second visit, you will be asked to complete another fitness test but this time on a seated cycling machine. Following this you will either receive the **RIC treatment** or a 'dummy' treatment which will involve inflating a blood pressure cuff around the upper arm for 5 minutes and then deflating it for 5 minutes. This cycle will be repeated 4 times in total (40 minutes). The treatment will be delivered three times a week for 6-weeks at the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) at Nether Edge Hospital. In exceptional circumstances (e.g. you work full-time, COVID-19 restrictions), you may be given the option to self-administer the intervention independently at home. If you opt for home delivery then you will be trained on how to attach and inflate the remote ischaemic conditioning cuff. Alternatively, the researcher can arrange weekly home visits to administer the intervention to you at home.

At the end of the 6-week study period the same tests and questionnaires completed at the beginning will be repeated. You may also be asked to take part in a short interview, however this is optional. The researcher will then complete telephone follow up assessments at 3, 6 and 12 months. You are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason and all information gathered will be stored securely and treated as strictly confidential.

We have enclosed a copy of the patient information sheet and would be grateful if you would read it and consider whether or not you would wish to take part.

Will I get paid for the time I spend as part of the team?

Unfortunately we do not have enough resources to pay individuals directly for their time, but we will reimburse travel expenses or car parking charges that you incur through taking part in this study up to a maximum of £20 per study visit. Refreshments will also be provided at each study visit.

If you are interested in taking part, please ring the telephone number above or send an email with your contact details to <u>bjemoyle1@sheffield.ac.uk</u>, and member of the research team will get back to you with further information. Yours sincerely,

Dr Ali Ali MBChB, MRCP, MSc Chief Investigator Sheffield Teaching Hospitals

Bethany Moyle PhD researcher University of Sheffield

Appendix 4

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Study title: Remote Ischemic Conditioning to improve Fatigue after Stroke (RICFAST) – a pilot randomised, single-blind, placebo controlled trial

Principal Investigator: Dr Ali Ali STH 19508

You are invited to participate in a research project to find out whether applying a blood pressure cuff around your arm for short periods of time (remote ischemic conditioning), is acceptable to patients after a stroke, helps reduce feelings of fatigue, and improves physical performance.

Before you decide whether to take part it is important that you understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information sheet carefully and discuss it with friends, or relatives, if you wish.

Please ask us if there is anything that is not clear to you or if you would like more information.

1. What is the purpose of the study?

Fatigue can affect up to 75% of individuals after stroke and can have severely negative impacts on rehabilitation and quality of life. Effective treatments are scarce and thus research looking at ways to treat fatigue are urgently needed.

Remote ischemic conditioning (RIC) is a technique where a blood pressure cuff is inflated around a limb (e.g. an arm) for short periods of time. This may stimulate improvements in the blood flow to organs such as the brain and muscles, but also may improve the way in which cells use oxygen. The treatment has been safely used in patients with heart disease and stroke previously, mainly for its potential effects in reducing the amount of tissue damage after a blood vessel becomes blocked. It has also been used in athletes to help improve their physical performance.

This study will look to see if RIC can be feasibly undertaken 3 times a week for a period of 6 weeks and whether it can help improve fatigue and physical performances in patients who have suffered stroke.

2. Why have I been invited to take part?

You have been invited because you had a stroke and suffer with fatigue.

3. Do I have to take part?

Your participation in the study is entirely voluntary. Once enrolled in the study you can still withdraw at any time without giving a reason. If you decide not to take part, the medical care you receive will not be affected.

4. What will happen to me if I take part?

You will be asked to attend the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) at Nether Edge Hospital or the Royal Hallamshire Hospital to complete a consent form to participate in the study. You will then be asked to complete a questionnaire regarding the fatigue you suffer. If you score high enough and all the other eligibility criteria are met then you will be included in the study. The researchers will collect some personal and clinical details from you such as your diagnosis, your medications, age as well as some details about your stroke (type, size, location, test results). They will then assess how far you can walk in 6 minutes and will help you complete some questionnaires assessing your mood, memory, and quality of life. The researcher will also take a few blood samples and a heart tracing (ECG) for safety and research purposes. One blood sample will be stored for analysis of blood markers including immune and genetic tests at a later date. The first visit will take approximately 1.5 hours to complete.

In a second visit, you will be asked to complete a fitness test on a seated cycling machine. This will take around 20 minutes and will involve cycling at gradually more difficult level throughout the test until you cannot go any further. For part of the test you will be asked to breathe through a facemask. Once you have recovered completely from the cycle test (and your pulse rate has become normal again) the researcher will deliver the **RIC** or '**dummy**' treatment (**Figure 1**). This will involve inflating a blood pressure cuff around the upper arm for 5 minutes and then deflating it for 5 minutes. This cycle will be repeated 4 times in total (40 minutes). The '*dummy*' treatment will involve inflating a blood pressure cuff around the arm, but to a different pressure. You will not know which treatment you are allocated until the results are analysed at the end. This procedure will be performed **three times a week for 6 weeks** at the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) at Nether Edge Hospital. At the end of the second visit you will be given a symptom diary to keep track of any side effects or problems that you encounter. As well you will be given a wrist monitor that measures your level of physical activity. This should be worn as much as possible during the study period.

In exceptional circumstances (e.g. you work full-time, COVID-19 restrictions) you will be given the option to self-administer the treatment independently at home. Alternatively, the researcher can arrange three times weekly home visits to administer the intervention to you at home. If you choose to administer the intervention yourself then during the first visit you will be trained on how to correctly attach the remote ischaemic conditioning cuff and inflate it to the correct pressure. The researcher will then provide you with a cuff and a digital timer for a trial period of at least 48 hours so you can practise using the device. During visit two the researcher will assess whether you can use the device properly. If you are able and willing to perform the intervention with competency you will be asked to use the device on your arm three times weekly for 6 weeks. You can perform the treatment at any time of the day. The researcher will call you twice weekly at your own convenience to check for any problems, troubleshoot issues with the device, and ensure you are happy to continue.

You may also be selected to have an MRI scan of the legs, however this is optional and you can opt out if you wish. If you are selected for an MRI and would like to take part you will first complete a questionnaire to make sure you have no metal fragments in your body. Next, you will be asked to perform small flexion/extension exercises of the knee, after which you will be asked to lie down on a table in the scanner. The scanner itself can be noisy but is usually well tolerated. The scan will take about 40 minutes.



Figure 1. Chronic remote ischemic conditioning being undertaken on a patient. Ref: https://www.healthline.com/

Each week the researchers will ask how the treatment is going and if you have had any untoward symptoms or problems with the activity monitors. They will be able to help with any problems or questions you have. They will also ask if you are happy to continue in the study.

At the end of the 6 week study period you will not need to continue the RIC treatment. The researchers will repeat all the tests and questionnaires that you completed at the start of the study. We will aim to repeat the MRI scan, which may mean a short trip from the Sheffield Hallam University to the Royal Hallamshire Hospital. You will be asked if you are happy to have a short interview that will be recorded as well as audio recorded, about your experiences of the RIC treatment, however this will be optional.

The researchers will follow you up at 3, 6 and 12 months via telephone to see how you are getting on. After this time your involvement in the study will be complete.

A table summarising the study schedule:

Visit	Week	Assessment	Therapy	Duration
Number				(hrs)
1	1	 Screen eligibility. Consent. Walking test (6MWT). Blood tests. ECG. Demographic and clinical details. Healthcare utilisation. Outcome measure assessments. Training on self-administration of RIC (home delivery participants only) 	• Nil	1.5 hours
2	1	 Cycle test (VO2 max) Outcome measure assessments. Delivery and explanation of symptom diary. Explanation of activity monitor. MRI of the legs – 8 participants. Assessment of competency in self-administration of treatment (home delivery participants only) 	 Treatment (RIC/dummy treatment). 	1.5 hours
(3-19)	1-6	 Acceptability of treatment (RIC/dummy treatment). Symptom diary review. Activity monitor review. Twice weekly telephone follow-up (home delivery participants only) 	 Treatment (RIC/dummy treatment) 	1 hour
20	6	 Cycle test (VO2 max). Walking test (6MWT). Blood tests. ECG. Demographic and clinical details. Outcome measure assessments. Activity monitor review. Healthcare utilisation. MRI of the legs – 8 participants. 	End of study intervention.	2.5 hours
21	7	Qualitative interview.	• Nil	0.75 hours
(11) Telephone call	12	Questionnaires.Healthcare utilisation.	• Nil	1 hour
(12) Telephone call	26	Questionnaires.Healthcare utilisation.	• Nil	1 hour
(13) Telephone call	52	Questionnaires.Healthcare utilisation.	• Nil	1 hour

5. What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

Previous studies have shown that RIC is safe and well tolerated. The main side effects include discomfort and a 'pins and needles' feeling during cuff inflation in about 1 in 10 participants and minimal bruising associated with this (less than 1 in 30 participants).

Attending the study visits, having the tests and undertaking weekly RIC can be inconvenient and burdensome, but we will try to be as flexible as we can with these arrangements.

Some people may find it difficult to have an MRI scan (claustrophobia, panic), however, participants can opt out of having this test.

You are free to withdraw from this study if you find it too demanding on top of your other activities.

6. Will the treatment affect other symptoms of my stroke?

The researchers in this study will be undertaking memory tests to further evaluate any effects seen in this study. While there is no reason to think that RIC will affect any other symptoms caused by stroke, you will be asked about any changes in your health state at each study visit. If you have any concerns about the treatment, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time.

7. Will my participation affect my medical care in any way?

No, your medical care, including any physiotherapy you are undergoing on the NHS or privately can continue as normal, even if you are taking part in this study.

8. What if something goes wrong?

If you have a concern about any aspect of the study, you should ask to speak to the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions.

If you wish to complain formally, you can do this by writing to the study principal investigator (Dr Ali Ali, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Glossop Road, Sheffield S10 2JF) or telephone the NHS Complaints Procedure on 020 8672 1255.

Alternatively if you wish to speak to someone not directly involved in the study, you can contact the Patient Services at Royal Hallamshire Hospital (tel. 0114 2712400) or email <u>PST@sth.nhs.uk</u>.

9. Will I be reimbursed for expenses for taking part in the study?

Yes, we will reimburse travel expenses or car parking charges that you incur through taking part in this study up to a maximum of £20 per visit. Refreshments will also be provided at each study visit.

10. Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

Information relevant to your medical condition and results of your assessments will be treated as strictly confidential and securely stored on a password protected laptop, in a locked room at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital.

If you take part in the feedback interviews with the researchers, these will also be recorded. The recordings will only be listened to by a member of the research team and the words on the recording will be typed up and stored on a computer so that they can be analysed. Once this has been done, the recording will be erased. The written record of the interview will not contain your name or other personal details. Both the recording and the written record will be

kept secure at all times. We may use direct quotes from your recording when we explain the study results to others; however, no-one will be able to identify these as your comments.

Your GP will be informed by letter that you are taking part in the study. In addition, if any of your questionnaire responses raise concern about your medical condition, your GP will be informed.

If any other information is released outside the study office this will be done in a coded form with your name removed from the records so that confidentiality is strictly maintained. Data derived from the study will be stored in a secure computer database here at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital for a maximum of 15 years.

11. Will students be involved in this study?

Yes. A PhD student at the University of Sheffield will undertake the majority of the study treatments. Also, students doing their neurology MSc at the University of Sheffield will be involved in undertaking activities such as assisting with questionnaire completion and data analysis. They will also be involved in undertaking the qualitative interviews with participants. They will have received all the appropriate training to undertake all these activities before the study began.

12. Who is organising and funding the study?

This study is funded and organized by the Ryder Briggs Neuroscience Research Fund (Charity number 245122) and the department of Neurosciences Sheffield Teaching Hospitals.

13. How can I receive results of the study?

If you would like to receive the results of the study when they are available, please let one of the research team know and we will arrange for a summary to be sent to you by post.

Thank you for taking the time to consider participating in the study. Further information can be obtained from Dr Dr Ali Ali, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Glossop Road, Sheffield S10 2JF. Telephone 0114 271 1768. Alternatively, you can sent an email with your contact details to <u>bjemoyle1@sheffield.ac.uk</u> and a member of the research team will get back to you with further information.

Appendix 5

Remote Ischaemic Conditioning for Fatigue After STroke (RICFAST). A randomised, single-blind, placebo controlled trial.

Patient Information Leaflet

Fatigue

Fatigue can affect up to 75% of patients who suffer a stroke. It can have negative impacts on rehabilitation, recovery and quality of life. Effective treatments for fatigue are lacking and research in this area has been highlighted as a priority.



Remote Ischaemic Conditioning

Remote Ischaemic Conditioning (RIC) is a technique where a blood pressure cuff is inflated around a limb (e.g. upper arm) for short periods that do not cause harm but stimulate changes that may improve blood flow to tissues and how efficiently cells use oxygen.

It has been used safely in patients with heart disease and stroke.



Study Questions?

- Is it feasible to use RIC daily after stroke?
- Can RIC help improve fatigue after stroke and help improve physical performance?

Why have you been chosen?

 You have been chosen because you have had a stroke.



Do I have to take part?

- No – your participation is entirely voluntary.

What will happen if I take part?

- researcher will contact you to arrange a time to meet.
- They will record some details such as your diagnosis, your medications, age as well as some details about your stroke (type, size, location, test results).
- You will have some blood tests, a heart tracing (ECG), and be asked to complete some questionnaires about what you can do, your mood and memory and levels of fatigue.
- The researchers will see how far you can walk in 6 minutes and test you on a seated bicycle machine.
 We will arrange for you to attend the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre or Sheffield Hallam University to do this.



- Some of the blood samples will be stored for analysis later on.
- You may be selected to have a special MRI scan of the legs.
 - You can however *opt out* of having this test if you like.



- The researchers will give you a wrist monitor that measures your level of physical activity.
- They will demonstrate the RIC treatment with you
- This will be placed around the upper arm or leg.
- It will inflate for 5 minutes and then relax for 5 minute.
- This will be repeated 4 times in total.



- We will arrange for you to attend the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre or the Royal Hallamshire Hospitals 3 times a week to have this performed.
- In exceptional circumstances (e.g. you work fulltime, COVID-19 restrictions) the treatment may be self-administered at home. You will be trained on how to do this.
- Alternatively, the researcher can arrange weekly home visits and deliver the intervention in your home if more convenient.

- Each week the researchers monitor you and ask how the treatment is going.
- They will ask you to keep a diary of problems.
- They will ask if you are happy to continue.



- At the end of the 6 week study period the

researchers will repeat all the tests and

questionnaires you completed at the start of the study.

What happens after that?

- The researchers will ask if you would be happy to have a short interview about the treatment (RIC).
- This will be recorded using a digital recorder.
- We will aim to find out what difficulties people found.



Follow up?

- The researchers will call you at 3, 6 and 12 months after the study to find out how you are getting on.

What are the risks of taking part?

- The RIC treatment may be uncomfortable and burdensome.
- Some people may find it difficult to have an MRI scan.



- Attending the study visit and interview can be inconvenient and burdensome.
- However, our researchers will be as flexible with you as they can.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

- If RIC is effective at reducing fatigue then you may have benefited from the treatment.
- You will be contributing positively to our knowledge of stroke and this treatment.
- This may help future patients who suffer stroke.



What if something goes wrong?

- If you have any concerns about the study, then the researcher will be there to help.
- If you become distressed or unwell during the study, or you would like to stop for any reason that is fine.
- Your legal and medical rights will not be affected.



Will my taking part be kept confidential?

 Yes – all information collected about you during the study and the recorded interviews will be anonymised and kept on an encrypted laptop, secured in a locked office.



Who is organising the study?

- The department of Neurosciences, Geriatrics, and Stroke Medicine at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals.
- The Principle Investigator for this study is Dr Ali Ali, a stroke consultant at the stroke unit, Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Glossop Rd, Sheffield S10 2JF.
- Telephone: 01142711768.

Thank you for taking the time to consider this study.

Study ID Number	 	

PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM - Version 3 13.04.20

Study title: Remote Ischaemic Conditioning to improve Fatigue after Stroke (RICFAST) – a pilot randomised, single-blind, placebo controlled trial

Principal Investigators: Dr Ali Ali

	Please initial b	OX					
1)	I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet (version X dated XX/XX/XX) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.						
2)	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.						
3)	I understand that relevant sections of my medical notes and data collected during the study may be looked at by individuals from the research team, from regulatory authorities or from the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.						
4)	I understand that some personally identifiable information (my name, address, date of birth and telephone number) will be collected but these data will be stored in a locked office in the hospital and be kept separate from other data collected during the study.						
5)	i) I agree to have a blood sample taken which I understand will be stored and used for analysis of a number of blood markers and genetic tests related to future medical research projects. I understand that this is given as a gift.						
6)) I agree to have an MRI scan at the start and at the end of the study treatment which will look at metabolic functions of the leg muscles (optional).						
7)) I understand that my General Practitioner will be informed about my participation in the study and of any concerns about my medical condition which arise as a result of my participation						
8)) I agree to take part in an audio recorded interview with one of the research team after the treatment is complete for feedback about how I found the treatment (optional).						
9)	I agree to take part in the above study.						
	Name of Participant Date Signature						
	Name of witness Date Signature (For patients who cannot write)						

Name of Person taking consent

Date

Signature

Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Royal Hallamshire Hospital Glossop Road Sheffield S10 2JF, United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 (0) 114 2711768 **Fax:** +44 (0) 114 **Email:** ali.ali@sth.nhs.uk ali.ali@sheffield.ac.uk

(Date)

Dear Dr

Re: (Name) (Date of birth)

The above patient from your practice kindly agreed to take part in a research study entitled:

"Remote Ischaemic Conditioning for Fatigue after Stroke (RICFAST) – a pilot randomised, single-blind, placebo controlled trial"

Your patient has agreed to participate in the above study. They will attend the Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre at Nether Edge Hospital for baseline assessments and to receive a physical activity monitor and will have RIC or sham performed 3 times weekly. This will involve inflating a blood pressure cuff around the upper arm for 4 cycles of 5 minutes and will be used for a total of 6 weeks. Follow up assessments will occur at 3, 6 and 12 months after the start of the study.

Remote ischaemic conditioning has been used safely in patients with cardiac disease and has been tolerated well. All patients will undergo an ECG tracing and routine blood tests (full blood count, electrolytes, liver function tests, inflammatory markers, coagulation profile). Any significant abnormalities highlighted will be communicated with you and a member of our research team will contact you to discuss management.

We ask that patients keep a diary of any additional physiotherapy they receive outside the study during the 6 week intervention period, but please feel free to refer your patient for any therapy that you consider as part of their clinical care.

Please feel free to ask us any questions you have about the study or raise any concerns you may have about your patient taking part. Our team can be contacted at the address above.

Yours sincerely,

Dr Ali Ali MBChB, FRCP, MSc Chief Investigator

Assessment of Competency in Delivering RIC/Sham Intervention

Step	Competent	Not competent
Applies blood pressure cuff securely around the		
bare upper arm		
Inflates device to designated pressure setting		
Sets digital timer for 5 minute interval and presses		
start		
Deflates blood pressure cuff at the end of the 5		
minute interval		
Describes the intervals of further cycles (5 minutes		
on, 5 minutes off for 4 cycles)		

Symptom diary for Remote Ischaemic Conditioning

Please score on a scale of 1-5 where **1= none and 5= extremely severe**, how would you rate your experience of the following symptoms/side effects during the therapy sessions **you have just had**?

Symptom			Score				
Overall discomfort	1	2	3	4	5		
Skin irritation / redness	1	2	3	4	5		
Pain	1	2	3	4	5		
Weakness after	1	2	3	4	5		
Pins and needles	1	2	3	4	5		
How easy was it to use the Auto-RIC?							
Ease of use	Very easy	Easy	Fairly	Difficult	Very		
			manageable		difficult		

Did you experience **any other** unwanted effects? Please give details and score 1-5 as detailed above.

Symptom / Problem	Score

Remote Ischaemic Conditioning for Fatigue after Stroke (RICFAST) Compliance monitoring diary

How many days did you complete a full RIC treatment cycle (40 mins) in the last week?

.....

How many days did you do an incomplete session (< 40 minutes) in the last week?

.....

Did you miss any days altogether? Yes / No (circle) How many?

PHQ-9 Depression

Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you

been bothered by any of the following problems?			More	Nasuki
(Use "✔" to indicate your answer"	Not at all	Several days	the days	every day
1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3
3. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	3
4. Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	3
5. Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
6. Feeling bad about yourself — or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down	0	1	2	3
7. Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television	0	1	2	3
8. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed? Or the opposite — being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving .around a lot more than usual	0	1	2	3
	-	_	_	-
9. Thoughts that you would be better off dead or of hurting yourself in some way	0	1	2	3

Column totals ____ + ___ + ____ + ____

= Total Score _____
GAD-7 Anxiety

Column totals: ____ + ___ + ___ +

Over the <u>last 2 weeks</u> , how often have you been bothered by the following problems? (Use """ to indicate your answer"	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Feeling nervous, anxious or on edge	0	1	2	3
2. Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3
3. Worrying too much about different things	0	1	2	3
4. Trouble relaxing	0	1	2	3
5. Being so restless that it is hard to sit still	0	1	2	3
6. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0	1	2	3
Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0	1	2	3

= Total Score _____

If you checked off <u>any</u> problems, how <u>difficult</u> have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

Not difficult at all Somewhat difficult Very difficult Extremely difficult



Under each heading, please tick the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.

MOBILITY

I have no problems in walking about \Box

I have slight problems in walking about \Box

I have moderate problems in walking about \Box

I have severe problems in walking about \Box

I am unable to walk about \square

SELF-CARE

I have no problems washing or dressing myself \Box

I have slight problems washing or dressing myself \Box

I have moderate problems washing or dressing myself \Box

I have severe problems washing or dressing myself \square

I am unable to wash or dress myself \square

USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, housework, family or

leisure activities)

I have no problems doing my usual activities \square

I have slight problems doing my usual activities \Box

I have moderate problems doing my usual activities \Box

I have severe problems doing my usual activities \Box

I am unable to do my usual activities \Box

PAIN / DISCOMFORT

I have no pain or discomfort \Box

I have slight pain or discomfort \Box

I have moderate pain or discomfort \Box

I have severe pain or discomfort \Box

I have extreme pain or discomfort \Box

ANXIETY / DEPRESSION

I am not anxious or depressed \Box

I am slightly anxious or depressed \square

I am moderately anxious or depressed \square

I am severely anxious or depressed □ I am extremely anxious or depressed

MODIFIED RANKIN SCALE (MRS)

Rater Name: _____

Date: _____

Score Description

0 No symptoms at all

1 No significant disability despite symptoms; able to carry out all usual duties and activities

2 Slight disability; unable to carry out all previous activities, but able to look after own affairs without assistance

3 Moderate disability; requiring some help, but able to walk without assistance4 Moderately severe disability; unable to walk without assistance and unable to attend to own bodily needs without assistance

5 Severe disability; bedridden, incontinent and requiring constant nursing care and attention

6 Dead

TOTAL (0–6): _____

FEEDING

0 = unable 5 = needs help cutting, spreading butter, etc., or requires modified diet 10 = independent _____

BATHING

0 = dependent 5 = independent (or in shower) _____

GROOMING

0 = needs to help with personal care

5 = independent face/hair/teeth/shaving (implements provided)

DRESSING

0 = dependent 5 = needs help but can do about half unaided 10 = independent (including buttons, zips, laces, etc.)

BOWELS

0 = incontinent (or needs to be given enemas)

5 = occasional accident

10 = continent _____

BLADDER

0 = incontinent, or catheterized and unable to manage alone 5 = occasional accident 10 = continent _____

TOILET USE

0 = dependent 5 = needs some help, but can do something alone 10 = independent (on and off, dressing, wiping) _____

TRANSFERS (BED TO CHAIR AND BACK)

0 = unable, no sitting balance 5 = major help (one or two people, physical), can sit 10 = minor help (verbal or physical) 15 = independent _____

MOBILITY (ON LEVEL SURFACES)

0 = immobile or < 50 yards

5 = wheelchair independent, including corners, > 50 yards

10 = walks with help of one person (verbal or physical) > 50 yards

15 = independent (but may use any aid; for example, stick) > 50 yards _____

STAIRS

0 = unable 5 = needs help (verbal, physical, carrying aid) 10 = independent _____

TOTAL (0–100): _____



Description of activity or Title of research project:	Location(s): Collegiate Crescent Campus,
Returning to research activity for 'the 'Remote Ischaemic Conditioning for Fatigue After Stroke (RICFAST) study'	RA ref:
(Funded by the University of Sheffield, and sponsored by Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust).	This risk assessment is to be used in conjunction with the risk management principles outlined in the BRATS02 bridging risk assessment. Staff working on
Participants/visits	this project will be required to familiarise themselves with both risk assessments before returning to
-Participants – n=24 with stroke >6 weeks ago - No more than one participant per day	research activity.
-Each participant will attend twice; a baseline visit and follow-up visit six weeks later (2 hours per session).	
-Each maximal cardiopulmonary exercise test, including setup/equipment fitting will last up to 30 minutes. The CPET itself will last up to 12 minutes. Other procedures to	
-Quantitative research only	
Environment	
There is natural ventilation through windows. An antiviral fogger will be used after each testing session.	
Equipment involved in maximal cardiopulmonary exercise testing	
-Static cycle ergometer	
-Sterile silicone face mask	
-Washable facemask strap	

- Computer	
Equipment involved in venipuncture -Venipuncture needles -Vacutainers -Centrifuge -Freezer	
Equipment involved in a walk test - Pen/paper - Stopwatch	

Activity	Who could be harmed?	Risk	Initial risk level	Control measures to be implemented to minimise risk	Revised risk level
Put in this box the activity which may cause harm.	e.g. participant / investigator / bystanders	Risk of [place in here the harm that may be caused] caused by [put the hazard (source of danger) in here]	Risk level before control measures are considered: Low, medium or high	What control measures will be put in place to minimise this risk?	What is the level of risk following the implementati on of control measures

Maximal cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing	Participants, investigators, other lab users	COVID-19 transmission Transmission may through Contaminated objects, such as CPET face masks, or contaminated surfaces. Person to person transmission hazard via respiratory droplets e.g. through breathing heavily during CPET	Likelihood of occurrence - 4 Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 20 (High)	 Participants will be recruited and undergo the majority of baseline tests at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals, by a study doctor, prior to visiting Sheffield Hallam University. During baseline testing, participants will be asked whether they have had any symptoms of COVID-19 including: A fever New onset cough Muscle aches Loss of taste They will also be asked whether they have had contact with anyone that has COVID-19, or is awaiting the results of a COVID-19, or is awaiting the results of a COVID-19 test. After answering these questions, they will have their temperature taken and documented. If they answer yes to any of these questions or have a tympanic temperature >37.8°C, recruitment will be delayed and local COVID-19 control protocols will be followed. Individual vulnerabilities will then be assed using the following resource, as a guide https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus- 	Likelihood of occurrence - 2 Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 10 (medium)
--	---	--	--	---	---

		<u>covid-19/people-at-higher-risk/whos-at-</u> <u>higher-risk-from-coronavirus/</u>	
		After screening, participants will be referred for their cardiopulmonary exercise test at Sheffield Hallam University, which will be completed within approximately 7 days. We will attempt to minimise this duration between testing, to lower the likelihood of participants contracting COVID-19 before they come to Sheffield Hallam University.	
		Only one participant will be tested, per day. They will be advised to come ready for all testing, and will not use changing facilities. Participants will be asked to minimise contact with people outside of their immediate family until they have attending testing at Sheffield Hallam University.	
		The minimum number of staff required to undertake research activity, safely, will be present on the day of testing. On the day of testing, two staff members (one where possible), will be wearing face masks (Type IIR surgical face mask; EN 14683 or equivalent), to greet the participant. Where more than one person is required to meet a participant, a managed process, including social distancing and other control measures outlined in BRATS02, will be put in place.	

Entirely avoiding busy periods is impractica However, participants will be asked to arriv	l. re
However, participants will be asked to arriv	/e
for testing at 20 past the hour, to avoid bus	5y
transition periods which typically occur at t	he
end of an hour, or at half past the hour.	
Participants attending for a cardiopulmona	ry
exercise test will be met at the main lobby	of
Collegiate Hall, and will be advised to stay 2	2m
away from other people, in the unlikely even	ent
that they arrive before the researchers.	
Patients will not be allowed to move beyon	d
the entrance lobby until the following	
measures have been confirmed.	
1) They are wearing a face mask, unles contraindicated.	SS
2) They have immediately washed, or sanitise their hands.	
3) Their tympanic temperature is <37. (investigator to measure), measure using a disposable ear inserts.	8°c d
4) They have not had any COVID-19 symptoms in the last 14 days, including a fever, new onset cough, muscle aches, and loss of taste	
5) They have not had contact with anyone that has COVID-19, or is awaiting the results of a COVID-19 test, within the last 14 days.	

			If these factors are not confirmed,	
			participants will be asked to go home	
			immediately. A stock of face covers, will be	
			kept in the lab in case patients forget their	
			own. Participants will be asked to self-isolate	
			and book a COVID-19 test if they present with	
			COVID-19 symptoms. If participants are sent	
			home, the investigator will wash their own	
			hands and sanitise the room that the patient	
			was in, and inform their line manager, local	
			PI, and study CI.	
			Minimising the time between conducting a cardiopulmonary exercise test and leaving the lab is a practical and proportional risk to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing must	
			therefore, wherever possible, be the last	
			investigation conducted on the day of testing,	
			because it is the research activity that poses	
			the greatest environmental risk.	
			Investigators will wear a FFPIII face masks, whilst setting up and conducting the cardiopulmonary exercise test. Investigators will have received instructions on how to fit and remove masks safely, their limitations and how to dispose them safely. Disposable nitrile gloves and surgical gowns will also be provided by Sheffield Teaching Hospitals. Only when this PPE has been fitted will	
1		1		

		patients be asked to remove their face mask, so that the cardiopulmonary exercise testing equipment, including a sterile, silicone face mask, can be fitted.	
		expelled from the front the face mask. Thus	
		the investigator will stand at least one meter	
		away from the participant. They will also	
		stand to the side, or behind the participant.	
		This will minimise the risk of airborne virus	
		transmission. It is not possible to stand	
		further away than 1m because the	
		investigator needs to operate the equipment	
		attached to the patient, and monitor	
		patients health during the test.	
		When the maximal cardiopulmonary exercise	
		test is complete, the participant will be asked	
		to remain on the exercise bike. The	
		investigator will remove the silicone mask,	
		whilst standing behind the participant. The	
		patient will be ask to refit their own face	
		mask. The silicone mask and other	
		cardiopulmonary exercise test equipment will be disconnected. Equipment will be closed	
		as outlined in the BRATSO2 assessment. The	
		silicone face mask will be immediately placed	
		in bowl of pre-prepared sterilisation fluid. All	
		other surfaces, including the end of the	

Maximal Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing	Participants	Risk of musculoskeletal injury caused by extra demand placed on the musculoskeletal system.	Likelihood of occurrence: 3 Hazard severity: 3 Risk rating = 9 (Medium)	sample line, will be cleaned after 20 minutes, 'using a suitable virucidal spray or wipe, as described in BRATS02. The investigator will support the patient whilst dismounting the bike, and ask them to sit down at least two meters away from the investigator. Whilst the patient is recovering from the exercise test, the investigator will dispose of the nitrile gloves used during the maximal cardiopulmonary exercise test, and usables them with clean slower.	Likelihood of occurrence: 2 Hazard severity: 3 Risk rating = 6 (Low)
Maximal Cardiopulmonary exercise testing	Participants	Risk of cardiovascular complications caused by extra strain placed on the cardiovascular system due to exercise.	Likelihood of occurrence: 3 Hazard severity: 5 Risk rating: 15 = (High)	replace them with clean gloves. They will then open the windows, immediately, and sterilise each surface in the room, including the exercise equipment, computer keyboards, mouse, waste bin lid, and door handles/plates. After this, the investigator will remove and dispose of the surgical gown and nitrile gloves in a designated clinical waste bin. The patient will then be escorted off the premises, following the one-way system. Lab technicians will then use an 'antiviral fogger' in the room. The time when the laboratory next becomes available will be indicated on the door.	Likelihood of occurrence: 2 Hazard severity: 5 Risk rating = 10 (Medium)

		A pre-test medical questionnaire is used to screen out anyone who, for health reasons should not undertake the test.	
		Participants are instructed in the correct technique before the test, including the correct adjustment of saddle height.	
		Participants perform an appropriate warm up and cool down.	
		Patients undertaking maximal cardiopulmonary exercise testing will be referred by a consultant physician.	
		A pre-test medical questionnaire is used to identify anyone who, for health reasons should not undertake the test.	
		The following are contraindications which preclude an individual from exercising (with the exception of allowances as determined in consultation with an appropriate doctor/GP or cardiologist) (ACPICR, 2015):	
		- Unstable angina	
		Uncontrolled hypertonsion that is resting	
		systolic blood pressure (SBP)	

Maximal Cardiopulmonary exercise testing	Participants	Risk of injury due to participant falling from cycle ergometer	Likelihood of occurrence: 3 Hazard severity: 4	 >180mmHg, or resting diastolic blood pressure (BP) (DBP) >110mmHg Orthostatic blood pressure drop of >20 mmHg with symptoms Significant aortic stenosis (aortic valve area <1.0 cm²) Acute systemic illness or fever Uncontrolled atrial or ventricular arrhythmias Uncontrolled sinus tachycardia (HR>120 bpm) Acute pericarditis or myocarditis Uncompensated HF Third degree (complete) atrioventricular (AV) block without pacemaker Recent embolism Acute thrombophlebitis Resting ST segment displacement (>2 mm) Uncontrolled diabetes mellitus Severe orthopaedic conditions that would prohibit exercise Other metabolic conditions, such as acute thyroiditis, hypokalaemia, hyperkalaemia or hypovolaemia (until adequately treated) 	Likelihood of occurrence: 1 Hazard severity: 4 Risk rating = 4 (Low)
--	--------------	---	--	--	---

Risk rating = 12 (Medium) - Severe grade 3 rejection (cardiac transplantation recipients Appendix N). If individuals present with any of the above contraindications, the study doctor will be consulted, and the participant will be	
If individuals present with any of the above contraindications, the study doctor will be consulted, and the participant will be	
removed from the study as appropriate.	
Reference:	
ACPICR. (2015). Standards for Physical Activity and Exercise in the Cardiovascular Population, 2015. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.acpicr.com/data/Page_Downloa</u> <u>ds/ACPICRStandards.pdf</u>	
Participants perform an appropriate warm up	
using verbal communication, throughout the test, and during the test recovery period.	
Heart rate will be continuously monitored to ensure that the participant does not exercise beyond the intensity specified in the protocol. occu	ihood of irrence: 1

Maximal Cardiopulmonary exercise testing	Participants, investigators, other	Risk of injury due to tripping on trailing cables.	Likelihood of occurrence: 3 Hazard severity: 4	A first aid trained member of staff must always be present or in close proximity. A defibrillator is located in close proximity to the exercise test.	Hazard severity: 4 Risk rating = 4 (Low)
	laboratory users.		Risk rating = 12 (Medium)	Ensure the participant has a period of familiarisation before the test if they are unaccustomed to cycling.	
				Check that the saddle and handlebars are properly secured.	Likelihood of
Maximal Cardiopulmonary exercise testing	Investigators	Risk of injury due to moving cycle ergometers.	Likelihood of occurrence: 4 Hazard severity: 3 Risk rating = 12 (Medium)	Participants are monitored throughout the test for signs of syncope. Help the participant to get down from the cycle immediately if they start to feel faint, and immediate lay them down on an examination bed, with feet elevated. Secure participants shoelaces and any loose clothing out of the way in order to avoid getting anything caught in moving parts of the cycle.	occurrence: 1 Hazard severity: 3 Risk rating = (Low)
	Investigators /Participants	COVID-19 Transmission	Likelihood of occurrence - 3	Staff member to stand in close proximity to participant to provide assistance if participant falls from cycle ergometer, whilst remaining socially distanced.	Likelihood of occurrence - 1

Blood Sample/venepunctur e			Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 15 (High)	All trailing cables in areas where people are expected to pass are to be taped to the floor or blocked using obstacles. In the event that this is not possible participants are informed of the trailing cable and the area is not to be entered, unless this is unavoidable.	Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 5 (Low)
Blood Sample/venepunctur e	Participant	Bruising/embolis m/nerve damage. Risk of (non- COVID-19)	Likelihood of occurrence - 2 Hazard Severity – 4 Risk level = 8 (Medium)	Cycle ergometers are tilted on to their transport wheels when they are being moved. Persons should seek assistance rather than attempting to move cycle ergometers that are too heavy by themselves. Staff that regularly move ergometers (technical staff) to attend manual handling training.	Likelihood of occurrence - 1 Hazard Severity – 3 Risk level = 3 (Low) Likelihood of occurrence -
Blood Sample/venepunctur e	Investigator	coming into contact with someone else's	Likelihood of occurrence - 2		1

		contaminated blood.	Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 10 (Medium)	Participants will be wearing a face mask. Investigators will be wearing a FFPIII face, gloves, and a surgical gown. Once blood samples have been taken and stored, the investigator will safely remove their gloves, dispose of them in a clinical waste bin, and put a new pair on before resuming other testing activity.	Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 5 (Low)
Blood Sample/venepunctur e	Participant	Puncture site becoming infected by general contamination from surroundings	Likelihood of occurrence - 2 Hazard Severity – 4 Risk level = 8	Participant Only those who have trained and hold up to date certification for venepuncture are allowed to collect venous blood.	Likelihood of occurrence - 1 Hazard Severity – 4 Risk level = 4(Low)

Blood Sample/venepunctur e	Participants/I nvestigators	Risk of injury from sharps (potentially contaminated with blood) used during the collection	Likelihood of occurrence - 3 Hazard Severity – 5	A medical questionnaire is used to screen out anyone who is not allowed to have blood taken. In addition, investigators with blood borne infectious diseases are excluded from collecting venous blood. Investigators check that their Hepatitis B immunisation is up to date. Appropriate PPP, including nitrile/latex gloves will be worn.	Likelihood of occurrence - 1 Hazard Severity – 5
			(High)		
					Risk level = 5 (Low)
Blood Sample/venepunctur	Participants	Risk of participant fainting/feeling nauseous due to phobia of	Likelihood of occurrence - 2		Likelihood of
e		needles or blood.	Hazard Severity – 3	All equipment used during the collection of blood is kept within the designated biohazard area. Investigator washes their hands and	occurrence -
			Risk level = 6 (Medium)	covers any wounds with plasters before the collection. Investigator wears disposable gloves throughout all procedures. A fresh pair is used for each participant and gloves are also changed if they become contaminated	Hazard Severity – 3
				with blood. The investigator should wear either a disposable apron or lab coat. The venepuncture site is wiped with an alcohol	Risk level = 3 (Low)

Six minute walk test	Participants/i nvestigators	COVID-19 Transmission	Likelihood of occurrence - 3 Hazard Severity – 5	swab before the needles is inserted. Any blood spillages are immediately wiped up and all contaminated surfaces (including surfaces of equipment) are disinfected. The puncture site is covered with a plaster when the sample has been collected.	Likelihood of occurrence - 2
Six minute walk test	Participants	Risk of injury due to tripping on trailing cables.	Risk level = 15 (High) Likelihood of occurrence: 3	Sharps and other consumable items are disposed of in the appropriate clinical waste container immediately after use.	Hazard Severity – 5 Risk level = 10 (Medium)
			Hazard severity: 4 Risk rating = 12 (Medium)	Blood is collected with the participant either seated or lying down. Where possible, this will be done with researchers stood to the side of participants. Anyone who feels faint is immediately helped to lay with legs raised.	Likelihood of occurrence: 1 Hazard severity: 4 Risk rating = 4 (Low)

		The investigation will be conducted within the same laboratory as all other investigations. Participants will walk between two cones, spaced 10m apart, for six minutes. Participants will wear a face mask whilst walking. The investigator will also wear a face mask and clean nitrile gloves. Investigators will be sit or stand more than 2m away from participants during the test. After the test, participants will be asked to sit back down on their chair.	
		Participants to conduct test along a path without trailing cables	

All activity		Contact tracing	
		If participant-PI interactions within the 1- metre envelop are kept to less than 1 minute, then, should of a participant returns a positive test for COVID19, the PI would not be classed as 'contact', thus allowing him/her to carry on working as s/he would not have to self-isolate. The same applies to interpersonal interactions lasting more than 15 minutes within the 2-metre envelope.	

Emergency Procedures

- Alert and inform appropriate medical/emergency services if adverse reactions manifest in participant due to any aspect of experimental procedures.
- Stop immediately all testing activity if participant endures an accident/injury or intolerable discomfort arises from trial activities.
- Testing investigators are hospital, immediate life support trained, and will act if/when necessary.
- A spillage kit is always present to swah up sweat, saliva, blood or vomit

Monitoring Procedures

Continual monitoring of patient throughout testing and a 30-minute, post-testing period for signs of discomfort or adverse reactions to physical exertion. Ongoing monitoring of project to highlight any problems or areas of concern.

Verbal and visual monitoring of participants by principle investigator and one other laboratory technician/physiologist to be performed continuously throughout the testing periods and with frequent monitoring visits to participants.

Outside of trial contact time participants will be advised to seek medical attention if they experience any unwanted symptoms they may feel have resulted from any aspect of the data collection protocols used.

Communication of significant findings					
Method of communication (describe): How will the findings of this assessment and its recommended control measurements be communicated to those	Person/people to communicate findings: Who will be responsible for communicating these findings? . Dr Simon Nichols - Local PI.	Target date(s): 09/09/2020 to			
who may be affected by the risks? Risks and associated control measures	Dr Ali Ali – Study Cl	30/04/2021			
will be recorded within the participant information sheet.					
A verbal reinforcement will be conducted prior to each laboratory trial to participants and testers.					

Approval - must be approved by Director of Studies / Line Manager / other appropriate person				
Carried out by: Dr Simon Nichols	Post: Senior Research Fellow	Signature: S Nichols	Date: 29/10/2020	
Approved by:	Post:	Signature:	Date:	

Review of risk assessment (not applicable to time-framed activities such as research projects of less than 12 months in duration)

The frequency of the review is (refer to guidance): every 12 months, or when any adverse event occurs.

Review date :	Carried out by:	Signature:
---------------	-----------------	------------

Review date :	Carried out by:	Signature:
Review date :	Carried out by:	Signature:

Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) Category Scale

6	
7	Very, very light
8	
9	Very light
10	
11	Fairly light
12	
13	Somewhat hard
14	
15	Hard
16	
17	Very hard
18	
19	Very, very hard
20	

Borg G. Borg's Perceived Exertion and Pan Scales. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 1998.

THE UNIVERSITY OF SHEFFIELD ACADEMIC UNIT OF RADIOLOGY

Magnetic Resonance Imaging Unit at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital

PATIENT & VOLUNTEER SCREENING FORM

Please complete this form prior to having your scan. Please circle the appropriate answer.

Have you ever had any surgery to your heart or chest e.g., cardiac pacemaker, replacement valves, stents or filters inserted? Yes No

Have you ever had any operation to your brain, e.g., aneurysm clips or shunts inserted?

Yes No

Have you EVER had any metal fragments in your eyes? Yes No

Are you or could you be pregnant? Yes No

Do you have an electronic or breast implant in your body? Yes No

Have you had any surgery of any type in the last 2 months? Yes No

YOU MUST RING THE UNIT IF YOU HAVE ANSWERED 'YES' TO ANY OF THE ABOVE QUESTIONS.

FAILURE TO DO SO MAY MEAN THAT YOU CANNOT BE SCANNED. TELEPHONE NO. 0114 2159595

Do you suffer from any heart disease or rhythm disorder? Yes No

Do you have any hearing problems, e.g. tinnitus? Yes No

Do you have any kidney problems? Yes No

Do you wear any removable metal dental work? Yes No

Do you suffer from epilepsy or diabetes? Yes No

Do you have any allergies? Yes No

Do you have any other metallic object in your body, e.g. metal fragments or surgical clips? Yes No

If so, please specify

Please remove all credit cards and loose metallic objects, e.g. watches, wallets, keys, money, glasses, jewellery (including body piercing), hearing aids, hair clips and skin patches. Lockers for your valuables are provided in the waiting area.

How much do you weigh? How tall are you?

If you have read and understood the above restrictions please sign below.

Print Name

Signature

Date

REQUEST FO University MRI Unit, Acaa Te	THE UNIVE R MAGN Completed demic Radiolog elephone: 0114 2	ETIC RE requests shou y, Floor C, Roy 15 9595	HEFFIELD SONANCE IM Id be sent to al Hallamshire Hospital, Fax: 0114 271 1714	AGING	MRI Number
Appointment: Tues	day 22n	d June	3pm		
Surnam First Name(Address: Date of Birth Telephone Number: (H (V (M RELEVANT CLINICAL H Stroke. RICFAST STUDY Continue on back of ca URGENCY – Urgent Requ CONSULTANT RADIOLO URGENT S	ard if necessa Just of the following the fol	SNOSIS	Hospital: KHH Ward/Dept: OPD IP/OP Hospital No Referring Consultant: DR ALT ALT Speciality: STROKE GERIATELOF CONDUTANT NHS / PRIVATE / M/L Research Previous MRI Scans Hospital Year AREA TO BE SCANNED Brain Pulmonary [functional] Cervical Spine Pulmonary/MRA Cervical Spine Obstetric JOINT / LIMB (please state) LegS OTHERS (please state) LegS OTHERS (please state)		
Does the patient have ar Cardiac pacemaker of cardiac surgery Metallic foreign bor	ıy of the follow r∕ history dy	ing? YES/NO Intracrat history o program Metallic/ following	If yes please specify nial aneurysm clip/ of cranial surgery/ imable shunt /electronic implant § surgery	Sequences:	
Is the patient pregnantP	YES	NO	NB: THE SC	ANNER WEIGH	IT LIMIT IS 1504
Referrer's Signature: Referrer's Status:			Name (Block Letters) Date: Sec. Tel. No:		

Topic Guide for semi-structured interviews

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this study and thank you for agreeing to discuss your experience. Can I just check before we start that you are still happy to do this interview and that you are happy to have the interview recorded.

1) When you volunteered for this study, what were you expecting the treatment to be like?

- (Were you at all worried about the thought of using ischaemic conditioning?)
- (Did you expect it to be uncomfortable?)
- (What sort of therapy were you expecting?)

2) Tell me about the treatment you received in this study.

- (Were you able to do the conditioning every day?)
- (Did you experience any problems with the treatment?)
- (How did you feel about having ischaemic conditioning at home?)

3) Do you feel as though you responded to the treatment?

- (Do you think it made you any better or any worse? In what way?)
- (Did you feel like you could do more activity?)
- (Do you feel it helped with levels of fatigue?)
- 4) Would you be prepared to have this treatment again?

5) How do you feel about how frequently and for how long you had the treatment?

6) Is there anything else you would like to mention or discuss about your experience with the remote ischaemic conditioning?

Thank you for sharing your experience

References

- AALI, G., DRUMMOND, A., DAS NAIR, R. & SHOKRANEH, F. 2020. Post-stroke fatigue: a scoping review [version 2; peer review: 2 approved]. *F1000 research*, 9, 242-242.
- AARONSON, J. A., HOFMAN, W. F., VAN BENNEKOM, C. A. M., VAN BEZEIJ, T., VAN DEN AARDWEG, J.
 G., GROET, E., KYLSTRA, W. A. & SCHMAND, B. 2016. Effects of continuous positive airway pressure on cognitive and functional outcome of stroke patients with obstructive sleep apnea: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 12, 533-541.
- AARONSON, L. S., TEEL, C. S., CASSMEYER, V., NEUBERGER, G. B., PALLIKKATHAYIL, L., PIERCE, J., PRESS, A. N., WILLIAMS, P. D. & WINGATE, A. 1999. Defining and Measuring Fatigue. *Image: the Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 31, 45-50.
- ABELA, C. B. & HOMER-VANNIASINKHAM, S. 2003. Clinical implications of ischaemia- reperfusion injury. *Pathophysiology*, 9, 229-240.
- ACCIARRESI, M., BOGOUSSLAVSKY, J. & PACIARONI, M. 2014. Post-stroke fatigue: Epidemiology, clinical characteristics and treatment. *European Neurology*, 72, 255-261.
- ACIN-PEREZ, R., BENINCÁ, C., SHABANE, B., SHIRIHAI, O. S. & STILES, L. 2021. Utilization of human samples for assessment of mitochondrial bioenergetics: Gold standards, limitations, and future perspectives. *Life (Basel, Switzerland)*, 11, 949.
- ADDISON, P. D., NELIGAN, P. C., ASHRAFPOUR, H., KHAN, A., ZHONG, A., MOSES, M., FORREST, C. R.
 & PANG, C. Y. 2003. Noninvasive remote ischemic preconditioning for global protection of skeletal muscle against infarction. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 285, H1435-H1443.
- AGGARWAL, S., VIRDI, J. K., SINGH, N. & JAGGI, A. S. 2019. Exploring the role and inter-relationship among nitric oxide, opioids, and KATP channels in the signaling pathway underlying remote ischemic preconditioning induced cardioprotection in rats. *Iranian journal of basic medical sciences*, 22, 820-826.
- AGOSTONI, P., BIANCHI, M., MORASCHI, A., PALERMO, P., CATTADORI, G., LA GIOIA, R., BUSSOTTI, M. & WASSERMAN, K. 2005. Work-rate affects cardiopulmonary exercise test results in heart failure. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, **7**, 498-504.
- AIDAR, F. J., DE OLIVEIRA, R. J., DE MATOS, D. G., MAZINI FILHO, M. L., MOREIRA, O. C., DE OLIVEIRA, C. E. P., HICKNER, R. C. & REIS, V. M. 2016. A Randomized Trial Investigating the Influence of Strength Training on Quality of Life in Ischemic Stroke. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 23, 84-89.
- ALBOUAINI, K., EGRED, M., ALAHMAR, A. & WRIGHT, D. J. 2007. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing and its application. *Heart*, 83, 675-77.
- ALBRECHT, M., ZITTA, K., BEIN, B., WENNEMUTH, G., BROCH, O., RENNER, J., SCHUETT, T., LAUER, F., MAAHS, D., HUMMITZSCH, L., CREMER, J., ZACHAROWSKI, K. & MEYBOHM, P. 2012. Remote ischemic preconditioning regulates HIF-1α levels, apoptosis and inflammation in heart tissue of cardiosurgical patients: a pilot experimental study. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 108, 1-13.
- ALGHAMDI, I., ARITI, C., WILLIAMS, A., WOOD, E. & HEWITT, J. 2021. Prevalence of fatigue after stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Stroke J*, 6, 319-332.
- ALIBEGOVIC, A. C., HOJBJERRE, L., SONNE, M. P., VAN HALL, G., STALLKNECHT, B., DELA, F. & VAAG,
 A. 2009. Impact of 9 Days of Bed Rest on Hepatic and Peripheral Insulin Action, Insulin
 Secretion, and Whole-Body Lipolysis in Healthy Young Male Offspring of Patients With Type
 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes*, 58, 2749-2756.
- ALLEN, D. G., LAMB, G. D. & WESTERBLAD, H. 2008. Skeletal Muscle Fatigue: Cellular Mechanisms. *Physiol Rev*, 88, 287-332.
- ALLEN, D. G. & TRAJANOVSKA, S. 2012. The multiple roles of phosphate in muscle fatigue. *Front Physiol*, 3, 463-463.

ALTHUBAITI, A. 2016. Information bias in health research: Definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, 9, 211-217.

AMANN, M., ELDRIDGE, M. W., LOVERING, A. T., STICKLAND, M. K., PEGELOW, D. F. & DEMPSEY, J. A. 2006. Arterial oxygenation influences central motor output and exercise performance via effects on peripheral locomotor muscle fatigue in humans. *J Physiol*, 575, 937-952.

- AMERICAN THORACIC SOCIETY 2003. ATS/ACCP Statement on cardiopulmonary exercise testing. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 167.
- AMIS, T. C., O'NEILL, N. & WHEATLEY, J. R. 1999. Oral airway flow dynamics in healthy humans. *J Physiol*, 515, 293-298.
- AN, J.-Q., CHENG, Y.-W., GUO, Y.-C., WEI, M., GONG, M.-J., TANG, Y.-L., YUAN, X.-Y., SONG, W.-F., MU, C.-Y., ZHANG, A.-F., SAGUNER, A. M., LI, G.-L. & LUO, G.-G. 2020. Safety and efficacy of remote ischemic postconditioning after thrombolysis in patients with stroke. *Neurology*, 95, e3355-e3363.
- AN, M.-Y., LI, Y., CHEN, W.-H., ZHANG, Y., WU, Y.-N., SUN, K., PAN, Y.-Y., YIN, Y.-Q. & LOU, J.-S. 2017. Effects of non-invasive remote ischemic conditioning on rehabilitation after myocardial infarction. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 488, 278-284.
- ANDERSEN, G., CHRISTENSEN, D., KIRKEVOLD, M. & JOHNSEN, S. P. 2012. Post-stroke fatigue and return to work: A 2-year follow-up. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 125, 248-253.
- ANDERSON, C., LAUBSCHER, S. & BURNS, R. 1996. Validation of the Short Form 36 (SF-36) health survey questionnaire among stroke patients. *Stroke*, 27, 1812-1816.
- ANDREAS, M., SCHMID, A. I., KEILANI, M., DOBERER, D., BARTKO, J., CREVENNA, R., MOSER, E. & WOLZT, M. 2011a. Effect of ischemic preconditioning in skeletal muscle measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy: A randomized crossover trial. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson*, 13, 32-32.

ANDREAS, M., SCHMID, A. I., KEILANI, M., DOBERER, D., BARTKO, J., CREVENNA, R., MOSER, E. & WOLZT, M. 2011b. Effect of ischemic preconditioning in skeletal muscle measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy: a randomized crossover trial. *Journal of cardiovascular magnetic resonance : official journal of the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance*, 13, 32-32.

ANNONI, J. M., STAUB, F., BOGOUSSLAVSKY, J. & BRIOSCHI, A. 2008. Frequency, characterisation and therapies of fatigue after stroke. *Neurological Sciences*, 29, 244-246.

APPELROS, P. 2006. Prevalence and predictors of pain and fatigue after stroke: a population-based study. *International journal of rehabilitation research. Internationale Zeitschrift fur Rehabilitationsforschung. Revue internationale de recherches de readaptation,* 29, 329-333.

- ARENA, R., MYERS, J., ASLAM, S. S., VARUGHESE, E. B. & PEBERDY, M. A. 2004. Peak VO2 and VE/VCO2 slope in patients with heart failure: A prognostic comparison. *The American heart journal*, 147, 354-360.
- ARENA, R., MYERS, J. & GUAZZI, M. 2007a. The clinical and research applications of aerobic capacity and ventilatory efficiency in heart failure: an evidence-based review. *Heart Fail Rev*, 13, 245-269.
- ARENA, R., MYERS, J., WILLIAMS, M. A., GULATI, M., KLIGFIELD, P., BALADY, G. J., COLLINS, E. & FLETCHER, G. 2007b. Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research settings: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention of the council on clinical cardiology and the council on cardiovascular nursing. *Circulation*, 116, 329-343.
- ARENA, R. P., LAVIE, C. J. M. D., MILANI, R. V. M. D., MYERS, J. P. & GUAZZI, M. M. D. P. 2010.
 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension: An evidence-based review. *J Heart Lung Transplant*, 29, 159-173.
- ARENA, R. P. P. T., MYERS, J. P., HSU, L. B. S., PEBERDY, M. A. M. D., PINKSTAFF, S. B. S., BENSIMHON, D. M. D., CHASE, P. M., VICENZI, M. M. S. & GUAZZI, M. M. D. P. 2007c. The Minute

Ventilation/Carbon Dioxide Production Slope is Prognostically Superior to the Oxygen Uptake Efficiency Slope. *J Card Fail*, 13, 462-469.

- ARENDT-NIELSEN, L. & MILLS, K. R. 1988. Muscle fibre conduction velocity, mean power frequency, mean EMG voltage and force during submaximal fatiguing contractions of human quadriceps. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 58, 20-25.
- ARMES, J., CHALDER, T., ADDINGTON-HALL, J., RICHARDSON, A. & HOTOPF, M. 2007. A randomized controlled trial to evaluate the effectiveness of a brief, behaviorally oriented intervention for cancer- related fatigue. *Cancer*, 110, 1385-1395.
- ASKEW, R. L., CAPO-LUGO, C. E., SANGHA, R., NAIDECH, A. & PRABHAKARAN, S. 2020. Trade-Offs in Quality-of-Life Assessment Between the Modified Rankin Scale and Neuro-QoL Measures. *Value Health*, 23, 1366-1372.
- ASPENES, S. T., NILSEN, T. I. L., SKAUG, E.-A., BERTHEUSSEN, G. F., ELLINGSEN, Ø., VATTEN, L. & WISLØFF, U. 2011. Peak oxygen uptake and cardiovascular risk factors in 4631 healthy women and men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43, 1465-1473.
- ASSOCIATION FOR RESPIRATORY TECHNOLOGY AND PHYSIOLOGY. 2022. ARTP COVID-19 Guidance. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.artp.org.uk/COVID19</u> [Accessed].
- AYALA, V., MARTÍNEZ-BEBIA, M., LATORRE, J. A., GIMENEZ-BLASI, N., JIMENEZ-CASQUET, M. J., CONDE-PIPO, J., BACH-FAIG, A. & MARISCAL-ARCAS, M. 2021. Influence of circadian rhythms on sports performance. *Chronobiology international*, 38, 1522-1536.
- AYODELE, M. & KOCH, S. 2017. Ischemic Preconditioning in the Intensive Care Unit. *Current Treatment Options in Neurology*, 19.
- BABA, R., NAGASHIMA, M., GOTO, M., NAGANO, Y., YOKOTA, M., TAUCHI, N. & NISHIBATA, K. 1996. Oxygen uptake efficiency slope: A new index of cardiorespiratory functional reserve derived from the relation between oxygen uptake and minute ventilation during incremental exercise. J Am Coll Cardiol, 28, 1567-1572.
- BAERT, I. P. T. M., DALY, D. P., DEJAEGER, E. M. D. P., VANROY, C. P. T. M., VANLANDEWIJCK, Y. P. T.
 P. & FEYS, H. P. T. P. 2012. Evolution of Cardiorespiratory Fitness After Stroke: A 1-Year
 Follow-Up Study. Influence of Prestroke Patients' Characteristics and Stroke-Related Factors.
 Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 93, 669-676.
- BAI, B., YIN, H., GUO, L., MA, H., WANG, H., LIU, F., LIANG, Y., LIU, A. & GENG, Q. 2021. Comorbidity of depression and anxiety leads to a poor prognosis following angina pectoris patients: a prospective study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 21, 202-202.
- BAIG, S., MOYLE, B., NAIR, K. P. S., REDGRAVE, J., MAJID, A. & ALI, A. 2021. Remote ischaemic conditioning for stroke: unanswered questions and future directions. *Stroke Vasc Neurol*, 6, 298-309.
- BAILEY, T. G., JONES, H., GREGSON, W., ATKINSON, G., CABLE, N. T. & THIJSSEN, D. H. J. 2012. Effect of ischemic preconditioning on lactate accumulation and running performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 44, 2084-2089.
- BAKER, J. S., MCCORMICK, M. C. & ROBERGS, R. A. 2010. Interaction among Skeletal Muscle Metabolic Energy Systems during Intense Exercise. *J Nutr Metab*, 2010, 905612-13.
- BALABAN, B. M. D. & TOK, F. M. D. 2014. Gait Disturbances in Patients With Stroke. *PM R*, 6, 635-642.
- BALADY, G. J., ARENA, R., KETEYIAN, S. J., LAVIE, C. J., MACKO, R., MANCINI, D., MILANI, R. V.,
 SIETSEMA, K., MYERS, J., COKE, L., FLETCHER, G. F., FORMAN, D., FRANKLIN, B., GUAZZI, M. &
 GULATI, M. 2010a. Clinician's Guide to Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing in Adults: A
 Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 122, 191-225.
- BALADY, G. J., ARENA, R., SIETSEMA, K., MYERS, J., COKE, L., FLETCHER, G. F., FORMAN, D.,
 FRANKLIN, B., GUAZZI, M., GULATI, M., KETEYIAN, S. J., LAVIE, C. J., MACKO, R., MANCINI, D.
 & MILANI, R. V. 2010b. Clinician's guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing in adults: A scientific statement from the American heart association. *Circulation*, 122, 191-225.

- BANIPAL, R. P. S., SINGH, H. & SINGH, B. 2017. Assessment of cancer-related fatigue among cancer patients receiving various therapies: A cross- sectional observational study. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, 23, 207-211.
- BARAN, D. A., ROSENWINKEL, E., SPIERER, D. K., LISKER, J., WHELAN, J., ROSA, M. & GOLDSMITH, R.
 L. 2001. Validating facemask use for gas exchange analysis in patients with congestive heart failure. *Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation*, 21.
- BARBOSA, T. C., MACHADO, A. C., BRAZ, I. D., FERNANDES, I. A., VIANNA, L. C., NOBREGA, A. C. L. & SILVA, B. M. 2015a. Remote ischemic preconditioning delays fatigue development during handgrip exercise. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & amp; Science in Sports*, 25, 356-364.
- BARBOSA, T. C., MACHADO, A. C., BRAZ, I. D., FERNANDES, I. A., VIANNA, L. C., NOBREGA, A. C. L. & SILVA, B. M. 2015b. Remote ischemic preconditioning delays fatigue development during handgrip exercise. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 25, 356-364.
- BARBOUR, V. L. & MEAD, G. E. 2012. Fatigue after Stroke: The Patient's Perspective. *Stroke Res Treat*, 2012, 863031-6.
- BARRETT, A. M. 2009. Rose-colored answers: Neuropsychological deficits and patient-reported outcomes after stroke. *Behavioural neurology*, 22, 17-23.
- BARRINGTON, J., LEMARCHAND, E. & ALLAN, S. M. 2017. A brain in flame; do inflammasomes and pyroptosis influence stroke pathology? *Brain Pathology*, 27, 205-212.
- BARRON, A., DHUTIA, N., MAYET, J., HUGHES, A. D., FRANCIS, D. P. & WENSEL, R. 2014. Test–retest repeatability of cardiopulmonary exercise test variables in patients with cardiac or respiratory disease. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*, 21, 445-453.
- BASALAY, M., BARSUKEVICH, V., MASTITSKAYA, S., MROCHEK, A., PERNOW, J., SJÖQUIST, P. O., ACKLAND, G. L., GOURINE, A. V. & GOURINE, A. 2012. Remote ischaemic pre- and delayed postconditioning - similar degree of cardioprotection but distinct mechanisms. *Experimental Physiology*, 97, 908-917.
- BEAVER, W. L., WASSERMAN, K. & WHIPP, B. J. 2016. A new method for detecting anaerobic threshold by gas exchange. *Journal of applied physiology (1985),* 121, 2020-2027.
- BECKER, K. 2016. Inflammation and the Silent Sequelae of Stroke. *The Journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics*, 13, 801-810.
- BEEKMAN, E., MESTERS, I., GOSSELINK, R., KLAASSEN, M. P. M., HENDRIKS, E. J. M., VAN SCHAYCK, O. C. P. & DE BIE, R. A. 2014. The first reference equations for the 6-minute walk distance over a 10 m course. *Thorax*, 69, 867-868.
- BELAOUSSOFF, V., GANSKE, R. & REDINGTON, A. 2017. Remote Ischemic Conditioning: The Commercial Market? CellAegis Perspective. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther*, 22, 404-407.
- BELARDINELLI, R., GEORGIOU, D., SCOCCO, V., BARSTOW, T. J. & PURCARO, A. 1995. Low intensity exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 26, 975-982.
- BELL, K., BEDBROOK, M., NGUYEN, T.-T. & MOURTZAKIS, M. 2012. The facemask produces higher peak minute ventilation and respiratory rate measurements compared to the mouthpiece. J Sports Sci Med, 11, 564-566.
- BELLASTELLA, G., DE BELLIS, A., MAIORINO, M. I., PAGLIONICO, V. A., ESPOSITO, K. & BELLASTELLA, A. 2019. Endocrine rhythms and sport: it is time to take time into account. J Endocrinol Invest, 42, 1137-1147.
- BENSIMHON, D. R. M. D., LEIFER, E. S. P., ELLIS, S. J. P., FLEG, J. L. M. D., KETEYIAN, S. J. P., PIÑA, I. L.
 M. D., KITZMAN, D. W. M. D., MCKELVIE, R. S. M. D. P., KRAUS, W. E. M. D., FORMAN, D. E.
 M. D., KAO, A. J. M. D., WHELLAN, D. J. M. D., O'CONNOR, C. M. M. D. & RUSSELL, S. D. M. D.
 2008. Reproducibility of Peak Oxygen Uptake and Other Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing
 Parameters in Patients With Heart Failure (from the Heart Failure and A Controlled Trial
 Investigating Outcomes of exercise traiNing). *Am J Cardiol*, 102, 712-717.
- BERNHARDT, J., DEWEY, H., THRIFT, A. & DONNAN, G. 2004. Inactive and Alone: Physical Activity within the First 14 Days of Acute Stroke Unit Care. *Stroke*, 35, 1005-1009.
- BIGLAND-RITCHIE, B. & WOODS, J. J. 1984. Changes in muscle contractile properties and neural control during human muscular fatigue. *Muscle Nerve*, **7**, 691-699.
- BILLINGER, A. S., ARENA, J. R., BERNHARDT, A. J., ENG, M. J., FRANKLIN, F. B., JOHNSON, E. C., MACKAY-LYONS, J. M., MACKO, J. R., MEAD, J. G., ROTH, J. E., SHAUGHNESSY, J. M. & TANG, J. A. 2014. Physical Activity and Exercise Recommendations for Stroke Survivors: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*, 45, 2532-2553.
- BILLINGER, A. S., COUGHENOUR, E., MACKAY-LYONS, J. M. & IVEY, M. F. 2012a. Reduced Cardiorespiratory Fitness after Stroke: Biological Consequences and Exercise-Induced Adaptations. *Stroke Research and Treatment*.
- BILLINGER, S. A., TAYLOR, J. M. & QUANEY, B. M. 2012b. Cardiopulmonary Response to Exercise Testing in People with Chronic Stroke: A Retrospective Study. *Stroke Res Treat*, 2012, 987637-8.
- BILLINGER, S. A., TSENG, B. Y. & KLUDING, P. M. 2008. Modified Total-Body Recumbent Stepper Exercise Test for Assessing Peak Oxygen Consumption in People With Chronic Stroke. *Phys Ther*, 88, 1188-1195.
- BIRNBAUM, Y., HALE, S. L. & KLONER, R. A. 1997. Ischemic Preconditioning at a Distance: Reduction of Myocardial Infarct Size by Partial Reduction of Blood Supply Combined With Rapid Stimulation of the Gastrocnemius Muscle in the Rabbit. *Circulation*, 96, 1641-1646.
- BIVARD, R. A., LILLICRAP, R. T., KRISHNAMURTHY, R. V., HOLLIDAY, R. E., ATTIA, R. J., PAGRAM, R. H., NILSSON, R. M., PARSONS, R. M. & LEVI, R. C. 2017. MIDAS (Modafinil in Debilitating Fatigue After Stroke): A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Cross-Over Trial. *Stroke*, 48, 1293-1298.
- BLACKBURN, D. J., BAFADHEL, L., RANDALL, M. & HARKNESS, K. A. 2013. Cognitive screening in the acute stroke setting. *Age Ageing*, 42, 113-116.
- BLAIR, S. N., KOHL, H. W., BARLOW, C. E., PAFFENBARGER, R. S., GIBBONS, L. W. & MACERA, C. A. 1995. Changes in Physical Fitness and All-Cause Mortality: A Prospective Study of Healthy and Unhealthy Men. JAMA, 273, 1093-1098.
- BOENGLER, K., LOCHNIT, G. & SCHULZ, R. 2018. Mitochondria "THE" target of myocardial conditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 315, H1215-H1231.
- BOENGLER, K., SCHULZ, R. & HEUSCH, G. 2009. Loss of cardioprotection with ageing. *Cardiovascular Research*, 83, 247-261.
- BOGNER, W., CHMELIK, M., SCHMID, A. I., MOSER, E., TRATTNIG, S. & GRUBER, S. 2009. Assessment of (31)P relaxation times in the human calf muscle: a comparison between 3 T and 7 T in vivo. *Magn Reson Med*, 62, 574-582.
- BOHANNON, R. W. & CROUCH, R. 2017. Minimal clinically important difference for change in 6 minute walk test distance of adults with pathology: a systematic review. *J Eval Clin Pract*, 23, 377-381.
- BOKSEM, M. A. S., MEIJMAN, T. F. & LORIST, M. M. 2005. Effects of mental fatigue on attention: An ERP study. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, 25, 107-116.
- BONORA, M., PATERGNANI, S., RIMESSI, A., DE MARCHI, E., SUSKI, J. M., BONONI, A., GIORGI, C., MARCHI, S., MISSIROLI, S., POLETTI, F., WIECKOWSKI, M. R. & PINTON, P. 2012. ATP synthesis and storage. *Purinergic Signal*, *8*, 343-357.
- BORG, G. A. 1982. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 14.
- BOSNJAK, Z. J. & GE, Z.-D. 2017. The application of remote ischemic conditioning in cardiac surgery. *F1000Res,* 6, 928-928.
- BOSS, A., HESKAMP, L., BREUKELS, V., BAINS, L. J., VAN UDEN, M. J. & HEERSCHAP, A. 2018. Oxidative capacity varies along the length of healthy human tibialis anterior: Oxidative capacity along the human tibialis anterior muscle. *The Journal of physiology*, 596, 1467-1483.

- BOSS, H. M. M. D., DEIJLE, I. M., VAN SCHAIK, S. M. D., DE MELKER, E. M. D., VAN DEN BERG, B. J. M. D. P., WEINSTEIN, H. M. D. P., GEERLINGS, M. P., KAPPELLE, L. J. M. D. P. & VAN DEN BERG-VOS, R. M. D. P. 2017. Cardiorespiratory Fitness after Transient Ischemic Attack and Minor Ischemic Stroke: Baseline Data of the MoveIT Study. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 26, 1114-1120.
- BOURGEOIS, J. M. & TARNOPOLSKY, M. A. 2004. Pathology of skeletal muscle in mitochondrial disorders. *Mitochondrion*, 4, 441-452.
- BOUSHEL, R., LANGBERG, H., OLESEN, J., GONZALES-ALONZO, J., BÜLOW, J. & KJAER, M. 2001. Monitoring tissue oxygen availability with near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) in health and disease: NIRS in health and disease. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 11, 213-222.
- BOWDEN DAVIES, K. A., NORMAN, J. A., THOMPSON, A., MITCHELL, K. L., HARROLD, J. A., HALFORD, J. C. G., WILDING, J. P. H., KEMP, G. J., CUTHBERTSON, D. J. & SPRUNG, V. S. 2021. Short-Term Physical Inactivity Induces Endothelial Dysfunction.
- BOWER, J. E. & LAMKIN, D. M. 2012. Inflammation and cancer-related fatigue: Mechanisms, contributing factors, and treatment implications. *Brain Behav Immun*, 30, S48-S57.
- BOYCE, M. B., BROWNE, J. P. & GREENHALGH, J. 2014. The experiences of professionals with using information from patient-reported outcome measures to improve the quality of healthcare: a systematic review of qualitative research.
- BOYNE, P., REISMAN, D., BRIAN, M., BARNEY, B., FRANKE, A., CARL, D., KHOURY, J. & DUNNING, K.
 2017a. Ventilatory threshold may be a more specific measure of aerobic capacity than peak oxygen consumption rate in persons with stroke. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 24, 149-157.
- BOYNE, P., WELGE, J., KISSELA, B. & DUNNING, K. 2017b. Factors Influencing the Efficacy of Aerobic Exercise for Improving Fitness and Walking Capacity After Stroke: A Meta-Analysis With Meta-Regression. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 98, 581-595.
- BRALEY, T. J., SEGAL, B. M. & CHERVIN, R. D. 2015. Hypnotic use and fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Sleep Medicine*, 16, 131-137.
- BRAUN, V. & CLARKE, V. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, **3**, 77-101.
- BRAZZELLI, M., SAUNDERS, D. H., GREIG, C. A. & MEAD, G. E. 2011. Physical fitness training for stroke patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD003316-CD003316.
- BRODERICK, J. P., ADEOYE, O. & ELM, J. 2017. Evolution of the Modified Rankin Scale and Its Use in Future Stroke Trials. *Stroke*, 48, 2007-2012.
- BRODY, L. R., POLLOCK, M. T., ROY, S. H., DE LUCA, C. J. & CELLI, B. R. 1991. pH-induced effects on median frequency and conduction velocity of the myoelectric signal. *Journal of applied physiology* 71, 1878–1885.
- BROMAGE, D. I., PICKARD, J. M. J., ROSSELLO, X., ZIFF, O. J., BURKE, N., YELLON, D. M. & DAVIDSON,
 S. M. 2017. Remote ischaemic conditioning reduces infarct size in animal in vivo models of ischaemia- reperfusion injury: a systematic review and meta- analysis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 113, 288-297.
- BROOKES, P., YOON, Y., ROBOTHAM, J., ANDERS, M. & SHEU, S.-S. 2004. Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. 287, C817-C833.
- BROWN, D. L., CHERVIN, R. D., KALBFLEISCH, J. D., ZUPANCIC, M. J., MIGDA, E. M., SVATIKOVA, A., CONCANNON, M., MARTIN, C., WEATHERWAX, K. J. & MORGENSTERN, L. B. 2013. Sleep Apnea Treatment After Stroke (SATS) Trial: Is It Feasible? *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 22, 1216-1224.
- BROXTERMAN, R. M., CRAIG, J. C., SMITH, J. R., WILCOX, S. L., JIA, C., WARREN, S. & BARSTOW, T. J.
 2015. Influence of blood flow occlusion on the development of peripheral and central fatigue during small muscle mass handgrip exercise: Influence of occlusion on peripheral and central fatigue. *The Journal of physiology*, 593, 4043-4054.
- BRUNONI, A. R., NITSCHE, M. A., BOLOGNINI, N., BIKSON, M., WAGNER, T., MERABET, L., EDWARDS, D. J., VALERO-CABRE, A., ROTENBERG, A., PASCUAL-LEONE, A., FERRUCCI, R., PRIORI, A.,

BOGGIO, P. S. & FREGNI, F. 2012. Clinical research with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): Challenges and future directions. *Brain Stimul*, **5**, 175-195.

- BULL, F. C., MASLIN, T. S. & ARMSTRONG, T. 2009. Global physical activity questionnaire (GPAQ): nine country reliability and validity study. *Journal of physical activity & health,* 6.
- BURTON, L. & TYSON, S. F. 2015. Screening for cognitive impairment after stroke: A systematic review of psychometric properties and clinical utility. *J Rehabil Med*, 47, 193-203.
- CAEIRO, L., FERRO, J. M., PINHO, E. M., T, CANHÃO, P. & FIGUEIRA, M. L. 2013. Post-stroke apathy: an exploratory longitudinal study. *Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland)*, 35.

CAHALIN, L. P., MATHIER, M. A., SEMIGRAN, M. J., DEC, G. W. & DI SALVO, T. G. 1996. The six-minute walk test predicts peak oxygen uptake and survival in patients with advanced heart failure. *Chest*, 110.

CAI, Z., LUO, W., ZHAN, H. & SEMENZA, G. L. 2013. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is required for remote ischemic preconditioning of the heart. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 17462-17467.

CALABRESE, M., RINALDI, F., GROSSI, P., MATTISI, I., BERNARDI, V., FAVARETTO, A., PERINI, P. & GALLO, P. 2010. Basal ganglia and frontal/parietal cortical atrophy is associated with fatigue in relapsing—remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 16, 1220-1228.

CAMERON, L. J., WALES, K., CASEY, A., PIKE, S., JOLLIFFE, L., SCHNEIDER, E. J., CHRISTIE, L. J., RATCLIFFE, J. & LANNIN, N. A. 2021. Self-reported quality of life following stroke: a systematic review of instruments with a focus on their psychometric properties. *Qual Life Res*, 31, 329-342.

CANDILIO, L., MALIK, A., ARITI, C., BARNARD, M., DI SALVO, C., LAWRENCE, D., HAYWARD, M., YAP, J., ROBERTS, N., SHEIKH, A., KOLVEKAR, S., HAUSENLOY, D. J. & YELLON, D. M. 2015. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on clinical outcomes in patients undergoing cardiac bypass surgery: a randomised controlled clinical trial. *Heart*, 101, 185-192.

CANDILIO, L., MALIK, A. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2013. Protection of organs other than the heart by remote ischemic conditioning. *Journal of Cardiovascular Medicine*, 14, 193-205.

CARDEN, D. L. & GRANGER, D. N. 2000. Pathophysiology of ischaemia– reperfusion injury. *In:* KIRKPATRICK, C. J., BECKER, A. E. & BERRY, C. L. (eds.). Chichester, UK.

CARREIRA, R. S., FACUNDO, H. T. F. & KOWALTOWSKI, A. J. 2005. Mitochondrial K+ transport and cardiac protection during ischemia/reperfusion. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 38, 345-352.

CARTER, R., AL-RAWAS, O. A., STEVENSON, A., MCDONAGH, T. & STEVENSON, R. D. 2006. Exercise Responses Following Heart Transplantation: 5 Year Follow-Up. *Scott Med J*, 51, 6-14.

CARU, M., LEVESQUE, A., LALONDE, F. & CURNIER, D. 2019. An overview of ischemic preconditioning in exercise performance: A systematic review. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 8, 355-369.

CARVALHO, C., WILLÉN, C. & SUNNERHAGEN, K. S. 2008. Relationship between walking function and 1-legged bicycling test in subjects in the later stage post-stroke. *J Rehabil Med*, 40, 721-726.

CASALS, J. B., PIERI, N. C. G., FEITOSA, M. L. T., ERCOLIN, A. C. M., ROBALLO, K. C. S., BARRETO, R. S. N., BRESSAN, F. F., MARTINS, D. S., MIGLINO, M. A. & AMBRÓSIO, C. E. 2011. Use of Animal Models for Stroke Research: A Review. *Comp Med*, 61, 305-313.

CASANOVA, C., CELLI, B. R., BARRIA, P., CASAS, A., COTE, C., DE TORRES, J. P., JARDIM, J., LOPEZ, M. V., MARIN, J. M., MONTES DE OCA, M., PINTO-PLATA, V. & AGUIRRE-JAIME, A. 2011. The 6min walk distance in healthy subjects: Reference standards from seven countries. *Eur Respir J*, 37, 150-156.

CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION. 2020. Perceived Exertion (Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion Scale) | Physical Activity | CDC [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/basics/measuring/exertion.htm?CDC_AA_refVal=https</u> <u>%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fphysicalactivity%2Feveryone%2Fmeasuring%2Fexertion.html</u> [Accessed].

CHAE, J.-W., CHUA, P. S., NG, T., YEO, A. H. L., SHWE, M., GAN, Y. X., DORAJOO, S., FOO, K. M., LOH, K. W.-J., KOO, S.-L., CHAY, W. Y., TAN, T. J. Y., BEH, S. Y., LIM, E. H., LEE, G. E., DENT, R., YAP,

Y. S., NG, R., HO, H. K. & CHAN, A. 2018. Association of mitochondrial DNA content in peripheral blood with cancer-related fatigue and chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment in early-stage breast cancer patients: a prospective cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 168, 713-721.

- CHAMBERS, D. J. & WISELY, N. A. 2019. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing—a beginner's guide to the nine-panel plot. *BJA Educ*, 19, 158-164.
- CHANCE, B., ELEFF, S., J S LEIGH, JR., SOKOLOW, D. & SAPEGA, A. 1981. Mitochondrial regulation of phosphocreatine/inorganic phosphate ratios in exercising human muscle: a gated 31P NMR study. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 78, 6714-6718.
- CHANCE, B., LEIGH JR, J. S., CLARK, B. J., MARIS, J., KENT, J., NIOKA, S. & SMITH, D. 1985. Control of Oxidative Metabolism and Oxygen Delivery in Human Skeletal Muscle: A Steady-State Analysis of the Work/Energy Cost Transfer Function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82, 8384-8388.
- CHANG, E. M., GILLESPIE, E. F. & SHAVERDIAN, N. 2019. Truthfulness in patient-reported outcomes: factors affecting patients' responses and impact on data quality. *Patient Relat Outcome Meas*, 10, 171-186.
- CHAUDHURI, A. & BEHAN, P. O. 2000. Fatigue and basal ganglia. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 179, 34-42.
- CHAUDHURI, A. & BEHAN, P. O. 2004. Fatigue in neurological disorders. *The Lancet*, 363, 978-988.
- CHE, R., ZHAO, W., MA, Q., JIANG, F., WU, L., YU, Z., ZHANG, Q., DONG, K., SONG, H., HUANG, X. & JI, X. 2019. rt PA with remote ischemic postconditioning for acute ischemic stroke. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*, 6, 364-372.
- CHEN, J.-K., CHEN, T.-W., CHEN, C.-H. & HUANG, M.-H. 2010. Preliminary Study of Exercise Capacity in Post-acute Stroke Survivors. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci*, 26, 175-181.
- CHEN, L. P., ZHOU, Q. M. D. P., JIN, H. P., ZHU, K. P., ZHI, H. P., CHEN, Z. P. & MA, G. M. D. P. 2017. Effects of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning on Heart Rate Variability and Cardiac Function in Patients With Mild Ischaemic Heart Failure. *Heart Lung Circ*, 27, 477-483.
- CHEN, P., LIN, K.-C., LIING, R.-J., WU, C.-Y., CHEN, C.-L. & CHANG, K.-C. 2016. Validity, responsiveness, and minimal clinically important difference of EQ-5D-5L in stroke patients undergoing rehabilitation. *Qual Life Res*, 25, 1585-1596.
- CHEN, Q., MOGHADDAS, S., HOPPEL, C. L. & LESNEFSKY, E. J. 2008. Ischemic defects in the electron transport chain increase the production of reactive oxygen species from isolated rat heart mitochondria. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 294, 460-466.
- CHEN, R., LAI, U. H., ZHU, L., SINGH, A., AHMED, M. & FORSYTH, N. R. 2018. Reactive oxygen species formation in the brain at different oxygen levels: The role of hypoxia inducible factors. *Front Cell Dev Biol*, 6, 132-132.
- CHEN, Y. K., QU, J. F., XIAO, W. M., LI, W. Y., WENG, H. Y., LI, W., LIU, Y. L., LUO, G. P., FANG, X. W., UNGVARI, G. S. & XIANG, Y. T. 2015. Poststroke fatigue: risk factors and its effect on functional status and health - related quality of life. *International Journal of Stroke*, 10, 506-512.
- CHENG, C.-F., KUO, Y.-H., HSU, W.-C., CHEN, C. & PAN, C.-H. 2021. Local and remote ischemic preconditioning improves sprint interval exercise performance in team sport athletes. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18, 10653.
- CHENG, D. K., NELSON, M., BROOKS, D. & SALBACH, N. M. 2020. Validation of stroke-specific protocols for the 10-meter walk test and 6-minute walk test conducted using 15-meter and 30-meter walkways. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 27, 251-261.
- CHERVIN, R. D. 2000. Sleepiness, Fatigue, Tiredness, and Lack of Energy in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Chest*, 118, 372-379.
- CHEUNG, M. M. H., KHARBANDA, R. K., KONSTANTINOV, I. E., SHIMIZU, M., FRNDOVA, H., LI, J., HOLTBY, H. M., COX, P. N., SMALLHORN, J. F., VAN ARSDELL, G. S. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2006. Randomized Controlled Trial of the Effects of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning on Children

Undergoing Cardiac Surgery. First Clinical Application in Humans. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 47, 2277-2282.

- CHIARI, P., ANGOULVANT, D., MEWTON, N., DESEBBE, O., OBADIA, J.-F., ROBIN, J., FARHAT, F., JEGADEN, O., BASTIEN, O., LEHOT, J.-J. & OVIZE, M. 2014. Cyclosporine Protects the Heart during Aortic Valve Surgery. *Anesthesiology*, 121, 232-238.
- CHIBA, T. & UMEGAKI, K. 2013. Pivotal Roles of Monocytes/ Macrophages in Stroke. *Mediators of Inflammation*.
- CHITI, G. & PANTONI, L. 2014. Use of Montreal Cognitive Assessment in Patients With Stroke. *Stroke*, 45, 3135-3140.
- CHOI-KWON, S., CHOI, J., KWON, S. U., KANG, D. W. & KIM, J. S. 2007a. Fluoxetine is not effective in the treatment of post-stroke fatigue: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland)*, 23.
- CHOI-KWON, S., CHOI, J., KWON, S. U., KANG, D. W. & KIM, J. S. 2007b. Fluoxetine is not effective in the treatment of poststroke fatigue: A double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 23, 103-108.
- CHOI-KWON, S., HAN, S., KWON, S. & KIM, J. 2004. Poststroke fatigue: Characteristics and related factors. *Stroke*, 35, 305-305.
- CHOI-KWON, S. & KIM, J. S. 2011. Poststroke fatigue: an emerging, critical issue in stroke medicine. International Journal of Stroke, 6, 328-336.
- CHOJDAK-ŁUKASIEWICZ, J., DZIADKOWIAK, E., ZIMNY, A. & PARADOWSKI, B. 2021. Cerebral small vessel disease: A review. *Adv Clin Exp Med*, 30, 349-356.
- CHOTIYARNWONG, C., NAIR, K., ANGELINI, L., BUCKLEY, E., MAZZA, C., HEYES, D., RAMIZ, R., BASTER, K., ISMAIL, A., DAS, J., ALI, A., LINDERT, R., SHARRACK, B., PRICE, S. & PALING, D. 2020. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on walking in people with multiple sclerosis: doubleblind randomised controlled trial.
- CHUA, T. P., PONIKOWSKI, P., HARRINGTON, D., ANKER, S. D., WEBB-PEPLOE, K., CLARK, A. L., POOLE-WILSON, P. A. & COATS, A. J. S. 1997. Clinical Correlates and Prognostic Significance of the Ventilatory Response to Exercise in Chronic Heart Failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 29, 1585-1590.
- CLARKE, A., BARKER-COLLO, S. L. & FEIGIN, V. L. 2012. Poststroke Fatigue: Does Group Education Make a Difference? A Randomized Pilot Trial. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 19, 32-39.
- CLAUSEN, J. S. R., MAROTT, J. L., HOLTERMANN, A., GYNTELBERG, F. & JENSEN, M. T. 2018. Midlife Cardiorespiratory Fitness and the Long-Term Risk of Mortality: 46 Years of Follow-Up. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 72, 987-995.
- CLELAND, C. L., HUNTER, R. F., KEE, F., CUPPLES, M. E., SALLIS, J. F. & TULLY, M. A. 2014. Validity of the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) in assessing levels and change in moderate-vigorous physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 1255-1255.
- COHEN, J. 1977. *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences,* New York, New York ; London, [England], New York, New York ; London, England : Academic Press, 1977.
- COHEN, M. E. & MARINO, R. J. 2000. The tools of disability outcomes research functional status measures. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 81, S21-S29.
- COLCOMBE, S. J., ERICKSON, K. I., RAZ, N., WEBB, A. G., COHEN, N. J., MCAULEY, E. & KRAMER, A. F. 2003. Aerobic Fitness Reduces Brain Tissue Loss in Aging Humans. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 58, M176-M180.
- COMPAGNAT, M., SALLE, J. Y., MANDIGOUT, S., LACROIX, J., VUILLERME, N. & DAVIET, J. C. 2018. Rating of perceived exertion with Borg scale in stroke over two common activities of the daily living. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 25, 145-149.
- CONNOLLY, L. J., RAJARATNAM, S. M. W., MURRAY, J. M., SPITZ, G., LOCKLEY, S. W. & PONSFORD, J. L. 2021. Home-based light therapy for fatigue following acquired brain injury: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *BMC neurology*, 21, 262-262.

- CONTRACTOR, H. M. D., LIE, R. H. M. D. P., CUNNINGTON, C. M. D., LI, J. P., STØTTRUP, N. B. M. D. P., MANLHIOT, C. B., BØTKER, H. E. M. D. P., SCHMIDT, M. R. M. D. P., FORFAR, J. C. M. D. P., ASHRAFIAN, H. M. B. B. D., REDINGTON, A. M. P. & KHARBANDA, R. K. M. P. 2016. Adenosine Receptor Activation in the "Trigger" Limb of Remote Pre-Conditioning Mediates Human Endothelial Conditioning and Release of Circulating Cardioprotective Factor(s). JACC Basic Transl Sci, 1, 461-471.
- CORCORAN, D., YOUNG, R., CIALDELLA, P., MCCARTNEY, P., BAJRANGEE, A., HENNIGAN, B., COLLISON, D., CARRICK, D., SHAUKAT, A., GOOD, R., WATKINS, S., MCENTEGART, M., WATT, J., WELSH, P., SATTAR, N., MCCONNACHIE, A., OLDROYD, K. G. & BERRY, C. 2018. The effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning on coronary artery function in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 252, 24-30.
- COSSARIZZA, A., ADAM, D., ADAM KLAGES, S., AKDIS, M., ALLEZ, M., ANDERSON, G., ANDRÄ, I., ANSELMO, A., BARROS - MARTINS, J., BAUMGART, S., BAYING, B., BOGDAN, C., BRINKMAN, R. R., BUSCH, D. H., BÜSCHER, M., CAMERON, G., CAO, X., CASOLA, S., CELADA, A., COOPER, A. M., DE BIASI, S., DELLA BELLA, S., DESSING, M., DRESS, R. J., DUSTIN, M., ERDEI, A., FEUERER, M., FRENETTE, P. S., GALBRAITH, D. W., GONZÁLEZ - NAVAJAS, J. M., GORI, A., HAMMAD, H., HANSSON, G., HERNÁNDEZ, D. C., HERRERA, G., HÖFER, T., HUANG, B., HUEHN, J., HUNDEMER, M., HWANG, W. Y. K., IANNONE, A., INGELFINGER, F., JÄCK, H. M., KAISER, T., KELLER, B., KOPF, M., KRUEGER, A., KUNKEL, D., LOPEZ, L., MAIR, K. H., MARSHALL, A. J., MEI, H. E., MILLS, K. H. G., MJÖSBERG, J., MOSMANN, T. R., NAKAYAMA, T., NOURSHARGH, S., NÚÑEZ, G., ORDONEZ, D., ORFAO, A., PATTANAPANYASAT, K., PENTER, L., PETRIZ, J., PRACHT, K., QUATAERT, S. A., RADBRUCH, H., RAZ, Y., ROMAGNANI, C., RULAND, J., SAITO, T., SALA - DE - OYANGUREN, F., SAMSTAG, Y., SANDROCK, I., SAUTES - FRIDMAN, C., SCHEFFOLD, A., SCHERER, H. U., SCHIEMANN, M., SCHMID, S., SCHRAIVOGEL, D., SCOTT -ALGARA, D., SITNIK, K. M., SOZZANI, S., SPIDLEN, J., STALL, A. M., STEHLE, C., TÁRNOK, A., TIEGS, G., TOLDI, G., TROWSDALE, J., VAN ISTERDAEL, G., VELDHOEN, M., VENTO -ASTURIAS, S., WALKER, R. V., WARD, M. D., WATZL, C., WEGENER, L., WING, J. B., WINKLER, T. H., WURST, P. & YAZDANBAKHSH, M. 2019. Guidelines for the use of flow cytometry and cell sorting in immunological studies (second edition). European journal of immunology, 49, 1457-1973.
- COSTA, A. D. T., JAKOB, R., COSTA, C. L., ANDRUKHIV, K., WEST, I. C. & GARLID, K. D. 2006. The Mechanism by Which the Mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K+ Channel Opening and H2O2 Inhibit the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 20801-20808.
- CRAPO, R. O., CASABURI, R., COATES, A. L., ENRIGHT, P. L., MACINTYRE, N. R., MCKAY, R. T., JOHNSON, D., WANGER, J. S., ZEBALLOS, R. J., BITTNER, V. & MOTTRAM, C. 2002. ATS statement: Guidelines for the six-minute walk test. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166, 111-117.
- CRISAFULLI, A., TANGIANU, F., TOCCO, F., CONCU, A., MAMELI, O., MULLIRI, G. & CARIA, M. A. 2011. Ischemic preconditioning of the muscle improves maximal exercise performance but not maximal oxygen uptake in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111, 530-536.
- CUMMING, T. B., BRODTMANN, A., DARBY, D. & BERNHARDT, J. 2012. Cutting a long story short: Reaction times in acute stroke are associated with longer term cognitive outcomes. *J Neurol Sci*, 322, 102-106.
- CUMMING, T. B., YEO, A. B., MARQUEZ, J., CHURILOV, L., ANNONI, J.-M., BADARU, U., GHOTBI, N., HARBISON, J., KWAKKEL, G., LERDAL, A., MILLS, R., NAESS, H., NYLAND, H., SCHMID, A., TANG, W. K., TSENG, B., VAN DE PORT, I., MEAD, G. & ENGLISH, C. 2018. Investigating poststroke fatigue: An individual participant data meta-analysis. *J Psychosom Res*, 113, 107-112.
- DANTZER, R. & KELLEY, K. W. 2007. Twenty years of research on cytokine- induced sickness behavior. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, 21, 153-160.
- DAVIS, A. P., BILLINGS, M. E., LONGSTRETH, W. T. & KHOT, S. P. 2013. Early diagnosis and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea after stroke Are we neglecting a modifiable stroke risk factor? *Neurology: Clinical Practice*, **3**, 192-201.

DAVIS, M. P. & WALSH, D. 2010. Mechanisms of Fatigue. *The Journal of Supportive Oncology*, 8, 164-174.

DAWES, M. 2013. Why is controlling blood pressure after stroke so difficult? *CMAJ*, 185, 11-12.

- DAWSON, D. A., FURUYA, K., GOTOH, J., NAKAO, Y. & HALLENBECK, J. M. 1999. Cerebrovascular Hemodynamics and Ischemic Tolerance: Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Resistance to Focal Cerebral Ischemia Is Not Due to Changes in Severity of the Initial Ischemic Insult, but Is Associated With Preservation of Microvascular Perfusion. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 19, 616-623.
- DE DONCKER, W., BROWN, K. E. & KUPPUSWAMY, A. 2021a. Influence of post-stroke fatigue on reaction times and corticospinal excitability during movement preparation. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 132, 191-199.
- DE DONCKER, W., DANTZER, R., ORMSTAD, H. & KUPPUSWAMY, A. 2018. Mechanisms of poststroke fatigue. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 89, 287-293.
- DE DONCKER, W., ONDOBAKA, S. & KUPPUSWAMY, A. 2021b. Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on post-stroke fatigue. *J Neurol*, 268, 2831-2842.
- DE GROOT, M. H., PHILLIPS, S. J. & ESKES, G. A. 2003. Fatigue Associated with Stroke and Other Neurologic Conditions: Implications for Stroke Rehabilitation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 84, 1714-1720.
- DE GROOT, P. C. E., THIJSSEN, D. H. J., SANCHEZ, M., ELLENKAMP, R. & HOPMAN, M. T. E. 2009. Ischemic preconditioning improves maximal performance in humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 108, 141-146.
- DE MAN-VAN GINKEL, J. M., HAFSTEINSDOTTIR, T., LINDEMAN, E., BURGER, H., GROBBEE, D. & SCHUURMANS, M. 2012. An Efficient Way to Detect Poststroke Depression by Subsequent Administration of a 9-Item and a 2-Item Patient Health Questionnaire. *Stroke*, 43, 854-856.
- DE OLIVEIRA CRUZ, R. S., DE AGUIAR, R. A., TURNES, T., PEREIRA, K. L. & CAPUTO, F. 2015. Effects of ischemic preconditioning on maximal constant-load cycling performance. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 119, 961-967.
- DEBIGARE, R., COTE, C. H., HOULD, F. S., LEBLANC, P. & MALTAIS, F. 2003. In vitro and in vivo contractile properties of the vastus lateralis muscle in males with COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 21, 273-278.
- DECATO, T. W., BRADLEY, S. M., WILSON, E. L. & HEGEWALD, M. J. 2018. Repeatability and Meaningful Change of CPET Parameters in Healthy Subjects. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 50.
- DELOREY, D. S., KOWALCHUK, J. M. & PATERSON, D. H. 2003. Relationship between pulmonary O2 uptake kinetics and muscle deoxygenation during moderate-intensity exercise. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 95, 113-120.
- DEMYTTENAERE, K., DE FRUYT, J. & STAHL, S. M. 2005. The many faces of fatigue in major depressive disorder. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharm.*, 8, 93-105.
- DENIS, C., FOUQUET, R., POTY, P., GEYSSANT, A. & LACOUR, J. R. 1982. Effect of 40 weeks of endurance training on the anaerobic threshold. *International journal of sports medicine*, 3.
- DENNIS, M., MEAD, G., FORBES, J., GRAHAM, C., HACKETT, M., HANKEY, G. J., HOUSE, A., LEWIS, S., LUNDSTRÖM, E., SANDERCOCK, P., INNES, K., WILLIAMS, C., DREVER, J., MCGRATH, A., DEARY, A., FRASER, R., ANDERSON, R., WALKER, P. & PERRY, D. 2019. Effects of fluoxetine on functional outcomes after acute stroke (FOCUS): a pragmatic, double- blind, randomised, controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 393, 265-274.
- DESCHODT, V. J., ARSAC, L. M. & ROUARD, A. H. 1999. Relative contribution of arms and legs in humans to propulsion in 25- m sprint front- crawl swimming. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 80, 192-199.
- DEVLIN, N. & BROOKS, R. 2017. EQ-5D and the EuroQol Group: Past, Present and Future. *Applied Health Economics and Health Policy*, 15, 127-137.

- DEVLIN, N. J., SHAH, K. K., FENG, Y., MULHERN, B. & VAN HOUT, B. 2017. Valuing health-related quality of life: An EQ-5D-5L value set for England.
- DEWILDE, S., ANNEMANS, L., PEETERS, A., HEMELSOET, D., VANDERMEEREN, Y., DESFONTAINES, P., BROUNS, R., VANHOOREN, G., CRAS, P., MICHIELSENS, B., REDONDO, P. & THIJS, V. 2017. Modified Rankin scale as a determinant of direct medical costs after stroke. *Int J Stroke*, 12, 392-400.
- DICKSON, E., LORBAR, M., PORCARO, W., FENTON, R., REINHARDT, C. P., GYSEMBERGH, A. & PRZYKLENK, K. 1999. Rabbit heart can be preconditioned via transfer of coronary effluent. *The American Journal of Physiology.*, 277, H2451-H2457.
- DIJKLAND, S. A., VOORMOLEN, D. C., VENEMA, E., ROOZENBEEK, B., POLINDER, S., HAAGSMA, J. A., NIEBOER, D., CHALOS, V., YOO, A. J., SCHREUDERS, J., VAN DER LUGT, A., MAJOIE, C. B. L. M., ROOS, Y. B. W. E. M., VAN ZWAM, W. H., VAN OOSTENBRUGGE, R. J., STEYERBERG, E. W., DIPPEL, D. W. J. & LINGSMA, H. F. 2018. Utility-Weighted Modified Rankin Scale as Primary Outcome in Stroke Trials A Simulation Study. *Stroke*, 49, 965-971.
- DILLON, H., DAUSIN, C., CLAESSEN, G., LINDQVIST, A., MITCHELL, A., WRIGHT, L., HOWDEN, E. & AND GERCHE, A. L. 2020. Differential Oxygen Consumption and Cardiac Response to Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing in Upright, Semi-Supine and Supine Cycling Positions. *Heart, Lung and Circulation.,* 29.
- DING, X.-F., LIU, Y., YAN, Z.-Y., LI, X.-J., MA, Q.-Y., JIN, Z.-Y., LI, Y.-H., LIU, Y.-Y., XUE, Z., CHEN, J.-X. & LV, Z.-P. 2017. Involvement of Normalized Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein Expression in the Hippocampi in Antidepressant- Like Effects of Xiaoyaosan on Chronically Stressed Mice. *Evidence-based complementary and alternative medicine : eCAM*, 2017, 1960584-1960584.
- DISHMAN, R. K., BERTHOUD, H. R., BOOTH, F. W., COTMAN, C. W., EDGERTON, V. R., FLESHNER, M.
 R., GANDEVIA, S. C., GOMEZ PINILLA, F., GREENWOOD, B. N., HILLMAN, C. H., KRAMER, A.
 F., LEVIN, B. E., MORAN, T. H., RUSSO NEUSTADT, A. A., SALAMONE, J. D., HOOMISSEN, J.
 D., WADE, C. E., YORK, D. A. & ZIGMOND, M. J. 2006. Neurobiology of Exercise. *Obesity* (*Silver Spring*), 14, 345-356.
- DISTEFANO, G., STANDLEY, R. A., ZHANG, X., CARNERO, E. A., YI, F., CORNNELL, H. H. & COEN, P. M. 2018. Physical activity unveils the relationship between mitochondrial energetics, muscle quality, and physical function in older adults. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*, 9, 279-294.
- DJAFARZADEH, S. & JAKOB, S. M. 2017. High-resolution respirometry to assess mitochondrial function in permeabilized and intact cells. *J Vis Exp*, 2017.
- DOEPPNER, T. R., ZECHMEISTER, B., KALTWASSER, B., JIN, F., ZHENG, X., MAJID, A., VENKATARAMANI, V., BÄHR, M. & HERMANN, D. M. 2018. Very Delayed Remote Ischemic Post-conditioning Induces Sustained Neurological Recovery by Mechanisms Involving Enhanced Angioneurogenesis and Peripheral Immunosuppression Reversal.
- DONATO, M., BUCHHOLZ, B., RODRÍGUEZ, M., PÉREZ, V., INSERTE, J., GARCÍA-DORADO, D. & GELPI, R. J. 2013. Role of the parasympathetic nervous system in cardioprotection by remote hindlimb ischaemic preconditioning. *Experimental Physiology*, 98, 425-434.
- DONG, X.-L., SUN, X., SUN, W.-M., YUAN, Q., YU, G.-H., SHUAI, L. & YUAN, Y.-F. 2021. A randomized controlled trial to explore the efficacy and safety of transcranial direct current stimulation on patients with post-stroke fatigue. *Medicine (Baltimore),* 100, e27504-e27504.
- DONG, Y., SHARMA, V. K., CHAN, B. P.-L., VENKETASUBRAMANIAN, N., TEOH, H. L., SEET, R. C. S., TANICALA, S., CHAN, Y. H. & CHEN, C. 2010. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is superior to the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) for the detection of vascular cognitive impairment after acute stroke. J Neurol Sci, 299, 15-18.
- DOS SANTOS, P., KOWALTOWSKI, A. J., LACLAU, M. N., SEETHARAMAN, S., PAUCEK, P., BOUDINA, S., THAMBO, J.-B., TARIOSSE, L. & GARLID, K. D. 2002. Mechanisms by which opening the mitochondrial ATP- sensitive K+ channel protects the ischemic heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 283, 284-295.

- DOUVEN, E., KÖHLER, S., SCHIEVINK, S. H. J., VAN OOSTENBRUGGE, R. J., STAALS, J., VERHEY, F. R. J.
 & AALTEN, P. 2017. Temporal Associations between Fatigue, Depression, and Apathy after Stroke: Results of the Cognition and Affect after Stroke, a Prospective Evaluation of Risks Study. *Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland)*, 44.
- DRIESSEN, E. & HOLLON, D. S. 2010. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Mood Disorders: Efficacy, Moderators and Mediators. *Psychiatric Clinics*, 33, 537-555.
- DRUCE, K. L., JONES, G. T., MACFARLANE, G. J. & BASU, N. 2015. Patients receiving anti-TNF therapies experience clinically important improvements in RA-related fatigue: Results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register for Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 54, 964-971.
- DRUMMOND, A., HAWKINS, L., SPRIGG, N., WARD, N. S., MISTRI, A., TYRRELL, P., MEAD, G. E., WORTHINGTON, E. & LINCOLN, N. B. 2017. The Nottingham Fatigue after Stroke (NotFAST) study: Factors associated with severity of fatigue in stroke patients without depression. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 31, 1406-1415.
- DU, X., YANG, J., LIU, C., WANG, S., ZHANG, C., ZHAO, H., DU, H. & GENG, X. 2020. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α and 2α Have Beneficial Effects in Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Against Stroke by Modulating Inflammatory Responses in Aged Rats. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 12, 54-54.
- DUBEY, A., PRAJAPATI, K., SWAMY, M. & PACHAURI, V. 2015. Heat shock proteins: a therapeutic target worth to consider. *Veterinary World*, 8.
- DUFFY, L., GAJREE, S., LANGHORNE, P., STOTT, D. J. & QUINN, T. J. 2013. Reliability (Inter-rater Agreement) of the Barthel Index for Assessment of Stroke Survivors: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Stroke*, 44, 462-468.
- DUNCAN, F., KUTLUBAEV, A. M., DENNIS, S. M., GREIG, C. & MEAD, E. G. 2012. Fatigue after stroke: a systematic review of associations with impaired physical fitness. **7**, 157-162.
- DUNCAN, F., LEWIS, S. J., GREIG, C. A., DENNIS, M. S., SHARPE, M., MACLULLICH, A. M. J. & MEAD, G.
 E. 2015. Exploratory Longitudinal Cohort Study of Associations of Fatigue after Stroke. Stroke, 46, 1052-1058.
- DUNCAN, P. W., ZOROWITZ, R., BATES, B., CHOI, J. Y., GLASBERG, J. J., GRAHAM, G. D., KATZ, R. C., LAMBERTY, K. & REKER, D. 2005. Management of Adult Stroke Rehabilitation Care: a clinical practice guideline. *Stroke*, 36, e100-143.
- DUNN, A., MARSDEN, D. L., BARKER, D., VAN VLIET, P., SPRATT, N. J. & CALLISTER, R. 2019. Evaluation of three measures of cardiorespiratory fitness in independently ambulant stroke survivors. *Physiother Theory Pract*, 35, 622-632.
- DUNN, A., MARSDEN, D. L., NUGENT, E., VAN VLIET, P., SPRATT, N. J., ATTIA, J. & CALLISTER, R. 2015. Protocol Variations and Six-Minute Walk Test Performance in Stroke Survivors: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. *Stroke Res Treat*, 2015, 484813-28.
- DURAND, M. J., BOERGER, T. F., NGUYEN, J. N., ALQAHTANI, S. Z., WRIGHT, M. T., SCHMIT, B. D., GUTTERMAN, D. D. & HYNGSTROM, A. S. 2019. Two Weeks of Ischemic Conditioning Improves Walking Speed and Reduces Neuromuscular Fatigability in Chronic Stroke Survivors. Journal of Applied Physiology.
- ECCLES, A., MORRIS, R. & KNEEBONE, I. 2017. Psychometric properties of the Behavioural Outcomes of Anxiety questionnaire in stroke patients with aphasia. *Clin Rehabil*, 31, 369-378.
- EDELMANN, F., GELBRICH, G., DNGEN, H.-D., FRÖHLING, S., WACHTER, R., STAHRENBERG, R., BINDER, L., TÖPPER, A., LASHKI, D. J., SCHWARZ, S., HERRMANN-LINGEN, C., LÖFFLER, M., HASENFUSS, G., HALLE, M. & PIESKE, B. 2011. Exercise training improves exercise capacity and diastolic function in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: Results of the Ex-DHF (exercise training in diastolic heart failure) pilot study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 58, 1780-1791.
- EDWARDS, L. M., TYLER, D. J., KEMP, G. J., DWYER, R. M., JOHNSON, A., HOLLOWAY, C. J., NEVILL, A. M. & CLARKE, K. 2012. The reproducibility of 31-phosphorus MRS measures of muscle energetics at 3 tesla in trained men. *PLoS One*, *7*, e37237-e37237.

- EGERTON, T., HOKSTAD, A., ASKIM, T., BERNHARDT, J. & INDREDAVIK, B. 2015. Prevalence of fatigue in patients 3 months after stroke and association with early motor activity: A prospective study comparing stroke patients with a matched general population cohort. *BMC Neurology*, 15, 1-1.
- EHLKEN, N., LICHTBLAU, M., KLOSE, H., WEIDENHAMMER, J., FISCHER, C., NECHWATAL, R., UIKER, S., HALANK, M., OLSSON, K., SEEGER, W., GALL, H., ROSENKRANZ, S., WILKENS, H., MERTENS, D., SEYFARTH, H.-J., OPITZ, C., ULRICH, S., EGENLAUF, B. & GRÜNIG, E. 2016. Exercise training improves peak oxygen consumption and haemodynamics in patients with severe pulmonary arterial hypertension and inoperable chronic thrombo-embolic pulmonary hypertension: A prospective, randomized, controlled trial. *Eur Heart J*, 37, 35-44.
- EIJSDEN, H. M. V., VAN DE, P., INGRID GERRIE LAMBERT, VISSER-MEILY, J. M. A. & KWAKKEL, G. 2012. Poststroke Fatigue: Who Is at Risk for an Increase in Fatigue? *Stroke Res Treat*, 2012, 863978-863978.
- ELASHOFF, J. D. 1969. Analysis of Covariance: A Delicate Instrument. *American educational research journal*, 6, 383-401.
- ELBERS, R. G., RIETBERG, M. B., VAN WEGEN, E. E. H., VERHOEF, J., KRAMER, S. F., TERWEE, C. B. & KWAKKEL, G. 2012. Self-report fatigue questionnaires in multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease and stroke: a systematic review of measurement properties. *Qual Life Res,* 21, 925-944.
- ELDAIEF, C. M., PRESS, Z. D. & PASCUAL-LEONE, Z. A. 2013. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in neurology: A review of established and prospective applications. *Neurology: Clinical Practice*, 3, 519-526.
- ELDRIDGE, S. M., LANCASTER, G. A., CAMPBELL, M. J., THABANE, L., HOPEWELL, S., COLEMAN, C. L. & BOND, C. M. 2016. Defining feasibility and pilot studies in preparation for randomised controlled trials: Development of a conceptual framework. *PLoS One*, **11**, e0150205-e0150205.
- ELF, M., ERIKSSON, G., JOHANSSON, S., VON KOCH, L. & YTTERBERG, C. 2016. Self-reported fatigue and associated factors six years after stroke. *PLoS ONE*, 11, 9-12.
- ELTZSCHIG, H. K. & COLLARD, C. D. 2004. Vascular ischaemia and reperfusion injury. *British Medical Bulletin*, 70, 71-86.
- ENG, J. J., DAWSON, A. S. & CHU, K. S. 2004. Submaximal exercise in persons with stroke: test-retest reliability and concurrent validity with maximal oxygen consumption. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 85, 113-118.
- ENGELTER, S. T., GOSTYNSKI, M., PAPA, S., FREI, M., BORN, C., AJDACIC-GROSS, V., GUTZWILLER, F. & LYRER, P. A. 2006. Epidemiology of aphasia attributable to first ischemic stroke: Incidence, severity, fluency, etiology, and thrombolysis. *Stroke*, 37, 1379-1384.
- ENGLAND, J. T., HEDSTROM, A. A., O'SULLIVAN, M. S., DONNELLY, M. R., BARRETT, M. D., SARMAD, M. S., SPRIGG, M. N. & BATH, M. P. 2017. RECAST (Remote Ischemic Conditioning After Stroke Trial): A Pilot Randomized Placebo Controlled Phase II Trial in Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Stroke*, 48, 1412-1415.
- ENGLAND, T., HEDSTROM, A., SULLIVAN, S., DONNELLY, R., SPRIGG, N. & BATH, P. 2016. Remote ischaemic conditioning after stroke trial (RECAST). *Int. J. Stroke*, **11**, S6-S7.
- ENGLAND, T. J., HEDSTROM, A., O'SULLIVAN, S. E., WOODHOUSE, L., JACKSON, B., SPRIGG, N. & BATH, P. M. 2019. Remote Ischemic Conditioning After Stroke Trial 2: A Phase IIb Randomized Controlled Trial in Hyperacute Stroke. *J Am Heart Assoc*, *8*, e013572-e013572.
- ENGLISH, C., MANNS, P. J., TUCAK, C. & BERNHARDT, J. 2014. Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors in People With Stroke Living in the Community: A Systematic Review. *Phys Ther*, 94, 185-196.
- ENGLISH, C., MCLENNAN, H., THOIRS, K., COATES, A. & BERNHARDT, J. 2010. Loss of Skeletal Muscle Mass after Stroke: a Systematic Review. *Int J Stroke*, **5**, 395-402.

- EPPS, J., DIEBERG, G. & SMART, N. A. 2016. Repeat remote ischaemic pre-conditioning for improved cardiovascular function in humans: A systematic review. *Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc,* 11, 55-58.
- ERNST, T., LEE, J. H. & ROSS, B. D. 1993. Direct 31P imaging in human limb and brain. *Journal of computer assisted tomography*, 17.
- EUROPEAN HEART NETWORK. 2017. European Cardiovascular Disease Statistics 2017 [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.ehnheart.org/cvd-statistics.html</u> [Accessed 15.07.2020].
- FABER, L. G., MAURITS, N. M. & LORIST, M. M. 2012. Mental Fatigue Affects Visual Selective Attention. *PLoS One*, 7, e48073-e48073.
- FALCONER, M., WALSH, S. & HARBISON, J. A. 2010. Estimated Prevalence of Fatigue Following Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack Is Dependent on Terminology Used and Patient Gender. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 19, 431-434.
- FARMER, K. C. 1999. Methods for measuring and monitoring medication regimen adherence in clinical trials and clinical practice. *Clin Ther*, 21, 1074-1090.
- FEIGIN, L. V., BARKER-COLLO, L. S., PARAG, A. V., HACKETT, A. M., KERSE, A. N., BARBER, A. P., THEADOM, A. A. & KRISHNAMURTHI, A. R. 2012. Prevalence and Predictors of 6-Month Fatigue in Patients With Ischemic Stroke: A Population- Based Stroke Incidence Study in Auckland, New Zealand, 2002–2003. Stroke, 43, 2604-2609.
- FEIGIN, V. L., FOROUZANFAR, M. H., KRISHNAMURTHI, R., MENSAH, G. A., CONNOR, M., BENNETT, D. A., MORAN, A. E., SACCO, R. L., ANDERSON, L., TRUELSEN, T., AMP, AMP, APOS, DONNELL, M., VENKETASUBRAMANIAN, N., BARKER-COLLO, S., LAWES, C. M. M., WANG, W., SHINOHARA, Y., WITT, E., EZZATI, M., NAGHAVI, M. & MURRAY, C. 2014. Global and regional burden of stroke during 1990–2010: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, 383, 245-255.
- FENG, Y. S., KOHLMANN, T., JANSSEN, M. F. & BUCHHOLZ, I. 2021. Psychometric properties of the EQ-5D-5L: a systematic review of the literature. *Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation,* 30.
- FERRANTI, R., DA SILVA, M. M. & KOWALTOWSKI, A. J. 2003. Mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K + channel opening decreases reactive oxygen species generation. *FEBS Lett*, 536, 51-55.
- FINSTERER, J. & MAHJOUB, S. Z. 2014. Fatigue in Healthy and Diseased Individuals. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care*, 31, 562-575.
- FLACHENECKER, P., KÜMPFEL, T., KALLMANN, B., GOTTSCHALK, M., GRAUER, O., RIECKMANN, P., TRENKWALDER, C. & TOYKA, K. V. 2002. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis: a comparison of different rating scales and correlation to clinical parameters. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 8, 523-526.
- FLANSBJER, U.-B., MILLER, M., DOWNHAM, D. & LEXELL, J. 2008. Progressive resistance training after stroke: effects on muscle strength, muscle tone, gait performance and perceived participation. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine*, 40, 42-48.
- FLETCHER, G. F., ADES, P. A., KLIGFIELD, P., ARENA, R., BALADY, G. J., BITTNER, V. A., COKE, L. A.,FLEG, J. L., FORMAN, D. E., GERBER, T. C., GULATI, M., MADAN, K., RHODES, J., THOMPSON,P. D. & WILLIAMS, M. A. 2013. Exercise Standards for Testing and Training.
- FLINN, N. A. & STUBE, J. E. 2010. Post-stroke fatigue: qualitative study of three focus groups. Occupational therapy international, 17.
- FORSTER, H. V. & PAN, L. G. 1988. Breathing during exercise: demands, regulation, limitations. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*, 227.
- FORSTERMANN, I. U., CLOSS, S. E., POLLOCK, S. J., NAKANE, S. M., SCHWARZ, S. P., GATH, S. I. & KLEINERT, S. H. 1994. Nitric Oxide Synthase Isozymes: Characterization, Purification, Molecular Cloning, and Functions. *Hypertension*, 23, 1121-1131.
- FÖRSTERMANN, U. & MÜNZEL, T. 2006. Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase in Vascular Disease: From Marvel to Menace. *Circulation*, 113, 1708-1714.
- FOSTER, J., TAYLOR, L., CHRISMAS, B., WATKINS, S. & MAUGER, A. 2014. The influence of acetaminophen on repeated sprint cycling performance. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 114, 41-48.

- FU, T. C. & WANG, J. S. 2011. Aerobic Interval Exercise Training Improves Ventilatory Efficiency in Patients with Chronic Heart Failure. *The FASEB journal*, 25, 1057.11-1057.11.
- FUKUOKA, Y., GRASSI, B., CONTI, M., GUIDUCCI, D., SUTTI, M., MARCONI, C. & CERRETELLI, P. 2002. Early effects of exercise training on on- and off-kinetics in 50-year-old subjects. *Pflugers Arch*, 443, 690.
- FULK, G. D., ECHTERNACH, J. L., NOF, L. & O'SULLIVAN, S. 2008. Clinometric properties of the sixminute walk test in individuals undergoing rehabilitation poststroke. *Physiother Theory Pract*, 24, 195-204.
- FULK, G. D. & HE, Y. 2018. Minimal Clinically Important Difference of the 6-Minute Walk Test in People With Stroke. *J Neurol Phys Ther*, 42, 235-240.
- GADEMAN, M. G. J., SWENNE, C. A., VERWEY, H. F., VAN DE VOOREN, H., HAEST, J. C. W., VAN EXEL,
 H. J., LUCAS, C. M. H. B., CLEUREN, G. V. J., SCHALIJ, M. J. & VAN DER WALL, E. E. 2008.
 Exercise training increases oxygen uptake efficiency slope in chronic heart failure. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*, 15, 140-144.
- GALÁN-ARRIOLA, C., VILLENA-GUTIÉRREZ, R., HIGUERO-VERDEJO, M. I., DÍAZ-RENGIFO, I. A.,
 PIZARRO, G., LÓPEZ, G. J., MOLINA-IRACHETA, A. D., PÉREZ-MARTÍNEZ, C., GARCÍA, R. D.,
 GONZÁLEZ-CALLE, D., LOBO, M., SÁNCHEZ, P. L., OLIVER, E., CÓRDOBA, R., FUSTER, V.,
 SÁNCHEZ-GONZÁLEZ, J. & IBANEZ, B. 2021. Remote ischaemic preconditioning ameliorates
 anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity and preserves mitochondrial integrity. *Cardiovasc Res*,
 117, 1132-1143.
- GANESH, A., LUENGO-FERNANDEZ, R., PENDLEBURY, S. T. & ROTHWELL, P. M. 2020. Weights for ordinal analyses of the modified Rankin Scale in stroke trials: A population-based cohort study. *EClinicalMedicine*, 23, 100415-100415.
- GANESH, A., LUENGO-FERNANDEZ, R., WHARTON, R. M. & ROTHWELL, P. M. 2018. Ordinal vs dichotomous analyses of modified Rankin Scale, 5-year outcome, and cost of stroke. *Neurology*, 91, e1951-e1960.
- GAO, X., LIU, Y., XIE, Y., WANG, Y. & QI, S. 2017. Remote ischemic postconditioning confers neuroprotective effects via inhibition of the BID-mediated mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. *Molecular medicine reports*, 16, 515-522.
- GASKILL, S. E., WALKER, A. J., SERFASS, R. A., BOUCHARD, C., J, G., C, R. D., SKINNER, J. S., WILMORE, J. H. & LEON, A. S. 2001. Changes in ventilatory threshold with exercise training in a sedentary population: the HERITAGE Family Study. *International journal of sports medicine*, 22.
- GASPAROVIC, H., KOPJAR, T., RADOS, M., ANTICEVIC, A., RADOS, M., MALOJCIC, B., IVANCAN, V., FABIJANIC, T., CIKES, M., MILICIC, D., GASPAROVIC, V. & BIOCINA, B. 2019. Impact of remote ischemic preconditioning preceding coronary artery bypass grafting on inducing neuroprotection. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 157, 1466-1476.e3.
- GAWRON, V. J. 2016. Overview of Self-Reported Measures of Fatigue. *The International journal of aviation psychology*, 26, 120-131.
- GENG, X., WANG, Q., LEE, H., HUBER, C., WILLS, M., ELKIN, K., LI, F., X, J. & Y, D. 2021. Remote Ischemic Postconditioning vs. Physical Exercise After Stroke: an Alternative Rehabilitation Strategy? *Molecular neurobiology*, 58.
- GERRARD, P. & MALCOLM, R. 2007. Mechanisms of modafinil: A review of current research. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, **3**, 349-364.
- GERRITS, K. H. P., BELTMAN, M. J. P., KOPPE, P. A. M. D., KONIJNENBELT, H. M. D., ELICH, P. D. P. T., DE HAAN, A. P. & JANSSEN, T. W. P. 2009. Isometric Muscle Function of Knee Extensors and the Relation With Functional Performance in Patients With Stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 90, 480-487.
- GHO, B. C., SCHOEMAKER, R. G., VAN DEN DOEL, M. A., DUNCKER, D. J. & VERDOUW, P. D. 1996. Myocardial protection by brief ischemia in noncardiac tissue. *Circulation*, 94, 2193.

- GHOSH, A. K. 2004. Anaerobic threshold: Its concept and role in endurance sport. *Malays J Med Sci*, 11, 24-36.
- GILBODY, S., RICHARDS, D., BREALEY, S. & HEWITT, C. 2007. Screening for Depression in Medical Settings with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ): A Diagnostic Meta-Analysis. *J Gen Intern Med*, 22, 1596-1602.
- GIRICZ, Z., VARGA, Z. V., BARANYAI, T., SIPOS, P., PÁLÓCZI, K., KITTEL, Á., BUZÁS, E. I. & FERDINANDY,
 P. 2014. Cardioprotection by remote ischemic preconditioning of the rat heart is mediated
 by extracellular vesicles. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 68, 75-78.
- GLAAB, T. & TAUBE, C. 2022. Practical guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing in adults. *Respir Res*, 23, 9-9.
- GLADER, E. L., STEGMAYR, B. & ASPLUND, K. 2002. Poststroke fatigue: A 2-year follow-up study of stroke patients in Sweden. *Stroke*, 33, 1327-1333.
- GLADMAN, J. R. F., LINCOLN, N. B. & ADAMS, S. A. 1993. Use of the Extended ADL Scale with Stroke Patients. *Age Ageing*, 22, 419-424.
- GONZALEZ, N., CONNOLLY, M., DUSICK, JR., BHAKTA, H. & VESPA, P. 2014. Phase I Clinical Trial for the Feasibility and Safety of Remote Ischemic Conditioning for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery*, 75, 590-598.
- GOOD CLINICAL PRACTICE. 2020. *Good Clinical Practice* [Online]. @HRA_Latest. Available: /planningand-improving-research/policies-standards-legislation/good-clinical-practice/ [Accessed].
- GORDON, N. F., GULANICK, M., COSTA, F., FLETCHER, G., FRANKLIN, B. A., ROTH, E. J. & SHEPHARD, T. 2004. Physical Activity and Exercise Recommendations for Stroke Survivors: An American Heart Association Scientific Statement from the Council on Clinical Cardiology, Subcommittee on Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention; the Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism; and the Stroke Council. *Circulation*, 109, 2031-2041.
- GORELICK, P. B. 2019. The global burden of stroke: persistent and disabling. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18, 417-418.
- GOROG, D. A., FARAG, M., SPINTHAKIS, N., YELLON, D. M., BØTKER, H. E., KHARBANDA, R. K. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2021. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on platelet reactivity and endogenous fibrinolysis in ST-elevation myocardial infarction: A substudy of the CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI randomized controlled trial. *Cardiovasc Res*, 117, 623-634.
- GOUSPILLOU, G. & HEPPLE, R. 2016. Editorial: Mitochondria in Skeletal Muscle Health, Aging and Diseases. *Front. Physiol.*, 7.
- GREEN, S. & DAWSON, B. 1993. Measurement of anaerobic capacities in humans. Definitions, limitations and unsolved problems. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.),* 15.
- GROOTHUIS, J. T., VAN VLIET, L., KOOIJMAN, M. & HOPMAN, M. T. E. 2003. Venous cuff pressures from 30 mmHg to diastolic pressure are recommended to measure arterial inflow by plethysmography. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 95, 342-347.
- GRUET, M., TEMESI, J., RUPP, T., LEVY, P., MILLET, G. Y. & VERGES, S. 2013. Stimulation of the motor cortex and corticospinal tract to assess human muscle fatigue. *Neuroscience*, 231, 384-399.
- GUAZZI, M., REINA, G., TUMMINELLO, G. & GUAZZI, M. D. 2004. Improvement of alveolar-capillary membrane diffusing capacity with exercise training in chronic heart failure. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 97, 1866-1873.
- GUEST, G., NAMEY, E. & CHEN, M. 2020. A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research.
- GUO, Y. H., CHEN, H. X. & XIE, R. M. 2012. Effects of qi-supplementing dominated Chinese materia medica combined with rehabilitation training on the quality of life of ischemic post-stroke fatigue patients of qi deficiency syndrome]. *Chinese Journal of Integrated Traditional and Western Medicine*, 32, 160-3.
- GURAK, S. V. & PARFENOV, V. A. 2005. Asthenia after stroke and myocardial infarction and its treatment with Enerion. *Klinicheskaya Gerontologia*, 8, 9-12.

- GYAWALI, P., HINWOOD, M., CHOW, W. Z., KLUGE, M., ONG, L. K., NILSSON, M. & WALKER, F. R.
 2020. Exploring the relationship between fatigue and circulating levels of the proinflammatory biomarkers interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein in the chronic stage of stroke recovery: A cross-sectional study. *Brain, behavior, & immunity. Health,* 9, 100157-100157.
- HAASE, V. H. 2012. Regulation of erythropoiesis by hypoxia-inducible factors. *Blood Rev,* 27, 41-53. HACKETT, M. L., YAPA, C., PARAG, V. & ANDERSON, C. S. 2005. Frequency of depression after stroke:
 - A systematic review of observational studies. Stroke, 36, 1330-1340.
- HADEBE, N., COUR, M. & LECOUR, S. 2018. The SAFE pathway for cardioprotection: is this a promising target? *Basic Res Cardiol*, 113, 1-6.
- HAFER-MACKO, C. E., YU, S., RYAN, A. S., IVEY, F. M. & MACKO, R. F. 2005. Elevated tumor necrosis factor-alpha in skeletal muscle after stroke. *Stroke*, 36, 2021-3.
- HALESTRAP, A. P. & RICHARDSON, A. P. 2014. The mitochondrial permeability transition: A current perspective on its identity and role in ischaemia/reperfusion injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 78, 129-141.
- HAMASAKI, A., ARIMA, S. & HIRAKOBA, K. 2018. Changes in pulmonary oxygen uptake and muscle deoxygenation kinetics during cycling exercise in older women performing walking training for 12 weeks. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 118, 2179-2188.
- HAMIDZADEH, M. & ZELTZER, L. 2011. *Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://strokengine.ca/en/assessments/six-minute-walk-test-6mwt/</u> [Accessed].
- HAMPTON, S., ARMSTRONG, G., AYYAR, M. S. & LI, S. 2014. Quantification of Perceived Exertion During Isometric Force Production With the Borg Scale in Healthy Individuals and Patients With Chronic Stroke. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 21, 33-39.
- HAN, S.-C., FU, T.-C., HSU, C.-C., HUANG, S.-C., LIN, H.-Y. & WANG, J.-S. 2021. The validation of oxygen uptake efficiency slope in patients with stroke. *Medicine (Baltimore),* 100, e27384-e27384.
- HANSEN, C. S., JØRGENSEN, M. E., FLEISCHER, J., BØTKER, H. E. & ROSSING, P. 2019. Efficacy of Long-Term Remote Ischemic Conditioning on Vascular and Neuronal Function in Type 2 Diabetes Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease. *J Am Heart Assoc*, 8, e011779-e011779.
- HANSEN, L. F., NIELSEN, N. S. K., CHRISTOFFERSEN, L. C. & KRUUSE, C. 2021. Translational challenges of remote ischemic conditioning in ischemic stroke a systematic review. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*, *8*, 1720-1729.
- HARGREAVES, M. & SPRIET, L. L. 2020. Skeletal muscle energy metabolism during exercise. *Nat Metab,* 2, 817-828.
- HARPER, C., GOPALAN, V. & GOH, J. 2021. Exercise rescues mitochondrial coupling in aged skeletal muscle: a comparison of different modalities in preventing sarcopenia. *J Transl Med*, 19, 71-71.
- HARRIS, M. L., POLKEY, M. I., BATH, P. M. & MOXHAM, J. 2001. Quadriceps muscle weakness following acute hemiplegic stroke. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 15.
- HARRISON, J. K., MCARTHUR, K. S. & QUINN, T. J. 2013. Assessment scales in stroke: clinimetric and clinical considerations. *Clin Interv Aging*, 8, 201-211.
- HATOKO, M., TANAKA, A., KUWAHARA, M., YURUGI, S., IIOKA, H. & NIITSUMA, K. 2002. Difference of molecular response to ischemia-reperfusion of rat skeletal muscle as a function of ischemic time: study of the expression of p53, p21(WAF-1), Bax protein, and apoptosis. *Ann Plast Surg*, 48, 68-74.
- HATTINGEN, E., MAGERKURTH, J., PILATUS, U., MOZER, A., SEIFRIED, C., STEINMETZ, H., ZANELLA, F. & HILKER, R. 2009. Phosphorus and proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy demonstrates mitochondrial dysfunction in early and advanced Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 132, 3285-3297.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., CANDILIO, L., EVANS, R., ARITI, C., JENKINS, D. P., KOLVEKAR, S., KNIGHT, R., KUNST, G., LAING, C., NICHOLAS, J., PEPPER, J., ROBERTSON, S., XENOU, M., CLAYTON, T. & YELLON, D. M. 2015. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning and Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 373, 1408-1417.

- HAUSENLOY, D. J., DUCHEN, M. R. & YELLON, D. M. 2003. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening at reperfusion protects against ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res*, 60, 617-625.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., KHARBANDA, R. K., MØLLER, U. K., RAMLALL, M., AARØE, J., BUTLER, R., BULLUCK, H., CLAYTON, T., DANA, A., DODD, M., ENGSTROM, T., EVANS, R., LASSEN, J. F., CHRISTENSEN, E. F., GARCIA-RUIZ, J. M., GOROG, D. A., HJORT, J., HOUGHTON, R. F., IBANEZ, B., KNIGHT, R., LIPPERT, F. K., LØNBORG, J. T., MAENG, M., MILASINOVIC, D., MORE, R., NICHOLAS, J. M., JENSEN, L. O., PERKINS, A., RADOVANOVIC, N., RAKHIT, R. D., RAVKILDE, J., RYDING, A. D., SCHMIDT, M. R., RIDDERVOLD, I. S., SØRENSEN, H. T., STANKOVIC, G., VARMA, M., WEBB, I., TERKELSEN, C. J., GREENWOOD, J. P., YELLON, D. M., BØTKER, H. E. & INVESTIGATORS, C.-E.-P. 2019. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction (CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI): a single-blind randomised controlled trial.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., KUNST, G., BOSTON-GRIFFITHS, E., KOLVEKAR, S., CHAUBEY, S., JOHN, L., DESAI, J.
 & YELLON, D. M. 2014. The effect of cyclosporin-A on peri-operative myocardial injury in adult patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomised controlled clinical trial. *Heart*, 100, 544-549.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J., TSANG, A. & YELLON, D. M. 2005. The Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase Pathway: A Common Target for Both Ischemic Preconditioning and Postconditioning. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 15, 69-75.
- HAUSENLOY, D. J. & YELLON, D. M. 2008. Remote ischaemic preconditioning: underlying mechanisms and clinical application. *Cardiovascular Research*, **79**, **377-386**.
- HEALTH RESEARCH AUTHORITY. 2021a. Safety and progress reports (CTIMPs) procedural table [Online]. @HRA_Latest. Available: /approvals-amendments/managing-your-approval/safetyreporting/safety-and-progress-reports-ctimps-procedural-table/ [Accessed].
- HEALTH RESEARCH AUTHORITY. 2021b. Safety reporting [Online]. Available: /approvalsamendments/managing-your-approval/safety-reporting/ [Accessed].
- HEESEN, C., NAWRATH, L., REICH, C., BAUER, N., SCHULZ, K. H. & GOLD, S. M. 2006. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis: an example of cytokine mediated sickness behaviour? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 77, 34-39.
- HENRIKSSON, J. & REITMAN, J. S. 2022. Time Course of Changes in Human Skeletal Muscle Succinate Dehydrogenase and Cytochrome Oxidase Activities and Maximal Oxygen Uptake with Physical Activity and Inactivity - Henriksson - 1977 - Acta Physiologica Scandinavica - Wiley Online Library.
- HERDMAN, M., GUDEX, C., LLOYD, A., JANSSEN, M., KIND, P., PARKIN, D., BONSEL, G. & BADIA, X. 2011. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L).
- HESS, D. C., BLAUENFELDT, R. A., ANDERSEN, G., HOUGAARD, K. D., HODA, M. N., DING, Y. & JI, X.
 2015. Remote ischaemic conditioning-a new paradigm of self-protection in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 11, 698-710.
- HEUSCH, G. 2015. Molecular Basis of Cardioprotection: Signal Transduction in Ischemic Pre-, Post-, and Remote Conditioning. *Circ Res*, 116, 674-699.
- HEUSCH, G., BOENGLER, K. & SCHULZ, R. 2010. Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening: the holy grail of cardioprotection. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 105, 151-154.
- HEUSCH, G., BØTKER, H. E., PRZYKLENK, K., REDINGTON, A. & YELLON, D. 2015. Remote Ischemic Conditioning. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 65, 177-195.
- HICKSON, R. C. & ROSENKOETTER, M. A. 1981. Separate turnover of cytochrome c and myoglobin in the red types of skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology*, 241, 140-144.

- HIGASHI, Y., MARUHASHI, T., NOMA, K. & KIHARA, Y. 2014. Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction: Clinical evidence and therapeutic implications. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 24, 165-169.
- HILARI, K., OWEN, S. & FARRELLY, S. J. 2007. Proxy and self-report agreement on the Stroke and Aphasia Quality of Life Scale-39. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 78, 1072-1075.
- HINKLE, L. J., BECKER, J. K., KIM, S. J., CHOI-KWON, L. S., SABAN, E. K., MCNAIR, E. N. & MEAD, E. G. 2017. Poststroke Fatigue: Emerging Evidence and Approaches to Management: A Scientific Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association. *Stroke*, 48, e159-e170.
- HIRST, J. A., HOWICK, J., ARONSON, J. K., ROBERTS, N., PERERA, R., KOSHIARIS, C. & HENEGHAN, C. 2014. The need for randomization in animal trials: An overview of systematic reviews. *PLoS One*, 9, e98856-e98856.
- HO, A., NICHOLAS, M. L., DAGLI, C. & CONNOR, L. T. 2021a. Apathy, Cognitive Impairment, and Social Support Contribute to Participation in Cognitively Demanding Activities Poststroke. *Behav Neurol*, 2021, 8810632-8.
- HO, L. Y. W., LAI, C. K. Y. & NG, S. S. M. 2021b. Contribution of sleep quality to fatigue following a stroke: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Neurol*, 21, 151-151.
- HOBART, J. C., WILLIAMS, L. S., MORAN, K. & THOMPSON, A. J. 2002. Quality of life measurement after stroke: Uses and abuses of the SF-36. *Stroke*, 33, 1348-1356.
- HOLLAND, A. E., SPRUIT, M. A., TROOSTERS, T., PUHAN, M. A., PEPIN, V., SAEY, D., MCCORMACK, M.
 C., CARLIN, B. W., SCIURBA, F. C., PITTA, F., WANGER, J., MACINTYRE, N., KAMINSKY, D. A.,
 CULVER, B. H., REVILL, S. M., HERNANDES, N. A., ANDRIANOPOULOS, V., CAMILLO, C. A.,
 MITCHELL, K. E., LEE, A. L., HILL, C. J. & SINGH, S. J. 2014. An official European respiratory
 society/American thoracic society technical standard: Field walking tests in chronic
 respiratory disease. *Eur Respir J*, 44, 1428-1446.
- HORSCROFT, J. A. & MURRAY, A. J. 2014. Skeletal muscle energy metabolism in environmental hypoxia: Climbing towards consensus. *Extrem Physiol Med*, **3**, 19-19.
- HORSTMAN, A. M., BELTMAN, M. J., GERRITS, K. H., KOPPE, P., JANSSEN, T. W., ELICH, P. & DE HAAN,
 A. 2008. Intrinsic muscle strength and voluntary activation of both lower limbs and
 functional performance after stroke. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*, 28, 251-261.
- HORWICH, T. B. M. D. M. S., LEIFER, E. S. P., BRAWNER, C. A. M. S., FITZ-GERALD, M. B. R. N. B. S. N.
 & FONAROW, G. C. M. D. 2009. The relationship between body mass index and cardiopulmonary exercise testing in chronic systolic heart failure. *Am Heart J*, 158, S31-S36.
- HOSHINO, T., SISSANI, L., LABREUCHE, J., DUCROCQ, G., LAVALLÉE, P. C., MESEGUER, E., GUIDOUX, C., CABREJO, L., HOBEANU, C., GONGORA-RIVERA, F., TOUBOUL, P.-J., STEG, P. G. & AMARENCO, P. 2017. Prevalence of Systemic Atherosclerosis Burdens and Overlapping Stroke Etiologies and Their Associations With Long-term Vascular Prognosis in Stroke With Intracranial Atherosclerotic Disease. JAMA Neurol, 75, 203-211.
- HOUGAARD, D. K., HJORT, M. N., ZEIDLER, Z. D., SØRENSEN, V. L., NØRGAARD, R. A., HANSEN, K. T., VON WEITZEL-MUDERSBACH, N. P., SIMONSEN, E. C., DAMGAARD, E. D., GOTTRUP, E. H., SVENDSEN, E. K., RASMUSSEN, E. P., RIBE, E. L., MIKKELSEN, E. I., NAGENTHIRAJA, E. K., CHO, E. T.-H., REDINGTON, E. A., BØTKER, E. H., ØSTERGAARD, E. L., MOURIDSEN, E. K. & ANDERSEN, E. G. 2014. Remote Ischemic Perconditioning as an Adjunct Therapy to Thrombolysis in Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Randomized Trial. *Stroke*, 45, 159-167.
- HOWLEY, E. T., BASSETT, D. R. & WELCH, H. G. 1995. Criteria for maximal oxygen uptake: Review and commentary. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 27, 1292-1301.
- HUANG, C., ANDRES, A. M., RATLIFF, E. P., HERNANDEZ, G., LEE, P. & GOTTLIEB, R. A. 2011. Preconditioning involves selective mitophagy mediated by parkin and p62/SQSTM1. *PLoS One,* 6, e20975-e20975.

- HUANG, P. 2003. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase and endothelial dysfunction. *Current Hypertension Reports*, **5**, 473-480.
- HUANG, S., FAN, H., SHI, Y., HU, Y., GU, Z. & CHEN, Y. 2022. Immune biomarkers are associated with poststroke fatigue at six months in patients with ischemic stroke. *J Clin Neurosci*, 101, 228-233.
- HUIJTS, M., DUITS, A., STAALS, J. & VAN OOSTENBRUGGE, R. 2012. Association of Vitamin B12 Deficiency with Fatigue and Depression after Lacunar Stroke. *PLoS One*, 7.
- HUNGER, M., SABARIEGO, C., STOLLENWERK, B., CIEZA, A. & LEIDL, R. 2012. Validity, reliability and responsiveness of the EQ-5D in German stroke patients undergoing rehabilitation. *An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation Official Journal of the International Society of Quality of Life Research,* 21, 1205-1216.
- HYNGSTROM, A. S., MURPHY, S. A., NGUYEN, J., SCHMIT, B. D., NEGRO, F., GUTTERMAN, D. D. & DURAND, M. J. 2018. Ischemic conditioning increases strength and volitional activation of paretic muscle in chronic stroke: a pilot study. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 124, 1140-1147.
- IFERGANE, G., OVANYAN, A., TOLEDANO, R., GOLDBART, A., ABU-SALAME, I., TAL, A., STAVSKY, M. & NOVACK, V. 2016. Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Acute Stroke: A Role for Systemic Inflammation. *Stroke*, 47, 1207-1212.
- ILLEI, G. G., SHIROTA, Y., YARBORO, C. H., DARUWALLA, J., TACKEY, E., TAKADA, K., FLEISHER, T., BALOW, J. E. & LIPSKY, P. E. 2010. Tocilizumab in systemic lupus erythematosus: Data on safety, preliminary efficacy, and impact on circulating plasma cells from an open - label phase I dosage - escalation study. *Arthritis Rheum*, 62, 542-552.
- INCOGNITO, A. V., DOHERTY, C. J., LEE, J. B., BURNS, M. J. & MILLAR, P. J. 2017. Ischemic preconditioning does not alter muscle sympathetic responses to static handgrip and metaboreflex activation in young healthy men. *Physiol Rep*, 5, e13342-n/a.
- INGLES, J. L., ESKES, G. A. & PHILLIPS, S. J. 1999. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 80, 173-178.
- IVEY, F. M., GARDNER, A. W., DOBROVOLNY, C. L. & MACKO, R. F. 2004. Unilateral impairment of leg blood flow in chronic stroke patients. *Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland),* 18.
- IVEY, F. M., HAFER-MACKO, C. E., RYAN, A. S. & MACKO, R. F. 2010. Impaired leg vasodilatory function after stroke: Adaptations with treadmill exercise training. *Stroke*, 41, 2913-2917.
- IVEY, F. M., MACKO, R. F., RYAN, A. S. & HAFER-MACKO, C. E. 2005. Cardiovascular health and fitness after stroke. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 12, 1-16.
- JAESCHKE, R., SINGER, J. & GUYATT, G. H. 1989. Measurement of health status: Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. *Control Clin Trials*, 10, 407-415.
- JAMES LIND ALLIANCE. 2021. Stroke Rehabilitation and Long-term Care Top 10 Priorities [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/Stroke/stroke-rehabilitation-and-long-term-care-top-10-priorities.htm</u> [Accessed].
- JANOWSKI, M. 2009. Functional diversity of SDF-1 splicing variants. Cell Adh Migr.
- JAYWANT, A., TOGLIA, J., GUNNING, F. M. & O'DELL, M. W. 2019. The diagnostic accuracy of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in inpatient stroke rehabilitation. *Neuropsychol Rehabil*, 29, 1163-1176.
- JEAN-ST-MICHEL, E., MANLHIOT, C., LI, J., TROPAK, M., MICHELSEN, M. M., SCHMIDT, M. R., MCCRINDLE, B. W., WELLS, G. D. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2011. Remote preconditioning improves maximal performance in highly trained athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43, 1280-1286.
- JEFFRIES, O., WALDRON, M., PATTISON, J. R. & PATTERSON, S. D. 2018a. Enhanced local skeletal muscle oxidative capacity and microvascular blood flow following 7- day ischemic preconditioning in healthy humans. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9.
- JEFFRIES, O., WALDRON, M., PATTISON, J. R. & PATTERSON, S. D. 2018b. Enhanced local skeletal muscle oxidative capacity and microvascular blood flow following 7- day ischemic

preconditioning in healthy humans. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9, <xocs:firstpage xmlns:xocs=""/>.

JELKMANN, W. 2011. Regulation of erythropoietin production. J Physiol, 589, 1251-1258.

- JENKINS, T. M., ALIX, J. J. P., DAVID, C., PEARSON, E., RAO, D. G., HOGGARD, N., O'BRIEN, E., BASTER, K., BRADBURN, M., BIGLEY, J., MCDERMOTT, C. J., WILKINSON, I. D. & SHAW, P. J. 2018. Imaging muscle as a potential biomarker of denervation in motor neuron disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 89, 248-255.
- JENSEN, H. A., LOUKOGEORGAKIS, S., YANNOPOULOS, F., RIMPILÄINEN, E., PETZOLD, A., TUOMINEN, H., LEPOLA, P., MACALLISTER, R. J., DEANFIELD, J. E., MÄKELÄ, T., ALESTALO, K., KIVILUOMA, K., ANTTILA, V., TSANG, V. & JUVONEN, T. 2011. Remote ischemic preconditioning protects the brain against injury after hypothermic circulatory arrest. *Circulation*, 123, 714-721.
- JENSEN, R. V., STØTTRUP, N. B., KRISTIANSEN, S. B. & BØTKER, H. E. 2012. Release of a humoral circulating cardioprotective factor by remote ischemic preconditioning is dependent on preserved neural pathways in diabetic patients. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 107, 1-9.
- JÖBSIS, F. F. 1977. Noninvasive, infrared monitoring of cerebral and myocardial oxygen sufficiency and circulatory parameters. *Science (New York, N.Y.),* 198.
- JOHANSSON, B., BJUHR, H. & RÖNNBÄCK, L. 2012a. Mindfulness- based stress reduction (MBSR) improves long- term mental fatigue after stroke or traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 26, 1621-1628.
- JOHANSSON, B., CARLSSON, A., CARLSSON, M., KARLSSON, M., NILSSON, M., NORDQUIST-BRANDT, E. & RONNBAECK, L. 2012b. Placebo-controlled cross-over study of the monoaminergic stabiliser (-)-OSU6162 in mental fatigue following stroke or traumatic brain injury. Acta Neuropsychiatrica, 24, 266-274.
- JOHANSSON, B. & RÖNNBÄCK, L. 2012. Mental Fatigue and Cognitive Impairment after an Almost Neurological Recovered Stroke. *ISRN Psychiatry*, 2012, 686425-7.
- JOHNSON, C., C. 1993. The Effects of Violation of Data Set Assumptions when Using the Oneway, Fixed Effects Analysis of Variance and the One Concomitant Analysis of Covariance Statistical Procedures.
- JOHNSON, C. O., NGUYEN, M., ROTH, G. A., NICHOLS, E., ALAM, T. & AL, A. D. E. 2019. Global, regional, and national burden of stroke, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016 - The Lancet Neurology. 18, 439-458.
- JOHNSON, J. & ROBERT, L. 2000. Gas exchange efficiency in congestive heart failure. *Circulation*, 101, 2774-2776.
- JOHNSON, L., KRAMER, S. F., CATANZARITI, G., KAFFENBERGER, T., CUMMING, T. & BERNHARDT, J. 2020. Safety of Performing a Graded Exercise Test Early after Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack. *PM R*, 12, 445-453.
- JOHNSON, M. L., ROBINSON, M. M. & NAIR, K. S. 2012. Skeletal muscle aging and the mitochondrion. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 24, 247-256.
- JONES, H., HOPKINS, N., BAILEY, T. G., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T. & THIJSSEN, D. H. J. 2014. Seven-day remote ischemic preconditioning improves local and systemic endothelial function and microcirculation in healthy humans. *Am J Hypertens*, 27, 918-25.
- JONES, H., NYAKAYIRU, J., BAILEY, T. G., GREEN, D. J., CABLE, N. T., SPRUNG, V. S., HOPKINS, N. D. & THIJSSEN, D. H. J. 2015. Impact of eight weeks of repeated ischaemic preconditioning on brachial artery and cutaneous microcirculatory function in healthy males. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*, 22, 1083-7.
- JULIOUS, S. A. 2005. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. *Pharmaceut. Statist*, 4, 287-291.
- KACZMAREK, A., JANKOWSKA, E., WITKOWSKI, T., KUŚ-KLINOWSKA, A., PONIKOWSKA, B., RECZUCH, K., BORODULIN-NADZIEJA, L., HAŃCZYCOWA, H., BANASIAK, W. & PONIKOWSKI, P. 2004. Chronic heart failure. The relationship between increased activity of skeletal muscle ergoreceptors and reduced exercise tolerance. *Kardiologia polska*, 60.

- KACZMAREK, S., HABEDANK, D., OBST, A., DÖRR, M., VÖLZKE, H., GLÄSER, S. & EWERT, R. 2019. Interobserver variability of ventilatory anaerobic threshold in asymptomatic volunteers. *Multidisciplinary respiratory medicine*, 14.
- KAHAN, B. C. & MORRIS, T. P. 2012. Improper analysis of trials randomised using stratified blocks or minimisation. *Statist. Med*, 31, 328-340.
- KARAISKOS, D., TZAVELLAS, E., SPENGOS, K., VASSILOPOULOU, S. & PAPARRIGOPOULOS, T. 2012. Duloxetine Versus Citalopram and Sertraline in the Treatment of Poststroke Depression, Anxiety, and Fatigue. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 24, 349-53.
- KARAMCHANDANI, R. R., VAHIDY, F., BAJGUR, S., VU, K. Y. T., CHOI, H. A., HAMILTON, R. K., RAHBAR, M. H. & SAVITZ, S. I. 2015. Early depression screening is feasible in hospitalized stroke patients. *PLoS One*, 10, e0128246.
- KASSELL, N. F., HALEY, E. C., APPERSON-HANSEN, C. & ALVES, W. M. 1996. Randomized, doubleblind, vehicle- controlled trial of tirilazad mesylate in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a cooperative study in Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. *Journal of neurosurgery*, 84, 221-228.
- KATE, M., BRAR, S., GEORGE, U., RATHORE, S., BUTCHER, K., PANDIAN, J. & HESS, D. 2019. Self- or caregiver-delivered manual remote ischemic conditioning therapy in acute ischemic stroke is feasible: the Early Remote Ischemic Conditioning in Stroke (ERICS) trial. Wellcome open research, 4, 147.
- KELLETT, N., DRUMMOND, A. E., PALMER, T., MUNSHI, S. & LINCOLN, N. B. 2014. Impact of transient ischaemic attack and minor stroke on daily life. http://dx.doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2014.21.7.318.
- KELLY, B. & DAWES, J. 2013. Measurement of Aerobic Capacity Using Mouthpiece vs. Mask for Data Collection. *Journal of novel physiotherapies*, Suppl 2.
- KELLY, J. O., KILBREATH, S. L., DAVIS, G. M., ZEMAN, B. & RAYMOND, J. 2003. Cardiorespiratory fitness and walking ability in subacute stroke patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 84, 1780-1785.
- KEMP, G. J., MEYERSPEER, M. & MOSER, E. 2007. Absolute quantification of phosphorus metabolite concentrations in human muscle in vivo by 31P MRS: a quantitative review. *NMR Biomed*, 20, 555-565.
- KENNEDY, A. B., LAVIE, C. J. & BLAIR, S. N. 2018. Fitness or Fatness: Which Is More Important? *JAMA*, 319, 231-232.
- KENNY, H. C., RUDWILL, F., BREEN, L., SALANOVA, M., BLOTTNER, D., HEISE, T., HEER, M., BLANC, S.
 & O'GORMAN, D. J. 2017. Bed rest and resistive vibration exercise unveil novel links between skeletal muscle mitochondrial function and insulin resistance. *Diabetologia*, 60, 1491-1501.
- KERENDI, F., KIN, H., HALKOS, M. E., JIANG, R., ZATTA, A. J., ZHAO, Z. Q., GUYTON, R. A. & VINTEN-JOHANSEN, J. 2005. Remote postconditioning: Brief renal ischemia and reperfusion applied before coronary artery reperfusion reduces myocardial infarct size via endogenous activation of adenosine receptors. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 100, 404-412.
- KERTZ, S., BIGDA-PEYTON, J. & BJORGVINSSON, T. 2012. Validity of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7
 7 Scale in an Acute Psychiatric Sample: Validity of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7.
 Clinical psychology and psychotherapy, n/a.
- KHAN, M., HAFEZ, S., HODA, M., BABAN, B., WAGNER, J., AWAD, M., SANGABATHULA, H., HAIGH, S., ELSALANTY, M., WALLER, J. & HESS, D. 2018. Chronic Remote Ischemic Conditioning Is Cerebroprotective and Induces Vascular Remodeling in a VCID Model. *Translational Stroke Research*, 9, 51-63.
- KHARBANDA, R. K., PETERS, M., WALTON, B., KATTENHORN, M., MULLEN, M., KLEIN, N., VALLANCE, P., DEANFIELD, J. & MACALLISTER, R. 2001. Ischemic preconditioning prevents endothelial injury and systemic neutrophil activation during ischemia-reperfusion in humans in vivo. *Circulation*, 103, 1624-1630.

- KIDO, K., SUGA, T., TANAKA, D., HONJO, T., HOMMA, T., FUJITA, S., HAMAOKA, T. & ISAKA, T. 2015. Ischemic preconditioning accelerates muscle deoxygenation dynamics and enhances exercise endurance during the work - to - work test. *Physiol Rep*, 3, e12395-n/a.
- KIGER, M. E. & VARPIO, L. 2020. Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030</u>.
- KIM, C.-H., SAJGALIK, P., VAN ITERSON, E. H., JAE, S. Y. & JOHNSON, B. D. 2019a. The effect of remote ischemic pre-conditioning on pulmonary vascular pressure and gas exchange in healthy humans during hypoxia. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol*, 261, 62-66.
- KIM, J. S. 2016. Post-stroke mood and emotional disturbances: Pharmacological therapy based on mechanisms. *J Stroke*, 18, 244-255.
- KIM, Y.-H., KIM, Y.-S., KIM, B.-H., LEE, K.-S., PARK, H.-S. & LIM, C.-H. 2019b. Remote ischemic preconditioning ameliorates indirect acute lung injury by modulating phosphorylation of IκBα in mice. J Int Med Res, 47, 936-950.
- KIMURA, M., UEDA, K., GOTO, C., JITSUIKI, D., NISHIOKA, K., UMEMURA, T., NOMA, K., YOSHIZUMI, M., CHAYAMA, K. & HIGASHI, Y. 2007. Repetition of Ischemic Preconditioning Augments Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Humans: Role of Endothelium-Derived Nitric Oxide and Endothelial Progenitor Cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 1403-1410.
- KING, D., WITTENBERG, R., PATEL, A., QUAYYUM, Z., BERDUNOV, V. & KNAPP, M. 2020. The future incidence, prevalence and costs of stroke in the UK. *Age and ageing*, 49, 277-282.
- KIRCHBERGER, I., WALLNER, F., LINSEISEN, J., ZICKLER, P., ERTL, M., NAUMANN, M. & MEISINGER, C. 2022. Factors Associated With Early and Late Post-stroke Fatigue in Patients With Mild Impairment. Results From the Stroke Cohort Study Augsburg. *Front Neurol*, 13, 852486-852486.
- KIRK, H., KERSTEN, P., CRAWFORD, P., KEENS, A., ASHBURN, A. & CONWAY, J. 2014. The cardiac model of rehabilitation for reducing cardiovascular risk factors post transient ischaemic attack and stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 28, 339-349.
- KIRKEVOLD, M., CHRISTENSEN, D., ANDERSEN, G., JOHANSEN, S. P. & HARDER, I. 2012. Fatigue after stroke: manifestations and strategies. *Disabil Rehabil*, 34, 665-670.
- KISTIN, C. & SILVERSTEIN, M. 2015. Pilot Studies: A Critical but Potentially Misused Component of Interventional Research. *JAMA*, 314, 1561-1562.
- KITAGAWA, K., MATSUMOTO, M., TAGAYA, M., HATA, R., UEDA, H., NIINOBE, M., HANDA, N., FUKUNAGA, R., KIMURA, K. & MIKOSHIBA, K. 1990. 'Ischemic tolerance' phenomenon found in the brain. *Brain research*, 528, 21-24.
- KITAGAWA, K., SAITOH, M., ISHIZUKA, K. & SHIMIZU, S. 2018. Remote Limb Ischemic Conditioning during Cerebral Ischemia Reduces Infarct Size through Enhanced Collateral Circulation in Murine Focal Cerebral Ischemia. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 27, 831-838.
- KJELD, T., RASMUSSEN, M. R., JATTU, T., NIELSEN, H. B. & SECHER, N. H. 2014. Ischemic preconditioning of one forearm enhances static and dynamic apnea. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 46.
- KLEBER, F. X., VIETZKE, G., WERNECKE, K. D., BAUER, U., OPITZ, C., WENSEL, R., SPERFELD, A. & GLÄSER, S. 2000. Impairment of ventilatory efficiency in heart failure: Prognostic impact. *Circulation*, 101, 2803-2809.
- KLEMM, A., RZANNY, R., FÜNFSTÜCK, R., WERNER, W., SCHUBERT, J., KAISER, W. A. & STEIN, G. 1998.
 31P-magnetic resonance spectroscopy (31P-MRS) of human allografts after renal transplantation. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 13, 3147-3152.
- KLINEDINST, N. J., SCHUH, R., KITTNER, S. J., REGENOLD, W. T., KEHS, G., HOCH, C., HACKNEY, A. & FISKUM, G. 2019. Post-stroke fatigue as an indicator of underlying bioenergetics alterations. *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, 51, 165-174.
- KOCH, S., KATSNELSON, M., DONG, C. & PEREZ-PINZON, M. 2011. Remote Ischemic Limb Preconditioning After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Phase Ib Study of Safety and Feasibility. *Stroke*, 42, 1387-91.

- KONO, Y., FUKUDA, S., HANATANI, A., NAKANISHI, K., OTSUKA, K., TAGUCHI, H. & SHIMADA, K. 2014. Remote ischemic conditioning improves coronary microcirculation in healthy subjects and patients with heart failure. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, **8**, 1175-1181.
- KONSTANTINOV, I. E., ARAB, S., KHARBANDA, R. K., LI, J., CHEUNG, M. M. H., CHEREPANOV, V., DOWNEY, G. P., LIU, P. P., CUKERMAN, E., COLES, J. G. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2004. The remote ischemic preconditioning stimulus modifies inflammatory gene expression in humans. *Physiological Genomics*, **19**, 143-150.
- KONSTANTINOV, I. E., LI, J., CHEUNG, M. M., SHIMIZU, M., STOKOE, J., KHARBANDA, R. K. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2005. Remote ischemic preconditioning of the recipient reduces myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury of the denervated donor heart via a Katp channel-dependent mechanism. *Transplantation*, **79**, 1691-1695.
- KORR, H., KURZ, C., SEIDLER, T. O., SOMMER, D. & SCHMITZ, C. 1998. Mitochondrial DNA synthesis studied autoradiographically in various cell types in vivo. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 31, 289-298.
- KOSAK, M. & SMITH, T. 2005. Comparison of the 2-, 6-, and 12-minute walk tests in patients with stroke. *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 42, 103-108.
- KOSEOGLU, B. F., GOKKAYA, N. K. O., ERGUN, U., INAN, L. & YESILTEPE, E. 2006. Cardiopulmonary and metabolic functions, aerobic capacity, fatigue and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 114, 261-267.
- KOWALD, A., DAWSON, M. & KIRKWOOD, T. B. L. 2014. Erratum to "Mitochondrial mutations and ageing: Can mitochondrial deletion mutants accumulate via a size based replication advantage?" [J. Theor. Biol. 340 (2014) 111–118]. *Journal of theoretical biology*, 349, 171-171.
- KRAEMER, H. C., MINTZ, J., NODA, A., TINKLENBERG, J. & YESAVAGE, J. A. 2006. Caution Regarding the Use of Pilot Studies to Guide Power Calculations for Study Proposals. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 63, 484-489.
- KRANZ, H., CASSELL, J. F. & INBAR, G. F. 1985. Relation between electromyogram and force in fatigue. *Journal of Applied Physiology.*, 59, 821–825.
- KRISTIANSEN, S., HENNING, O., KHARBANDA, R. & NIELSEN-KUDSK, J. 2005. Remote preconditioning reduces ischemic injury in the explanted heart by a KATP channel- dependent mechanism. *American Journal of Physiology*, 57, H1252-H1256.
- KROENKE, K., SPITZER, R. L. & WILLIAMS, J. B. W. 2001. The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *J Gen Intern Med*, 16, 606-613.
- KRUPP, L. B., LAROCCA, N. G., MUIR-NASH, J. & STEINBERG, A. D. 1989. The Fatigue Severity Scale: Application to patients with multiple sclerosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Arch Neurol, 46, 1121-1123.
- KUNKEL, D., FITTON, C., BURNETT, M. & ASHBURN, A. 2015. Physical inactivity post-stroke: a 3-year longitudinal study. *Disabil Rehabil*, 37, 304-310.
- KUPPUSWAMY, A., CLARK, E. V., TURNER, I. F., ROTHWELL, J. C. & WARD, N. S. 2015. Post- stroke fatigue: a deficit in corticomotor excitability? *Brain*, 138, 136-148.
- KURL, S., LAUKKANEN, J. A., RAURAMAA, R., LAKKA, T. A., SIVENIUS, J. & SALONEN, J. T. 2003. Cardiorespiratory Fitness and the Risk for Stroke in Men. *Arch Intern Med*, 163, 1682-1688.
- KUTLUBAEV, M. A., SHENKIN, S. D., FARRALL, A. J., DUNCAN, F. H., LEWIS, S. J., GREIG, C. A., DENNIS,
 M. S., WARDLAW, J. M., MACLULLICH, A. M. J. & MEAD, G. E. 2013. CT and Clinical Predictors of Fatigue at One Month after Stroke. *Cerebrovasc Dis Extra*, 3, 26-34.
- KUZUYA, T., HOSHIDA, S., YAMASHITA, N., FUJI, H., OE, H., HORI, M., KAMADA, T. & TADA, M. 1993. Delayed Effects of Sublethal Ischemia on the Acquisition of Tolerance to Ischemia. *Circ Res*, 72, 1293-1299.
- LACKLAND, T. D., ROCCELLA, J. E., DEUTSCH, F. A., FORNAGE, G. M., GEORGE, M. M., HOWARD, J. G.,
 KISSELA, H. B., KITTNER, D. S., LICHTMAN, H. J., LISABETH, E. L., SCHWAMM, E. L., SMITH, E.
 E. & TOWFIGHI, E. A. 2014. Factors Influencing the Decline in Stroke Mortality: A Statement
 From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*, 45, 315-353.

- LAI, N., ZHOU, H., SAIDEL, G. M., WOLF, M., MCCULLY, K., GLADDEN, L. B. & CABRERA, M. E. 2009. Modeling oxygenation in venous blood and skeletal muscle in response to exercise using near-infrared spectroscopy. J Appl Physiol (1985), 106, 1858-1874.
- LALONDE, F. & CURNIER, D. Y. 2015. Can anaerobic performance be improved by remote ischemic preconditioning? *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 29.
- LANCASTER, G. A., DODD, S. & WILLIAMSON, P. R. 2004. Design and analysis of pilot studies: recommendations for good practice. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 10, 307-312.
- LANZA, I. R. & NAIR, K. S. 2009. Functional assessment of isolated mitochondria in vitro. *Methods Enzymol,* 457, 349-372.
- LANZA, I. R. & NAIR, K. S. 2010. Mitochondrial metabolic function assessed in vivo and in vitro. *Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care*, 13.
- LANZA, I. R., SHORT, D. K., SHORT, K. R., RAGHAVAKAIMAL, S., BASU, R., JOYNER, M. J., MCCONNELL, J. P. & NAIR, K. S. 2008. Endurance Exercise as a Countermeasure for Aging. *Diabetes*, 57, 2933-2942.
- LAU, J. K., ROY, P., JAVADZADEGAN, A., MOSHFEGH, A., FEARON, W. F., NG, M., LOWE, H., BRIEGER, D., KRITHARIDES, L. & YONG, A. S. 2018. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Acutely Improves Coronary Microcirculatory Function. *Journal of The American Heart Association*, **7**, e009058.
- LAVI, S., D'ALFONSO, S., DIAMANTOUROS, P., CAMUGLIA, A., GARG, P., TEEFY, P., JABLONSKY, G., SRIDHAR, K. & LAVI, R. 2014. Remote Ischemic Postconditioning During Percutaneous Coronary Interventions: Remote Ischemic Postconditioning– Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Randomized Trial. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Interventions*, 7, 225-232.
- LAVIE, P., HERER, P. & HOFFSTEIN, V. 2000. Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome as a risk factor for hypertension: Population study. *British Medical Journal*, 320, 479-82.
- LAYEC, G., BRINGARD, A., LE FUR, Y., VILMEN, C., MICALLEF, J.-P., PERREY, S., COZZONE, P. J. & BENDAHAN, D. 2009. Reproducibility assessment of metabolic variables characterizing muscle energetics in Vivo: A 31P-MRS study. *Magn. Reson. Med*, 62, 840-854.
- LEARMONTH, Y. C., DLUGONSKI, D., PILUTTI, L. A., SANDROFF, B. M., KLAREN, R. & MOTL, R. W. 2013. Psychometric properties of the Fatigue Severity Scale and the Modified Fatigue Impact Scale. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 331, 102-107.
- LENAERT, B., MEULDERS, A. & VAN HEUGTEN, C. M. 2018. Tired of pain or painfully tired? A reciprocal relationship between chronic pain and fatigue. *Pain*, 159.
- LENHARD, W. & LENHARD, A. 2016. *Computation of effect sizes.* [Online]. Psychometrica. Available: <u>https://www.psychometrica.de/effect_size.html</u> [Accessed].
- LEON, A. C., DAVIS, L. L. & KRAEMER, H. C. 2010. The role and interpretation of pilot studies in clinical research. *J Psychiatr Res*, 45, 626-629.
- LERDAL, A., BAKKEN, L. N., KOUWENHOVEN, S. E., PEDERSEN, G., KIRKEVOLD, M., FINSET, A. & KIM, H. S. 2009. Poststroke Fatigue-A Review. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 38, 928-949.
- LERDAL, A., BAKKEN, L. N., RASMUSSEN, E. F., BEIERMANN, C., RYEN, S., PYNTEN, S., DREFVELIN, Å. S., DAHL, A. M., ROGNSTAD, G., FINSET, A., LEE, K. A. & KIM, H. S. 2011. Physical impairment, depressive symptoms and pre-stroke fatigue are related to fatigue in the acute phase after stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 33, 334-342.
- LERDAL, A. & GAY, C. L. 2013. Physical health 18 months later Fatigue in the acute phase after first stroke predicts poorer physical health 18 months later. 81, 1581-7
- LERDAL, A. & KOTTORP, A. 2011. Psychometric properties of the Fatigue Severity Scale—Rasch analyses of individual responses in a Norwegian stroke cohort. *International Journal of Nursing Studies.*, 48, 1258-1265.
- LERDAL, A., LEE, A. K., BAKKEN, N. L., FINSET, A. & KIM, S. H. 2012. The Course of Fatigue during the First 18 Months after First- Ever Stroke: A Longitudinal Study. *Stroke Research and Treatment*, 2012.

- LERDAL, A., MOUM, T., WAHL, A. K., RUSTØEN, T. & HANESTAD, B. R. 2005. Fatigue in the general population: A translation and test of the psychometric properties of the Norwegian version of the fatigue severity scale. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 33, 123-130.
- LEUNG, C. H., WANG, L., NIELSEN, J. M., TROPAK, M. B., FU, Y. Y., KATO, H., CALLAHAN, J., REDINGTON, A. N. & CALDARONE, C. A. 2014. Remote cardioprotection by transfer of coronary effluent from ischemic preconditioned rabbit heart preserves mitochondrial integrity and function via adenosine receptor activation. *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy*, 28, 7-17.
- LEVETT, D. Z. H., JACK, S., SWART, M., CARLISLE, J., WILSON, J., SNOWDEN, C., RILEY, M., DANJOUX, G., WARD, S. A., OLDER, P. & GROCOTT, M. P. W. 2018. Perioperative cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET): consensus clinical guidelines on indications, organization, conduct, and physiological interpretation. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 120, 484-500.
- LEVINE, B. D. & STRAY-GUNDERSEN, J. 1997. 'Living high-training low': Effect of moderate-altitude acclimatization with low-altitude training on performance. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 83, 102-112.
- LEVY, R. & DUBOIS, B. 2006. Apathy and the Functional Anatomy of the Prefrontal Cortex–Basal Ganglia Circuits. *Cereb. Cortex*, 16, 916-928.
- LEWIS, G. D., SHAH, R. V., PAPPAGIANOPOLAS, P. P., SYSTROM, D. M. & SEMIGRAN, M. J. 2008. Determinants of ventilatory efficiency in heart failure: the role of right ventricular performance and pulmonary vascular tone. *Circulation. Heart failure*, 1.
- LEWIS, S. J., BARUGH, A. J., GREIG, C. A., SAUNDERS, D. H., FITZSIMONS, C., DINAN-YOUNG, S., YOUNG, A. & MEAD, G. E. 2011. Is fatigue after stroke associated with physical deconditioning? A cross-sectional study in ambulatory stroke survivors. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 92, 295-298.
- LI, J., ROHAILLA, S., GELBER, N., RUTKA, J., SABAH, N., GLADSTONE, R. A., WEI, C., HU, P., KHARBANDA, R. K. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2014. MicroRNA-144 is a circulating effector of remote ischemic preconditioning. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 109, 1-15.
- LI, L., LUO, W., HUANG, L., ZHANG, W., GAO, Y., JIANG, H., ZHANG, C., LONG, L. & CHEN, S. 2010. Remote perconditioning reduces myocardial injury in adult valve replacement: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 164.
- LIEM, D. A., VERDOUW, P. D., PLOEG, H., KAZIM, S. & DUNCKER, D. J. 2002. Sites of action of adenosine in interorgan preconditioning of the heart. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 283, H29-H37.
- LIM, S. & HAUSENLOY, D. 2012a. Remote ischemic conditioning: from bench to bedside. *Front. Physiol.*
- LIM, S. & HAUSENLOY, D. 2012b. Remote ischennic conditioning: from bench to bedside. *Front. Physiol.*
- LIM, S. Y., YELLON, D. M. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2010. The neural and humoral pathways in remote limb ischemic preconditioning. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 105, 651-655.
- LIN, T.-W. & KUO, Y.-M. 2013. Exercise Benefits Brain Function: The Monoamine Connection. *Brain Sciences*, **3**, 39-53.
- LINDSAY, A., PETERSEN, C., BLACKWELL, G., FERGUSON, H., PARKER, G., STEYN, N. & GIESEG, S. P. 2017a. The effect of 1 week of repeated ischaemic leg preconditioning on simulated Keirin cycling performance: a randomised trial.
- LINDSAY, A., PETERSEN, C., BLACKWELL, G., FERGUSON, H., PARKER, G., STEYN, N. & GIESEG, S. P. 2017b. The effect of 1 week of repeated ischaemic leg preconditioning on simulated Keirin cycling performance: a randomised trial. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med*, **3**, e000229-e000229.
- LINS, L. & CARVALHO, F. M. 2016. SF-36 total score as a single measure of health-related quality of life: Scoping review. SAGE Open Med, 4, 2050312116671725-2050312116671725.
- LIPKIN, D. P., SCRIVEN, A. J., CRAKE, T. & POOLE-WILSON, P. A. 1986. Six minute walking test for assessing exercise capacity in chronic heart failure. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*, 292, 653-655.

- LISBÔA, F. D., TURNES, T., CRUZ, R. S. O., RAIMUNDO, J. A. G., PEREIRA, G. S. & CAPUTO, F. 2017. The time dependence of the effect of ischemic preconditioning on successive sprint swimming performance. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 20, 507-511.
- LIU, A. J., LI, J. H., LI, H. Q., FU, D. L., LU, L., BIAN, Z. X. & ZHENG, G. Q. 2015. Electroacupuncture for Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *American Journal Chinese Medicine*, 43, 1541-66.
- LIU, C. H., TSAI, C. H., LI, T. C., YANG, Y. W., HUANG, W. S., LU, M. K., TSENG, C. H., HUANG, H. C., CHEN, K. F., HSU, T. S., HSU, Y. T. & HSIEH, C. L. 2016. Effects of the traditional Chinese herb Astragalus membranaceus in patients with poststroke fatigue: A double-blind, randomized, controlled preliminary study. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 194, 954-962.
- LIU, L., MILLS, P. J., RISSLING, M., FIORENTINO, L., NATARAJAN, L., DIMSDALE, J. E., SADLER, G. R., PARKER, B. A. & ANCOLI-ISRAEL, S. 2012. Fatigue and sleep quality are associated with changes in inflammatory markers in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Brain Behav Immun*, 26, 706-713.
- LIU, X., YU, H.-J., GAO, Y., ZHOU, J., ZHOU, M., WAN, L., XIONG, F., ZHAO, J., HE, Q.-Q. & WANG, Y.
 2021. Combined association of multiple chronic diseases and social isolation with the functional disability after stroke in elderly patients: a multicenter cross-sectional study in China. *BMC geriatrics*, 21, 495-495.
- LIU, X. S., CARLSON, R. & KELLEY, K. 2019. Common language effect size for correlations. *J Gen Psychol*, 146, 325-338.
- LIU, Y., GU, Y. & YU, X. 2017. Assessing tissue metabolism by phosphorous-31 Magnetic resonance spectroscopy and imaging: A methodology review. *Quant Imaging Med Surg*, **7**, 707-726.
- LODI, R., MONTAGNA, P., IOTTI, S., ZANIOL, P., BARBONI, P., PUDDU, P. & BARBIROLI, B. 1994. Brain and muscle energy metabolism studied in vivo by 31P-magnetic resonance spectroscopy in NARP syndrome. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 57, 1492-1496.
- LOENNEKE, J., FAHS, C., ROSSOW, L., SHERK, V., THIEBAUD, R., ABE, T., BEMBEN, D. & BEMBEN, M. 2012. Effects of Cuff Width on Arterial Occlusion: Implications for Blood Flow Restricted Exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 44, 198-198.
- LOUKOGEORGAKIS, S. P., PANAGIOTIDOU, A. T., BROADHEAD, M. W., DONALD, A., DEANFIELD, J. E. & MACALLISTER, R. J. 2005. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Provides Early and Late Protection Against Endothelial Ischemia- Reperfusion Injury in Humans: Role of the Autonomic Nervous System: Role of the Autonomic Nervous System. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 46, 450-456.
- LÖWE, B., DECKER, O., MÜLLER, S., BRÄHLER, E., SCHELLBERG, D., HERZOG, W. & HERZBERG, P. Y. 2008. Validation and Standardization of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Screener (GAD-7) in the General Population. *Med Care*, 46, 266-274.
- LOWE, B., UNUTZER, J., CALLAHAN, C. M., PERKINS, A. J. & KROENKE, K. 2004. Monitoring Depression Treatment Outcomes with the Patient Health Questionnaire-9. *Med Care*, 42, 1194-1201.
- LUCA, M. C., LIUNI, A., MCLAUGHLIN, K., GORI, T. & PARKER, J. D. 2013. Daily Ischemic Preconditioning Provides Sustained Protection From Ischemia–Reperfusion Induced Endothelial Dysfunction: A Human Study. *J Am Heart Assoc*, 2, e000075-n/a.
- LUDMAN, A. J., YELLON, D. M. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2010. Cardiac preconditioning for ischaemia: lost in translation. *Disease models & mechanisms*, **3**, 35-38.
- LV, J., GUAN, W., YOU, Q., DENG, L., ZHU, Y., GUO, K., GAO, X., KONG, J. & YANG, C. 2020. RIPC provides neuroprotection against ischemic stroke by suppressing apoptosis via the mitochondrial pathway. *Sci Rep*, **10**, 5361-5361.
- LYNCH, J., MEAD, G., GREIG, C., YOUNG, A., LEWIS, S. & SHARPE, M. 2007. Fatigue after stroke: The development and evaluation of a case definition. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 63, 539-544.

- MA, L.-L., WANG, Y.-Y., YANG, Z.-H., HUANG, D., WENG, H. & ZENG, X.-T. 2020. Methodological quality (risk of bias) assessment tools for primary and secondary medical studies: What are they and which is better? *Mil Med Res*, 7, 7-7.
- MA, X., ZHANG, X., LI, C. & LUO, M. A. N. 2006. Effect of Postconditioning on Coronary Blood Flow Velocity and Endothelial Function and LV Recovery After Myocardial Infarction. *J Interv Cardiol*, 19, 367-375.
- MACKAY-LYONS, M. J. & MAKRIDES, L. 2002. Exercise capacity early after stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 83, 1697-1702.
- MACKO, F. R., IVEY, M. F., FORRESTER, W. L., HANLEY, D. D., SORKIN, I. J., KATZEL, H. L., SILVER, P. K.
 & GOLDBERG, P. A. 2005. Treadmill Exercise Rehabilitation Improves Ambulatory Function and Cardiovascular Fitness in Patients With Chronic Stroke: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Stroke*, 36, 2206-2211.
- MACKO, R. F., SMITH, G. V., DOBROVOLNY, C. L., SORKIN, J. D., GOLDBERG, A. P. & SILVER, K. H. 2001. Treadmill training improves fitness reserve in chronic stroke patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 82, 879-884.
- MACLEOD, M. R., O'COLLINS, T., HOWELLS, D. W. & DONNAN, G. A. 2004. Pooling of animal experimental data reveals influence of study design and publication bias. *Stroke*, 35, 1203-1208.
- MAEDER, M. T., WOLBER, T., AMMANN, P., MYERS, J., BRUNNER-LA ROCCA, H. P., HACK, D., W, R. & RICKLI, H. 2008. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing in mild heart failure: impact of the mode of exercise on established prognostic predictors. *Cardiology*, 110.
- MALFATTO, G., FACCHINI, M., BRANZI, G., BRAMBILLA, R., FRATIANNI, G., TORTORICI, E., BALLA, E. & PEREGO, G. B. 2005. Reverse ventricular remodeling and improved functional capacity after ventricular resynchronization in advanced heart failure. *Italian heart journal : official journal of the Italian Federation of Cardiology,* 6.
- MALHOTRA, S., NAGGAR, I., STEWART, M. & ROSENBAUM, D. M. 2011. Neurogenic pathway mediated remote preconditioning protects the brain from transient focal ischemic injury. *Brain Res*, 1386, 184-190.
- MALTAIS, F., LEBLANC, P., SIMARD, C., JOBIN, J., BÉRUBÉ, C., BRUNEAU, J., CARRIER, L., BELLEAU, R., BRETON, M.-J. & SIMARD, P.-M. 1996. Skeletal muscle adaptation to endurance training in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 154, 442-447.
- MANCHUROV, V. N., LEBEDEVA, A. M., RYAZANKINA, N. B., VASILIEVA, E. Y. & SHPEKTOR, A. V. 2020. Impact of endothelial dysfunction on the course of acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction and its correction by remote ischemic preconditioning. *Terapevtičeskii arhiv*, 92, 10-14.
- MANDSAGER, K., HARB, S., CREMER, P., PHELAN, D., NISSEN, S. E. & JABER, W. 2018. Association of Cardiorespiratory Fitness With Long-term Mortality Among Adults Undergoing Exercise Treadmill Testing. *JAMA Netw Open*, **1**, e183605-e183605.
- MANES, F., PARADISO, S. & ROBINSON, R. G. 1999. Neuropsychiatric Effects of Insular Stroke. *J Nerv Ment Dis*, 187, 707-712.
- MANNS, P. J., TOMCZAK, C. R., JELANI, A. & HAENNEL, R. G. 2010. Oxygen uptake kinetics: Associations with ambulatory activity and physical functional performance in stroke survivors. *J Rehabil Med*, 42, 259-264.
- MANSOUR, Z. M. D. M. S., BOUITBIR, J. P., CHARLES, A. L. P., TALHA, S. M. D., KINDO, M. M. D., POTTECHER, J. M. D., ZOLL, J. P. & GENY, B. M. D. P. 2012. Remote and local ischemic preconditioning equivalently protects rat skeletal muscle mitochondrial function during experimental aortic cross-clamping. *J Vasc Surg*, 55, 497-505.e1.
- MARCINIK, E. J., POTTS, J., SCHLABACH, G., WILL, S., DAWSON, P. & HURLEY, B. F. 1991. Effects of strength training on lactate threshold and endurance performance. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 23.

- MARIN, R. S. 1990. Differential diagnosis and classification of apathy. *The American journal of psychiatry*, 147.
- MAROCOLO, M., DA MOTA, G. R., PELEGRINI, V. & APPELL, C., H. J 2015. Are the Beneficial Effects of Ischemic Preconditioning on Performance Partly a Placebo Effect? *International journal of sports medicine*, 36.
- MAROCOLO, M., SIMIM, M. A. M., BERNARDINO, A., MONTEIRO, I. R., PATTERSON, S. D. & DA MOTA, G. R. 2019. Ischemic preconditioning and exercise performance: shedding light through smallest worthwhile change. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 119, 2123-2149.
- MARSDEN, D. L., DUNN, A., CALLISTER, R., LEVI, C. R. & SPRATT, N. J. 2013. Characteristics of Exercise Training Interventions to Improve Cardiorespiratory Fitness After Stroke: A Systematic Review With Meta-analysis. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 27, 775-788.
- MARTIN-RINCON, M. & CALBET, J. A. L. 2020. Progress Update and Challenges on VO2max Testing and Interpretation. *Frontiers in physiology*, **11**.
- MARTIN, P. G., SMITH, J. L., BUTLER, J. E., GANDEVIA, S. C. & TAYLOR, J. L. 2006. Fatigue-Sensitive Afferents Inhibit Extensor but Not Flexor Motoneurons in Humans. *J Neurosci*, 26, 4796-4802.
- MARTINELLI, P., SCAGLIONE, C., LODI, R., IOTTI, S. & BARBIROLI, B. 2000. Deficit of brain and skeletal muscle bioenergetics in progressive supranuclear palsy shown in vivo by phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Mov. Disord*, **15**, 889-893.
- MARZETTI, E., CALVANI, R., CESARI, M., BUFORD, T. W., LORENZI, M., BEHNKE, B. J. & LEEUWENBURGH, C. 2013. Mitochondrial dysfunction and sarcopenia of aging: From signaling pathways to clinical trials. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 45, 2288-2301.
- MARZOLINI, S., OH, P., MCILROY, W. & BROOKS, D. 2012. The feasibility of cardiopulmonary exercise testing for prescribing exercise to people after stroke. *Stroke*, 43, 1075-1081.
- MASHAGHI, A., BEZRUKAVNIKOV, S., MINDE, P. D., WENTINK, S. A., KITYK, R., ZACHMANN-BRAND, B., MAYER, P. M., KRAMER, G., BUKAU, B. & TANS, J. S. 2016. Alternative modes of client binding enable functional plasticity of Hsp70. *Nature*, 539.
- MASTITSKAYA, S., MARINA, N., GOURINE, A., GILBEY, M. P., SPYER, K. M., TESCHEMACHER, A. G., KASPAROV, S., TRAPP, S., ACKLAND, G. L. & GOURINE, A. V. 2012. Cardioprotection evoked by remote ischaemic preconditioning is critically dependent on the activity of vagal preganglionic neurones. *Cardiovascular Research*, 95, 487-494.
- MASUDA, K., MASUDA, T., SADOYAMA, T., INAKI, M. & KATSUTA, S. 1999. Changes in surface EMG parameters during static and dynamic fatiguing contractions. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 9, 39-46.
- MATSUMURA, N., NISHIJIMA, H., KOJIMA, S., HASHIMOTO, F., MINAMI, M. & YASUDA, H. 1983. Determination of anaerobic threshold for assessment of functional state in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, 68, 360-367.
- MAXWELL, J. D., CARTER, H. H., HELLSTEN, Y., MILLER, G. D., SPRUNG, V. S., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., THIJSSEN, D. H. J. & JONES, H. 2019. Seven-day remote ischaemic preconditioning improves endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomised pilot study. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 181, 659-669.
- MAXWELL, J. D., FRANCE, M., FINNIGAN, L. E. M., CARTER, H. H., THIJSSEN, D. H. J. & JONES, H. 2021. Can exercise training enhance the repeated remote ischaemic preconditioning stimulus on peripheral and cerebrovascular function in high-risk individuals? *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 121, 1167-1178.
- MCCAFFERTY, K., FORBES, S., THIEMERMANN, C. & YAQOOB, M. M. 2014. The challenge of translating ischemic conditioning from animal models to humans: the role of comorbidities. *Disease models & mechanisms*, 7, 1321-1333.
- MCCAIN, E. M., DICK, T. J. M., GIEST, T. N., NUCKOLS, R. W., LEWEK, M. D., SAUL, K. R. & SAWICKI, G. S. 2019. Mechanics and energetics of post-stroke walking aided by a powered ankle exoskeleton with speed-adaptive myoelectric control. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 16, 57-57.

- MCCULLY, K. K., TURNER, T. N., LANGLEY, J. & ZHAO, Q. 2009. The reproducibility of measurements of intramuscular magnesium concentrations and muscle oxidative capacity using 31P MRS. *Dyn Med*, **8**, 5-5.
- MCKECHNIE, F., LEWIS, S. & MEAD, G. 2010. A pilot observational study of the association between fatigue after stroke and C- reactive protein. *Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh*, 40, 9-12.
- MCKELVIE, R. S., JONES, N. L. & HEIGENHAUSER, G. J. F. 1991. Factors contributing to increased muscle fatigue with β- blockers. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 69, 254-261.
- MCKEVITT, C., FUDGE, N., REDFERN, J., SHELDENKAR, A., CRICHTON, S., RUDD, A. R., FORSTER, A., YOUNG, J., NAZARETH, I., SILVER, L. E., ROTHWELL, P. M. & WOLFE, C. D. A. 2011. Selfreported long-term needs after stroke. *Stroke*, 42, 1398-1403.
- MEAD, G., LYNCH, J., GREIG, C., YOUNG, A., LEWIS, S. & SHARPE, M. 2007. Evaluation of fatigue scales in stroke patients. *Stroke*, 38, 2090-2095.
- MEAD, G. E., GRAHAM, C., DORMAN, P., BRUINS, S. K., LEWIS, S. C., DENNIS, M. S. & SANDERCOCK, P.
 A. G. 2011. Fatigue after stroke: Baseline predictors and influence on survival. analysis of data from UK patients recruited in the international stroke trial. *PLoS ONE*, 6, 1-7.
- MEADER, N., MOE-BYRNE, T., LLEWELLYN, A. & MITCHELL, A. J. 2014. Screening for poststroke major depression: a meta-analysis of diagnostic validity studies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 85, 198-206.
- MENG-YU, W., GIOU-TENG, Y., WAN-TING, L., ANDY PO-YI, T., YEUNG-LEUNG, C., PEI-WEN, C., CHIA-YING, L. & CHIA-JUNG, L. 2018. Current Mechanistic Concepts in Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury. *Cellular physiology and biochemistry*, 46, 1650-1667.
- MENG, R., ASMARO, K., MENG, L., LIU, Y., MA, C., XI, C., LI, G., REN, C., LUO, Y., LING, F., JIA, J., HUA,
 Y., WANG, X., DING, Y., LO, E. H. & JI, X. 2012. Upper limb ischemic preconditioning prevents recurrent stroke in intracranial arterial stenosis. *Neurology*, 79, 1853-1861.
- MENG, R., DING, Y., ASMARO, K., BROGAN, D., MENG, L., SUI, M., SHI, J., DUAN, Y., SUN, Z., YU, Y., JIA, J. & JI, X. 2015a. Ischemic Conditioning Is Safe and Effective for Octo- and Nonagenarians in Stroke Prevention and Treatment. *The Journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics*, 12, 667-677.
- MENG, R., DING, Y., ASMARO, K., BROGAN, D., MENG, L., SUI, M., SHI, J., DUAN, Y., SUN, Z., YU, Y., JIA, J. & JI, X. 2015b. Ischemic Conditioning Is Safe and Effective for Octo- and Nonagenarians in Stroke Prevention and Treatment. *Neurotherapeutics*, 12, 667-677.
- MENON, R. G., XIA, D., KATZ, S. D. & REGATTE, R. R. 2021. Dynamic 31P-MRI and 31P-MRS of lower leg muscles in heart failure patients. *Scientific reports*, 11, 7412-7412.
- MERLOCCO, A., REDINGTON, K., DISENHOUSE, T., STRANTZAS, S., GLADSTONE, R., WEI, C., TROPAK, M., MANLHIOT, C., LI, J. & REDINGTON, A. 2014. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation as a novel method of remote preconditioning: in vitro validation in an animal model and first human observations. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 109, 1-13.
- MEYER, K., SCHWAIBOLD, M., WESTBROOK, S., BENEKE, R., HAJRIC, R., GÖRNANDT, L., LEHMANN, M.
 & ROSKAMM, H. 1996. Effects of short-term exercise training and activity restriction on functional capacity in patients with severe chronic congestive heart failure. *The American journal of cardiology*, 78.
- MEYERS, C. E., SOLORZANO, R. B., JAMES, D. J., GANZER, S. P., LAI, L. E., RENNAKER, P. R., KILGARD, A. M. & HAYS, A. S. 2018. Vagus Nerve Stimulation Enhances Stable Plasticity and Generalization of Stroke Recovery. *Stroke*, 49, 710-717.
- MEYERSPEER, M., BOESCH, C., CAMERON, D., DEZORTOVÁ, M., FORBES, S. C., HEERSCHAP, A., JENESON, J. A. L., KAN, H. E., KENT, J., LAYEC, G., PROMPERS, J. J., REYNGOUDT, H., SLEIGH, A., VALKOVIČ, L., KEMP, G. J., BALIGAND, C. L., CARLIER, P. G., CHATEL, B., DAMON, B., HESKAMP, L., HÁJEK, M., JOOIJMANS, M., KRSSAK, M., REICHENBACH, J., SCHMID, A., SLADE, J., VANDENBORNE, K., WALTER, G. A. & WILLIS, D. 2020. 31P magnetic resonance

spectroscopy in skeletal muscle: Experts' consensus recommendations. *NMR in biomedicine,* 34, n/a.

- MEYERSPEER, M., KRŠŠÁK, M. & MOSER, E. 2003. Relaxation times of 31P-metabolites in human calf muscle at 3 T. *Magn. Reson. Med*, 49, 620-625.
- MEZZANI, A. 2017a. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing: Basics of Methodology and Measurements. <u>https://doi.org/10.1513/AnnalsATS.201612-997FR</u>.
- MEZZANI, A. 2017b. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing: Basics of methodology and measurements. Ann Am Thorac Soc, 14, S3-S11.
- MEZZANI, A. 2017c. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing: Basics of Methodology and Measurements. Annals of the American Thoracic Society, 14.
- MEZZANI, A., AGOSTONI, P., COHEN-SOLAL, A., CORRÀ, U., JEGIER, A., KOUIDI, E., MAZIC, S., MEURIN, P., PIEPOLI, M., SIMON, A., LAETHEM, C. V. & VANHEES, L. 2009. Standards for the use of cardiopulmonary exercise testing for the functional evaluation of cardiac patients: a report from the Exercise Physiology Section of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil,* 16, 249-267.
- MI, T., YU, F., JI, X., SUN, Y. & QU, D. 2016. The Interventional Effect of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning on Cerebral Small Vessel Disease: A Pilot Randomized Clinical Trial. *European neurology*, 76.
- MICHAEL, K. & MACKO, F. R. 2007. Ambulatory Activity Intensity Profiles, Fitness, and Fatigue in Chronic Stroke. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1310/tsr1402-5</u>, 14, 5-12.
- MICHAEL, K. M., ALLEN, J. K. & MACKO, R. F. 2005. Reduced Ambulatory Activity After Stroke: The Role of Balance, Gait, and Cardiovascular Fitness. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 86, 1552-1556.
- MICHAEL, K. M., ALLEN, J. K. & MACKO, R. F. 2006. Fatigue after stroke: Relationship to mobility, fitness, ambulatory activity, social support, and falls efficacy. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 31, 210-217.
- MILLER, E. L., MURRAY, L., RICHARDS, L., ZOROWITZ, R. D., BAKAS, T., CLARK, P. & BILLINGER, S. A. 2010. Comprehensive Overview of Nursing and Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation Care of the Stroke Patient: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Stroke*, 41, 2402-2448.
- MILLER, K. K., COMBS, S. A., VAN PUYMBROECK, M., ALTENBURGER, P. A., KEAN, J., DIERKS, T. A. & SCHMID, A. A. 2013. Fatigue and Pain: Relationships with Physical Performance and Patient Beliefs after Stroke. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 20, 347-355.
- MILLET, G. Y., BACHASSON, D., TEMESI, J., WUYAM, B., FÉASSON, L., VERGÈS, S. & LÉVY, P. 2012. Potential interests and limits of magnetic and electrical stimulation techniques to assess neuromuscular fatigue. *Neuomuscular Disorders.*, 22, 181-186.
- MIRIZIO, G. G., NUNES, R. S. M., VARGAS, D. A., FOSTER, C. & VIEIRA, E. 2020. Time-of-Day Effects on Short-Duration Maximal Exercise Performance. *Sci Rep*, **10**, 9485-9485.
- MIYAMOTO, S., NAGAYA, N., SATOH, T., KYOTANI, S., SAKAMAKI, F., FUJITA, M., NAKANISHI, N. & MIYATAKE, K. 2000. Clinical correlates and prognostic significance of six-minute walk test in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension: Comparison with cardiopulmonary exercise testing. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 161, 487-492.
- MOHAMMAD SEYEDSAADAT, S., KALLMES, D. & BRINJIKJI, W. 2020. Remote ischemic conditioning approach for the treatment of ischemic stroke. *Neural Regen Res*, 15, 1033-1034.
- MOHAMMAD SEYEDSAADAT, S., RANGEL CASTILLA, L., LANZINO, G., CLOFT, H. J., BLEZEK, D. J., THEILER, A., KADIRVEL, R., BRINJIKJI, W. & KALLMES, D. F. 2019. Remote ischemic preconditioning for elective endovascular intracranial aneurysm repair: a feasibility study. *The neuroradiology journal*, 32, 166-172.
- MONTOYA, J. G., HOLMES, T. H., ANDERSON, J. N., MAECKER, H. T., ROSENBERG-HASSON, Y., VALENCIA, I. J., CHU, L., YOUNGER, J. W., TATO, C. M. & DAVIS, M. M. 2017. Cytokine signature associated with disease severity in chronic fatigue syndrome patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 114, E7150-E7158.

- MOORE, L. J., ROTH, J. E., KILLIAN, G. C. & HORNBY, G. T. 2010. Locomotor Training Improves Daily Stepping Activity and Gait Efficiency in Individuals Poststroke Who Have Reached a " Plateau" in Recovery. *Stroke*, 41, 129-135.
- MORAN, G. M., FLETCHER, B., FELTHAM, M. G., CALVERT, M., SACKLEY, C. & MARSHALL, T. 2014. Fatigue, psychological and cognitive impairment following transient ischaemic attack and minor stroke: A systematic review. *European Journal of Neurology*, 21, 1258-1267.
- MORITANI, T., MURO, M. & NAGATA, A. 1986. Intramuscular and surface electromyogram changes during muscle fatigue. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 60, 1179–1185.
- MORRIS, G. & MAES, M. 2013. Mitochondrial dysfunctions in Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / chronic fatigue syndrome explained by activated immuno-inflammatory, oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways. *Metab Brain Dis*, 29, 19-36.
- MOSES, M. A., ADDISON, P. D., NELIGAN, P. C., ASHRAFPOUR, H., HUANG, N., ZAIR, M., RASSULI, A., FORREST, C. R., GROVER, G. J. & PANG, C. Y. 2005. Mitochondrial KATP channels in hindlimb remote ischemic preconditioning of skeletal muscle against infarction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 288, 559-567.
- MUBAGWA, K., MULLANE, K. & FLAMENG, W. 1996a. Role of adenosine in the heart and circulation. Cardiovascular Research.
- MUBAGWA, K., MULLANE, K. & FLAMENG, W. 1996b. Role of adenosine in the heart and circulation. *Cardiovasc. Res.*
- MUELLER, S., WINZER, E. B., DUVINAGE, A., GEVAERT, A. B., EDELMANN, F., HALLER, B., PIESKE-KRAIGHER, E., BECKERS, P., BOBENKO, A., HOMMEL, J., VAN DE HEYNING, C. M., ESEFELD, K., VON KORN, P., CHRISTLE, J. W., HAYKOWSKY, M. J., LINKE, A., WISLØFF, U., ADAMS, V., PIESKE, B., VAN CRAENENBROECK, E. M. & HALLE, M. 2021. Effect of High-Intensity Interval Training, Moderate Continuous Training, or Guideline-Based Physical Activity Advice on Peak Oxygen Consumption in Patients With Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA, 325, 542-551.
- MULLOCK, J. & LEIGH-POLLITT, P. 2000. *The 1998 Data Protection Act,* London, London : Stationery Office, 2000.
- MURPHY, E. & STEENBERGEN, C. 2008. Mechanisms Underlying Acute Protection From Cardiac Ischemia- Reperfusion Injury.
- MURRY, C. E., JENNINGS, R. B. & REIMER, K. A. 1986. Preconditioning with ischemia : injury delay of lethal cell ischemic myocardium. *Circulation*, 74, 1224-1136.
- MUSTAFA, E. & AYTÜR, Y. K. 2021. Assessment for cardiovascular fitness in patients with stroke: which cardiopulmonary exercise testing method is better? *Topics in stroke rehabilitation*, 1-9.
- MYERS, J., ARENA, R., FRANKLIN, B., PINA, I., KRAUS, W. E., MCINNIS, K. & BALADY, G. J. 2009. Recommendations for clinical exercise laboratories: A scientific statement from the american heart association. *Circulation*, 119, 3144-3161.
- MYERS, J. & BELLIN, D. 2000. Ramp exercise protocols for clinical and cardiopulmonary exercise testing. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.),* 30.
- MYERS, J. P., GOLDSMITH, R. L. P., KETEYIAN, S. J. P., BRAWNER, C. A. M. S., BRAZIL, D. A. B. S., ALDRED, H. P., EHRMAN, J. K. P. & BURKHOFF, D. M. D. 2010. The Ventilatory Anaerobic Threshold in Heart Failure: A Multicenter Evaluation of Reliability. *J Card Fail*, 16, 76-83.
- NADARAJAH, M. & GOH, H.-T. 2015. Post-stroke fatigue: a review on prevalence, correlates, measurement, and management. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 22, 208-220.
- NAESS, H., LUNDE, L. & BROGGER, J. 2012a. The effects of fatigue, pain, and depression on quality of life in ischemic stroke patients: The Bergen Stroke Study. *Vasc Health Risk Manag*, 8, 407-413.
- NAESS, H., LUNDE, L., BROGGER, J. & WAJE-ANDREASSEN, U. 2012b. Fatigue among stroke patients on long- term follow- up. The Bergen Stroke Study. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 312.

- NAESS, H., NYLAND, H. I., THOMASSEN, L., AARSETH, J. & MYHR, K. M. 2005. Fatigue at long-term follow-up in young adults with cerebral infarction. *Cerebrovascular Disease*, 20, 245-50.
- NAGARAJ, K., TALY, B. A., GUPTA, A., PRASAD, C. & CHRISTOPHER, R. 2013. Prevalence of fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis and its effect on the quality of life. *Journal of Neurosciences in Rural Practice*, **4**, 278-282.
- NAGATA, K., OSADA, N., SHIMAZAKI, M., KIDA, K., YONEYAMA, K., TSUCHIYA, A., YASUDA, T. & KIMURA, K. 2008. Diurnal Blood Pressure Variation in Patients with Sleep Apnea Syndrome. *Hypertension Research*, **31**, 185.
- NAKADE, T., ADACHI, H., MURATA, M. & OSHIMA, S. 2018. Characteristics of patients with a relatively greater minimum VE/VCO 2 against peak VO 2% and impaired exercise tolerance. *European journal of applied physiology*, 118.
- NARESSI, A., COUTURIER, C., DEVOS, J. M., JANSSEN, M., MANGEAT, C., BEER, R. D. & GRAVERON-DEMILLY, D. 2001. Java-based graphical user interface for the MRUI quantitation package. *MAGMA*, 12, 141-152.
- NASREDDINE, Z. S., PHILLIPS, N. A., BEDIRIAN, V., CHARBONNEAU, S., WHITEHEAD, V., COLLIN, I., CUMMINGS, J. L. & CHERTKOW, H. 2005. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53, 695-9.
- NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL 2010. *The prevention and treatment of missing data in clinical trials [electronic resource],* Washington, D.C., Washington, D.C. : National Academies Press, 2010.
- NG, S. S. P., TSANG, W. W. P., CHEUNG, T. H. B., CHUNG, J. S. B., TO, F. P. B. & YU, P. C. B. 2011. Walkway Length, But Not Turning Direction, Determines the Six-Minute Walk Test Distance in Individuals With Stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 92, 806-811.
- NGUYEN, S., WONG, D., MCKAY, A., RAJARATNAM, S. M. W., SPITZ, G., WILLIAMS, G., MANSFIELD, D.
 & PONSFORD, J. L. 2017. Cognitive behavioural therapy for post- stroke fatigue and sleep disturbance: a pilot randomised controlled trial with blind assessment. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 1-16.
- NGUYEN, S., WONG, D., MCKAY, A., RAJARATNAM, S. M. W., SPITZ, G., WILLIAMS, G., MANSFIELD, D. & PONSFORD, J. L. 2019. Cognitive behavioural therapy for post-stroke fatigue and sleep disturbance: a pilot randomised controlled trial with blind assessment. *Neuropsychol Rehabil*, 29, 723-738.
- NICHOLLS, D. G. & FERGUSON, S. J. 2013. *Bioenergetics,* Amsterdam, Amsterdam : Academic Press, 2013.
- NICHOLS, S., TAYLOR, C. & INGLE, L. 2015. A clinician's guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing 2: test interpretation. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12968/hmed.2015.76.5.281</u>.
- NICHOLSON, T. R. J., CUTTER, W. & HOTOPF, M. 2008. Assessing mental capacity: the Mental Capacity Act. *BMJ*, 336, 322-325.
- NISHIJIMA, H., KOMINAMI, K., KONDO, K., AKINO, M. & SAKURAI, M. 2019. New method for the mathematical derivation of the ventilatory anaerobic threshold: A retrospective study. *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil*, 11, 10-10.
- NITSCHE, M. A. M. D., COHEN, L. G. M. D., WASSERMANN, E. M. M. D., PRIORI, A. M. D. P., LANG, N. M. D., ANTAL, A. P., PAULUS, W. M. D., HUMMEL, F. M. D., BOGGIO, P. S. P., FREGNI, F. M. D. P. & PASCUAL-LEONE, A. M. D. P. 2008. Transcranial direct current stimulation: State of the art 2008. *Brain Stimul*, 1, 206-223.
- NOAKES, T. D. 2012. Fatigue is a brain-derived emotion that regulates the exercise behavior to ensure the protection of whole body homeostasis. *Front Physiol*, **3**, 82-82.
- NOBELS-JANSSEN, E., POSTMA, E. N., ABMA, I. L., VAN DIJK, J. M. C., HAEREN, R., SCHENCK, H., MOOJEN, W. A., DEN HERTOG, M. H., NANDA, D., POTGIESER, A. R. E., COERT, B. A., VERHAGEN, W. I. M., BARTELS, R. H. M. A., VAN DER WEES, P. J., VERBAAN, D. & BOOGAARTS, H. D. 2021. Inter-method reliability of the modified Rankin Scale in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Journal of neurology*.

- NOBLE, B. J. 1982. Clinical applications of perceived exertion. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 14.
- NORDIN, Å., TAFT, C., LUNDGREN-NILSSON, Å. & DENCKER, A. 2016. Minimal important differences for fatigue patient reported outcome measures—a systematic review. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16, 62-62.
- NOWELL, L. S., NORRIS, J. M., WHITE, D. E. & MOULES, N. J. 2017. Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>.
- NYQUIST, P. & GEORGAKIS, M. K. 2019. Remote ischemic preconditioning effects on brain vasculature. *Neurology*, 93, 15-16.
- OGDEN, J. A., MEE, E. W. & UTLEY, T. 1998a. Too little, too late: does tirilazad mesylate reduce fatigue after subarachnoid hemorrhage? *Neurosurgery*, 43, 782-7.
- OGDEN, J. A., UTLEY, T. & MEE, E. W. 1998b. Too little, too late: Does tirilazad mesylate reduce fatigue after subarachnoid hemorrhage? *Neurosurgery*, 43, 782-787.
- ONEGA, L. L. & PIERCE, T. W. 2020. Use of bright light therapy for older adults with dementia. *BJPsych advances*, 26, 221-228.
- ONG, S. B., DONGWORTH, R. K., CABRERA FUENTES, H. A. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2015. Role of the MPTP in conditioning the heart translatability and mechanism. *Br J Pharmacol*, 172, 2074-2084.
- ORMSTAD, H., AASS, H. C. D., AMTHOR, K. F., LUND-SØRENSEN, N. & SANDVIK, L. 2011. Serum cytokine and glucose levels as predictors of poststroke fatigue in acute ischemic stroke patients. *Journal of Neurology*, 258, 670-676.
- OXMAN, T., ARAD, M., KLEIN, R., AVAZOV, N. & RABINOWITZ, B. 1997. Limb ischemia preconditions the heart against reperfusion tachyarrhythmia. *The American journal of physiology*, 273, H1707-H1712.
- OYAKE, K., BABA, Y., SUDA, Y., MURAYAMA, J., MOCHIDA, A., ITO, Y., ABE, H., KONDO, K., OTAKA, Y. & MOMOSE, K. 2021. Cardiorespiratory responses to exercise related to post-stroke fatigue severity. *Scientific reports*, 11, 12780-12780.
- PACIARONI, M. & ACCIARRESI, M. 2019. Poststroke Fatigue. Stroke, 50, 1927-1933.
- PANG, M. Y. C., ENG, J. J. & DAWSON, A. S. 2005a. Relationship between ambulatory capacity and cardiorespiratory fitness in chronic stroke: Influence of stroke-specific impairments. *Chest*, 127, 495-501.
- PANG, M. Y. C., ENG, J. J., DAWSON, A. S., MCKAY, H. A. & HARRIS, J. E. 2005b. A Community Based Fitness and Mobility Exercise Program for Older Adults with Chronic Stroke: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53, 1667-1674.
- PAPANICOLAOU, D. A., WILDER, R. L., MANOLAGAS, S. C. & CHROUSOS, G. P. 1998. The pathophysiologic roles of interleukin-6 in human disease. *Ann Intern Med*, 128, 127-137.
- PARADIES, G., PETROSILLO, G., PISTOLESE, M., DI VENOSA, N., FEDERICI, A. & RUGGIERO, F. M. 2004. Decrease in Mitochondrial Complex I Activity in Ischemic/Reperfused Rat Heart: Involvement of Reactive Oxygen Species and Cardiolipin. *Circ Res*, 94, 53-59.
- PARADIS-DESCHÊNES, P., JOANISSE, D. R., MAURIÈGE, P. & BILLAUT, F. 2020. Ischemic Preconditioning Enhances Aerobic Adaptations to Sprint-Interval Training in Athletes Without Altering Systemic Hypoxic Signaling and Immune Function. *Frontiers in sports and active living*, 2, 41-41.
- PARK, M., SANDNER, P. & KRIEG, T. 2018. cGMP at the centre of attention: emerging strategies for activating the cardioprotective PKG pathway. *Basic research in cardiology*, 113, 1-7.
- PARZEN, M., LIPSITZ, S. R. & DEAR, K. B. G. 1998. Does clustering affect the usual test statistics of no treatment effect in a randomized clinical trial ? *Biometrical journal*, 40, 385-402.
- PATHARE, N., WALTER, G. A., STEVENS, J. E., YANG, Z., OKERKE, E., GIBBS, J. D., ESTERHAI, J. L., SCARBOROUGH, M. T., GIBBS, C. P., SWEENEY, H. L. & VANDENBORNE, K. 2005. Changes in inorganic phosphate and force production in human skeletal muscle after cast immobilization. J Appl Physiol (1985), 98, 307-314.

- PATTERSON, S. D., BEZODIS, N. E., GLAISTER, M. & PATTISON, J. R. 2015. The effect of ischemic preconditioning on repeated sprint cycling performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47, 1652-1658.
- PATTERSON, S. L. M. D. P., FORRESTER, L. W. P., RODGERS, M. M. P., RYAN, A. S. P., IVEY, F. M. P., SORKIN, J. D. M. D. P. & MACKO, R. F. M. D. 2007. Determinants of Walking Function After Stroke: Differences by Deficit Severity. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 88, 115-119.
- PEARCE, L., DAVIDSON, S. M. & YELLON, D. M. 2021. Does remote ischaemic conditioning reduce inflammation? A focus on innate immunity and cytokine response. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 116, 12-12.
- PEI, H., WU, Y., WEI, Y., YANG, Y., TENG, S. & ZHANG, H. 2014. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Reduces Perioperative Cardiac and Renal Events in Patients Undergoing Elective Coronary Intervention: A Meta- Analysis of 11 Randomized Trials. *PLoS One*, 9, e115500.
- PELL, T. J., BAXTER, G. F., YELLON, D. M. & DREW, G. M. 1998. Renal ischemia preconditions myocardium: role of adenosine receptors and ATP-sensitive potassium channels. *The American journal of physiology*, 275, H1542-H1547.
- PENDLEBURY, S. T., CUTHBERTSON, F. C., WELCH, S. J. V., MEHTA, Z. & ROTHWELL, P. M. 2010. Underestimation of cognitive impairment by mini-mental state examination versus the montreal cognitive assessment in patients with transient ischemic attack and stroke: A population-based study. *Stroke*, 41, 1290-1293.
- PENN, A. M. W., ROBERTS, T., HODDER, J., ALLEN, P. S., ZHU, G. & MARTIN, W. R. W. 1995. Generalized mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease detected by magnetic resonance spectroscopy of muscle. *Neurology*, 45, 2097-2099.
- PENNINGTON, C., G. 2015. The Exercise Effect on the Anaerobic Threshold in Response to Graded Exercise. *International Journal of Health Sciences*.
- PETERSON, C. M., JOHANNSEN, D. L. & RAVUSSIN, E. 2012. Skeletal Muscle Mitochondria and Aging: A Review. *J Aging Res*, 2012, 194821-20.
- PETTY, G. W., BROWN JR, R. D., WHISNANT, J. P., SICKS, J. D., O'FALLON, W. M. & WIEBERS, D. O. 2000. Ischemic stroke subtypes: A population-based study of functional outcome, survival, and recurrence. *Stroke*, 31, 1062-1068.
- PHILLIPS, S. M., GREEN, H. J., MACDONALD, M. J. & HUGHSON, R. L. 1995. Progressive effect of endurance training on VO2 kinetics at the onset of submaximal exercise. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985),* 79.
- PILZ, P. M., HAMZA, O., GIDLÖF, O., GONÇALVES, I. F., TRETTER, E. V., TROJANEK, S., ABRAHAM, D., HEBER, S., HALLER, P. M., PODESSER, B. K. & KISS, A. 2019. Remote ischemic perconditioning attenuates adverse cardiac remodeling and preserves left ventricular function in a rat model of reperfused myocardial infarction. *Int J Cardiol*, 285, 72-79.
- PINTO, E. B., MASO, I., VILELA, R. N. R., SANTOS, L. C. & OLIVEIRA-FILHO, J. 2011. Validation of the EuroQol quality of life questionnaire on stroke victims. *Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria*, 69, 320-323.
- PONCHEL, A., BOMBOIS, S., BORDET, R. & HÉNON, H. 2015. Factors Associated with Poststroke Fatigue: A Systematic Review. *Stroke Research and Treatment*.
- PORTA, M. 2014. *A Dictionary of Epidemiology,* Oxford, Oxford: Oxford University Press, Incorporated.
- POSTOLACHE, T. T., GULATI, A., OKUSAGA, O. O. & STILLER, J. W. 2020. An Introduction to Circadian Endocrine Physiology: Implications for Exercise and Sports Performance | SpringerLink.
- POUCHOT, J., KHERANI, R. B., BRANT, R., LACAILLE, D., LEHMAN, A. J., ENSWORTH, S., KOPEC, J., ESDAILE, J. M. & LIANG, M. H. 2008. Determination of the minimal clinically important difference for seven fatigue measures in rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 61, 705-713.

- POULSEN, B. M., DAMGAARD, S. B., ZERAHN, S. B., OVERGAARD, S. K. & RASMUSSEN, S. R. 2015. Modafinil May Alleviate Poststroke Fatigue: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blinded Trial. *Stroke*, 46, 3470-3477.
- PRADO, D. M. L., ROCCO, E. A., SILVA, A. G., ROCCO, D. F., PACHECO, M. T. & FURLAN, V. 2016. Effect of exercise training on ventilatory efficiency in patients with heart disease: A review. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 49.
- PRESTGAARD, E., MARIAMPILLAI, J., ENGESETH, K., ERIKSSEN, J., BODEGÅRD, J., LIESTØL, K., GJESDAL, K., KJELDSEN, S., GRUNDVOLD, I. & BERGE, E. 2018. Change in Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Risk of Stroke and Death: Long-Term Follow-Up of Healthy Middle-Aged Men. *Stroke (1970),* 50, 155-161.
- PRYDS, K., NIELSEN, R. R., JORSAL, A., HANSEN, M. S., RINGGAARD, S., REFSGAARD, J., KIM, W. Y., PETERSEN, A. K., BØTKER, H. E. & SCHMIDT, M. R. 2017. Effect of long-term remote ischemic conditioning in patients with chronic ischemic heart failure. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 112, 1-11.
- PRZYKLENK, K. 2014. microRNA-144: the 'what' and 'how' of remote ischemic conditioning? *Basic Res Cardiol*, 109, 1-4.
- PRZYKLENK, K., BAUER, B., OVIZE, M., KLONER, R. A. & WHITTAKER, P. 1993. Regional ischemic 'preconditioning' protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. *Circulation*, 87, 893-899.
- PUTHUCHEARY, Z. A., ASTIN, R., MCPHAIL, M. J. W., SAEED, S., PASHA, Y., BEAR, D. E., CONSTANTIN, D., VELLOSO, C., MANNING, S., CALVERT, L., SINGER, M., BATTERHAM, R. L., GOMEZ-ROMERO, M., HOLMES, E., STEINER, M. C., ATHERTON, P. J., GREENHAFF, P., EDWARDS, L. M., SMITH, K., HARRIDGE, S. D., HART, N. & MONTGOMERY, H. E. 2018. Metabolic phenotype of skeletal muscle in early critical illness. *Thorax*, 73, 926-935.
- QIN, C., YAN, X., JIN, H., ZHANG, R., HE, Y., SUN, X., ZHANG, Y., GUO, Z.-N. & YANG, Y. 2020. Effects of remote ischemic conditioning on cerebral hemodynamics in ischemic stroke. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, 16, 283-299.
- QUINN, T. J., DAWSON, J., WALTERS, M. R. & LEES, K. R. 2009. Functional outcome measures in contemporary stroke trials. *Int J Stroke*, 4, 200-205.
- QUINN, T. J., LANGHORNE, P. & STOTT, D. J. 2011. Barthel Index for Stroke Trials: Development, Properties, and Application. *Stroke*, 42, 1146-1151.
- RADMAN, N., STAUB, F., ABOULAFIA-BRAKHA, T., BERNEY, A., BOGOUSSLAVSKY, J. & ANNONI, J.-M. 2012. Poststroke fatigue following minor infarcts A prospective study. *Neurology*, **79**, 1422-1427.
- RADTKE, T., CROOK, S., KALTSAKAS, G., LOUVARIS, Z., BERTON, D., URQUHART, D. S., KAMPOURAS, A., RABINOVICH, R. A., VERGES, S., KONTOPIDIS, D., BOYD, J., TONIA, T., LANGER, D., DE BRANDT, J., GOERTZ, Y. M. J., BURTIN, C., SPRUIT, M. A., BRAEKEN, D. C. W., DACHA, S., FRANSSEN, F. M. E., LAVENEZIANA, P., EBER, E., TROOSTERS, T., NEDER, J. A., PUHAN, M. A., CASABURI, R., VOGIATZIS, I. & HEBESTREIT, H. 2019. ERS statement on standardisation of cardiopulmonary exercise testing in chronic lung diseases. *Eur Respir Rev*, 28, 180101.
- RAHMAN, I. A., MASCARO, J. G., STEEDS, R. P., FRENNEAUX, M. P., NIGHTINGALE, P., GOSLING, P., TOWNSEND, P., TOWNEND, J. N., GREEN, D. & BONSER, R. S. 2010. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in Human Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery: From Promise to Disappointment? *Circulation*, 122, S53-S59.
- RAMACHANDRA, C. J. A., HERNANDEZ-RESENDIZ, S., CRESPO-AVILAN, G. E., LIN, Y.-H. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2020. Mitochondria in acute myocardial infarction and cardioprotection. *EBioMedicine*, 57, 102884-102884.
- RAND, J. D., ENG, J. J., TANG, J. P.-F., JENG, J. J.-S. & HUNG, J. C. 2009. How Active Are People With Stroke?: Use of Accelerometers to Assess Physical Activity. *Stroke*, 40, 163-168.
- RANDHAWA, P. K. & JAGGI, A. S. 2017. Opioids in Remote Ischemic Preconditioning-Induced Cardioprotection. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther*, 22, 112-121.

- RASHEDI, E. & NUSSBAUM, M. A. 2015. Mathematical models of localized muscle fatigue: Sensitivity analysis and assessment of two occupationally-relevant models. *PLoS One,* 10, e0143872-e0143872.
- RASSAF, B. T., TOTZECK, B. M., HENDGEN-COTTA, B. U., SHIVA, B. S., HEUSCH, B. G. & KELM, B. M. 2014. Circulating Nitrite Contributes to Cardioprotection by Remote Ischemic Preconditioning. *Circulation Research*, 114, 1601-1610.
- REDINGTON, K. L., DISENHOUSE, T., STRANTZAS, S. C., GLADSTONE, R., WEI, C., TROPAK, M. B., DAI, X., MANLHIOT, C. & LI, J. 2012. Remote cardioprotection by direct peripheral nerve stimulation and topical capsaicin is mediated by circulating humoral factors. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 107.
- REEVE, B. B., WYRWICH, K. W., WU, A. W., VELIKOVA, G., TERWEE, C. B., SNYDER, C. F., SCHWARTZ, C., REVICKI, D. A., MOINPOUR, C. M., MCLEOD, L. D., LYONS, J. C., LENDERKING, W. R., HINDS, P. S., HAYS, R. D., GREENHALGH, J., GERSHON, R., FEENY, D., FAYERS, P. M., CELLA, D., BRUNDAGE, M., AHMED, S., AARONSON, N. K. & BUTT, Z. 2013. ISOQOL recommends minimum standards for patient-reported outcome measures used in patient-centered outcomes and comparative effectiveness research. *Qual Life Res*, 22, 1889-1905.
- REEVES, M., LISABETH, L., WILLIAMS, L., KATZAN, I., KAPRAL, M., DEUTSCH, A. & PRVU-BETTGER, J. 2018. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) for Acute Stroke: Rationale, Methods and Future Directions. *Stroke*, 49, 1549-1556.
- REGAN, E., MIDDLETON, A., STEWART, J. C., WILCOX, S., PEARSON, J. L. & FRITZ, S. 2020. The sixminute walk test as a fall risk screening tool in community programs for persons with stroke: a cross-sectional analysis. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 27, 118-126.
- REN, C., GAO, X., STEINBERG, G. K. & ZHAO, H. 2008. Limb remote-preconditioning protects against focal ischemia in rats and contradicts the dogma of therapeutic time windows for preconditioning. *Neuroscience*, 151, 1099-1103.
- RIPLEY, E. M., CLARKE, G. D., HAMIDI, V., MARTINEZ, R. A., SETTLES, F. D., SOLIS, C., DENG, S., ABDUL-GHANI, M., TRIPATHY, D. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 2018. Reduced skeletal muscle phosphocreatine concentration in type 2 diabetic patients: A quantitative image-based phosphorus-31 MR spectroscopy study. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 315, E229-E239.
- ROBERT, P., LANCTÔT, K. L., AGÜERA-ORTIZ, L., AALTEN, P., BREMOND, F., DEFRANCESCO, M., HANON, C., DAVID, R., DUBOIS, B., DUJARDIN, K., HUSAIN, M., KÖNIG, A., LEVY, R., MANTUA, V., MEULIEN, D., MILLER, D., MOEBIUS, H. J., RASMUSSEN, J., ROBERT, G., RUTHIRAKUHAN, M., STELLA, F., YESAVAGE, J., ZEGHARI, R. & V, M. 2018. Is it time to revise the diagnostic criteria for apathy in brain disorders? The 2018 international consensus group. *European psychiatry : the journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists*, 54.
- ROONEY, S., MCFADYEN, D. A., WOOD, D. L., MOFFAT, D. F. & PAUL, P. L. 2019. Minimally important difference of the fatigue severity scale and modified fatigue impact scale in people with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 35, 158-163.
- ROSS, R., BLAIR, S. N., ARENA, R., CHURCH, T. S., DESPRÉS, J.-P., FRANKLIN, B. A., HASKELL, W. L., KAMINSKY, L. A., LEVINE, B. D., LAVIE, C. J., MYERS, J., NIEBAUER, J., SALLIS, R., SAWADA, S. S., SUI, X. & WISLØFF, U. 2016. Importance of Assessing Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Clinical Practice: A Case for Fitness as a Clinical Vital Sign: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 134, e653-e699.
- ROSTI OTAJÄRVI, E., HÄMÄLÄINEN, P., WIKSTEN, A., HAKKARAINEN, T. & RUUTIAINEN, J. 2017. Validity and reliability of the Fatigue Severity Scale in Finnish multiple sclerosis patients. Brain Behav, 7, e00743-n/a.
- RUDBERG, A.-S., BERGE, E., LASKA, A.-C., JUTTERSTRÖM, S., NÄSMAN, P., SUNNERHAGEN, K. S. & LUNDSTRÖM, E. 2021. Stroke survivors' priorities for research related to life after stroke. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 28, 153-158.

- RUIZ, M. A., ZAMORANO, E., GARCÍA-CAMPAYO, J., PARDO, A., FREIRE, O. & REJAS, J. 2011. Validity of the GAD- 7 scale as an outcome measure of disability in patients with generalized anxiety disorders in primary care. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 128, 277-286.
- RYAN, A. S., DOBROVOLNY, C. L., SMITH, G. V., SILVER, K. H. & MACKO, R. F. 2002. Hemiparetic muscle atrophy and increased intramuscular fat in stroke patients. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 83.
- RYAN, T. E., BROPHY, P., LIN, C. T., HICKNER, R. C. & NEUFER, P. D. 2014. Assessment of in vivo skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiratory capacity in humans by near infrared spectroscopy: a comparison with in situ measurements. *J Physiol*, 592, 3231-3241.
- RYAN, T. E., ERICKSON, M. L., BRIZENDINE, J. T., YOUNG, H.-J. & MCCULLY, K. K. 2012. Noninvasive evaluation of skeletal muscle mitochondrial capacity with near-infrared spectroscopy: correcting for blood volume changes. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 113, 175-183.
- RYAN, T. E., SOUTHERN, W. M., REYNOLDS, M. A. & MCCULLY, K. K. 2013. A cross-validation of nearinfrared spectroscopy measurements of skeletal muscle oxidative capacity with phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 115, 1757-1766.
- SABZEVARI RAD, R., MAHMOODZADEH HOSSEINI, H. & SHIRVANI, H. 2020. Circadian rhythm effect on military physical fitness and field training: a narrative review. *Sport sciences for health*, 17, 43-56.
- SACCO, L. R., ADAMS, J. R., ALBERS, B. G., ALBERTS, C. M., BENAVENTE, J. O., FURIE, H. K., GOLDSTEIN, H. L., GORELICK, H. P., HALPERIN, H. J., HARBAUGH, H. R., JOHNSTON, H. S., KATZAN, H. I., KELLY-HAYES, H. M., KENTON, H. E., MARKS, H. M., SCHWAMM, H. L. & TOMSICK, H. T. 2006. Guidelines for Prevention of Stroke in Patients With Ischemic Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Council on Stroke: Co-Sponsored by the Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention: The American Academy of Neurology affirms the value of this guideline. *Stroke*, 37, 577-617.
- SAGE, M., MIDDLETON, L. E., TANG, A., SIBLEY, K. M., BROOKS, D. & MCILROY, W. 2013. Validity of Rating of Perceived Exertion Ranges in Individuals in the Subacute Stage of Stroke Recovery. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 20, 519-527.
- SAIOTE, C., GOLDSCHMIDT, T., TIMÄUS, C., STEENWIJK, M. D., OPITZ, A., ANTAL, A., PAULUS, W. & NITSCHE, M. A. 2014. Impact of transcranial direct current stimulation on fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience*, 32.
- SALVI, D., POFFLEY, E., ORCHARD, E. & TARASSENKO, L. 2020. The mobile-based 6-minute walk test: Usability study and algorithm development and validation. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, 8, e13756-e13756.
- SAÑUDO, B., BARTOLOMÉ, D., TEJERO, S., PONCE-GONZÁLEZ, J. G., LOZA, J. P. & FIGUEROA, A. 2020. Impact of Active Recovery and Whole-Body Electromyostimulation on Blood-Flow and Blood Lactate Removal in Healthy People. *Front Physiol*, **11**, 310-310.
- SAPRA, A., BHANDARI, P., SHARMA, S., CHANPURA, T. & LOPP, L. 2020. Using Generalized Anxiety Disorder-2 (GAD-2) and GAD-7 in a Primary Care Setting. *Curēus (Palo Alto, CA),* 12, e8224-e8224.
- SARKER, S.-J., RUDD, A. G., DOUIRI, A. & WOLFE, C. D. A. 2012. Comparison of 2 Extended Activities of Daily Living Scales With the Barthel Index and Predictors of Their Outcomes: Cohort Study Within the South London Stroke Register (SLSR). *Stroke*, 43, 1362-1369.
- SASSANI, M., ALIX, J. J., MCDERMOTT, C. J., BASTER, K., HOGGARD, N., WILD, J. M., MORTIBOYS, H. J., SHAW, P. J., WILKINSON, I. D. & JENKINS, T. M. 2020. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy reveals mitochondrial dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain*, 143, 3603-3618.
- SAUNDERS, B., JULIUS, S., KINGSTONE, T., BAKER, S., WATERFIELD, J., BARTLAM, B., BURROUGHS, H.
 & JINKS, C. 2017. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52, 1893-1907.

- SAUNDERS, D. H., SANDERSON, M., HAYES, S., JOHNSO, L., KRAMER, S., CARTER, D. D., JARVIS, H., BRAZZELLI, M. & MEAD, G. E. 2020. Physical fitness training for stroke patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev,* 3, CD003316-3.
- SAUNDERS, D. H. M., GREIG, C. A. P., YOUNG, A. M. D. & MEAD, G. E. M. D. 2008. Association of Activity Limitations and Lower-Limb Explosive Extensor Power in Ambulatory People With Stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 89, 677-683.
- SAVER, J. L. 2011. Optimal Endpoints for Acute Stroke Therapy Trials: Best Ways to Measure Treatment Effects of Drugs and Devices. *Stroke (1970)*, 42, 2356-2362.
- SAVER, J. L. & GORNBEIN, J. 2009. Treatment effects for which shift or binary analyses are advantageous in acute stroke trials. *Neurology*, 72, 1310-1315.
- SCHEPERS, V. P., VISSER-MEILY, A. M., KETELAAR, M. & LINDEMAN, E. 2006a. Poststroke fatigue: Course and its relation to personal and stroke-related factors. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 87, 184-188.
- SCHEPERS, V. P. M., KETELAAR, M., VISSER-MEILY, J. M. A., DEKKER, J. & LINDEMAN, E. 2006b. Responsiveness of functional health status measures frequently used in stroke research. *Disabil Rehabil*, 28, 1035-1040.
- SCHILLINGS, M. J., WOUTER, H., STEGEMAN, D. F. & ZWARTS, M. J. 2003. Relative contributions of central and peripheral factors to fatigue during a maximal sustained effort. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 90, 562–568.
- SCHOEMAKER, R. G. & VAN HEIJNINGEN, C. L. 2000. Bradykinin mediates cardiac preconditioning at a distance. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology,* 278, H1571-H1576.
- SCHULTZ, J. E., ROSE, E., YAO, Z. & GROSS, G. J. 1995. Evidence for involvement of opioid receptors in ischemic preconditioning in rat hearts. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*, 268, H2157-H2161.
- SCHWAB, S., KREILIGER, G. & HELD, L. 2021. Assessing treatment effects and publication bias across different specialties in medicine: a meta-epidemiological study. *BMJ open*, 11, e045942-e045942.
- SCHWAIBLMAIR, M., FAUL, C., VON SCHEIDT, W. & BERGHAUS, T. M. 2012. Differences of cardiac output measurements by open-circuit acetylene uptake in pulmonary arterial hypertension and chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension: A cohort study. *Respir Res,* 13, 18-18.
- SCHWARTZ, J. E., JANDORF, L. & KRUPP, L. B. 1993. The measurement of fatigue: A new instrument. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 37, 753-762.
- SCHWARZER, G., CARPENTER, J.R. AND RÜCKER, G., 2015. Small-Study Effects in Meta-Analysis | SpringerLink.
- SEALED ENVELOPE LTD. 2017. Simple randomisation service / Sealed Envelope [Online]. Available: https://www.sealedenvelope.com/simple-randomiser/v1/ [Accessed].
- SHA, L., XU, T., GE, X., SHI, L., ZHANG, J. & GUO, H. 2021. Predictors of death within 6 months of stroke onset: A model with Barthel index, platelet/lymphocyte ratio and serum albumin. *Nurs Open*, 8, 1380-1392.
- SHAHVAZIAN, N., RAFIEE, M., RAHMANIAN, M., RAZAVI-RATKI, S. & FARAHZADI, M. 2017. Repeated Remote Ischemic Conditioning Effect on Ankle- brachial Index in Diabetic Patients - A Randomized Control Trial. *Advanced Biomedical Research*, 6.
- SHARMA, L. K., LU, J. & BAI, Y. 2009. Mitochondrial respiratory complex I: structure, function and implication in human diseases. *Current medicinal chemistry*, 16.
- SHARMA, R., RANDHAWA, P. K., SINGH, N. & JAGGI, A. S. 2015. Bradykinin in ischemic conditioninginduced tissue protection: Evidences and possible mechanisms. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 768, 58-70.
 SHARMA, S. & CULEBRAS, A. 2016. Sleep apnoea and stroke.
- SHARMA, V., CUNNIFFE, B., VERMA, A. P., CARDINALE, M. & YELLON, D. 2014. Characterization of acute ischemia-related physiological responses associated with remote ischemic
preconditioning: A randomized controlled, crossover human study. *Physiological Reports*, 2, 1-11.

- SHARMAN, J. E., MENZIES RESEARCH INSTITUTE TASMANIA, U. O. T., HOBART, AUSTRALIA, LA
 GERCHE, A., ST VINCENT'S HOSPITAL DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE, U. O. M., FITZROY,
 AUSTRALIA, COOMBES, J. S. & THE UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND, B., QUEENSLAND,
 AUSTRALIA. 2015. Exercise and Cardiovascular Risk in Patients With Hypertension. American
 Journal of Hypertension, 28, 147-158.
- SHAUGHNESSY, M., RESNICK, B. M. & MACKO, R. F. 2006. Testing a model of post-stroke exercise behavior. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 31, 15-21.
- SHEN, Y., ZHANG, X., MA, W., SONG, H., GONG, Z., WANG, Q., CHE, L., XU, W., JIANG, J., XU, J., YAN,
 W., ZHOU, L., YI, N., G, L., Q, Z. & L, W. 2015. VE/VCO 2 slope and its prognostic value in patients with chronic heart failure. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, 9.
- SHEPHARD, R. J. 2009. Maximal oxygen intake and independence in old age. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43, 342.
- SHICHITA, T., SAKAGUCHI, R., SUZUKI, M. & YOSHIMURA, A. 2012. Post-ischemic inflammation in the brain. *Front Immunol*, **3**, 132-132.
- SHIELD, A. & ZHOU, S. 2004. Assessing Voluntary Muscle Activation with the Twitch Interpolation Technique. *Sports Medicine*, 34, 253-267.
- SHIMIZU, M., KONSTANTINOV, I. E., KHARBANDA, R. K., CHEUNG, M. H. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2007. Effects of intermittent lower limb ischaemia on coronary blood flow and coronary resistance in pigs. Acta Physiologica, 190, 103-109.
- SHIMIZU, M., TROPAK, M., DIAZ, ROBERTO J., SUTO, F., SURENDRA, H., KUZMIN, E., LI, J., GROSS, G., WILSON, GREGORY J., CALLAHAN, J. & REDINGTON, ANDREW N. 2009. Transient limb ischaemia remotely preconditions through a humoral mechanism acting directly on the myocardium: evidence suggesting cross-species protection. *Clinical Science*, 117, 191-200.
- SHIN, H. J., WON, N. H. & LEE, H. W. 2014. Remote ischemic preconditioning prevents lipopolysaccharide-induced liver injury through inhibition of NF-κB activation in mice. J Anesth, 28, 898-905.
- SHIRANI, A. & ST. LOUIS, E. K. 2009. Illuminating rationale and uses for light therapy. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 5, 155-163.
- SHORT, K. R., BIGELOW, M. L., KAHL, J., SINGH, R., COENEN-SCHIMKE, J., RAGHAVAKAIMAL, S. & NAIR, K. S. 2005. Decline in Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Function with Aging in Humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 5618-5623.
- SHRIVASTAVA, A. K., SINGH, H. V., RAIZADA, A., SINGH, S. K., PANDEY, A., SINGH, N., YADAV, D. S. & SHARMA, H. 2013. Inflammatory markers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*, 43, 81-87.
- SIM, J. 2019. Should treatment effects be estimated in pilot and feasibility studies? *Pilot Feasibility Stud,* 5, 107-107.
- SINCLAIR, K. L., PONSFORD, J. L., TAFFE, J., LOCKLEY, S. W. & RAJARATNAM, S. M. W. 2014. Randomized Controlled Trial of Light Therapy for Fatigue Following Traumatic Brain Injury. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 28, 303-313.
- SIONS, J. M., TYRELL, C. M., KNARR, B. A., JANCOSKO, A. & BINDER-MACLEOD, S. A. 2012. Age- and stroke-related skeletal muscle changes a review for the geriatric clinician. *J Geriatr Phys Ther*, 35, 155-161.
- SKALSKI, J., ALLISON, T. G. & MILLER, T. D. 2012. The Safety of Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing in a Population With High-Risk Cardiovascular Diseases.
- SKÅNÉR, Y., NILSSON, G. H., SUNDQUIST, K., HASSLER, E. & KRAKAU, I. 2007. Self-rated health, symptoms of depression and general symptoms at 3 and 12 months after a first-ever stroke:
 A municipality-based study in Sweden. *BMC Fam Pract*, 8, 61-61.
- SLAGSVOLD, H. K., ROGNMO, H. Ø., HØYDAL, H. M., WISLØFF, H. U. & WAHBA, H. A. 2014. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Preserves Mitochondrial Function and Influences Myocardial

MicroRNA Expression in Atrial Myocardium During Coronary Bypass Surgery. *Circulation Research*, 114, 851-859.

- SMITH, A. C., SAUNDERS, D. H. & MEAD, G. 2012. Cardiorespiratory fitness after stroke: a systematic review. *Int J Stroke*, 7, 499-510.
- SNAPHAAN, L., VAN DER WERF, S. & DE LEEUW, F. 2011. Time course and risk factors of postastroke fatigue: a prospective cohort study. *European Journal of Neurology*, 18, 611-617.
- SØGAARD, K., GANDEVIA, S. C., TODD, G., PETERSEN, N. T. & TAYLOR, J. L. 2006. The effect of sustained low-intensity contractions on supraspinal fatigue in human elbow flexor muscles. *J Physiol*, 573, 511-523.
- SPÄTH-SCHWALBE, E., HANSEN, K., SCHMIDT, F., SCHREZENMEIER, H., MARSHALL, L., BURGER, K., FEHM, H. L. & BORN, J. 1998. Acute effects of recombinant human interleukin-6 on endocrine and central nervous sleep functions in healthy men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 1573-1579.
- SPICUZZA, L., CARUSO, D. & DI MARIA, G. 2015. Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome and its management. *Ther. Adv. Chronic Dis.*, 6, 273-285.
- SPITZER, R. L., KROENKE, K., WILLIAMS, J. B. W. & LÖWE, B. 2006. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med*, 166, 1092-1097.
- SPRATT, D. E., SAKAE, M., RIAZ, N., LOK, B. H., ESSANDOH, S., HSU, M., ZHANG, Z., SCHUPAK, K., SETTON, J. & LEE, N. Y. 2012. Time Course and Predictors for Cancer - Related Fatigue in a Series of Oropharyngeal Cancer Patients Treated with Chemoradiation Therapy. *Oncologist*, 17, 569-576.
- ST JEAN PELLETIER, F., PION, C. H., LEDUC GAUDET, J. P., SGARIOTO, N., ZOVILÉ, I., BARBAT ARTIGAS, S., REYNAUD, O., ALKATERJI, F., LEMIEUX, F. C., GRENON, A., GAUDREAU, P., HEPPLE, R. T., CHEVALIER, S., BELANGER, M., MORAIS, J. A., AUBERTIN LEHEUDRE, M. & GOUSPILLOU, G. 2017. The impact of ageing, physical activity, and pre frailty on skeletal muscle phenotype, mitochondrial content, and intramyocellular lipids in men. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*, 8, 213-228.
- ST CLAIR GIBSON, A. & NOAKES, T. D. 2004. Evidence for complex system integration and dynamic neural regulation of skeletal muscle recruitment during exercise in humans. *Br J Sports Med*, 38, 797-806.
- STAUB, F. & BOGOUSSLAVSKY, J. 2001. Fatigue after stroke: A major but neglected issue. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, **12**, **75**-81.
- STEENSRUD, T., LI, J., DAI, X., MANLHIOT, C., KHARBANDA, R. K., TROPAK, M. & REDINGTON, A. 2010. Pretreatment with the nitric oxide donor SNAP or nerve transection blocks humoral preconditioning by remote limb ischemia or intra-arterial adenosine. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 299, H1598-H1603.
- STEFAN, D., CESARE, F. D., ANDRASESCU, A., POPA, E., LAZARIEV, A., VESCOVO, E., STRBAK, O., WILLIAMS, S., STARCUK, Z., CABANAS, M., VAN ORMONDT, D. & GRAVERON-DEMILLY, D. 2009. Quantitation of magnetic resonance spectroscopy signals: the jMRUI software package. *Measurement science & technology*, 20, 104035.
- STEVENS, S., SNELL, C., STEVENS, J., KELLER, B. & VANNESS, J. M. 2018. Cardiopulmonary exercise test methodology for assessing exertion intolerance in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. *Front Pediatr*, 6, 1-10.
- STIRRATT, M. J., DUNBAR-JACOB, J., CRANE, H. M., SIMONI, J. M., CZAJKOWSKI, S., HILLIARD, M. E., AIKENS, J. E., HUNTER, C. M., VELLIGAN, D. I., HUNTLEY, K., OGEDEGBE, G., RAND, C. S., SCHRON, E. & NILSEN, W. J. 2015. Self-report measures of medication adherence behavior: recommendations on optimal use. *Transl Behav Med*, 5, 470-482.
- STOLK, E., LUDWIG, K., RAND, K., VAN HOUT, B. & RAMOS-GOÑI, J. M. 2019. Overview, update, and lessons learned From the international EQ-5D-5L valuation work: version 2 of the EQ-5D-5L valuation protocol.

- STOLLER, O., DE BRUIN, E. D., SCHINDELHOLZ, M., SCHUSTER-AMFT, C., DE BIE, R. A. & HUNT, K. J. 2014. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing early after stroke using feedback-controlled robotics-assisted treadmill exercise: test-retest reliability and repeatability. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 11, 145-145.
- STRAY-GUNDERSEN, J., CHAPMAN, R. F. & LEVINE, B. D. 2001. "Living high-training low" altitude training improves sea level performance in male and female elite runners. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 91, 1113-1120.
- STRONG, B., FRITZ, M. C., DONG, L., LISABETH, L. D. & REEVES, M. J. 2021. Changes in PHQ-9 depression scores in acute stroke patients shortly after returning home. *PloS one*, 16, e0259806-e0259806.
- SULLIVAN, M. J., HIGGINBOTHAM, M. B. & COBB, F. R. 1988. Increased exercise ventilation in patients with chronic heart failure: Intact ventilatory control despite hemodynamic and pulmonary abnormalities. *Circulation*, 77, 552-559.
- SUN, X.-G., HANSEN, J. E., OUDIZ, R. J. & WASSERMAN, K. 2001. Exercise pathophysiology in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation*, 104, 429-435.
- SUNDBERG, C. W. & FITTS, R. H. 2019. Bioenergetic basis of skeletal muscle fatigue. *Curr Opin Physiol*, 10, 118-127.
- SUNDSTRUP, E., JAKOBSEN, M. D., BRANDT, M., JAY, K., AAGAARD, P. & ANDERSEN, L. L. 2016. Strength Training Improves Fatigue Resistance and Self-Rated Health in Workers with Chronic Pain: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Biomed Res Int*, 2016, 4137918-11.
- SURKAR, S. M., BLAND, M. D., MATTLAGE, A. E., CHEN, L., GIDDAY, J. M., LEE, J.-M., HERSHEY, T. & LANG, C. E. 2020. Effects of remote limb ischemic conditioning on muscle strength in healthy young adults: A randomized controlled trial. *PloS one*, **15**, e0227263-e0227263.
- SWANK, A. M., HORTON, J., FLEG, J. L., FONAROW, G. C., KETEYIAN, S., GOLDBERG, L., WOLFEL, G., HANDBERG, E. M., BENSIMHON, D., ILLIOU, M. C., VEST, M., EWALD, G., BLACKBURN, G., LEIFER, E., COOPER, L. & KRAUS, W. E. 2012. Modest Increase in Peak VO2 Is Related to Better Clinical Outcomes in Chronic Heart Failure Patients.
- TANAKA, D., SUGA, T., SHIMOHO, K. & ISAKA, T. 2021. Effect of 2-Weeks Ischemic Preconditioning on Exercise Performance: A Pilot Study. *Frontiers in sports and active living*, **3**, 646369-646369.
- TANAKA, D., SUGA, T., TANAKA, T., KIDO, K., HONJO, T., FUJITA, S., HAMAOKA, T. & ISAKA, T. 2016. Ischemic Preconditioning Enhances Muscle Endurance during Sustained Isometric Exercise. *International journal of sports medicine*, 37.
- TANG, A., ENG, J. J., TSANG, T. S. M. & KRASSIOUKOV, A. V. 2013. Cognition and motor impairment correlates with exercise test performance after stroke. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 45, 622-627.
- TANG, A., SIBLEY, K. M., THOMAS, S. G., MCILROY, W. E. & BROOKS, D. 2006. Maximal Exercise Test Results in Subacute Stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 87, 1100-1105.
- TANG, W. K., CHEN, Y. K., MOK, V., CHU, W. C. W., UNGVARI, G. S., AHUJA, A. T. & WONG, K. S. 2010. Acute basal ganglia infarcts in poststroke fatigue: An MRI study. *Journal of Neurology*, 257, 178-182.
- TANG, Y., LUO, Q., LIU, Z., MA, X., ZHAO, Z., HUANG, Z., GAO, L., JIN, Q., XIONG, C. & NI, X. 2017.
 Oxygen Uptake Efficiency Slope Predicts Poor Outcome in Patients With Idiopathic
 Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. J Am Heart Assoc, 6, n/a.
- TAPURIA, N., KUMAR, Y., HABIB, M. M., AMARA, M. A., SEIFALIAN, A. M. & DAVIDSON, B. R. 2008. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning: A Novel Protective Method From Ischemia Reperfusion Injury-A Review. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 150, 304-330.
- TARAZI, M., GAFFNEY, R. G., PEARSON, D., KUSHNER, C. J. & WERTH, V. P. 2019. Fatigue in systemic lupus erythematosus and other autoimmune skin diseases. *Br J Dermatol*, 180, 1468-1472.
- TAY, J., LISIECKA-FORD, D. M., HOLLOCKS, M. J., TULADHAR, A. M., BARRICK, T. R., FORSTER, A., O'SULLIVAN, M. J., HUSAIN, M., DE LEEUW, F.-E., MORRIS, R. G. & MARKUS, H. S. 2020. Network neuroscience of apathy in cerebrovascular disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, 188, 101785-101785.

- TAY, J., MORRIS, R. G. & MARKUS, H. S. 2021. Apathy after stroke: Diagnosis, mechanisms, consequences, and treatment. *Int J Stroke*, 16, 510-518.
- TAYLOR, C., NICHOLS, S. & INGLE, L. 2015. A clinician's guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing 1: an introduction. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12968/hmed.2015.76.4.192</u>.
- TEIXEIRA DA CUNHA FILHO, I., LIM, P. A. C., QURESHY, H., HENSON, H., MONGA, T. & PROTAS, E. J. 2001. A comparison of regular rehabilitation and regular rehabilitation with supported treadmill ambulation training for acute stroke patients. *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 38, 245-255.
- TEKIN, S. & CUMMINGS, J. L. 2002. Frontal–subcortical neuronal circuits and clinical neuropsychiatry: An update. *J Psychosom Res*, 53, 647-654.
- THABANE, L., MA, J., CHU, R., CHENG, J., ISMAILA, A., RIOS, L. P., ROBSON, R., THABANE, M., GIANGREGORIO, L. & GOLDSMITH, C. H. 2010. A tutorial on pilot studies: The what, why and how. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 10, 1-1.
- THAVEAU, F., ZOLL, J., ROUYER, O., CHAFKE, N., KRETZ, J. G., PIQUARD, F. & GENY, B. 2007. Ischemic preconditioning specifically restores complexes I and II activities of the mitochondrial respiratory chain in ischemic skeletal muscle. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 46, 541-547.
- THILARAJAH, S., MENTIPLAY, B. F., BOWER, K. J., TAN, D., PUA, Y. H., WILLIAMS, G., KOH, G. & CLARK, R. A. 2018. Factors Associated With Post-Stroke Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 99, 1876-1889.
- THOMA, A. M. D. M., FARROKHYAR, F. M. P., MCKNIGHT, L. M. & BHANDARI, M. M. D. M. 2010. How to optimize patient recruitment. *Canadian journal of surgery*, 53, 205-210.
- THOMPSON, J. W., NARAYANAN, S. V., KORONOWSKI, K. B., MORRIS-BLANCO, K., DAVE, K. R. & PEREZ-PINZON, M. A. 2014. Signaling pathways leading to ischemic mitochondrial neuroprotection. *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, 47, 101-110.
- THOMPSON, P. D., FRANKLIN, B. A., BALADY, G. J., BLAIR, S. N., CORRADO, D., ESTES III, N. A. M., FULTON, J. E., GORDON, N. F., HASKELL, W. L., LINK, M. S., MARON, B. J., MITTLEMAN, M. A., PELLICCIA, A., WENGER, N. K., WILLICH, S. N. & COSTA, F. 2007. Exercise and acute cardiovascular events: Placing the risks into perspective a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism and the Council on Clinical Cardiology. *Circulation*, 115, 2358-2368.
- TOCCO, F., MARONGIU, E., GHIANI, G., SANNA, I., PALAZZOLO, G., OLLA, S., PUSCEDDU, M., SANNA,
 P., CORONA, F., CONCU, A. & CRISAFULLI, A. 2015. Muscle ischemic preconditioning does not improve performance during self-paced exercise. *Int J Sports Med*, 36, 9-15.
- TOMCZAK, C. R., JELANI, A., HAENNEL, R. G., HAYKOWSKY, M. J., WELSH, R. & MANNS, P. J. 2008. Cardiac reserve and pulmonary gas exchange kinetics in patients with stroke. *Stroke*, 39, 3102-3106.
- TOMITA, T., TAKAKI, H., HARA, Y., SAKAMAKI, F., SATOH, T., TAKAGI, S., YASUMURA, Y., AIHARA, N., GOTO, Y. & SUNAGAWA, K. 2003. Attenuation of hypercapnic carbon dioxide chemosensitivity after postinfarction exercise training: possible contribution to the improvement in exercise hyperventilation. *Heart*, 89, 404-410.
- TOSUN, A., KÖKTÜRK, O., ÇIFTÇI, T. U., KARATAŞ, G. K. & SEPICI, V. 2008. Obstructive sleep apnea in ischemic stroke patients. *Clinics*, 63, 625-630.
- TOUSSAINT, A., HÜSING, P., GUMZ, A., WINGENFELD, K., HÄRTER, M., SCHRAMM, E. & LÖWE, B. 2020. Sensitivity to change and minimal clinically important difference of the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire (GAD-7). J Affect Disord, 265, 395-401.
- TOWFIGHI, A., OVBIAGELE, B., EL HUSSEINI, N., HACKETT, M. L., JORGE, R. E., KISSELA, B. M., MITCHELL, P. H., SKOLARUS, L. E., WHOOLEY, M. A. & WILLIAMS, L. S. 2017. Poststroke Depression: A Scientific Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*, 48, e30-e43.
- TRAPPE, T. A., BURD, N. A., LOUIS, E. S., LEE, G. A. & TRAPPE, S. W. 2007. Influence of concurrent exercise or nutrition countermeasures on thigh and calf muscle size and function during 60 days of bed rest in women. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*, 191, 147-159.

- TSENG, B. Y., BILLINGER, S. A., GAJEWSKI, B. J. & KLUDING, P. M. 2010. Exertion fatigue and chronic fatigue are two distinct constructs in people post-stroke. *Stroke*, 41, 2908-2912.
- TUCKER, R., MARLE, T., LAMBERT, E. V. & NOAKES, T. D. 2006. The rate of heat storage mediates an anticipatory reduction in exercise intensity during cycling at a fixed rating of perceived exertion. *J Physiol*, 574, 905-915.
- TURKINGTON, P. M., ALLGAR, V., BAMFORD, J., WANKLYN, P. & ELLIOTT, M. W. 2004. Effect of upper airway obstruction in acute stroke on functional outcome at 6 months. *Thorax*, 59, 367.
- UNALAN, D., SOYUER, F., OZTURK, A. & MISTIK, S. 2008. Comparison of SF-36 and WHOQOL-100 in patients with stroke. *Neurology India*, 56.
- UYTTENBOOGAART, M., STEWART, R. E., VROOMEN, P. C. A. J., DE KEYSER, J. & LUIJCKX, G.-J. 2005. Optimizing cutoff scores for the Barthel Index and the modified Rankin Scale for defining outcome in acute stroke trials. *Stroke*, **36**, 1984-1987.
- VALKO, P. O., BASSETTI, C. L., BLOCH, K. E., HELD, U. & BAUMANN, C. R. 2008. Validation of the fatigue severity scale in a Swiss cohort. *Sleep*, 31, 1601-1607.
- VALLANCE, P. & HINGORANI, A. 1999. Endothelial nitric oxide in humans in health and disease: Endothelial NO in humans. *International journal of experimental pathology*, 80, 291-303.
- VAN DALEN, J. W., MOLL VAN CHARANTE, E. P., NEDERKOORN, P. J., VAN GOOL, W. A. & RICHARD, E. 2013. Poststroke apathy. *Stroke*, 44.
- VAN DE PORT, I. G. L., KWAKKEL, G., SCHEPERS, V. P. M., HEINEMANS, C. T. I. & LINDEMAN, E. 2007. Is fatigue an independent factor associated with activities of daily living, instrumental activities of daily living and health-related quality of life in chronic stroke? *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 23, 40-45.
- VAN DE PORT, I. G. L., KWAKKEL, G. & WITTINK, H. 2015. Systematic Review of Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing Post Stroke: Are We Adhering to Practice Recommendations? *J Rehabil Med*, 47, 881-900.
- VAN DER WERF, S. P., VAN DEN BROEK, H. L. P., ANTEN, H. W. M. & BLEIJENBERG, G. 2001. Experience of severe fatigue long after stroke and its relation to depressive symptoms and disease characteristics. *European Neurology*, 45, 28-33.
- VAN STEENBERGEN, H. W., TSONAKA, R., HUIZINGA, T. W. J., BOONEN, A. & VAN DER HELM-VAN MIL, A. H. M. 2015. Fatigue in rheumatoid arthritis; a persistent problem: a large longitudinal study. *RMD Open*, **1**, e000041-e000041.
- VANDER HEIDE, R. S., HILL, M. L., REIMER, K. A. & JENNINGS, R. B. 1996. Effect of Reversible Ischemia on the Activity of the Mitochondrial ATPase: Relationship to Ischemic Preconditioning. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 28, 103-112.
- VANEZIS, A. P., ARNOLD, J. R., RODRIGO, G., LAI, F. Y., DEBIEC, R., NAZIR, S., KHAN, J. N., NG, L. L., CHITKARA, K., COGHLAN, J. G., HETHERINGTON, S. L., MCCANN, G. P. & SAMANI, N. J. 2018. Daily remote ischaemic conditioning following acute myocardial infarction: a randomised controlled trial. *Heart*, 104, 1955-1962.
- VANHAMME, L., VAN DEN BOOGAART, A. & VAN HUFFEL, S. 1997. Improved Method for Accurate and Efficient Quantification of MRS Data with Use of Prior Knowledge. *J Magn Reson*, 129, 35-43.
- VANHEES, L., FAGARD, R., THIJS, L. & AMERY, A. 1995. Prognostic value of training-induced change in peak exercise capacity in patients with myocardial infarcts and patients with coronary bypass surgery. *Am J Cardiol*, 76, 1014-1019.
- VARGAS, V. Z., LIRA, C. A. B. D., VANCINI, R. L., RAYES, A. B. R. & ANDRADE, M. S. 2018. Fat mass is negatively associated with the physiological ability of tissue to consume oxygen. *Motriz: rev. educ. fis,* 24.
- VUORINEN, K., YLITALO, K., PEUHKURINEN, K., RAATIKAINEN, P., ALA-RÄMI, A. & HASSINEN, I. E. 1995. Mechanisms of ischemic preconditioning in rat myocardium: Roles of adenosine, cellular energy state, and mitochondrial F1F0-ATPase. *Circulation*, 91, 2810-2818.

- WALLACE, A. C., TALELLI, P., DILEONE, M., OLIVER, R., WARD, N., CLOUD, G., GREENWOOD, R., DI LAZZARO, V., ROTHWELL, J. C. & MARSDEN, J. F. 2010. Standardizing the intensity of upper limb treatment in rehabilitation medicine. *Clin Rehabil*, 24, 471-478.
- WALSH, M., WHITLOCK, R., GARG, A. X., LÉGARÉ, J.-F., DUNCAN, A. E., ZIMMERMAN, R., MILLER, S., FREMES, S., KIESER, T., KARTHIKEYAN, G., CHAN, M., HO, A., NASR, V., VINCENT, J., ALI, I., LAVI, R., SESSLER, D. I., KRAMER, R., GARDNER, J., SYED, S., VAN, T., GUYATT, G., RAO-MELACINI, P., THABANE, L. & DEVEREAUX, P. J. 2016. Effects of remote ischemic preconditioning in high-risk patients undergoing cardiac surgery (Remote IMPACT): A randomized controlled trial. *CMAJ*, 188, 329-336.
- WALSH, M. L. & BANISTER, E. W. 1988. Possible mechanisms of the anaerobic threshold. A review. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.),* 5.
- WAN, J.-J., QIN, Z., WANG, P.-Y., SUN, Y. & LIU, X. 2017. Muscle fatigue: General understanding and treatment. *Exp Mol Med*, 49, e384-e384.
- WANG, K., SONG, F., FERNANDEZ-ESCOBAR, A., LUO, G., WANG, J. H. & SUN, Y. 2018. The Properties of Cytokines in Multiple Sclerosis: Pros and Cons. *The American journal of the medical sciences*, 356.
- WANG, S.-S., WANG, J.-J., PEI-XI, W. & RUOLING, C. 2014. Determinants of Fatigue after First- Ever Ischemic Stroke during Acute Phase. *PLoS One*, 9, e110037.
- WANG, Y., MENG, R., SONG, H., LIU, G., HUA, Y., CUI, D., ZHENG, L., FENG, W., LIEBESKIND, D. S.,
 FISHER, M. & JI, X. 2017. Remote Ischemic Conditioning May Improve Outcomes of Patients
 With Cerebral Small-Vessel Disease. *Stroke*, 48, 3064-3072.
- WARE, J. E. & GANDEK, B. 1998. Overview of the SF-36 Health Survey and the International Quality of Life Assessment (IQOLA) Project. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 51, 903-912.
- WASSERMAN, K. 2012. *Principles of exercise testing and interpretation : including pathophysiology and clinical applications,* Philadelphia, Pa. ; London, Philadelphia, Pa. ; London : Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2012.
- WASSERMAN, K. & MCILROY, M. B. 1964. Detecting the threshold of anaerobic metabolism in cardiac patients during exercise. *Am J Cardiol*, 14, 844-852.
- WASSERMAN, K., WHIPP, B. J., KOYL, S. N. & BEAVER, W. L. 1973. Anaerobic threshold and respiratory gas exchange during exercise. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1973.35.2.236</u>.
- WATT, T., GROENVOLD, M., BJORNER, J. B., NOERHOLM, V., RASMUSSEN, N.-A. & BECH, P. 2000. Fatigue in the Danish general population. Influence of sociodemographic factors and disease. J Epidemiol Community Health, 54, 827-833.
- WAWRZYNIAK, N. R., JOSEPH, A.-M., LEVIN, D. G., GUNDERMANN, D. M., LEEUWENBURGH, C., SANDESARA, B., MANINI, T. M. & ADHIHETTY, P. J. 2016. Idiopathic chronic fatigue in older adults is linked to impaired mitochondrial content and biogenesis signaling in skeletal muscle. *Oncotarget*, 7, 52695-52709.
- WEATHERALD, J., PHILIPENKO, B., MONTANI, D. & LAVENEZIANA, P. 2021. Ventilatory efficiency in pulmonary vascular diseases. *European respiratory review*, 30, 200214.
- WEI, D., REN, C., CHEN, X. & ZHAO, H. 2012. The chronic protective effects of limb remote preconditioning and the underlying mechanisms involved in inflammatory factors in rat stroke. *PLoS One*, 7, e30892-e30892.
- WEI, M., XIN, P., LI, S., TAO, J., LI, Y., LI, J., LIU, M., LI, J., ZHU, W. & REDINGTON, A. N. 2011. Repeated Remote Ischemic Postconditioning Protects Against Adverse Left Ventricular Remodeling and Improves Survival in a Rat Model of Myocardial Infarction. *Circ Res*, 108, 1220-1225.
- WEINBRENNER, C., NELLES, M., HERZOG, N., SÁRVÁRY, L. & STRASSER, R. H. 2002. Remote preconditioning by infrarenal occlusion of the aorta protects the heart from infarction: a newly identified non- neuronal but PKC- dependent pathway. *Cardiovascular research*, 55, 590.

- WEN, H., WEYMANN, K. B., WOOD, L. & WANG, Q. M. 2018. Inflammatory Signaling in Post-Stroke Fatigue and Depression. *European neurology*, 80.
- WENDLING, D., RACADOT, E. & WIJDENES, J. 1993. Treatment of severe rheumatoid arthritis by antiinterleukin 6 monoclonal antibody. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 20.
- WENSEL, R., GEORGIADOU, P., FRANCIS, D. P., BAYNE, S., SCOTT, A. C., GENTH-ZOTZ, S., ANKER, S. D., COATS, A. J. S. & PIEPOLI, M. F. 2004. Differential contribution of dead space ventilation and low arterial pCO2 to exercise hyperpnea in patients with chronic heart failure secondary to ischemic or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol*, 93, 318-323.
- WEST, A., SIMONSEN, S. A., ZIELINSKI, A., CYRIL, N., SCHONSTED, M., JENNUM, P., SANDER, B. & IVERSEN, H. K. 2019. An exploratory investigation of the effect of naturalistic light on depression, anxiety, and cognitive outcomes in stroke patients during admission for rehabilitation: A randomized controlled trial. *NeuroRehabilitation*, 44, 341-351.
- WESTERBLAD, H., ALLEN, D. G. & LÄNNERGREN, J. 2002. Muscle fatigue: Lactic acid or inorganic phosphate the major cause? *News Physiol Sci*, 17, 17-21.
- WEVER, K. E., WARLÉ, M. C., WAGENER, F. A., VAN DER HOORN, J. W., MASEREEUW, R., VAN DER VLIET, J. A. & RONGEN, G. A. 2011. Remote ischaemic preconditioning by brief hind limb ischaemia protects against renal ischaemia-reperfusion injury: the role of adenosine. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association, 26, 3108-3117.
- WHALEY, M. H., BRUBAKER, P. H., KAMINSKY, L. A. & MILLER, C. R. 1997a. Validity of rating of perceived exertion during graded exercise testing in apparently healthy adults and cardiac patients. *Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation*, 17.
- WHALEY, M. H., WOODALL, T., KAMINSKY, L. A. & EMMETT, J. D. 1997b. Reliability of perceived exertion during graded exercise testing in apparently healthy adults. *Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation*, 17.
- WHITE, J. H., GRAY, K. R., MAGIN, P., ATTIA, J., STURM, J., CARTER, G. & POLLACK, M. 2012a.
 Exploring the experience of post-stroke fatigue in community dwelling stroke survivors: A prospective qualitative study. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 34, 1376-1384.
- WHITE, J. H., GRAY, K. R., MAGIN, P., ATTIA, J., STURM, J., CARTER, G. & POLLACK, M. 2012b. Exploring the experience of post-stroke fatigue in community dwelling stroke survivors: a prospective qualitative study. *Disabil Rehabil*, 34, 1376-1384.
- WHITE, P. D., GOLDSMITH, K., JOHNSON, A. L., POTTS, L., WALWYN, R., DECESARE, J., BABER, H. L., BURGESS, M., CLARK, L. V., COX, D. L., BAVINTON, J., ANGUS, B., MURPHY, G., MURPHY, M., DOWD, H., WILKS, D., MCCRONE, P., CHALDER, T. & SHARPE, M. 2011. Comparison of adaptive pacing therapy, cognitive behaviour therapy, graded exercise therapy, and specialist medical care for chronic fatigue syndrome (PACE): a randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 377, 823-836.
- WHITEHEAD, L. P. M. A. B. R. G. N. 2009. The Measurement of Fatigue in Chronic Illness: A Systematic Review of Unidimensional and Multidimensional Fatigue Measures. *J Pain Symptom Manage*, 37, 107-128.
- WIBOM, R. & HULTMAN, E. 1990. ATP production rate in mitochondria isolated from microsamples of human muscle. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 259, 204-209.
- WIGGINS, C., CONSTANTINI, K., PARIS, H., MICKLEBOROUGH, T. & CHAPMAN, R. 2018. Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Oxygen Uptake and Extraction Kinetics During Exercise in Normoxia and Hypoxia. *Faseb J.*
- WILLIAMS, J., ROTH, A., VATTHAUER, K. & MCCRAE, C. S. 2013. Cognitive Behavioral Treatment of Insomnia. *Chest*, 143, 554-565.
- WILLIAMS, L. S., BRIZENDINE, E. J., PLUE, L., BAKAS, T., TU, W., HENDRIE, H. & KROENKE, K. 2005. Performance of the PHQ-9 as a screening tool for depression after stroke. *Stroke*, 36, 635-638.

WILLIAMS, N., RUSSELL, M., COOK, C. J. & KILDUFF, L. P. 2018. The Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Maximal Swimming Performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 1-1.

- WILLIAMS, N., RUSSELL, M., COOK, C. J. & KILDUFF, L. P. 2021. Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Maximal Swimming Performance. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 35.
- WILLIAMSON, J. W., MCCOLL, R. & MATHEWS, D. 2003. Evidence for central command activation of the human insular cortex during exercise. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 94, 1726-1734.
- WILSON, J. T., HAREENDRAN, A., GRANT, M., BAIRD, T., SCHULZ, U. G. R., MUIR, K. W. & BONE, I. 2002. Improving the assessment of outcomes in stroke: Use of a structured interview to assign grades on the modified Rankin Scale. *Stroke*, 33, 2243-2246.
- WINWARD, M. C., SACKLEY, M. C., METHA, M. Z. & ROTHWELL, M. P. 2009. A Population- Based Study of the Prevalence of Fatigue After Transient Ischemic Attack and Minor Stroke. *Stroke*, 40, 757-761.
- WITTINK, H., VERSCHUREN, O., TERWEE, C., DE GROOT, J., KWAKKEL, G. & VAN DE PORT, I. 2017. Measurement properties of maximal cardiopulmonary exercise tests protocols in persons after stroke: A systematic review. *J Rehabil Med*, 49, 689-699.
- WORTHINGTON, E., HAWKINS, L., LINCOLN, N. & DRUMMOND, A. 2017. The day-to-day experiences of people with fatigue after stroke: Results from the Nottingham Fatigue After Stroke study. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2017.24.10.449</u>.
- WU, C.-Y., CHUANG, L.-L., LIN, K.-C. & HORNG, Y.-S. 2011a. Responsiveness and validity of two outcome measures of instrumental activities of daily living in stroke survivors receiving rehabilitative therapies. *Clin Rehabil*, 25, 175-183.
- WU, C.-Y., HUNG, S.-J., LIN, K.-C., CHEN, K.-H., CHEN, P. & TSAY, P.-K. 2019. Responsiveness, Minimal Clinically Important Difference, and Validity of the MoCA in Stroke Rehabilitation. Occup Ther Int, 2019, 2517658-7.
- WU, F. Y., TU, H. J., QIN, B., CHEN, T., XU, H. F., QI, J. & WANG, D. H. 2012. Value of dynamic ³¹P magnetic resonance spectroscopy technique in in vivo assessment of the skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in type 2 diabetes. *Chinese medical journal*, 125.
- WU, S., BARUGH, A., MACLEOD, M. & MEAD, G. 2014. Psychological Associations of Poststroke Fatigue: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Stroke*, 45, 1778-1783.
- WU, S., CHALDER, T., ANDERSON, E. K., GILLESPIE, D., MACLEOD, R. M. & MEAD, E. G. 2017. Development of a psychological intervention for fatigue after stroke. *PLoS ONE*, 12, e0183286.
- WU, S., DUNCAN, F., ANDERSON, N. H., KUPPUSWAMY, A., MACLOED, M. R. & MEAD, G. E. 2015a. Exploratory cohort study of associations between serum C - Reactive protein and fatigue after stroke. *PLoS One*, 10, e0143784-e0143784.
- WU, S., MEAD, G., MACLEOD, M. & CHALDER, T. 2015b. Model of understanding fatigue after stroke. *Stroke*, 46, 893-898.
- WU, Y. N., YU, H., ZHU, X. H., YUAN, H. J., KANG, Y., JIAO, J. J., GAO, W. Z., LIU, Y. X. & LOU, J. S. 2011b. Noninvasive Delayed Limb Ischemic Preconditioning Attenuates Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Rats by a Mitochondrial K-ATP Channel-Dependent Mechanism. *Physiological research*, 60, 271-279.
- XIA, C. & JI, X. 2019. Perspectives on mechanisms underlying remote ischemic conditioning against ischemic stroke. *Journal of Translational Neuroscience*, 4, 1-14.
- XIA, Z., HERIJGERS, P., NISHIDA, T., OZAKI, S., WOUTERS, P. & FLAMENG, W. 2003. Remote preconditioning lessens the deterioration of pulmonary function after repeated coronary artery occlusion and reperfusion in sheep. *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia*, 50, 481-488.
- XIAO, B., CHAI, Y., LV, S., YE, M., WU, M., XIE, L., FAN, Y., ZHU, X. & GAO, Z. 2017. Endothelial cellderived exosomes protect SH-SY5Y nerve cells against ischemia/reperfusion injury. *International journal of molecular medicine*, 40, 1201-1209.

- XIAO, Y. L., FU, J. M., DONG, Z., YANG, J. Q., ZENG, F. X., ZHU, L. X. & HE, B. C. 2004. Neuroprotective mechanism of modafinil on Parkinson disease induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 25, 301-5.
- XIAOFANG, F., LIHONG, H., ZONGWEN, W., LUOJUN, W., XUNHAO, D., QI, W. & SHOURU, X. 2019. Efficacy of remote limb ischemic conditioning on poststroke cognitive impairment. *Journal of integrative neuroscience*, 18, 377-385.
- XU, L., XIAO-YAN, X., FU-GANG, W., GAO, S. & HAN-TING, Z. 2019. Adjuvant therapy with Astragalus membranaceus for post- stroke fatigue: a systematic review. *Metabolic Brain Disease*, 1-11.
- XU, W., JIN, W., ZHANG, X., CHEN, J. & REN, C. 2017. Remote Limb Preconditioning Generates a Neuroprotective Effect by Modulating the Extrinsic Apoptotic Pathway and TRAIL-Receptors Expression. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 37, 169-182.
- YAMATO, M. & KATAOKA, Y. 2015. Fatigue sensation following peripheral viral infection is triggered by neuroinflammation: Who will answer these questions? *Neural Regen Res*, 10, 203-204.
- YANG, J., LIU, C., DU, X., LIU, M., JI, X., DU, H. & ZHAO, H. 2018. Hypoxia Inducible Factor 1α Plays a Key Role in Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Against Stroke by Modulating Inflammatory Responses in Rats. J Am Heart Assoc, 7, n/a.
- YANG, K., ARMSTRONG, N., DIAMOND, C., LANE, A. R. & DUNNE, S. 2021. The meaning of loneliness to stroke survivors: A qualitative study in Northeast England. *Journal of health psychology*, 135910532110171-13591053211017198.
- YANG, Q., HE, G.-W., UNDERWOOD, M. J. & YU, C.-M. 2016. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of endothelial ischemia/ reperfusion injury: perspectives and implications for postischemic myocardial protection. *American journal of translational research*, **8**, 765-777.
- YANG, T., YANG, Y., WANG, D., LI, C., QU, Y., GUO, J., SHI, T., BO, W., SUN, Z. & ASAKAWA, T. 2019. The clinical value of cytokines in chronic fatigue syndrome. *J Transl Med*, **17**, 213-213.
- YATES, J. S., STUDENSKI, S., GOLLUB, S., WHITMAN, R., PERERA, S., LAI, S. M. & DUNCAN, P. W. 2004. Bicycle ergometry in subacute-stroke survivors: feasibility, safety, and exercise performance. Journal of aging and physical activity, 12.
- YELLON, D. M. & DOWNEY, J. M. 2003. Preconditioning the Myocardium: From Cellular Physiology to Clinical Cardiology. *Physiol Rev*, 83, 1113-1151.
- YOO, I.-G. & YOO, W.-G. 2011. Effects of a multidisciplinary supervised exercise program on motor performance and quality of life in community- dwelling chronic stroke survivors in Korean. *The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health*, 42, 436-443.
- YOU, L., PAN, Y. Y., AN, M. Y., CHEN, W. H., ZHANG, Y., WU, Y. N., LI, Y., SUN, K., YIN, Y. Q. & LOU, J. S.
 2019. The Cardioprotective Effects of Remote Ischemic Conditioning in a Rat Model of Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Med Sci Monit.*
- YOUNT, S., SORENSEN, M. V., CELLA, D., SENGUPTA, N., GROBER, J. & CHARTASH, E. K. 2007. Adalimumab plus methotrexate or standard therapy is more effective than methotrexate or standard therapies alone in the treatment of fatigue in patients with active, inadequately treated rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 25, 838-846.
- ZANON ZOTIN, M. C., SVEIKATA, L., VISWANATHAN, A. & YILMAZ, P. 2021. Cerebral small vessel disease and vascular cognitive impairment: from diagnosis to management. *Current opinion in neurology*, 34.
- ZARBOCK, A., SCHMIDT, C., VAN AKEN, H., WEMPE, C., MARTENS, S., ZAHN, P. K., WOLF, B., GOEBEL,
 U., SCHWER, C. I., ROSENBERGER, P., HAEBERLE, H., GÖRLICH, D., KELLUM, J. A. & MEERSCH,
 M. 2015. Effect of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning on Kidney Injury Among High-Risk
 Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, 313, 2133-2141.
- ZEDLITZ, M. E. E. A., RIETVELD, C. M. T., GEURTS, C. A. & FASOTTI, C. L. 2012. Cognitive and Graded Activity Training Can Alleviate Persistent Fatigue After Stroke: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Stroke*, 43, 1046-1051.
- ZELTZER, L. 2008. *Modified Rankin Scale (MRS)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://strokengine.ca/en/assessments/modified-rankin-scale-mrs/</u> [Accessed].

- ZHANG, H., WANG, Y., LV, Q., GAO, J., HU, L. & HE, Z. 2018a. MicroRNA-21 overexpression promotes the neuroprotective efficacy of mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Front Neurol*, 9, 931-931.
- ZHANG, J., XIAO, F., ZHANG, L., WANG, X., LAI, X., SHEN, Y., ZHANG, M., ZHOU, B., LANG, H., YU, P. & HUA, F. 2018b. Alpha-lipoic acid preconditioning and ischaemic postconditioning synergistically protect rats from cerebral injury induced by ischemia and reperfusion partly via inhibition TLR4/MyD88/ NF-κB signaling pathway. *Cell Physiol Biochem*, 51, 1448-1460.
- ZHANG, N., WANG, C.-X., WANG, A.-X., BAI, Y., ZHOU, Y., WANG, Y.-L., ZHANG, T., ZHOU, J., YU, X., SUN, X.-Y., LIU, Z.-R., ZHAO, X.-Q. & WANG, Y.-J. 2012. Time Course of Depression and One-Year Prognosis of Patients with Stroke in Mainland China. *CNS Neurosci Ther*, 18, 475-481.
- ZHANG, X., FANG, H., MA, D., DUAN, Y., WANG, Z., ZHANG, N. & WANG, C. 2021. Risk Factors and Imaging Mechanisms of Fatigue After Mild Ischemic Stroke: An Exploratory Study From a Single Chinese Center. *Frontiers in neurology*, **12**, 649021-649021.
- ZHAO, J., FAN, K., ZHAO, W., YAO, H., MA, J. & CHANG, H. 2021. Factors That Influence Compliance to Long-Term Remote Ischemic Conditioning Treatment in Patients With Ischemic Stroke. *Frontiers in neurology*, 12, 711665-711665.
- ZHAO, L., JIANG, X., SHI, J., GAO, S., ZHU, Y., GU, T. & SHI, E. 2019a. Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing microRNA-25 protect spinal cords against transient ischemia. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 157, 508-517.
- ZHAO, L. & NOWAK, T. S. 2006. CBF changes associated with focal ischemic preconditioning in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 26, 1128.
- ZHAO, R.-Z., JIANG, S., ZHANG, L. & YU, Z.-B. 2019b. Mitochondrial electron transport chain, ROS generation and uncoupling (Review). *International journal of molecular medicine*, 44, 3-15.
- ZHAO, W., CHE, R., LI, S., REN, C., LI, C., WU, C., LU, H., CHEN, J., DUAN, J., MENG, R. & JI, X. 2018a. Remote ischemic conditioning for acute stroke patients treated with thrombectomy. *Annals* of *Clinical and Translational Neurology*, **5**, 850-856.
- ZHAO, W., LI, S., REN, C., MENG, R. & JI, X. 2018b. Chronic remote ischemic conditioning may mimic regular exercise: Perspective from clinical studies. *Aging Dis*, 9, 165-171.
- ZHAO, W., MENG, R., MA, C., HOU, B., JIAO, L., ZHU, F., WU, W., SHI, J., DUAN, Y., ZHANG, R., ZHANG, J., SUN, Y., ZHANG, H., LING, F., WANG, Y., FENG, W., DING, Y., OVBIAGELE, B. & JI, X. 2017.
 Safety and Efficacy of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in Patients with Severe Carotid Artery Stenosis Prior to Carotid Artery Stenting: A Proof-of-Concept, Randomized Controlled Trial. *Circulation*, 135.
- ZHOU, Y., ZHOU, G. Y., LI, S. K. & JIN, J. H. 2010. Clinical observation on the therapeutic effect of electroacupuncture combined with cupping on post-stroke fatigue. Acupuncture Research, 35, 380-3.
- ZOCHODNE, D. W., THOMPSON, R. T., DRIEDGER, A. A., STRONG, M. J., GRAVELLE, D. & BOLTON, C.
 F. 1988. Metabolic changes in human muscle denervation: topical 31P NMR spectroscopy studies. *Magnetic resonance in medicine*, 7.
- ZWARTS, M. J. & STEGEMAN, D. F. 2003. Multichannel surface EMG: basic aspects and clinical utility. *Muscle Nerve*, 28, 1-17.
- ZWARTS, M. J., VAN WEERDEN, T. W. & HAENEN, H. T. 1987. Relationship between average muscle fibre conduction velocity and EMG power spectra during isometric contraction, recovery and applied ischemia. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology.*, 56, 212–216.